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“ Homor thy father and thy mother, that thy days may be long upon the
land whick the Lord thy God giveth thee.”

The commandment is now, in part, fulfilled.

“As for man, his days are as grass: as a flower of the field, so he
Slourisheth,

“For the wind passeth over i1, and it is gone : and the place thereof shall
know it no more.”

Yet is the work of man beautiful, in its many thousand forms, and its

rememlrance is a joy to the living, for cver.



PREFACE.

— 0 WO

THE most emphatic statement to be made in this
preface is that the author has done what he could within
the time which it is consistent to bestow upon the work,
and that he is now keenly sensible that what is not
written is more than that which is here recorded. The
town was large in territory at first, and is still, although
one whole town, and considerable parts of two others,
have been taken from it; and to put the whole record
into one volume has cost the exercise of great energy in
abbreviating and condensing the material obtairied. But
it is certain that, according to the judgment posseSsed,
the selections made have been well proportioned in re-
lation to all the purposes to be served by such a work,
and the author feels better satisfied, in this respect, per- -
haps, than anybody else will. To have written a racy,
reading book would have cost. the loss of three-fourths of
the historical matter now included, and hence the choice
has been to make it thoroughly a historical work.

In regard to the work bestowed, it is truthful to say
that the assistance from the pcople of the town has been
greater than rendered to the author in any similar work,
and the cordial good cheer indicated by every one with
whom he has met has been almost surprising, and most
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'decidedly encouraging, and hence the labor of preparing
the work has been most delightful throughout. To say,
“thank you all,” is a diminutive statement, although the
largest that is at command without going out of the -
English language.

Among those. who have rendered special and im-
portant aid in the preparation of this work are the Rev.
Dr. Porter, Plres'ident of Yale College, and for six years
a pastor in this town, who first urged upon the author
the undertaking, and afterwards aided much with his’
pen, and his most intelligent wife, whose father, the Rev.
Nathaniel W. Taylor, D.D., was a native of this town,
who, after the commencement of the work, came to the
aid of the author somewhat with her pen, but largely
by suggestions as to sources of information, and the
public position of many who dwelt in, and others who
“had removed from, the town. The author is indebted
to the newspapers of the village—the Ray and the Ga-
zette—for most cordial and efficient aid through their
columns. for a year and a half; and to the Baldwin

. Genealogy, the Starr Genealogy, the Noble Genealogy,
the Bostwick Genealogy, and the Mygatt Genealogy for
many extracts. He is also indebted to Col. William J.
Starr of New Milford, more than to any one individual,
for aid in scarching records and personal inquiry and
research through the town; and, next to him, to Mr.
Russell B. Noble, the town clerk, for the most patient
and efficient assistance, not only in allowing ready access
to the town records, but in his personal efforts in search-
ing the records; and to his brother, Mr. Charles H.

'y
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Noble, for his persevering efforts several months, to se- -
cure a coimplete record of the soldiers in the recent Civil
War; and to Mr. Edward W. Marsh and Mr. David E.
Soule in regard to the War Record; and among Hlose
who have had good memories, whereby the author has
profited much, are Mr. Solomon E. Bostwick, Mr. Levi
S. Knapp, Mr. Wm. N. Canfield, Mr. William :Roberts,
Mr. William Wanzer, Mr. Horace Merwin, Mr. and Mrs. -
Albert N. Baldwin, Mrs. Judge Sanford, the late :Mrs.
- Frederick G. Bennett, Mrs. Eli Mygatt, and, of Bridge-
water, Mr. Henry Sanford, Mr. Charles H. Sanfond, and
Mr. Egbert B. Canfield. . .-

The author is also much indebted to the Rev. George
S. Bennett of Boston for the use of his manuscript-
copies of the records of several famify genealogies, upon
which he had bestowed much labor; and also to Mrs.
Doct. James Hine for the same reasons, and the Rev. J.
BB. Bonar’s Centennial Sermon, and also the manuscript
account of Marbledale, by Mr. Ralph Buckingham. The
manuscripts of the late Judge D. S. Boardman have
been of very great service. .

Very important aid has been received by being granted,
most cheerfully, the privilege of'frcquent consultation of
the libraries of the Rev. J. F. Schroeder and Mrs. Cor-
nelia E. Wright.

To all these friends it is a pleasure to express special
obligations ; but more particularly is it a pleasurc to -
have become acquainted with them through such a
medium—the making of a book to treasure up the
memory of the departed.
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The vote of the town to put maps and a picture of
the Town Hall into the book is highly appreciated,
but upon careful inquiry it was ascertained that such
maps as were proposed would be unsatisfactory to every
body, nearly, and hence the two items have been secured
at nearly double the sum voted by the town. In addi-
_ tion to these, several engravings have been secured at
a cost to the author of nearly two hundred dollars,
which were not* contemplated in the first plan of the
book, but these pictures; representing New Milford
scenery, are thought to be an important addition to
the work ;

So- far as he authors judgment can’ declde, this book
is much more complete than any work he. has published.
For want of room and txme, he has not been able to bring
the record of all the families of the town down to the
. present time as fully as he at ﬁrst proposed, and for the
same reasons the inscriptions in the new part of the vil-
lage cemetery are not in the book.

Whatever defects may be found in the work, it is cer-
tain the author has done the best that he could within
the time occupied in preparing the work.

ThnE AUTHOR.
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HISTORY _¥ NEW MILFORD.

CHAPTER 1.
THE PLANTATION.

GIRL of only eight years of age, coming into the .
» decp wilderness with her father, was the queen of
the first household of white persons established in
the territory, which, for one hundred and seventy-
c eight years, has been known by the name of New
Milford. John Noble, Sen., was that father, who,
being a resident of Westfield, Massachusetts, on the
22d day of June, 1706, purchased of Richard Bryan, of Milford,
who stood number fifteen on the list of proprietors, his original
* Right,” or a one hundred and fourth part of the undivided ter-
ritory then recently bought of the Indians and named as above,
lying in the dense, sublime, primitive forests, nearly on the
western border of Connecticut, where, unto that day, none but .
the wild Indian had made a habitation for the rest and security’
of man. On the same day his son John Noble, Jr, boughta
“ Right” of John Woodruff, it having been the right originally
of James Fenn, who stood number seventy on the list of the
original proprletors of the plantation.

In the next spring or summer, 1707, John Noble, Sen,, called
in his deed “ planter,” made his way through the wilderness in
company with his little daughter Sarah, and took up his
habitation among the Indians, in one of the most picturcsque
localities in the valley of tk~ Housatonic River, known then for
more than forty ycars, in the Indian language, as Weantinock.
He at first built a “hut” at the foot of Fort Hill, a little to the-
north of the Indian burying-place, where the cellar or excavation
is still to be seen, and where he dwelt with his daughter while
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he built a commodious house at the south end of the “Town
plat.” -

Concerning this first inhabitant, the Rev. Stanley Griswold,
pastor of the first Congregational Church at this place, in a cen-

“tury sermon delivered in 1801, makes the following statement:

“ The first white settler who came to this town was John

Noble, from Westfield, Mass., who came here in the year 1707.
He brought. with him at first one of his daughters, then about
eight years old. He first built a hut under what is called Fort
Hill, but afterwards moved, and pitched here in the centre of
the town. His house here was for some time the last house on
this side of Albany, and General Nicholson once lodged in it dur-
ing the reign of Queen Anne.. It deserves to be mentioned to the
credit of the natives, that Mr. Noble once left his little daughter,
then eight years old, with them for the space of three or four
weeks, while he was necessarily absent from the town, and on
his return found she had been well treated and taken exceeding
good care of. Another daughter of his, the late Mrs. Margaret
Hine, who died here in the 93d year of her age, was then three
years old, and the fact was fresh in her memory, as she had heard
it while young, though she herself was not yet brought hither.”
" In the following February a record was made: *The second
lot on the Plain, at the South end of the hill, on the east side of
the street at New Milford is Thomas Smith’s, seven acres and a
half, bounded south with John NWoble's, the town street west,
undivided land east, and with the next lot north, being sixty
rods in length and twenty in breadth. Feb. 21, 1707-8.", Mr.
Noble did not settle on this lot for he had already built a house
on the opposite side of the street further south,

Tradition speaks of the hut where the daughter was cared for
while her father was absent a short time, as an * Indian’s hut”;
but inasmuch as Indians seldom, if ever, build their huts in the
‘side of a hill, certainly no others in New Milford, and since John
Noble did this site now visible must be that of Mr. Noble's first
house in the wilderness. It is a very gratifying fact that a copy
of aletter written in 1796 by Sherman Boardman, son of the
Rev. Daniel Boardman, is still preserved, for by it some dates
and items of history are preserved which are nowhere else to be
found. Some of this lctter may be found in the Indian history
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part of this work, and that which relates to the first settler here
is as follows :

* An anecdote is related of John Noble the scttler, who, when
he first came to labor here, brought his little daughter Hannah,
about eight or nine years old, to cook his victuals. He built a
palisade ' house at the foot of the hill where the Indian fort stood,
where he lived with his little daughter some time, until some
gentlemen came to him and requested him to pilot them through
the woods to Albany, one hundred miles distant, when he left his
little daughter in care of a squaw, fourtecn miles from any white
people, and was absent two or threc weeks ; when he returned he
found her kept very ncat and clean. Such was his confidence
in the care and friendship of the Indians. This I have often
heard her relate, as she was my School Dame. After this Mr.
Noble removed to this side of the river and built a log-house,
secured as a fort a great many years for the white people; as
the Indians had a stockade fort on the west side. To either of
these forts the people came for shelter in an alarm during Queen
Anne’s war. General Nicholson lodged in this house (which was
the last house on this side of Albany) on his expediton to Wood
Creek where he built Fort Ann.”

This second house of John Noble, Sen., stood on the site of
the present dwelling of Col. Charles D. Blinn, and apparently
must have been erected in the autumn of 1707 or spring of 1708,
for, in the petition of the inhabitants to the General Assembly
in October, 1711, it is said, “since the time of our first settle-
ment, which is about three years;” and if this was true, then
several of these twelve families took up their residence here in
thé spring or summer of 1708, and some of them erected their
houses further north, or towards Albany, than was that of John
Noble, Sen. In February, 1708, John Noble, Jr, was here
and made a sclection of his home lot. He did not come with his
father at first, and hence, probably, did come with his mother’
and the family in the autumn of 1707; and if these conclusions
are the truth, as they appear to be, then, also, the log-house of
John Noble, Secn., was built in the autumn of 1707 or in the
spring of 1708. '

How Mr. Noble made his way through the wilderness with

! A house secured as a fort.
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his little daughter, at first, is unknown, but it is quite certain
that it was with difficulty and persevering exertion. For sixty
years there had been a path from Hartford to Farmington, and
for twenty or more, from Farmington to Waterbury and Wood-
bury, and from the last place to New Milford there could have
been only the uncertain and probably untraceable path of the
Indian. There is something charming, however, in his bringing
his little daughter with him into the deep wilderness. He left
at-home a family of nine children, if they were all still living, and
one only a year old ; but since, to a father in his absence from
home, a daughter is a far better representative of home, although
requiring more attention and care than a son, he brought with
him his little daughter Sarah. What could she do, an eight-
year-old child, in the great wilderness? Ah! she could make
the wilderness seem like Aome to him, so that his heart would
not fail him, while he should toil to build a habitation for those
he had left behind. But it is said the little girl. came “to cook
. his victuals.” What, a woman at eight years of age! No won-
der that she became the “ School Dame” of Sherman Boardman,
twenty years later ;—aml very probably, the first school dame,
or teacher, in the township. .

Romance has never painted a picture more perfectly true to
the heart.of a father, or to the charming bravery of a young
daughter of only eight years, than is found in the history of the
settlement of the first family in the beautiful township of New
Milford. ‘ . : .

‘The second family that settled here was that of John Bost-
wick, according to the papers of the late Judge David S. Board-
man.

To secure the right of permanent homes, the early settlers of
New England found two things important to be obtained, the
authority of the state (in whatever form it might he) and the
purchase of the right of the soil from the natives. These they
generally attended to with great carefulness, and by repcated
payments for the same territory, and these two items were com-
pleted for New Milford by a company of one hundred and nine
persons from Milford. Situated on the shore of Long Island
Sound, Milford (sometimes called “ Old Milford” by way of dis-
~ tinction) had sent out several colonies to form plantations, or
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civil organizations, into the wilderness parts of the country.
First, a number of her families removed to Stratford; next, ten
men, as a company, purchased a tract of land at Paugassett,
afterwards named Derby, and made a settlement there; then
another company established the plantation of Woodbury. Sev-
cral families joined with a company from near Boston in the
settlement of Setauket, Long Island ; others became interested
in and removed to a settlement in the state of  Delaware in con-
ncction with the New Ilaven company, and finally the New Mil-
ford Company was organized, and the deed from the natives
obtained. : -

Several efforts had been made. previous to 1700, to establish a
plantation in this part of the colony. In May, 1670, the Gen-
eral Court granted liberty to “Capt. Nathan Gould, Mr. Jehu
and John Burr, to purchase Weantenock ‘and the lands adjacent,
of the Indians, to make a plantation if it be capable for such a
thing,” and a committee was appointed by the same authority.
Soon after this a purchase was made of the-Indians under this
grant, of over 26,000 acres of land lying on both sides of the
river, here at Weantinock, but nothing further was accomplished.
This was the purchase wherein Col. John Read became inter-
ested.

In 1675 the General Court scnt a committee to see if the
country hére was large enough for two plantations, but no report
of that committee has been seen.

In 1677, “ Scantamaug of Wyantenuck having made complaint
of Henry Tomlinson buying land of theirs in a private way to
their prejudice &c.,” the General Court sent the case for a‘hear-
ing to the Fairfield Court, which casc was decided in favor of
Mr. Tomlinson.

Again, in 1678, the Court granted to “the Hon.'Dept. Gov.
Major Robert Treat with Mr. Bryan, Sen. or Junior, Capt. John
Bird, Lt. Samuel Edells, liberty to view and buy convenient land
for a plantation in those adjacent places about Potatuck, Wean-
tenuck or thereabouts”; but this company made no purchase
here.

The next movement of which we learn, was that of the Milford
people to whom the General Court gave liberty in May, 1702,
and under which they made the purchase and the following deed
was obtained:
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Indian Deed to the Proprictors of New Milford.

This Deed of Sail bearing Date the Eighth Day of February in the year of our
Lord one thousand Seven hundred and two or three Witnesseth that we Papetoppe,
Rapiscotoo, Wampotoo, Hawwasues, Yoncomis, Shoopack, Parameshe, Nokopurrs,
Paconaus, Wewinapouch, Do for ourselves and the rest of our friends the Indians
Sole proprietors our heirs Executors, administrators and for and in consideration of
Sixty pounds Current money of this Colony of Connecticut and Twenty pounds in
Goods at money price to us in hand at and before the Enscaling and Delivery of
these presents by Col. Robert Treat Mr. Thomas Clark, Ens. George Clark, Ens.
Joseph Treat, Ens. Joseph Peck, Sergt. Jonathan Baldwin and Sargt. Timothy
Baldwin in the behalf of the rest of the Proprietors or purchasors of Weantinock of
Miiford in the county of New ITaven in the Colony of Connecticut in New England
well and truly paid, the receipt whereof we do hereby acknowledge, and ourselves
therewith fully satisfied and contented and thercof and cvery part thereof do acquit,
exonerate and discharge the said Col. Robert Treat, Mr. Thomas Clark, Ens. George
Clark, Ens. Joseph Peck, Ens. Joseph Treat, Sargt. Jonathan Baldwin and Sargt.
Timothy Baldwin and all the rest of the above said purchasers of Weantenoque their
heirs,.executors administrators and assigns forever, by these presents Have Given
Granted Bargained and sold “alienated enfeoffed and confirmed and by these pres-
ents do fully, freely, clearly and absolutely give, grant Bargain sell, alienate, enfeoff
and confirm unto the abovesaid Col. Robert Treat, Mr. Thomas Clark, Ens. George
Clark, Ens. Joseph Treat, Ens. Joseph Peck, Sargt. Jonathan Baldwin and Sargt.
Timothy Baldwin and the rest of the purchasers of Weantenogque abovesaid, heirs
executors administrators and assigns forever: A Certain Tract of Land called
Weeantenock with all and singular its Rights members and appurtenances together
with all woods, waters, Stones, mines minerals, with all other privileges and apper-
tenances thereunto belonging or in anywise appertaining according to the draught
given of said land by the above named Indians ;.the abovesaid land being bounded
easterly with woodbury bound, and a parallel line running northward and southward
according to the draught above mentioned and is bounded westerly with the moun-
tain as appears by said draught and Whomeseage a small Brook running into the
Great river northwesterly [northeasterly] as appears by said draught, and from the
abovesaid Brook at the northwest corner—the northernmost bounds runs to the
eastward, to the parallel line above mentioned according to said draught and with
Danbury Bounds southwesterly according to ‘said draught, and Southeast with
Woodbury bounds, all which said land with all the privileges and appurtenances
thereunto belonging. The abovesaid Col. Robert Treat, Mr. Thomas Clark, Eus.
George Clark, Ens. Joseph Treat, Ens. Joseph Peck, Sargt. Jonathan Baldwin and
Sargt. Timothy Baldwin and the rest of the purchasers of Weantenoque abovesaid,
their heirs executors adininistrators and assigns arc to have and to hold forever ;
and further we the above named Indians do for ourselves and the rest of our
Friends the Indians, Proprietors our heirs executors and administrators warrant
and defend all the above named premises with their appurtenances and every part
thereof unto the said Col. Robert Treat, Mr. Thomas Clark, Ens. George Clark,
Ens. Joseph Treat, Ens. Joseph Peck, Sargt. Jonathan Baldwin and Sargt. Timothy
Baldwin and the rest of the purchasers of Weantenoque abovesaid their heirs and
assigns against all and every person and persons whatsoever any ways lawfully
claiming or demanding the same or any part thereof. In witness whereof we the

!'Town Rec,, vol. ix, 200.
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above named Indians have hercunto sct our hands and scals the day and year above
writlen,

1t is to be noted that the abuve named Indians do reserve for their use their
present planting field and a privilege of fishing at the Falis.

Papetoppe his mark, Shoopack his mark,
Rapiscotoo his mark, Wewinapouch his mark,
Towwecomis his mark, Pocanus his mark,
‘Wompotoo his mark, Paramethe his mark,
Nanhootoo his mark, Wewinapuck his mark,
Hawwasues his mark, Chasqueneag his mark,
Yoncomis his mark, Papircam his mark.

Signed, sealed in presence of us
John Minor, interpreter, allowed both by the Engllsh and the Indians,
Ebenezer Johnson,
John Durand,
Tomoseete his mark,
Nonawak his mark.

Witnessed before Ebenezer Johnson, Justice of the peace of Derby.

The original deed was deposited or recorded at Hartford in
the State Records. Three. of the above Indian names are found
attached to Indian deeds in Derby, and several of them as
belonging to the deeds of Woodbury.

By this deed is given the information that the Indians pos-
sessed a ‘‘draught”—that is, a drawing or outline map of the
territory to be decded—so that there should be no question as to
the boundaries. It will be seen by a careful reading of these
boundaries, as wcll as those of the town patent or charter, that
New Milford was never any part of Woodbury, as many persons
have heretofore supposed. The fact that this town was
“bounded easterly with Woodbury bound,” and that line an old
one, precludes the above supposition, and concedes that it was
territory wholly outside of any established plantation or town in
the state.

The Orz;giﬂal Proprictors.

1t will be remembered that Milford had been settled sixty-
three years when the New Milford purchase was made, and
hence these proprictors were the children and grandchildren of
the first settlers of that place and not the pilgrim settlers them-
sclves. Nor did all of these proprietors scttle in New Milford,
for several of them sold their “ Rights " before any settler took
up his habitation here, as in the case of Mr. Fenn; and then
followed a series of land, or real estate, speculations, which con-
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tinued moderately to increase until about 1734, when a kind of
land speculating epidemic prevailed throughout Connecticut,
rising higher and higher through the issuing of paper money,
until a little before 1760, when the English government stopped
the making of Colony Bills, whereupon the paper money went
to naught, nearly, and the whole business of land sales went
down with a fearful crash.

A List of the Names of the Original Purchasers and Proprictors of
the Township of New Milford. )

£ s d. AN
4 o] 37 Samuecl Camp, Lanesend, 1 4 q
4 ol 38 Nathaniel Farrand, Jr,, 1 40
4 o} 39 Thomas Tibballs, 1 40

1

1

1

1

1

1

[

W1 Colonel Robert Treat,

¢ | Mr. Thomas Clark,

£ ] Ens. George Clark,

g Lieut. Joseph Treat,

S Ens. Joseph Peck,
Jonathan Baldwin,

Capt. Samuel Eells,

8 $ergt. Edward Camp,

9 Rev. Mr. Andrew,

10 Thomas Weltch,

11 James Prime,

4 0] 40 Thomas Canfield, 40
4 0] 41 John Merwin, 40
4 0| 42 Samnel Smith, West énd, 40
4 0! 43 William Gold, 40
4 0| 44 Joseph Wheeler, 40
4 0! 45 Job Prince, 40
4 0| 46 Andrew Samford, . 120
4 0| 47 Samucl Camp, son of Edward

2
3
4
S
6
7

12 Stephen Miles, 40 Camp, 1 40
13 Barnabas Baldwin, 4 0} 48 Eleazer Prindle, 1 40
14 John Woodruff, 4 0| 49 Lieut. Camp, 1 40
15 Mr. Richard Bryan, 4 0| so William Scone, 1 40
16 Daniet Terrill, 4 o} s1 Widow Mary Baldwin, o-12 0
17 Samuel Brisco, 4 0| 52 James Baldwin, o120

18 Timothy Botsford,

19 Sergt. Daniel Baldwin,
20 Mr. Robert Treat,

21 Mr. Robert Plum,

212 Deacon Platt,

23 Thomas Clark,

24 Mr. Samuel Clark, Jr.,
25 Samuel Buckingham,
26 Thomas Buckingham,
27 John Buckingham,

28 William Wheeler,

29 Nathaniel Farrand, Sen,,
30 George Allen,

3t Samuel Camp, mason,
32 John Smith ye 4th,

33 Samuel Clark, Sen.,
34 Ephraim Burwell,

35 Joseph Beard,

36 Joseph Camp,

4 0| 53 Nathaniel Baldwin, cooper, o 120
4 0] 54 Samuel Baldwin, wheelwright,1 4 o
4 0| 55 Lieut. Joseph Platt, 1 40
12 o 6 Sergt. Miles Merwin, - 1 40
4 0| 7 Saruel Samford, Sen., 1 40
4 o] 8 John Beard, I 40
4 0| 59 Mr. Samuel Andrew, Sen,, 1 40
4 o] 6o George Clark, Sen., 1 40
4 o 61 Joseph Clarke, 1 40
4 o] 63 Joseph Ieuk, Jr., 1 40
4 of 63 John Camp, 1 40
4 o| 64 Sergt. John Smith, 1 40
4 o| 65 Jonathan Law, Jr., 1 40
4 0| 66 John Allen, 1 40
4 o] 67 Hugh Grey, 1 40
4 of 68 Joseph Ashburn, 1 40
4 o] 69 John Summers, o120
4 o| 70 James Feun, 1 40
4 o 71 Zechariah Whitman, 1 40
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: £ s d. £ s d
72 William Adans, 1 4 0| 93 Samuel Merwin, 1 40
73 Joseph Rogers, 1 4 o] 94 Licut. Samuel Burwell, 1 40
74 Samuel Stone, 1 4 0| 95 Samuel Miles, 1 40
75 Jonathan Baldwin, Jr., 1 4 0| 96 James Beard, 1-40
76 Jesse Lambert, 1 4 o] 97 Samuel Nettleton, 1.40
77 Samuel Prudden, 1 4 o] 98 Joseph Treat, son of Lieut
78 Henry Summers, o120 Treat, « 1 40
79 Samuel Smith Walter, 0 12 0| 99 Jeremiah Canfield, 1 40
80 Sergt. Zechariah Baldwin, 1 4 o100 Thomas Smith, 1 40
81 Benjamin Smith, Sen., 1 4 o]1ot Nathaniel Baldwin, Sen., 1 40
82 John Clark, 0 12 o|102 Jeremiah Beard, 1 40,
83 John Smith, Jr., 1 4 o103 Bethel Lankstaf, 1 40
84 John Platt, I 4 o104 Andrew Samford, Jr., 1 40
85 Josiah Platt, t 4 o105 Nath. Samford, I 40
86 Richard Platt, 1 4 o106 John Merwin, Jr,, 1 40
87 William Fowler, 1 4 o107 Joseph Tibbals, 1 40
88 Samuel Prindle, o 12 ol 108 illin Baldwin, in Right of
89 Sergt. Samuel Beard, 1 40 her father, Sergt. Timothy
9o Scrgt. Samuel Northrop, 1 40 Baldwin, late of Milford,
91 George Clarke, Jr., 1 4 ol deceased, 1 40
92 Samuel Coley, 1 4 o:109 Mr. Samuel Mather, 1 40

Those whose naines are above written are the Associates, Pilrchasers, and Pro-
prietors of Newmilford, and the sums annexed to their names, their Right of Pur-
chase acknowledged by us whose names arc in the Patent for said Newmilford.

Dated in Milford, April, 1706.

RoBeRT TrEAT, Sen,
THoMAS CLARKE, Sen.,
GRORGE CLARKE,
Josern TRreaT, °
JosePH PECK,
JONATHAN BALDWIN.

Recorded by me,
JONATHAN LAW,

Register of Newmilford.

The territory of the plantation, with all its interests and values,
was divided into one hundred and four parts or shares, and the
payment of twenty-four shillings secured one share.

The number of proprietors was one hundred and nine, for
although ten of them owned but half of what was called a
“ whole Right,” yct such owners were proprictors. In the deeds
given for these Rights during many years afterwards, reference
was frequently made to the original proprietors or Rights. The
money thus secured amounted to £124 165; the sum paid to
the Indians for the land was £80, and the remainder of the

money, with the territory, constituted the capital stock with which
2
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to begin the enterprise of settling a new “ Plantation,” for until
1712 it was only a plantation, and not a town.
The “ Patent,” which was the Legislative title to the land, was
granted by the General Court on the 22d day of October, 1703.
It soon became evident that the proprietors had made a mis-
take in allowing the natives to reserve the Indian field, and they
made haste to secure it by the following deed :

The Second Indian Deed.

Be it known unto all men by these presents, bearing ye 29th of August, 1705, that
I, Shamenunckqus, alias Bapistoo, ye absolute proprietor to the fields at Weanta-
nuck that was a late purchase made by honorable gentlemen of Milford, reserved for
ye Indians improvement until a further purchase of the same should be made at
known boundaries both by Indians and English, be it more or less, T say, for a
valuable consideration in hand received, or satisfying security for the same, have
sold, alienated, given, granted, and by these presents do sell, give, grant, and fully
confirm unto Ens. John Mitchell, of Woodbury, in the county of Fairfield, and Her
Majesty’s colony of Connecticut, I say, to him, the said John Mitchell, his heirs and
assigns, all ye said planting land, meadow, or low land sonetimes reserved as afore-
said, being bounded with the river casterly and northerly ; and westerly and southerly
with ye said gentlemen’s purchase with the steep bank southerly from the burying
place upon the bank, to a sharp angle southerly at ye river and from the said
burying-place, taking in the plain where the Indians’ fort formerly stood, to the river
at a marked elm tree, all which, excepting ye apple trees on it, with all ye privileges,
conveniences, and appertenances thereunto belonging, by ye said Mitchell, his heirs
and assigns, peaceably to have, hold, enjoy, and improve without molestation, let, or
hindrance from any person or persons whatsoever from ye day of ye date hereof
forever; declaring the said premises to be free from all mortgages, sales, or claims
at this date, and promising from time to time and at all times to acknowledge that
thus T have sold and disposed of the same, and farther to confirm the same to all
intents, ends, and purposcs, as if a more full and ample bill of sale had been drawn
for the same, or shall by the said John Mitchell, or his advice or counsel, be appre-
hended necessary and convenient for further confirmation and assurance of ye said
bargained premises.

Witness my hand and seal this twenty-ninth of August, seventeen hundred and five.

Shamenunckqus his mark.
Chesquaneag his mark.
Whemut his mark,

Papetopo, ‘alias Pompkinseds.
Witnessed by us subscribers, and sealed in our presence :

John Minor, Interpreter.
Ephraim Minor.

This instrument was acknowledged by the Indian and Indians subscribing at the
same time of the subsealing, before me, in Woodbury.
John Minor, Justice.
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The names of several Indians that subscribed hereto to the deed on the other side
where not being roon subscribe here, viz.:

Wannuppe " his mark.
Cuttouckes his mark.
Mantooes his mother’s mark.
Papetapo, his squaw's her mark.
Younggam's squaw her mark.
Joman his mark.
Appacoco his mark.
Poquanow his mark.
Yongans - his mark.

This land was deeded to the inhabitants of the town Jan. 14,
1714, by Mr. Mitchell.

After some years it became a question whether the Indians
in this deed surrendered all the land reserved in the first deed,
and the matter appears to have been settled by two persons, who
were doubtless witnesses in some way to the boundary lines con-
tained in the first deed.

Their testimony was the following :

Boundaries of the Indian Field.

* New MILFORD, JUNE 6, 1715.

John Minor sen., and John Mitchell sen., both of lawful age to give in evidence,
being desired to give testimony to what land Oweantanack Indians rescrved for
themselves when they sold land to the gentlemen of Milford; we say y' y* Indians
reserved their formerly planting field, bounded easterly by the great river, and
bounded westerly, beginning at a young elm tree standing by the riverside.about
thirty or forty rods above the then common ferry place, and so running southward,
taking in the place where their fort stood upon the steep bank, and so continuing,
till they took in their then burving-place; and from thence south easterly, rounding
as the steep’ bank goes, till it comes to the great river comprising all the lowland
within this bounds, and y* land within this bounds was not purchaned from the

" Indians by Milford gentlemen in their generall purchase.

The truth of the above written evidence was sworn unto on the third day of April,

1713, in Woodbury before me.
JouN SHRRMAN, Justice of the Peace.”

The only reservation made in the first deed, was in the follow-
ing words:

“It is to be noted that the above named Indians do reserve
for their use their present planting field, and a privilege of fish-
ing at the Falls.”

It appears to have been settled by the testimony of John
Minor, sen., and John Mitchell, sen., that the Indians retained
nothing after 1705, but the right of fishing at the Falls; and this
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right they have never as yet sold, and so late as within the
memory of many now living, this was conceded by the white
people, who, while fishing at the Falls, gave precedence to the
Indians who came to fish; and they reserved “ye apple trees.”

Oct., 1706. Col. Robert Treat with other persons, having purchased a tract of
land called Wiantonoque, which tract of land is made a town by letters patents {rom
the governor and company, dated October the 22d, 1703, and named New Milford,
but not yet annexed to any countie.

This Assembly sees cause to annex the same to the county of New Haven.

The word “town” in the above act is the wrong word, since
the place was only made a “ plantation,” or the privilege granted
of making a settlement. A “ patent,” as it was called, was a leg-
islative act, conferring the right of the soil, and possessed only
the nature of a deed. These patents, however, were regarded
as of the utmost importance, the people fearing that without
them, their farms and homes might be taken from them or they
compelled to pay for them several times.

The following regulations were established in regard to the
division of the land among the owners.

. First Meeting of the Propriefors.

At a meeting of the Purchasers and Proprietors of New Milford, held at Milford,
April 17th, 1706, Jonathan Law Jr., was chosen clerk, and he was sworn.

Agreed and voted, that the town plat and home-lots of New Milford shall be
speedily pitched and laid out by the committee chosen, and established by the Gen-
eral Court according to, and by the rules and orders that the proprictors shall agree
upon and prescribe for their direction.

That the committee having taken the best advice they can of Woodbury men, to

- pitch the town plat according to their best judgment.

That the home lots be laid out in quantity as they shall judge most commeodious
and agreeable to the circumstances of the place. .
That there be but two ranks or sorts of lots, one a four-and-twenty shilling lot, .
and the other a twelve shilling lot, and that all- the lots be laid out in twelve shil-

ling lots.

That what is wanting in the quality of the land in the several lots, be made up in
quantity. [This was afterwards called “sizing.”]

That there be two twénty-four shilling lots, more than the number of the proprie-
tors, laid out for the use of the proprietors, to be disposed of by two-third parts of
the proprietors.

That those only who first go to settle there at New Milford shall draw lots, and
they shall take their lots together, and they shall bave liberty to begin where
they please, and they that come afterwards cither by themselves or assigns, shall
take their lots as they come to settle there, next lot to him that went before him;
he that hath a four-and-twenty shilling right to take the two next lots lying
together,
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In accordance with these rules the “Town-plat” as it was
called, was laid out on Aspetuck Hill, consisting of a “Town
street, and sixteen Home lots.” These lots being twenty-one
rods wide and sixty long, were to be taken up in regular order
as the settlers came to reside here; and hence John Noble took

number one on the east side of the street “at the south end of

the hill,” but which was not recorded to him until five years
later. John Bostwick took the first lot on the west side of the

street, he being the second settler here. The other lots were’

recorded to different individuals soon after they were laid out,
but almost immediately changes began to be made. Mr. Gris-
wold informs us in his sermon, that it was originally intended to
lay the town-plat on the hill east of the present village, and for
that reason that eminence was called Town Hill.

Such was the beginning of the plantation in the wilderness,
which was to have a very large share in the history of the enter-
prising’ State of Connecticut. It seems now to have been so
long ago, and the traces of its incipiency are so thoroughly re-
moved, that the representation, although taken directly from the
records in the town books, can scarcely be believed. There is
not a chimney or cellar-place left, to mark the site of any one of
the dwellings originally built on the town-plat; nothing but the
well of the Rev. Daniel Boardman has resisted the changes of
one hundred and seventy years.

In speaking of the various “Divisions,” the proprietors called

the one of seven and a half acres (the home-lots), the firsz divi-
sion, and the next one of ten acres, the second division; and
hence they numbered fourteen divisions, amounting in the aggre-
gate to each proprietor to the quantity of three hundred and
fifty-seven and a half acres, all secured originally for the outlay
of twenty-four shillings.

Col. Elisha Bostwick, as Town Clerk, wrote the following:

The scveral divisions of land granted to a right are as follows:—

December 6, 1707. Granted 74 acres, called 2 home-lot.

December g, 1707. Granted 10 acres, for a pasture.

May 29, 1712. Granted 4o acres, and the same day 40 acres more.
March 12, 1723—4. (Granted 20 acres, and the same day 10 acres more.
November 6, 1726. Granted 50 acres.

March 18, 1729-30. Granted 40 acres. '

March 20, 1732-3. Granted 25 acres.
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December 9, 1734. Granted 4o acres, 8th.

March 29, 1748. Granted 15 acres, gth,

April 10, 1749. Granted 10 acres, 10th.

January 8, 1755. Granted 20 acres being called the 11th division.
November 20, 1760. Granted 10 acres.

September 13, 1790. Granted 1o acres, t3th division.

April 19, 1802. Granted 10 acres, 14th division.

Total of acres granted to each right, 3573.

A resolution was passed by the proprietors to defend the
actual settlers from any persons who might present claims to any
of the territory of New Milford, and the matter assumed serious
proportions in a suit in the law,—the New Milford proprietors
standing on the defensive under their charter or “ patent.” This
difficulty grew out of the grant made to the Stratford people in
1670, to settle a plantation at this place under which they had
made a purchase of lands from the Indians, and therefore had
some reason [in the claim which they brought against the New
Milford company. The first intimation of this difficulty is in
the following record :

At a mecting of the Proprietors of New Milford, held at Milford, June 25, 1706.

Agreed and Voted that Capt. Samuel Eells and Johnathan Law, Jr., be our Law-
ful attorneys to assert and defend our Rights & Titles at the place and within the
bounds of New Milford, in our names & stead to sue, eject, & prosecute any person
or persons that have, do, or shall molest, trouble, trespass, or in any way Interfere
upon our Rights or interest within the bounds of New Milford aforesaid, and that we
do hereby impower Lieut. Governor Treat & Thomas Clark, Esqr., who are of our
Committee or either of them to sign, seal, & deliver a Letter of Attorney in our behalf

& in our names for that end. .
Entered by me,
JONATHAN LAw, Register.

This enactment was followed by the vote just referred to (of
Dec. g, 1707), and then again as follows:

“ March, 1708. Voted that there be a rate made for carrying on the case in law
commenced against us.” ‘Then in the next December they sent Mr. Samuel Clarke,
Jr., Ens. Joseph Peck and Jonathan Law “ to treat with the Stratford men about the
lands which they claim of New Milford, and to agree with them fully and finally,”
but they did not succeed, for in December, 1709, they voted “ that the power of the
committee for agreement with Mr, Read and his partners be continued, and that the
matter respecting New Milford be still prosecuted in the law by our former attorneys
in case the committee agree not.”

This Mr. Reed was the same as Mr. Griswold calls Col. John Read, who was
once a candidate for the ministry here, and who preached the first sermon hete,
whose house, after his removal, was used for a time as a meeting-house, and near
which the first meeting-house was built. Mr. Griswold says : “ After he (Mr. Read)
left the town, his house, which stood near where the present town house stands, was
used as a place of worship for some years.”
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All the facts concerning Mr. John Read have not been learned,
but a petition of his to the General Assembly has been found,
and some other items obtained. ~He is said to have been a grad-
uate of Harvard College ; a candidate for settlement as a minis-
ter at Woodbury, but afterwards studied law and became one of
the most eminent lawyers of his day in the vicinity of Boston.
He was the prosecuting attorney in the first law-suit that ever
occurred in regard to New Milford people or possessions, as will
hercafter be seen; and his history has been the subject of much
research throughout New England. It appears that during the
pending of his suit, from May, 1708, to 1710 or 11, he built a
house in New Milford and resided here some of that time.

Immediately after the committee laid out the ‘“ Town-Plat” in
New Milford, Mr. Read sued them for trespass, which, being
tried in the County Court, was carried to the General Court, i.e:;" i
the Governor and his assistants. The following is the record of
the case in a book of Land Records at Hartford :

Mr. John Read, Richard Blackleach, Daniel Shelton, and Agur Tomlinson, all of
Stratford, (by appeal from the judgment of the County Court, held at New Haven
the third Tuesday of March last past,) are plaintiffs—Contra, Capt. Samuel Eells,
Joseph Treat, Joseph Peck, and Edward Camp, all of Milford, defendants, in an
action of plea of Trespass, for that they, the said Samuel Eells, Joseph Treat, Jos-
eph Peck, and Edward Camp, did some time near the latter end of November last
past, divide and Jay out to scveral persons of Milford aforesaid (under pretence of
being a committec by the [lonbl. Genl. Court some ycars since appointed for the
conducting those of Milford Town who should settle that tract of land at Wianti.
nock which belongs to several the inhabitants of Milford aforesaid, as of said inhab-
itants, and in the name of them all) certain of said Read’s, Shelton’s, and Tomlin-
son’s Jand, lying two miles above Goodyear’s Island, commonly so called, at Wianti-
nock, on the east side of Wiantinock great River, within a mile of the great River,
against and above the mouth of Aspetuck brook in Wiantinock aforesaid, which is
to the damage of the said John Read, Blackleach, Sheiton and Tomlinson the sum
of thirty-eight shillings, with other damages.

The Plaintiffs and Defendants before this court agreed to plead and join issug
upon the Tittle of the said land—and made their pleas—and the case was committed
to the jury.

In this action the jury find for the Plaintiffs, the Land in controversy and costs of

' courts. <

At a General Court May 7, 1708. .

May 8, 1708. The jury were put upon a second consideration of this case ol
John Read and Capt. Samuel Eells, the finding being the same.

Again on the eleventh of May of the same year, and also in the next October,
did the jury render the same decision, only they made the damages “treble with
costs.”
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Mr. Read informs us that after gaining his case fifteen times
in court, he lost it on the sixteenth, and became discouraged and
gave up the claim at last, and sent a letter to the General As-
sembly, as follows:

Col. John Read's Petition,

To ye Coll. Genll. Assembly at New Haven Oct. A. D. 1710,

May it please ye Honbl. Court: Misfortune in my adventures have undone me
utterly; for as I tho't, with a prudent foresight, I purchased ab* twenty thousand
acres of land at Wiantenock, parcell of a purchase obtained thirty-nine,—recorded
37 years past, last Genll. Court time in May in Colony records; had spent much
to settle and defend it; settled some inhabitants with me yr after I had tryed the
tittle and recorded ; finally ag* home pretenders to it by a late patt?, sixteen times
I have been to Court and had tryalls about it, ever gained finally till ye last Court
Assistants wherein I lost finally and am utterly discouraged and broken ; finding two
things, first y* I am not able to maintain suits forever, y* Indian tittles are grown
into utter contempt, y* as the times are I must fall—these things make me weary of
the world.

Wherefore I pray, seeing I nor my father have had one foot of land by division
or grant of Town or County, tho’ spending all our days in it ; that I may have liberty
if I can find a place in the Colony (w*: I know not yet) not granted to, nor pur-
chased by any, y* by your allowance I may purchase it, and settle it with some
others, my friends, where, in obscurity, we may get a poor living, and pray for your
health & prosperity with great content. JNo ReAD.

Upon this petition the following action was taken:

This Assembly being informed that there is a tract of land within this colony,
lying and bounded, westerly on the province of New York, easterly with Stratford
Ferry River, southerly partly with the town granted and called New Milford, and
partly with land granted to several gents,, of Fairfield, and northerly with the said
river and the land of the saii colony, which tract of land may be likely whereon to
settle a town:

This Court do therefore grant and allow that a town shall be settled and planted
there of the extent and bigness of eight miles square . . . . or equivalent thereunto,
and do impower, order, and appoint the Hon. Nathan Gold, Esq., John Chester,
and John Alling Esq., Major Joseph Talcott, and Mr. John Read, or any three of
them a committee to survey and lay vut a town in the place aforesaid, of the quan-
tity and bounds as aforesaid, and to make return to this Assembly in Oct,, 1711,

The deed by which Mr. Read and his associates claimed pos-
sessions' in New Milford, was given by the Indians as follows,

' ~recorded in Stratford :

Be it known to all Christian people, Indians, and others whom it may concern,
that I Pocono, and Ringo, and Quoconoco, and Whimta, who are right owners of
one Island in the great river Oantenock, where Mr. Goodyear had a trading-house,
and also the lands on both sides of the river, we do by this present writing grant

..... unto Henry Tomlinson of Stratford, the above mentioned island and the
land on both sides of the river, three miles down the river southeast, and the land
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on both sides of the river upward northwest, which amounts to seven miles in
length, and accordingly of each side of the river three miles in breadth, which
amounts to six miles in breadth; all which tract of land and island, to have
we confess to have received one piece of cloth and other good pay to our satisfac-
tion, April 23, 1671. ) T

Hence this deed was given to Stratford people the next year
after permission was granted to them by the General Court, to
buy land at this placc and settle a plantation. The tract con-
tained over twenty-six thousand acres; was much larger than
the first purchase at Milford or Derby, and was to all appearance
an honest transaction.

Mr. Read says he with others did make a settlement on this
land, which statement explains some things not otherwise ac-
counted for. When the first land was laid out by the New Mil-
ford scttlers, at or near Gallows Hill, there was the name *“ Gal-
lows Hill,”—a name given to the locality, years before. How
came it there? Certainly not by the Indians. It is said a man
was hung on that hill. But when? Certainly by English
people after some settlement had been made, nearer than Dan-
bury or Derby. Who was hung there?

Again at the same place in laying land, at first, a portion of
the land is called “ Dibble’s Mcadow.” Here then was onc of
Mr. Read’s settlers, Mr. Dibble, from whom the meadow took
its name.

An Indian deed has been seen in the Land Records at Hart-
ford, showing that Mr. Reed made a purchase of land of Mauwehu
and others, at the mouth of Ten Mile river, as follows:

We, Maweho, Tom Cuckson, James, Watau, Coness, Indians, all of Scaticook

. . . . sell to John Read 200 acres of land on Stratford river at a place called Sas-
sucksuck, northward from the place where the Ten Mile river falls into the Great

river. Mawecho his mark.
Tom Cuckson  his mark.
James his mark.
Watau his mark.

July 17th, 1741.

Witncsscd before Roger Brownson, Justice of Peace. )

This land Mr. Read traded with an Indian called Chickens,
for 100 acres in Fairfield.

3

.
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Sokn Weller one of the first settlers.

John Weller from Springfield, Mass., was one of the first set-
tlers, and came here probably in 1708, and the following agree-
ment which he made with Thomas Smith, who owned at the
time the second lot on the Town Street, east side, illustrates a
little the methods and work of making a settlement in the wilder-
ness. Mr. Weller, soon after this agreement, sold his lease and
removed to another lot further north.

Articles of agreement between Thomas Smith of Milford, weaver. . . . . and
John Weller of New Milford.

1. That ye s¢ Weller, his heirs, Ex**, and Adm'*, shall quietly and peaceably
enjoy ye 8¢ Smith’s right in ye tract of land lying within ye bounds of s! New Mil-
ford, for ye full space or term of twelve years after ye date hereof.

2. That ye 8¢ Smith shall procure an hundred and fifty apple trees at Woodbury
for ye 3 Weller to plant on ye land aforementioned.

3. That ye s? Smith shall bear and discharge one- half of ye charge at law, if
occasion require for defence of ye 8¢ right.

4. The said Smith-or his heirs, shall make sufficient and effectual conveyances
in ye law, of one-half of ye Right or land aforesaid, at ye end of ye s! twelve ycars
to 8¢ Weller and his heirs forever ; and that all ye buildings ye said Weller hath, or
hereafter shall erect upon ye 8 land, shall be contained in ye s* conveyances.

4 The 88 Weller shall plant ye 8¢ trees on 8! land, pay all charges that shall
arise upon s? Right or land, excepting only what is mentioned in ye 8¢ articles and at
ye end of ye s! term, quietly and peaceably surrender ye one-half ye s¢ Right or
land unto ye s! Smith, his heirs or assigns.

¢For the true performance’ of these articles, thcy each bound themselves in the
sum of one hundred pounds money.

Dated Dec. 28, 1710.

Thus far the settlement at New Milford had been only a plan-
tation, under the jurisdiction of New Haven County, and attached
to the Derby or Woodbury Ecclesiastical Society, but.with no
‘separate rights as a town.

Therefore, when their numbers had increased so that a peti-
tion would have force from the fact of numbers, as well as need,
they laid their case before the General Assembly, (which body
had taken the place of the General Court, by legislative enact-
ment in 1698,) in the following petition.

To the hon®! gen! Court or Assembly now sitting in New Haven :—The inhab-
itants of New Milford, being twelve families and about 70 souls, having since ye
time of our first settlement, which is about three years, been without ye advantages
of ye ministry of ye gospel, and of themselves as {un]able to give necessary encour-

agement thereto, humbly apply themselves to your honours for relief therein, and
for that end your humble petitioners put into a capacity to levy the same, or that
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your honors would contrive some other way for ye health of our souls, as in your
wisdom shall be thought meet, and your humble petitioners shall ever pray for your

honor’s prosperity.
Dated in New Milford, October 17th, 1711.

John Noble, Sen.
John Bostwick, Sen.
Benjamin Bostwick, Sen.
John Noble, Jr.
Isaiah Bartlet.
Samuel Brownson.

Samuel Prindle,
John Bostwick, Jr.
Zachariah Ferriss.
Roger Brownson.
John "Weller.
Thomas Weller.



CHAPTER 1I1.
THE FIRST TWELVE SETTLERS.

ESIDES the work of clearing away the wilderness

5 and building houses, the first twelve settlers “ set up,”

as it was called, religious services at considerable cost

v and great personal effort. Having no authority as a

/> ) town, they asked the General Assembly in October,

1711, to authorize a tax of seven shillings on each

Right of land in the plantation, for the support of a minister, and

building for him a dwelling-house. This request was so modest

that the amount reached was only £36 8s., and they soon found

it insufficient, and requested the Assembly, the next spring, to

make the tax twelve shillings instead of seven, for four succes-

sive years, which secured £62 8s. a year, by which they were

enabled to accomplish the proposed object, although the minis-

ter's house which was built for him was not fully paid for until
about twenty years later.

The town was organized the next October (1712), by which
they had authority to tax themselves as residents of the town,
but no others, and they were also released from paying taxes to
the State, but because of which they were not allowed represen-
tation in the Assembly.

Not long after the above privileges were granted, Mr. Daniel
Boardman was secured to preach as a candidate, for the follow-
ing record was made by himself in the Church book: “ March
17, 1712, Daniel Bordman was called to preach ye gospel at New
Milford.” Thisapparently was a call to settle, after he had served
some'time as a candidate.

The plantation as now established was indeed a primitive set-
tlement in the deep wilderness, with no outlook, unless it might
have been toward the Indian Field on the west side of the river,
and the city of Indian tents on the platcau of I7ort Llill, a little
back of the Indian burying-place. The location of these twelve
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families, as nearly as can be ascertained, was as represented in
the accompanying plan. It is uncertain as to Isaiah Bartlet’s
residence, but since no land was laid out to him, and he disap-
peared before the next May, it is possible that he occupied the
house built by Col. John Read, which was located in the highway
as indicated ; occupied but a few months, when he removed, before
the signing of thesecond petition. Itshould beremembered that at
this time there was no street or highway laid out by authority,
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except the one on the top of Aspetuck hill, extending south only
to the “brow of the hill,” or the south end of the lot in which is
now located Mr. John P. Treadwcll's reservoir. The streets in-
dicated were traveled roads, but were not laid out by surveyors.
The cartway westward at this time was at what is now Bennitt
street, and went down to the river’s side and up the river about
a mile to the rapids, which was then the common fording-place
of the Housatonic.
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Imagine the appearance of the settlement at this time. There
were no fences whatever. At each dwelling a piece of land—an
acre or two or three—was cleared of the timber—the brush were
burned to be rid of them, and the stumps left standing. A cart-
track running among the trees up the hill north, and one run-
ning down Main street on the west side among the stumps; since
probably the trees, whatever there were of them, were cut away
for a space of two rods wide; and this way turned down Grove
street toward the Falls. Every house was a log-house, with the
door in the side at the center ; the big chimney at the end making
its appearance on the outside as a part of the end of the house,
and barns consisting largely of a kind of shed made of logs.

If now we take our stand at the corner of the streets near
Doct. Charles Taylor’s present residence, remembering that it is
the middle of April, just after the Rev. Daniel Boardman has
been engaged as minister-elect, and look up to the house of John
Noble, Sen., we behold the real life of primitive settlers. In
front of the house toward the cart-path is the wood-pile, at the
north end of which is a blazing fire under an iron kettle which
hangs upon a cross pole that rests upon the “crotches ” of two
stakes erected ‘for the purpose. Mrs. Noble is making soap.
At a little distance to the left is the tall leach-barrel, resting upon
boards which lay upon two short logs, the front end of the boards
lower than the rear, and from which is dripping slowly the lye
with which the soap is to be made. Close by the side of Mrs.
Noble stands the little daughter Mabel, six years of age, watch-
ing the mother at her work. David, the lad now seventeen years
of age, is seated on a log near the wood-pile, and is engaged in
pounding, or grinding with a pestle in a large wooden mortar, the
corn which is to be baked into a “ Jonny-cake” for dinner; for a
large proportion of all the bread eaten in the plantation was
ground in this way.

But look !—from the east is approaching a young woman with
a bundle wrapt closely and folded tightly in her arms. She is
Hannah, the wife of John Noble, Jr—the first bride of the
town—and she is now coming over to the old home for the first
time with the baby Thomas, about three months old. Her hus-
band is in the hollow northeast of his house, finishing his work
at the “ Sapworks,” which was an enterprise in that locality so
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important as to be mentioned in a deed of land. She has now
reached the house, and all are taking a look at the baby.

But, look down the cart-way west. Who comes? A tall, ath-
letic Indian, whose muscular frame bears on its shoulder a girl,
as if she were but a fluttering bird. The ‘girl is Sarah, who
stayed with this same Indian’s family while her father, John Noble,
went to Albany five years before. This morning she went over
the river with her father to the Indian Field, and, as this big In-
dian has done fifty times before, he again takes her upon his shoul-
der and carries her across the river and up home, as fond of her
as if she were his own daughter ;—nay, more ;—it is said to have
appeared as though he was never contented unless in sight of the
- child. And she too seemed delighted always to meet him, al-
though he was such a giant-like Indian.

Again we look down into the woods south and we see coming
another young woman. She is the bride of three months of
John Bostwick, Jr. She was from Danbury, another new planta-
tion, but about twenty years older than New Milford. She is
coming up through the woods from her new home down Great
Brook, to visit the old home of her husband at his father, John
Bostwick, Sen’s, and make a morning call. A bride! and how
is she dressed? A sun-bonnet of her own make on her head,
and from it shine her bright eyes and flushed cheeks with the
very personification of health and joy of life. = Her dress is a
plain home-made woolen pressed cloth, with a belt of the same.
Her shoes are of calf-skin, the most approved style of the day,
but what stampers compared to those her descendants wear in
the fifth generation, on the concrete walks of New Milford.
But scc, she is trying to cross the brook that this time of the
year flows meandcringly among the bogs and roots and logs.
down to Great Brook. IHeigh, ho! she has slipped from a bog
and one foot is submerged, above the top of the shoe in the chilly
water. Mercy, isn’t it too bad. Hear her laugh. Isn’t she just
the most sensible woman out of the woods this morning ?

But listen again. There is a strange noise of voices up the
Woodbury road to the southeast. It is the coming of new fami-
lies of settlers from “down-east.” We must go and welcome
them and find a shelter for them until a house can be built,
They are the families of Stephen Noble and Samuel Hitchcock,
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—all on horseback, with packs of goods, and a dozen persons,
like an ancient caravan from Egypt.

The plantation being now in working order, proceeded to es-
tablish rules and methods for proportioning the division of lands,
and to adopt such regulations as would aid in an equitable.settle-
ment of the territory, but it was found afterward that the plans
adopted-worked much injury and dissatisfaction.

The rule to allow every settler or proprietor to locate his sev-
eral divisions wherever he pleased, made a large amount of
trouble years after, in settling disputed territory, and in re-sur-
veying the same. .

By the votes passed the Proprietors provided for a division of
ten acres to be adjoining to each home-lot for a pasture, and a
forty-acre division which they seem to have supposed would be
taken up on low land along the rivers; and hence they ordered
another forty-acre division of “upland” or land on the hills.
The twenty acres “on a square to be left on Aspetuck Hill to
set a meeting-house on" seems never to have been laid ont for
the purpose specified. :

Two “Rights” were sequestered for the ministry or towns'
use, one of which was appropriated, a few months after these per-
sons petitioned for religious privileges, to Mr. Daniel Boardman.
And in regard to it, we hear of no minority vote, and no division
of the community as to candidates, although parish matters did
not always go smoothly with even Mr. Boardman. The other
Right was laid out in part some few years later, on Aspetuck Hill,
on the north side of the present east and west highway, but in
1748 the second whole Right was sold, and the receipts divided
among the several denominations in the town, in proportion to
the amount of the tax list of each denomination ; Presbyterians
(so called then), Episcopalians, and Quakers..

The First Twelve Settlers.

Life in a new, unsettled country has many charms, although to
the dwellers in the city it may seem quite to the contrary. But,
aside from the idea of enjoyment, the settlers of a new country
are driven, by the hope of securing necessary comforts for their
dependent families, to put forth great, and sometimes hazardous
efforts for the attainment of their object, and therefore the world
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has secn, over and over, the head of the family going into a far
country and building a hut, and afterwards a more commodious
house, and others following him, until a village is built, and then
a town and a state are settled; and finally cities rise in their
grandeur,—all for the hope of securing the things which seem to
be necessary for the fulfilling of the life-work given to men to
do. Many, if they could have been consulted as to their being,
would have decided not to be; but since they are, they accept
their lot with heroic fortitude, and venture in the paths of life to
the verge of imminent personal loss or ruin, for the one only
hope of good to thosc who look to them with longing eyes for
help, protection, and guidance in the present life, and the fulfil-
ment of their destiny hereafter in harmony with the will of their
divine Creator, whatever that may be. To every man, therefore,
if he be a true man, the work set before him has charms, the
joy of which he is eager to possess, whether it be in the forests
wild or in the city full. Divine are the destinies of man in this
life, just as much as they will be in the life to come; not
in a fatalistic sense, but in that of approval and help, to the in-
tent of securing success therein. We need not, therefore, spend
our pity on those who dwelt in thc wilderncss that they might
plant the standard of prosperity for those who should be their
successors in the work of the carthly life. The persons who
stand before us as represented by the names of the First Twelve
Settlers of New Milford need not our commiseration, but con-
gratulation that they held so high and noble stations in life, and
fulfilled them so honorably and succesfully. The catalogue of
these names is not a long one, but they were the forerunners of
a long succession of cventful characters that have, after nearly
onc hundred and eighty years, just begun to pass in review, and,
in hope of animating the travelers in that succession, the record
of these pages is made. The list of these twelve names was
made one hundred and seventy years ago, in the following order :

1. JOHN NOBLE, Sex. 7. SAMUEL PRINDLE.
2. JOHN BOSTWICK, SEN. 8. JOHN BOSTWICK, Jx.
3. BENJAMIN BOSTWICK,SEN. 9. ZACHARIAH FERRIS.
4 JOHN NOBLE, Jx. 10. ROGER BROWNSON.
5. ISAIAH BARTLET. 11. JOHN WELLER.

6. SAMUEL BROWNSON. 12. THOMAS WELLER.
4
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Not in the least did they or their families dream that their
‘names, after one hundred and seventy years, would stand dis-
played on the pages of history as the twelve corner-stones of one
of the most successful rural towns of the far-famed state of Con-

“necticut. So little do the seed-sowers know what the harvest shall
be. Long ages ago it was written : “ There shall be a handful
of corn in the earth upon the top of the mountains; the fruit
thereof shall shake like Lebanon.” ~And it might have been
said, shall be planted in all lands, for to such an extent, nearly,
have been transplanted the men raised in New Milford ; and it
is literally true that a young lady raised in New Milford was
the first American woman that sailed around the world. It was
she that was Lucia, daughter of Samuel Ruggles, and is now the
widow Lucia Tomlinson of New Milford, in her 8gth year.

It is pleasant to.take some particular notice of the first twelve
settlers, since they all proved themselves worthy of the highest
encomium and of the most lasting remembrance,

1. John Noble, Sen.,came here when forty-five years of age,

_having a family of nine or ten children living, some of whom did
not settle in this town. He was a brave, enterprising, noble-
hearted man, or he would never have ventured into the wilder-
ness to make a home for his family as he did. His dwelling-
house stood on the site of the present dwelling of Col. Charles
D. Blinn, or near it, which was a log-house, erected, probably,

" in the autumn of 1707. In 1714, he gave the north half of this
home-lot to his son Stephen, who came at that time from Massa-
chusetts, and upon this lot Stephen erected a house, a little
north of his father's, and, after dwelling in it about a year, re-
moved to that of his father’s, and, after some years, sold his first
one to his brother David.

Prosperity, for a few brief years, filled his hands with work,
in many public oflices, as well as private labors, and his home
with comparative comforts ; but the great destroyer Death was
destined to make a beginning in this new plantation as well as
in all others, and, as he “loves a shining mark,” made choice of
the brave yet kindly heart that first raised a white man’s home in
this dense forest; and therefore, on the 17th day of August,
1714, his life-work closed, and his home was clouded with mourn-
ing, and his place left vacant. He was the first Town Clerk
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clected by vote of the town ; was a surveyor of lands, a mem-
ber of the Woodbury Church, and the first adult person’ to be
carried to the beautiful cemetery that now adorns the village of
which he was the first civilized ornament.

The land of his first home-lot remained in possession of his
descendants until a very few years since.

2. John Bostwick, Sei.. came from Derby, and earlier
from Stratford, and was the second settler in New Milford. He
settled here probably in the autumn of 1707, since his first deed,
dated Dec. 2, 1707, says he was “late of Derby.” The first land
laid to him was lot number one of the town plot, west side of
the highway ; but he had previously settled on the lot, and built
a house near the site of the present residence of Miss Mary C.
Boardman. The northern part of this lot he afterwards gave to
his son Daniel, who kept a tavern on it many years, and who
was an influential and active man in the town.

Hc had a family of eight children, some of whom settled here
some years later than he. He was an energetic citizen, and
bore his full share of official work for the new plantation and
town. The dates of the deaths of himself and two wives are un-
known. His second wife was the daughter of Jeremiah Can-
ficld, Sen., and sister to the first Samuel Canfield in this town,
and his brothers.

3. Benjamin Bostwick, Sen., nephew of John above,
came from Stratford a young man, and married Zeruiah, daughter
of Moses Johnson of Woodbury, in 1711, and established his home
on what is now Grove street, where he resided until his decease
in Junc, 1759. He was a successful farmer, carpenter, and cabi-
net-maker,—the inventory of his property showing him to be
equipped with tools for these trades, and also indicating that his
home and farm werc models for those days in their furnishings
and comforts. :

4. John Noble, Jr., -when 21 years of age, purchased a
Right of land in New Milford, the same day with his father,
June 22, 1706, and came with his father’s family, in 1707, to
New Milford. His house was on the east side of the green
about where the Town Hall now stands. This housc and lot he

1 Mary, daughter of Benjamin Bostwick, died before Mr. Noble.
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sold in 1730, and soon after settled on the plains, in the first
house below Gallows Hill, where he resided until his decease in
1773, at the age of 88 years. He was Captain of the Train
Band in 1732, was a prominent man in the town for many years,
and was one of a number of persons who petitioned for society
privileges in 1743, from the south part of the town; which re-
sulted in the parish and First Church of Newbury, and after-
wards in the town of Brookfield.

5. Isalah DBartlet, was a signer of the petition in October,
1711, but in a similar one the next May his name does not ap-
pear. There was no land decded to him, and the probability is
that he soon removed. Two of his daughters, apparently, werc
afterwards married in this town.

6. Dea. Samuel Brownson, from Fa'rmington, settled
here, probably, in 1708. His house stood at the southeast corner
of the sequestered square or green, southeast of Doct. Thomas
Picketts, or directly south, and across the road from the present
residence of Mr. Edward A. Thayer. He was elected Town Clerk
in 1714, upon the dcath of John Noble, Sen., and held that office
until his death in 1733. He was the first Justice of the Peace
in the town, being also Judge in the New Haven County Court,
and was in his day, probably, the most widely-known citizen of the
town, unless the military man, Capt. Stephen Noble, should be
excepted ; and in every way he secems to have been a man of
dignity, integrity, and responsibility, and much esteemed. He
was the first deacon of the First Church in the town.

Lydia Brownson, his wife, was a woman of decided efficiency,
as may be seen in the list of physicians in this book ; she being
a peculiar honor to the women of the community and the nation,
for she was probably, for some years, the only person that made
professional calls as a physician, in the town, except Doctor
Pickett. She married, 2d, Mr. Jonathan Lumm, and they removed
to Derby. :

7. Samuel Prindle, from Milford, was in New Milford
and signed the petition in 1711. John Noble, Sen., laid out Mr.
Prindle’s first forty acres, on Second hill, before 1714, on the
Right of William Fowler ; which was recorded in 1717, and de-
scribed as “lying upon the westerly sidc of the Sccond hill at a
place called Prindle’s Pitch, 80 rods on the square, common land
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on all sides.” In 1721, William Fowler deeded his Right, in-
cluding this land improved, and another piece at ‘the south end .
of the village, to Samuecl Prindle and Joseph Bostwick. Mr.
Prindle had paid all charges against the Right for seven years,
by which he secured one-half of the Right to himseli. His
dwelling stood at the south end of the village, a little east of the
present site of Hon. A, B. Mygatt’s residence. Hediedin 1750.

8. Major John Botswick, Jr., came here with his father
in 1708, and married Mercy Bushnell of Danbury, Jan. 30, 1712,
and made his home on what is now Grove street ; and his descend-
ant, Mr. John R. Bostwick, is still residing on the old homestead.
He became one of the most prominent and active men in the
town ; was lieutenant of the Train band many years, and after-
wards major in the regiment ; was elected deacon of the First
church in 1733, and he apd Capt. Stephen Noble were the first
representatives of New Milford in the legislature. He also, ap-
parently, gave some attention to the study of law, for the follow-
ing action was taken in town meeting: “ Dec. 12, 1737. Voted,
that Dea. John Bostwick shall be allowed ten .shillings for the
use of his law book for town meetings, and for the use of partic-
ular persons as they shall have occasion.”” He was fourteen
years of age when he came to New Milford, twenty-six when he
was married; died in 1741, aged fifty-two years, leaving five
children, all sons, two of whom, like himself, were very prominent
citizens of the town for many years. '

9. Zachariah Ferriss from Stratford, settled here, prob-
ably in 1708, on alot a little way south of the Town Hall, and ex-
tending south to the corner of Main street, and east across Great
brook ; and his first forty acres lay directly east and "adjoining
his home-lot. This was the same land, most probably, as that he
ploughed in June, 1706, when there were no settlers here ex-
cept Indians. When Mr. Ferriss had ploughed this land in 1706,
the New Milford company prosecuted him for trespass, and Col.
John Read plead his case in court. It must have been, there-
fore, that Mr. Ferriss laid claim to this land under the deed
which was given by the Indians to Henry Tomlinson and ethers
of Stratford, which, having been received under a permit from
the General Court in 1670, under no restrictions or conditions,
was as much a legal deed, and received as honestly -as any
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deed then existing in the colony. The deed had stoed on the
records, sanctioned by a court decision, more than thirty years,
. when the General Assembly gave the permit to the New
Milford company, and their deed was received, upon the specific
conditions that the plantation should interfere with no other
titles. It is no wonder, then, that in fifteen trials in court before
the governor and his assistants, a jury gave Col. Read the case,
and his deed as valid; but it is surprising that on the sixteenth
trial the land was given to the New Milford company without a
penny’s allowance to Col. Read. Is this called Christianity?
And when the title to the land was secured in this way, against
right and Christianity, by professed Christians as they were, it
is no wonder that it took them twelve years thereafter to build
_a meeting-house, amidst great privations and almost extreme pov-
erty; whereas, had they received Col. Read under a liberal con-
sideration of the money he had placed in the enterprise, and
treated him as a Christian brother, the plantation might have
been settled at once, and the meeting-house built in a third
of the time it was. Zachariah Ferriss was brother-in-law to
Col. John Read, he having married, probably, the sister of Col.
Read. . )
Mr. Ferriss was a very efficient business man, placed on
committees of importance; he served in many official capaci-
ties ; surveyed more land, apparently, than any other man in the
town during the first one hundred years, unless Col. Elisha Bost-
wick should be excepted. He was town treasurer a number of
years, when taxes were paid in various kinds of grains, which
were stored, and sometimes accumulated on hand from year to
year, until by some special town vote the accumulation was sold
in a summary manner. He might have been styled, or would be
at the present day, the President of the Bank of Town Deposits.
Samuel Brownson sometimes was elected to this office, but after
a number of years Roger Brownson more frequently bore the
burdens of this office. Mr. Ferriss adhered to the First church
through life, although his wife and several of his children became
Quakex:s. No record of his decease has been found.
! 10. Roger Brownson, from Farmington, settled near his
brother Samuel on what was then the Woodbury road, perhaps
a little way south of the residence of the late A. S. Rogers.
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When his brother dicd he became Town Clerk, and held the
position fourteen ycars. He was also Justice of the Peace for a
number of years: :

. -There were no more reliable men in the town than he and his
brother, for they were elected continually in the highest places
of trust, and proved themselves worthy of the confidence im-
posed upon them; Roger being town treasurer many years.
He died in 1758. '

11. John Weller, Sen., [rom Springfield, Mass., settled
in New Milford before December, 1710, since at that time he was
here, and entered into an agreement with Thomas Smith to work
the land which had been laid to Smith—Ilot number two, east
side of the street—and in 1722 he bought Thomas Smith’s Right,
and in 1723 was living on this home-lot, next north of John
Noble, Jr's. He was a substantial farmer ; bought several pieces
of land besides the one Right ; was not prominent in town offi-
ces or enterprises, but served his part well. He died in 1734,
leaving a number of sons and their families, to each of whom he
had given quitea farm. His son John was a prominent man,
his farm being a little below the mouth of Rocky river, and
which is now owned by Col. Wm. J. Starr.

12. Thomas Weller, of Westfield, Mass., bought of John
Noble one-half of a twenty-four shilling Right in 1707, and sct-
tled here probably before 1710; was here in 1712, but was resid-
ing in Woodbury in 1715, when he sold several pieces of land in
New Milford. »

Only one of the first twelve families came from Milford, unless
Isaiah Bartlett was of that place, which would make only two,
and thercfore it could hardly be said that the place was scttled
at first from Milford. It was settled by Milford people as origi-
nal proprietors, but they were very slow to come here themselves.
Four of these families were from Northampton and Westfield,
Mass., four were from Stratford, and two were from Farmington.
They were all poor people, strictly speaking, being able most of
them—not all—to buy a Right of land, and to have a little left
with which to commence a farmer’s life in the wilderness. The
Bostwick families possessed more property than the others, and
they have held their own comfortably well ever since. They are
so steady and untiring in the same line of work, that they must
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win if death does not rob them of their allotted time. Then,
also, they had a good start, which fact, if attended to, is more
than half the race, in the short life any one may live in this
world. ' '

These were the twelve pillars of the First Eclesiastical Society,
and of the town; but not of the church, for when the church
was organized, some of them had removed from the town and
others had come in. . '



CHAPTER III

PRIVATIONS AND PROGRESS.
1712—1710.

OMMENCING a new plantation in the wilderness
at a considerable distance from any settlement, with
but a small capital to provide advantages for making
improvements, the number of families being few,—
the marks of progress and success must of necessity
make their appearance slowly and at intervals, and
yet New Milford made far greater progress, in the
same lime, than some other plantations which began earlier, and

apparently under circumstances of much greater advantage. In

a little over four years the families scttled here numbered twelve,

and all the souls seventy; and the conveniences for obtain-

ing the necessary food and comforts of life were peculiarly
favorable, while there was but one source of fear or threatening
evil,—namely, the occasional reports of invasion by the Canada,
or French Indians; the native Indians being not only friendly,
but helpful in many little things. The location of a large pro-
portion of the residences at that time was south of Aspetuck
Hill, or the “Town plat,” in close proximity to each other, for
this was the regulation cstablished by the proprietors at the
start as a matter of safety. This “ Town plat” began at the
south end, on the brow of the hill or at the southern extremity
of what was then called the “Plain” on that hill, and extended
northward ; and at first only eight lots were laid out on each
side of the street, each lot being twenty-one rods wide, and

about sixty long ; ‘the street bcing twently rods wide. In 1714

this street was extended southward to what is now the south end

of the public green.
It had been intended, as stated previously, to locate the vil-
lage on the hill east, which would have been a misfortune ; but

5
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wisdom as to convenience prevailed over the idea of beauty in
an elevated position, and it was located on the “ Plain.”’

It is evident, from the fact that Zachariah Ferriss “ broke up,”
or in other words, ploughed a piece of land about where the
Town Hall now stands in the spring of 1706, before John Noble
came to the town; and from other considerations, that the land
where the village now is and the Aspetuck hill, was in a large
measure cleared from trees before any settlement by the Eng-
lish was made here. '

The cleared land on the west side of the river, called the
“Indian Field,” extending from the north end, where the river
runs in an almost easterly direction, southward to the mouth of
the little brook that runs along the foot of Fort hill, was of the
greatest advantage to the first settlers; as furnishing a field
where each planter could at once sow his wheat, plant his corn
and other grain without the delay of clearing away the forests.
This field was soon divided into small pieces of three, four, and
five acres, until it was all occupied, and the price of it per acre
was greater than that of any other portion of the town. Also
the plain on the top of Fort Hill was divided and occupied for
raising grain ;- the Indians having removed from this plain soon
after 1705, it having been many years the principal location of
their huts or settlement, including the site of their old fort. Their
residence here must have been continued many years, or after it
began, their numbers must have been large, for, as concluded in
the Indian History part of this work, the number of burials must
have approached three hundred, which was a number scarcely
reached by the burials of the white people in fifty years ; although
their census at the end of fifty years—in 1756—gives 1,137 per-
sons in the town. The Indians soon removed, many of them
doubtless to Scaticook,® some to the vicinity of the Great Falls,
where, with their chief Waraumaug, they lingered many years.

It is quite certain that the Indians were granted the privilege
of cultivating land some years if they did not own any at that
place, for in 1723, when a new division of fence was made around
the common field, it is recorded : “ The Indian fence from the
Great Falls northward to a stubbed elm,” showing that the Indi-

"Rev. Mr. Bonar’s Hist. Sermon, 1776, p. 2.
2 See Indian Hist., chap. vii, p. 104.
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ans made and kept in repair a portion of that common fence,
and if so they cultivated some of the territory inclosed by that
fence.

Also a considerable portion of valley land on the west side of
the river below the Indian Field and the Great Falls had béen
cleared of timber, in part by the Indians, or was easily cleared
by the white people, for the Common Field, when first a fence
around it was voted in October, 1714, extended to the Great
Falls. This common field was devoted to grass and grain during
the summer and opened for pasture late in the autumn.

There was another portion of the township that in its natural
state favored the early settlers. In the survey of a division of
land, the following description was given by John Noble, Sen.:
“May g, 1713. Laid out for John Bostwick, Jr., forty acres of
land upon the second hill known by the name of Good Hill or
Grassy Hill” In consequence of the grass then growing on
that hill it was called Good Hill or Grassy Hill, indicating how
important it was to have grass for the stock at that period with-
out the delay of clearing away the timber. Some part of this
hill had been burnt over by the Indians for hunting purposes,
some years before ; the timber had disappeared to some consid-
erable extent, and the grass had grown up, furnishing the greatly
needed pasturage for the domestic animals, as well as the wild
ones, and hence it was truly a “ Good Hill.” There appears to
have been, also, some meadow land partially cleared at the mouth
of the Aspetuck river that was soon, and with comparative ease,
brought under cultivation very much to the comfort of the early
planters.

Such were some of the circumstances and relations of the
plantation and its inhabitants when the following record was
made :

“ October, 1712. This Assembly, upon petition of the inhab-
itants of New Milford, do grant the powers and privileges of a
township unto the said inhabitants of New Milford, and do im-
power the town clerk to administer the oaths by law required
to town officers.”* Jonathan Law was the clerk of the planta-
tion company appointed by the General Assembly, and held the

$Col. Rec., v. 356.
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office until the town election, when he was the one to administer
the oath to those who should be elected.

This enactment conferred the authority of conducting eccle-
siastical matters, electing its own officers, laying taxes for its
own expenses, and those imposed by the State, and for the reg-
ular support of a minister, and for schools to a limited extent,
but they could impose no tax on persons residing out of the
town limits. :

The record of the first town meeting, having been written on
the first page of the book prepared for this purpose, is gone, ex-
cept a piece one inch wide and three inches long, by which may
be seen that the record was made in the hand-writing of Jona-
than Law of Milford, who served as town clerk for the first year,
at the end of which John Noble, Sen., was elected to that office,
and held it until his death.

Several town meetings were held during the first year, one as
follows : )

“November 30, 1713. Agreed that John Noble, Sen., and
John Weller or Samucl Brownson should go to Milford to dis-
course with y® committee about ye settlement of a minister, and
at y* same meeting Jacob Griswold and David Griswold were
admitted as inhabitants into New Milford by vote.”

In response to the *discourse” of the committee, they ob-
tained notification of the following rccord of the proprietors
made nearly two months earlicr,

At a meeting of the Proprietors of New Milford at Milford,
October 6, 1713, Voted, “ that they will and now do grant one of
the twenty-four shilling lots (previously voted to be laid out by
two-thirds of the number of the proprietors) to Mr. Daniel
Boardman, a preacher of the gospel at the said place, to his heirs
and assigns forever upon condition that he shall become their
settled minister of the place, and continue so for the space of
twenty years, or during his natural life and ability so to be ; and
that the subscription of the necessary number of proprietors be
endeavored to be procured, and that when it shall be so done, it
shall by your clerk be put upon record. Voted in the affirmative,
which having been done and returned to me accordingly, I have
here put it on record. Test, Jonathan Law, Clerk.

“Voted that a dwelling-house forty feet in length and twenty-
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one in breadth and two stories high, and fourteen feet between
joints, be forthwith built upon the land at New Milford, proposed
to be granted to Mr. Boardman. The committee chosen, to do,
order, take care of and manage the whole affair are: Samuel
Clark, merchant, Ephriam Burwell, Samuel Beard.”

At the next town meeting held in December, 1713, a regular
meeting for the choice of officers, further provision was made in
behalf of the gospel work, and that having been the second
meeting for the election of officers, and the first now on record,
it is given in full, with also the record of the third election as
showing the officers and town work of that day.

“December, 1713. At a town meeting to choose town officers,
Samuel Brownson was chosen moderator.

At the samc mecting John Noble was chosen town clerk,
Zachariah Ferris, Samuel Brownson, and Samuel Hitchcock
were chosen sclectmen.

John Bostwick was chosen constable and sworn.

Zachariah Ferris, surveyor. '

John Noble, Sen., and John Bostwick, Jr., were chosen col-
lectors to join with Mr. Jonathan Law, to collect 12s. tax for the
years 1712 and 1713, ,

Samuel Beebe and John Weller were chosen grand jury and
sworn.

Benoni Stebbens and Stephen Noble were chosen hawards, or
" field-drivers.

William Gaylord, inspector and brander and sworn.

Benjamin Bostwick, Sen., was chosen gauger and sworn.

John Bostwick, Sen., was chosen collector.

At the same meeting it was voted that the inhabitants should
pay £6. 15s5. towards the minister’s board, and Mr. Law will
pay all the charges that we have been out to this day, and that
we shall be out on the minister in the year ensuing.

Zachariah Ferris Innholder.

Samuel Brunson, town treasurcr.”

Third Llection of 1bwn Officers.

* December 23, 1714. John Bostwick was chosen moderator.
At the same meeting, there were chosen for selectmen, Zach-
ariah Ferris, Roger Brownson, Stephen Noble.
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There were chosen for constable, John Bostwick, Sen., for the
year ensuing, and sworn.

For fence viewers, Samuel Beebe, and John Bosthck Jr., and
sworn.

For collector of the 12s. tax for the year ensuing, William

_Gaylord and Jacob Griswold.

For surveyor, John Weller, Sen., and sworn.

For grand-jury, Samuel Hitchcock and John Noble, and sworn.

For hawards, David Griswold and Robert Bostwick, and
sworn. .

For sealers of measures and weights, Benjamin Bostwick, and
sworn, '

For listers, David Griswold and Stephen Noble, and sworn.

For town treasurer, Zachariah Ferris.

For ordinary keeper, William Gaylord.”

A number of families having recently settled in the place, it
became necessary to lay out some roads for the extension of the
settlement into the wilderness,

January 11, 1713-14. We therefore have agreed that the highway beginning at
John Noble, Sen.’s house-lot should extend so far northward as shall be necessary
for building-lots, and this highway to be twenty rods wide, as it is, to run up the
hill against the front of Samuel Clark’s home-lots and in no place less than fourteen
or fifteen rods wide except where lots are already taken, and so by that means it
cannot be, and this highway from John Noble's house-lot to extend southward from
thence, winding as the lots are already laid out on the westwardly side till it comes
to the south side of Samuel Hitchcock’s house-lot, and this highway to be twenty
rods wide where the circumstance of the place will allow of it. And from the south
side of Thomas Picket's lot we order that there be a piece of land sequestered for
common, that so there may be sufficient passage to those highways which are to run
out further, and this common land is appointed to be from the hill east to the high»
way westward, and to extend so far south till it comes against Benjamin Bostwick’s
house by known marked trees, and from the southeast corner of this sequestered
land, a highway running up the side of the hill called the Town Hill, of ten rods
wide marked on the westerly side till it comes to the top of the hill, and a highway
to run across from the highway against Samuel Brownson's and Roger Brownson's
house-lots to the highway running up the town hill, of eight rods wide, marked on
the north side:—and one cross highway between William Gaylord’s house-lot and
John Reed’s house-lot, being six rods wide at the west end, and twelve rods wide at
the brook, and this highway to run up to the hill; and another highway of six rods
wide running from this cross-way south along by the foot of the hill till it comes to
the sequestered land on the south side of Thomas Pickett’s lot; and from this high-
way between William Gaylord’s and Mr. John Reed's house-lots, we appoint another
highway cight rods wide to run northward up to the Poplar Swamp, and from thence
in the most convenient place, to run up to the Chestnut land. The above written
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articles signed by us, Samuel Brownson, Samuel Hitchcock, Zachariah Ferris,
Selectmen.

It was customary for many years to speak of any highway as
the “town street,” which was done for the purpose of distin-
guishing these roads from those laid out by order and somewhat
at the expense of the county,—the latter being called * country
roads.”
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*“June 4, 1715. Laid aut through Samuel Hitchcock’s home-
lot, or twenty acre division, a drift-way from the front to the
river, twenty-two rods, four rods wide; and from this place at
the river to run twenty rods up the river, this also four rods
wide.”
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At the same time another “highway or town 'street was, by
the selectmen laid out from the south side of Caleb Mallery’s
home-lot on the south side of Zachariah Ferriss’ half home-lot,
_twenty rods wide, and from the south side of said Ferriss’ home-
lot to the north side of Benjamin Bunnell’s home-lot twenty-four
rods wide.”

At the same time, “laid out by the selectmen, a drift-way or
highway of two rods wide on the west side of Aspetuck river,
running up the Great River till it comes against Wanups Island,
then running northward across the plain to a white oak tree
marked, thence running to the swamp on Aspetuck River, and
thence up the swamp to the cartway over the river, and then run-
‘ning along by the hill to William Gaylord’s forty acre lot.”

On the same day, “laid out by the selectmen, a drift-way of
two rods wide from the northerly end of the Indian Field, up
‘the plain to the Rocky River, beginning at a place where the
path is now out on the field, thence running up the plain to a
rock, and then down a small hill, and then running up a hill to a
small brook about one rod above the path, then running along at
the foot of the hill to the Rocky River, at the common path over

“the river:—but from the top of the hill to the river this way is
to be ten rods wide.”

Mr. Daniel Boardman continued to preach for the people in

view of a settlement,and yet without any fixed agreement appar-
ently, for several years; his support being provided by various
methods and expedients. In December, 1713, after the tax of
twelve shillings on each Right was available, the town settled a
board-bill of .£6 15s. for him, and it is probable that during the
succeeding year, the tax money met the claims of the minister;
but at the next March (1714), they felt the need of making bet-
ter provision for him, and “ voted that Samuel Brownson, John
Weller, and John Noble, sen., should lay out the minister's land,
that is to say one home-lot with the ten acre division for a pas-
‘ture-lot, and a forty-acre lot.” In the previous January they
had agreed to dig a well for the minister, and that it might be
done by the people doing the work if they chose, rather than
to pay the tax to have it done by others; and in October, 1716,
they appointed a committee to see the minister’s well finished.

The next November (1714), they “voted that there shall be
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five shillings and six pence allowed by the week for the minis-
ter's board for the time to come,” and at the same time, whether
it was to hclp the minister more than the people or to the con-
trary, is not said; that “there should be six shillings cash al-
lowed by the town to David Noble, in case he beat the drum
the year ensuing upon all public meetings.” David Noble was
sixteen years of age and belonged to one of the first families of
the place, and yet he could, for six shillings a year, beat the
drum fifty-two times for religious mcetings, and several times
for town meetings, and think himself highly honored and well
paid in doing it. He afterwards became a large land-holder,
and a highly respected and successful citizen, and served the
town with distinction as a selectman, a military man, and a mem-
ber of the legislature ; a worthy pattern for other boys.

e Iirst Grist-Mill,

Seven ycars a number of inhabitants had resided in the place,
carrying their grain to mill to Woodbury, Derby, or Danbury,
and bringing back the flour at the expense of much time. This
was done on horseback, and very possibly sometimes on man’s
back ; but let none suppose that those early settlers were fool-
ish enough, that, when going to mill, they would put the grain in
one end of the bag and a stone in the other, in order to balance
the bag’ on the back of the horsc, as has been so often repre-
sented of the early settlers of New England. The early settlers
made some mistakes, but they were not fools to the extent of
idiocy ; besides, some of these same settlers were our fathers,
and if they were fools, who are we? They had their prejudices,
misfortunes, and privations, what have we ?:

In view of the need of a grist-mill in the town, the proprietors
in a meeting held at Milford, Feb. 24, 1715, made this arrange-
ment : *“ Voted that Ens. Samuel Clark, Sergt. Samuel Beard,
and Samuel Brownson, are chosen a committee to agree with
somc person to build and maintain a mill on some part of the
Still river or elsewhere at his own charge, and for his encourage-
ment to execute any instrument or instruments for the granting
the stream and some lands in the name and on the behalf of the
Proprietors, with such limitations and conditions as they can
agree upon for the benefit of thc proprietors and inhabitants.”

6 .
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Nine years after this, the following record was made by Mr.
Beard, one of the committee. “Mr. Samuel Brownson: I having
well considered the agreement made by us with John Griswold,
and being satisfied with said Griswold’s fulfilling his-part of the
agreement, do conclude that we ought to fulfill our part in con-
veying to him or his successors, the land agreed by us to be laid
out ; this is to signify to you that I do consent thereunto, and if
you Sir do consent also, this is to desire, if you see cause, to lay
out or cause to be laid out to the above said successors of John
Griswold the land agreed on, viz: a home-lot, and as much other
land as shall amount to seventy-four acres, and six acres of
meadow ; as witness my hand. Dated at Milford, this 27th
of November, 1724.” This was agreed to by Samuel Brownson,
and both members of the committee signed the paper as a deed,
and it was recorded. Several parcels of land however, had been
laid out to these heirs about a week before, and were now re-
corded. Eighteen acres of this land was deeded to William
Gould, as the mill-wright who helped build the mill or mills, for
there was a saw-mill herc as well as a grist-mill, when the land
was thus surveyed and recorded.

John Griswold came from Wethersfield in 1716, a relative of
Jacob and David Griswold, who preceded him to this town.
He built his mill at what is now Lanesville, according to agree-
ment, probably, in the year 1717; but had not received pay-
ment, when by some fatal illness he suddenly passed away, in
the midst of life, Dec. 24, 1719, leaving a family of young chil-
dren, one being born after his decease.

William Gould, the mill-wright, came to the town probably,
with John Griswold ; was successful in his trade, had a family of
at least six children, some of whom remained in the town a num-
ber of years, and in the strength of manhood he passed from
this life, Feb. 15, 1730 ; but at the time his sons William and
Job had become active citizens of the town, and land-holders to
some considerable extent. His home-lot was laid out in Dec.,
1717, on Poplar street, bounded on the south by Samuel
Adkins,

- Dec. 11, 1721. *“The town by vote granted to John Bost-
wick, Sen., the liberty and privilege of the highway across Aspe-
tuck river at the lower end of Mount Tom meadow, in case he
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crect a good grist-mill, sufficient to grind the town’s corn well
and seasonably within one year after this time, and maintain the
same in good and sufficient repair, both he and his heirs after
him.”

Whether Mr. Bostwick built this proposed mill or not is not
known. The location was on the river near the present resi-
dence of Mr. Stephen G. Beecher.

A Minister Ordained.

While it seems to have been the expectation of the inhabi-
tants of New Milford that Mr. Boardman would become their
pastor, it also appears that there was some doubt as to the abil-
ity of the place to support him creditably to himself, and also to
the parish. It is doubtful if his salary was decided upon for
more than a few months at a time, until his ordination after
preaching here nearly five years. On Dec. 30, 1714, they say in
town meeting, *‘ chosen John Bostwick, Sen., and Samuel Brown-
son, to agree with Mr. Boardman what shall be his wages for
half a year’s work.” ‘

In the next May (1715), they petitioned “the General Court,
to see whether we might attain liberty for the settlement of the
worship and urdinances of God amongst us,” and in a few days
this reply came: “ Upon the petition of the inhabitants of New
Milford : This Assembly grant them liberty to embody in church
estate, as soon as God in his providence shall make way there-
for.” Two weeks after, they voted that *Daniel Boardman
should be hired to preach the gospel to us for half a year,” show-
ing they were not yet ready for the settlement; and on June 16,
1715, ““at a lown mecting, it was concluded by the affirmative, that
Mr. Boardman should be treated in order to a settlement among
us in the work of the ministry; and it is to be understood, this
act is our election of Mr. Boardman,” and the committee to treat
with him, was John Bostwick, Sen., and Samuel Brownson.

When these votes were passed by the town, and the commit-
tec called on him, he sent the following communication—still
preserved in his hand writing :

“ Proposals to incourage y* scttlement of a minister in New
Milford ; given by D. Bordman, July 25, 1715.

“]t’s to be supposed that his salary shall be increased as it
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shall be.wanted, and ye people enabled. You are to understand
y* y* salary includes ye price of his board, firewood, y* price of
wintering a horse as well as wages.

“It’s also to be supposed y* y® minister is to have a comfortablt
subsistence from his people, if he be disenabled to perform y«
office of a minister.

“ Again, it is to be supposed that y¢ house and Right Should
be given at usual terms; also y* ye house and well shall be fin-
ished, or at least be tenantable by ye 20 day of November next.

“The lot in y* Indian field to be given as formerly discourse
on ; also to have y* improvement of what parsonage land that he
shall choose.

“ Further, as to labor upon ye lot.

“A line of S rail fence to be made by y* town from ye high-
way at ye east end to Aspatuck River, at ye¢ south side; and
. at ye east end by y* highway, and what is requisite at ye north

side by Jacob Griswold ; and to break up four acres of land: all
this to be done by ye 15 day of June next.

Also five pound worth of work about a barn when it shall be
wanted ; otherwise two days work of each proprietor that are
here resident y* may suffice if yr is help to be obtained from ye
proprietors respecting this matter.” Four days afterward, “ John
Weller, Sen., was chosen to carry Mr. Boardman’s proposals to
Milford to hear what they will do in order to the settlement of a
minister amongst us here, and Samuel Hitchcock and Samuel
Brownson were chosen to hire a man to board Mr. Daniel Board-
man,” and nearly a month later they proceeded a little further,
namely : “It was voted they would accept some of Mr. Daniel
Boardman'’s propositions in order to a settlement ; namely, that
concerning his salary, and that concerning the lot in the Indian
field, the fencing the land, and also ploughing so much as is
proposed.”

Thus matters stood until the next May, 1716, when, having
sent a petition to the Assembly for help in order to the ‘* Settling
and maintaining of a minister and building a meeting-house,”
that body “Resolved that the respective proprietors of the said
town not residing there, shall for each right annually pay the
sum of ten shillings, and for less than a right in proportion, for
the space of three years next and after, as the said town shall
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agree, or this court shall order, always provided, that the money
ordered by this act be paid to Mr. Samuel Clark of Milford,
merchant, and that he take care to dispose of the same to the
uses within mentioned.” At this time, having become a town,
" the inhabitants had the right to assess themselves for religious
purposes, by a town vote, to any extent they might see proper,
and therefore, with the outside help now secured, felt warranted
in settling a minister, and on the 20th of August, 1716, “Voted
that we will endeavor to have Mr. Daniel Boardman settled, and
that we will pitch upon the third Wednesday in October for or-
dination, in case our way may be clear;” but the way was not
clear, and on the eleventh of the next October they agreed upon
“Wednesday in the next week after Thanksgiving, or the next
Wednesday after that time, and John Bostwick and Samuel
Brownson were choscn a committee to sign letters to the Elders
and Messengers, John -Bostwick and Samuel Brownson were
chosen a committee for the entertaining the gentlemen above
mentioned when they come.” At this time (Oct. 11, 1716), they
further specified as to the minister’s salary, but no definite '
amount has been seen, as named, other than this in Mr. Board-
man’s own proposition : “ Its to be supposed that his salary shall
be increased as it shall be wanted, and the people enabled.” The
record of the agreement is thus: “ At a legal town meeting, the
following articles were agreed upon : viz.:. An agreement made
between Mr. Daniel Boardman a preacher of the gospel and the
inhabitants of said New Milford; first, it's supposed that the
town shall see the said Boardman paid the seven shillings upon
.each right not settled according to agreecment made with Mr.
Samuel Clark, at Milford ; and, as for the remaining part of the
salary which lies upon the inhabitants :—we covenant and agree
that it shall be paid as follows : first, that every present inhabit-
ant may have the liberty to pay one-third part of his or her min-
ister’s rate in grain, that is to say wheat, rye, Indian corn,—
wheat at three shilling and six pence per bushel as money, rye at.
two and four pence per bushel, and Indian corn at twenty pence,
all as money. Second, the other two-third parts I will allaw to
be pdid in the several species or kinds, viz.: flax, or labor, or.
pork, or linen cloth; if not these then money ; these two latter
parts you may pay some of every sort, or the whole in either of
them. This agreement shall stand as long as shall consist with
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peace and prdspe'rity, and I do oblige myself to sell to the inhab-
itants grain at the same price, what I have to spare.”

Thus practically the minister became, of necessnty, a produce
merchant as well as a preacher. :

- A little further preparation for the ordination seemed proper
in those days of “ correct habits,” as so often represented, and at
the same meeting they “agreed that there should be one pound
and two shillings raised forthwith to purchase a drum for the use
of the town, and William. Gaylord and John Weller were the
committee to gather the above money and improve it to purchase
a drum,” but these persons were too slow or not good collectors,
for. eleven days later another vote was passed to collect one
pound and three shillings “ to purchase a drum for the use of the
town, and Jonathan Buck to gather the money.” At the same

“time “ Stephen Noble was chosen to represent the town .in such
manner as shall be needful at the time of the ordination of Mr.
Daniel Boardman.” And the ordination took place, doubtless,
with due sacredness and rejoicing at the appointed time. The
Church Record book was procured some years afterward, and as
Mr. Boardman says in it, the making of records “entered upon
Dec. 18, 1727, by Daniel Bordman, pastor of said’ Church.” He
recorded: “November 21, 1716, Daniel Bordman was called,
appeared, and was ordained  a pastor of ye¢ Church of Christ in
New Milford, in ye county of New Haven, in y* Colony of Con-
necticut. Ordained by y* Rev'ned Mr. Shove and Mr. Stoddard
and Mr. Moss; Mr. Shove gave ye charge. The Messengers
[were] Mr. John Sherman of Woodbury, Mr. Holbrook of Derby,
Mr. Cornwall of Danbury, Capt. Samuel Clark of Mllford and
Mr. Sylvanus Baldwin of Milford.”

Immediately following the above record, Mr. Boardman made
another: “ At a meeting of the Brethren of the Church of New
Milford, Anno. 1716, speedily after the aforesaid settlement, Mr.
‘Samuel Brownson was chosen to officiate in the place of a Déacon,
and, about a year after by the sajd Brethren, was chosen a Deacon.
Then agreed that the sacrament of the Lord's Supper should be
celebrated once in three, months.” This method of securing
Deacons, first to.choose them to ““officiate in the place of,” and
after one, two, or more years, to elect to the office, was followed
many years, and thus Roger Sherman, as well as several others
served on probation two years and was then elected.



MEMBERS OF THE FIRST CHURCH. 47

A Church Established.

The “ First Church of Christ” was organized by the council on
the day of the ordination of Mr. Boardman, and gave the call
to the minister, which he accepted, and the ordination followed.
The record Mr. Boardman made of the organlzatlon of the church

is thus rendered :

“ New Milford, Nov. 21, 1716. An account of the Brethren of the church at the

first scttlement of the ministry.

* Some records imperfect for the want of a book.

Recommended ye Planters.

Daniel Bordman,
John Bostwick,
Samuel Brownson,
Zachariah Ferris,
Samuel Beebe,
Samuel Hitchcock,
John Weller,
Roger Brownson,

Female Members.

Mary Noble, widow,

Sarah Hitchcock, recommended from
Springfield ; ye wife of Samuel Hitch-
cock,

Hannah Beebe, ye wife of Samuel Beebe,
recommended from Danbury, -

Lydia Brownson, ye wife of Samuel
Brownson, .

Dorcas Brownson, ye wife of Roger
Brownson.

“ Quickly was added to the church, by admission, and recommendation to Church

Communion.

* Jonathan Buck, James Prime, Ann Prime, ye wife of James Primie, recommended
from Milford. Oct. 19, 1718, William Gaylor, Johannah Gaylor, ye wife of William

Gaylor, recommended from Woodbury.

* Elizabeth Harris, ye wife of William Harris, recommended from Wethersﬁeld
“Mercy Bostwick, ye wife of John Bostwick, recommended from the church of

Danbury.

“ Rebecca Weller, ye wife of John Weller, admitted Oct. 19, 1718.”

Church Members.

. 1719
Benoni Stebbins (Northampton),
Mary Gould, wife of Wm.,

1720.

Samuel Prindle,
Dorothy Prindle, wife of Samuel,
John Noble,
John Welch,
Abigail Noble, wife of John,
Deborah Weich, wife of John,
Abigail Noble, wife of Stephen,
Mabel Griswoid, widow, .
Mary Buck, wife of Enoch,

—— Camp, wife of Samuel {Milford),

Miriam Pickett, wife of Thomas,
Hannah Noble,

|Lydia Noble, wife of David,
‘ Mary Stebbins, wife of Benoni,
' 1721,
i Ben)amm Bunnell,
| . Ebenezer Bostwick,
‘ Rebecca Bostwick, wife of Ebenezer,
Patience Bunnell, wife of Benjamin (Mil-
ford),
i 1722,
nEbenezer Baldwlin,
iMary Baldwin, wife of Ebenezer,

1725

! Phebe Hoose.
1726.

Paul Welch,

Obadiah Weller,

John Prindle, iy



48

Jerusha Baldwin, wife of Theophilus,
Patience Washburn, wife of Ebenezer,
Sarah Prindle, )
Nathan Tallcott,

James Lake,

Thomas Weller,

Nathan Terrill,

David Ferriss,

Benjamin Ferriss,

Samuel Prindle, Jr.,

Abraham Brownson,

Zephaniah Hoose,

Ruth Terrill,

Anna Jackson,

Phebe Beecher, .

Sarah Ferriss,

Dorothy Prindle,

Mary Hoose,

Samuel .Canfield,

Eleazer Beecher,

Hannah Bordman, wife of Daniel (Con-

cord),

Jerusha Bordman, wife of Daniel (Stral-

field), .
Sarah Brownson, wife of Thomas,
Elizabeth Prindle,

Abigail Canfield, wife of Samuel,
Hannah Bunnell,
Hannah Ferriss, = -
- 1727.
Thomas Brownson,
Ruth Brownson,
Esther Hitchcock,
Deborah Hitchcock,
Capt. Stephen Noble,
Samuel Hitchcock,
Rebecca Hitchcock, wife of Samuel,
Jonathan Hitchcock,
Mary Hitchcock, wife of Jonathan,
Miriam Mallery,
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i Ezekiel Buck, from Litchfield,
James Hine, .

i Margaret Hine, wife of James,

| William Gould,

| Daniel Prindle,

" Stephen Noble, Jr,

_ Joseph Weller,

1731.

Deborah Hitchcock, wife of Samuel,

1733
i James Camp, _733
Aaron Gaylord, :
' Phebe Gaylord, wife of Aaron,
1734.
: Joseph Murry,
" Tlannah Murry, wife of Joseph (from
Newtown),

, John Weller, Sen., restored,

James Lake, restored,

Jonathan Buck, Jr.,

Jacob Brownson,

David Camp,

Thankful Weller,
' Catharine Hoose, wife of Zeph:miah
| Ruth Delpesh, (?)

» Ezra Terrill, and Margaret Terrill, wife
| of Ezra {from Woodbury),

1735.
\Ann Buck, wife of Joseph,
i Betty Buck, wife of "Jonathan, Jr.,
Joseph Hubbard, and his wife, from

. { Ridgefield,

Thomas Oviat, Sen.,, ’

‘ Joseph Ruggles, and Rachel Ruggles, wife
i of Joseph, from New Haven,

! Sarah Hawley, wife of Hiell,

Job Terrill, and his wife, from Milford,
Jonathan Buck, Sen., restored,

1736,

Elizabeth Terrill, wife of Gamaliel (from | Thomas Hudson, of Lyme,

Waterbury),

Theophilus Baldwin,

John Weller, Jr.,

_Gamaliel Terrill,

Roger Brownson, Jr.,

Lemue! Bostwick,

Nathan Gaylord,

Hannah Bostwick,

Sarah Buck and Lydia Buck (from Litch-
field),

Job Gould,
John Bostwick 3d,
! Jemima Bostwick, wife of John,
i Benjamin Hoose,
Josiah Brounson,
Hannah Lumm, wife of Samuel,
Derby,
: Mary Baldwin, wife of Ebenezer, from
Newtown,

from

i Joseph Weller, renewed his standing,
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Recbecea Brounson, wife of Jacob,
Margaret Oviatt, wife of Thomas,
Sarah Camp, wife of David,
Nathan Hawley,
Keziah Hawley, wife of Nathan,
Dorothy Prindle, wife of Samuel, restored,
Sarah (Prindle) Gould, restored.

1737
Mr. Jeremiah Cantfield,
William Drinkwater, from Ridgeficld,
John Botsford,
Samuel Baldwin,
Betty Botsford, wife of Jonathan,
Mr. Ebenezer Fisk and Mehitable Fisk

(Ebenr.), from Milford.

1

Nathan Botsford,

Sarah Botsford, wife of Nathan,

Bushnell Bostwick,

Miriam Bostwick {Bush),

Joseph Warner,

Daniel Hine,

Mary Smith, wife of Josiah, from Derby,

1739

Daniel Farrand

Ebenezer Fisk,

Mr. Joseph Benedict and Mr. -Ephraim
Hawley, from Newtown,

Mary Benedict, wife of Joseph,

Phebe Hawley, wife of Ephraim,

John Hitchcock,

Benajah Bostwick,

Jobn Bradshaw, !

Jeames Terrill,

Joseph Oviatt,

Ebenezer Buck,

Sarah Hitchcock, wife of John,

Hannah Bordman,

Jeames Moger, ¢

Dorcas Brownson.

1740.
David Bostwick,

Marcy Bostwick, wife of David, from
Southbury,

John North, of New Fairfield,

Benjamin Benedict, from Ridgefield,

John Welch,

Rebecca Bostwick, wife of Joseph,

7.

49

1741,

Martha Camp, wife of Enos, from Mil-
ford,

Sarah Bradshaw, wife of John, from Dan-
bury,

Sarah Prindle, wife of Samuel,
Unity,

Ann Hawley, wife of Eph.,

Ephraim Hawley, Jr.,

Gamaliel Baldwin,

William Buck,

Caleb Maliery,

Hannah Bostwick, wife of Benajah,

Mary Noble,

Mary Farrand,

Rebecca Herautt,

Peneleope Bordman,

Tamar Bordman,

Elizabeth Mallery, wife of Caleb,

David Merwin,

James Mackeney,

John Woodruff and Abigail Woodruﬁe,
from Kensington.

1742.

from

Amos Collins,

Daniel Noble,

Sarah Noble, wife of John,

Prudence Collins, wife of Amos,

Jerusha Baldwin,

Peter Brounson,

David Hawley,

Abia Bennett, wife of Benj.,

Mr. Nathaniel Bostwick,

Elizabeth Drinkwater, wife of John, from"
Taunton. -

1743.
Eleanor Mackendy, wife of James,
John Warner,
Rachel Bost, wife of Benj., from Ridge-
field,
Ezra Terrill, from Southbury.

1744.
William Prime,
Nathan Wheeler,
Sarah Prime, wife of Wm.
Paul Terrill.
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Method of Appointing Deacons in the First Church.

The method of the New Milford Church in ‘appoint'ing its
Deacons, for many years, may be seen in the following record.
“ At a meeting of the Brethren of the church of New Milford,
“Anno,, 1716, speedily after the aforesaid settlement Mr. Samuel
Brounson was chosen to officiate in the place of a Deacon, and
about a year after by the said Brethren was chosen a Deacon.
Then agreed that the Sacrament of the Lord’s Supper should
be celebrated once in three months.
" “March 28, 1725. At a meeting of the Brethren of the church
James Prime was chosen to officiate in the place of a Deacon.
“November 1st, 1726. At a meeting of the Brethren of the
church the above-mentioned James Prime was chosen a Deacon.”
This was the method pursued in regard to the following men
who were finally elected Deacons :—

1716, Samuel Brownson, died 1733, 1751, Bushnel Bostwick,

1725, James Prime, 1755, Roger Sherman,

1733, Lt. John Bostwick, died 1741, 1761, Benjamin Gaylord,

1738, Job Terrill, 1761, Capt, John Hitchcock,
1742, Samuel Canfield, 1779, Capt. Sherman Boardman.

One man after his probation as Deacon was rejected.

“Feb., 1751. At a church meeting regularly warned it was
fully voted in the negative that Ebenezer Beecher should not be
established in the office of a Deacon; he fell off to a party
called Separates and could not be reclaimed.”

‘These lamentations might have been saved, for in less than
fifty years, the ‘principles and doctrines of the Separates were
adopted by a majority of the churches, having such leaders as
Dr. Bellamy, Samuel J. Mills, and others.

A Sample of Church Discipline.

* “ At a meeting of the Brethren of the church of New Milford
holden on the 1g9th day of October, 1740, to consider the case
of James Lake, under the scandal of drunkenness, who was
esteemed guilty by all the Brethren present, agreed and confessed
‘that said ‘Lake should be dealt with in a disciplinary way ac-
cording to the rules of the gospel,—that is to say, to be admon-
ished and excommunicated in case of stubborness,—the evidences
and the judgment of the court civil here pending, td be proceeded
again in 3 or 4 weeks.
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Dec. 28, 1740. James Lake not attending the worship of
God some time before, it was thought fit by the church that if
James Lake should refuse to attend the worship, that he should
be warned by two Brethren, accordingly [he] was by Benjamin
Bunnell and Benoni Stebbins to appear at the public. worship,
to hear his admonition, but did not appear, yet it was read in_
public [and] sent to him by the said Brethren.

“ Anno., 1741-2. After y° 2d admonition the said ]ames Lake
rcturned, made his peace with the church and [was] accepted.” .

This was among several cases.

Change in the Manner of Condudiné Singing.

In the first method of conducting singing the Deacons led
while standing in front of the pulpit.

“Feb. 12, 1739-40. At a meeting to consider and agree
about thd singing of God’s praises in the congregation, then it
was clearly voted that we should half the time; that is to say, to
sing one day all the old way, the next Sabbath day, all the new
way for the space of a year, and then to have a reconsideration
of the matter. Samuel Bostwick chosen chorister for the new
way, and Nathan Botsford for the 2d, in case of the other’s

absence.
D. BorpMAN, Moderator.

“Feb. 12, 1740-41. A meeting legally warned to consider and
agree about the singing of God's praises in the congregation.
First, it was put to vole that those that were for singing all together
the old way should go to the east end of the meeting-house,
where appeared 16, and those that were for the new way of sing-
ing alltogether, to go to the west end of the house, where ap-
peared the number 29 or 30.

*“Then 241y, voted that the majority of voters should rule and
govern in the affair—30 against 16.

3rd. Lemuel Bostwick was voted in for a chorister by about
30, or by a greater majority.

4th. Nathan Botsford was voted for a 24, or to assist in Sam-
uel Bostwick’s absence by about the like majority.

DanNizr. BorRDMAN, Moderator.



52 © HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD,.

“ At a church meeting, Feb., 1750~51, Nathan Botsford desir-
ing to be dismissed from tuning the Psalms, Samuel Bostwick
was chosen in his room to assist in Lemuel Bostwick’s absence.

N. TavLor, Moderator.

“ At a church meeting afterwards, Samuel Bostwick was cho-
sen to be chorister,—and afterward John Oviatt to assist in
tuning the Psalm.

N. TaAYLOR, Moderalor.

At a church meeting regularly warned may, 1758 : Voted that
Doct. Watts’s version of the Psalms should be sung the last
singing in the afternoon on the Sabbath, and at lectures.

NATH" TAYLOR, Moderator.

At another meeting of the church, April 25, 1759: Voted that
the old version of the Psalms should be sung in the forenoon
and Dr. Watts’s version in the afternoon, for one year, then alto-
gether Dr, Watts's. At the same time voted that the third Book
of Doctor Watts’s Hymns should be sung on the occasion of the
Lord’s Supper,

Test. NaTn*“ TAYLOR, Moderator.

August s, 1761, David Canfield was chosen to assist in tuning
the Psalms at a regular church meeting.
NATH'" TAYLOR, Moderator.”

_ Another matter, although a little delicate, deserves attention
in this place. The Rev. Daniel Boardman made the following
record in the church book: “March ye sth, 1739-40. At a
church meeting of y¢ brethren of this church; unanimously vo-
ted and agreed to allow ye ordinance of baptism to be adminis-
tered to infants born at seven months after a marriage of y*
- parents thereof, or those such as were not punishable by ye civil
law of y¢ government, without a strict examination by y* pastor,
not obliging a man to condemn himself.”

If a child was born under a less time than that specified above,
the parents were required, generally, in Connecticut, to make a
public confession before the child could be baptized. This con-
fession was. laughingly represented by the phrase *“ Walk the
Broad Aisle,” which meant that such parents were required, after
the birth of the first child, to walk up the center aisle of the
church to the pulpit, before the assembled audience, and there

i
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make their confession, and then the child was baptized.  All of
this, nearly, grew out of the abominable doctrine that parties
“engaged to be married” are bound together just as much as
after the marriage ceremony is performed. The consequences
of this disgraceful sentiment may be seen in the fact that thou-
sands of records are now on the town books of Connecticut
declaring the births to have been within any where from ten
days to seven months after the marriage of the parents, and that
too, as well among the families of the very best standing in the
communities, as any other. The occasion for such records scarce
ever occur at the present day.

It is true, also, that all our sentiments of the present day, and
for the past 1,400 years concerning “engagement,” marriage and
divorce, are colored with heathen notions, brought to us from the
old Roman nation through the Roman Catholic Church, so that
we have scarcely a truly Christian sentiment on either of these
topics.



CHAPTER 1IV.

ADDITIONAL SETTLERS—1713-1720.

ETERMINATION, with patience, application, and
length of years, conquers all obstacles and makes all
the attributes of nature pay tribute unto man.

When the petition of the New Milford people
was sent to the Assembly in November, 1711, they
asked for a tax of seven shillings on each Right in

~ the township, but it was soon found that that amount,
£36 8s., would do but little towards building the minister’s
house after paying his salary, and they therefore petitioned the
next May that the tax should be made twelve shillings instead
of seven, which was granted. The names on this second peti-
~ tion were the same in number as on the first, and the same as
the first except that Robert Bostwick was in the stead of Isaiah
Bartlet. :

13. Robert Bostwick, was the son of John Bostwick,.
Sen., second settler in New Milford, and was at this time (1712)
just past 21 years of age, and therefore could sign such a petition
which he could not do the previous October, alfhough he was here
in the place. He built a house on the site of the one that now
stands next below the dwelling of Mr. Charles Randall, on Grove
street, but in a short time after he removed to Bedford, West-
chester county, N. Y., where he married, lived, and died, so far
as is known. This land he sold to Samuel Canfield, with the
dwelling-house, in 1723, after he had been in Bedford some years.
* Before this church was organized the New Milford people
journeyed to Woodbury to meeting some of the time, and they
may have gone to Derby some, for John Noble’s wife united with
. the church at Derby. - The following record is in Woodbury.

“ Admitted to Membership.—1710, Jan. 29, John Noble of
New Milford. 1714, Jan. 3, Samuel Hitchcock of New Milford.
1716, Nov. 11, Roger Brownson of New Milford.”

As soon as religious privileges were secured, the settlement be-
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gan more rapidly to increase, and some running account of the
new families which came in beforc 1730, will be important,

14. M. Danicl Boardnian, as he was always called while
living, was “ called to preach the gospel at New Milford,” as he
recorded, “March 17, 1712,” having probably preached several
Sabbaths before that date, and this arrangement was continued in
view of his becoming a settled pastor. There were three terms
used in those days as to securing a preacher,—one was to “hire
him for pay,” which meant for a few Sabbaths only ; the next was
to hire him “ on probation,” which meant that he was a candidate
for settlement,—the third was a “ settled pastor.” For two or
three years Mr. Boardman could scarcely be said to have had a
salary, for during that time several votes were passed in town
meetings to pay certain dues for him in view of supporting him
as their minister, but no sum is mentioned as hls salary, or
settlement. :

When the plantation was granted liberty, in October, I7H to
settle a minister, a tax of seven shillings was -allowed on each
Right,—104,—and in the next May this amount was increased
to twelve shillings on -each Right; and in October, 1713, they
were allowed to raise by tax on all Rights so much as was still
wanting to complete the dwelling for the minister, and that
“could not come out of the twelve shillings ” after giving what
support seemed necessary to the minister. This tax ran four
years, until 1716, when another was allowed upon non-resident
proprietors, in addition to the parish tax for Mr. Boardman—
then a settled pastor, His dwelling-house, which, in " October
6, 1713, was voted to be “forty feet in length, and twenty-one
in breadth, and two stories high, and fourteen feet between
joints,” and his well and barn, were built largely without cost,

-by volunteer work. This house stood, on the lot giver to him
by the proprietors, which was located on the Aspetuck Hill,—
west side of the street, just after rising the steep part of the
hill, going north. ,

In view of his becoming a settled -pastor the proprietors gave
him a whole Right of land in the township, and on February 2,
1713, he purchased a whole Right of Wakefield Dibble of ‘Dan-
bury, and on April 28, 1714, he ‘purchased another whole Right
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of Samuel Sanford of Milford, for which two Rights the town
a few years afterwards paid.

“Jan. 14, 1725-6. Voted that the town shall pay for the two
rights that Mr. Daniel Boardman hath by purchase.” He after-
wards purchased another half right, and never sold any land of

account.
~ In the same year (Dec. 7, 1726,) the town “Voted that the

selectmen send to the committee for building Mr. Boardman’s
house to know whether they will finish the same or not.”

Up to this period the town had given him, instead of what
was usually denominated a “settlement,” three Rights of land
(w}hole Rights, sometimes called), which amounted, with meadow
lands, to eleven hundred acres of land, built him a house and
well, and a part of his barn.

Eight divisions of land were made before his decease and
these for the three Rights, with meadow, amounted to 850 acres,
making him as large a landholder, with a few exceptions, possibly,
as there was in'the town, at his decease.

Also the following must be added to his land possessions :

“ Daniel Boardman, Jacob Griswold, David Griswold, Thomas
Picket, and Benoni Stebbins, bought of John Noble, Sen., John
Bostwick, Sen., Zachariah Ferriss,  Samuel Brownson, Roger
Brownson, William Gaylord,'Samuel Prindle, John Weller, Ben-
jamin Bostwick, Thomas Weller, John Bostwick, Jr., Samuel
Hitchcock, John Noble, Jr., Stephen Noble, Robert Bostwick,
the fourth part of a certain parcel of land containing about 130
acres, bounded east with the Great River, northerly with the
said river to an elm tree on the river bank, then by a southwest
line taking in Fort Hill with the graves, and then upon the top
of the bank by the meadow to the Great River upon the South
side of ‘a brook that falls into the said river. . . . . . Although
Daniel Boardman is above mentioned as a purchaser, yet it is to
be understood that his right is more of the nature of a gift; we,
with the rest of the proprietors of the said [land] grant it to
him on the condition that he become a settled minister here, at

New Milford. . . . . Subscribed May s, 1714.”

This arrangement made the owners of that field to number

twenty, each having about six and a half acres. This deed al-



MARY LAND, . 57

though given in 1714, was not recorded until sixteen years
afterwards.

In 1715 he purchased a half-right of Samuel Orton of Wood-
bury, and in 1718 he bought that part of another half right
which was then undivided, there having been taken out of it
about 30 acres, leaving about 125 acres for him. These parcels
of land, with several small pieces which he purchased :—one of
his father containing ten acres, another of David Griswold con-
taining twenty acres; and others, with his right in the North
Purchase, made the amount of land which he owned to be more.
than fifteen hundred acres ;—over ten hundred being divided to
him before he died.

The sales of land which he made were few and in small pieces;
and heexchanged several small pieces. When heneeded workdone
which he could not well secure otherwise, he parted with a piece
of land, as indicated by the following: “In consideration of set-
ting up and covering a lenetoe [lean-to] to my dwelling-house,
which being performed is to my full satisfaction,” he deeded “to
Enoch Buck, carpenter,” seven acres of land in 1729 ; and in the
same year, “in consideration of 300 good chestnut rails,” he
sold to Theophilus Baldwin “ one half of a meadow lot in Mount
Tom Meadow.” Also, in 1730, * in consideration of breaking up
of ten acres of land upon the plain in the common field, near to
Poplar Swamp,” he sold to Isaac Deforest ten acres of land, west
of Still River and south of Three-Mile Brook.

It is a part of history to record that among the many pieces
of land surveyed to him, there was laid, in 1726, “to Mr. Daniel
Boardman five acres of land, being two islands,— ... . the
first against a place called Mary Land, . . . . the other being
against the north end of said Mary Land,” and in 1730 there
was laid to him also * Spruce Island, between two islands.of the
above said Boardman's,” at the same location. Thus early, be-
fore any inhabitants re51ded in that locality, was the place known
by the name of “ Mary Land.”

A letter is still in existence which gives the followmg infor-
mation, the source of information being most reliable. Judge
D. S. Boardman related to his niece, Miss Cornclia Boardman,
that the Rev. Daniel Boardman had a slave called Primus, and

for him Mr. Boardman built a hut at the farm at Boardman's
8
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bridge, at a large rock about seventy rods above where the pines
used to stand, which had since been known as Primus Rock.
This slave came from Mary Land, and he named that locality on
the east side of the river, after his native state, and it is still
known by that name. The land on that farm where the well-
known pine trees stood so many years, was put under cultivation
by Rev. Mr. Boardman, and so continued a number of years,
Primus being the ploughman and residing in his hut ; but, when
for a time it was not ploughed, a few large pings that stood on
the river-bank scattered their seed, and the young pines came up
thick, covering seven or more acres. Sherman Boardman said
he remembered going among those trees when his outstretched
arms would pass over the tops of all or any of them. A few
years since these trees were cut down, and some of them meas-
ured over four feet in diameter at the stump.

. Mr. Boardman’s Salary.

Asa part of his salary, the town furnished him with wood, for
which arrangements were made at each annual town meeting;
(it being secured for a few years, at first, by voluntary offerings ;
each man pledging Limself to deliver at Mr. Boardman’s house
so many cords; but in the execution of this method some were
negligent, and the wood apparently did not arrive in time. -

In 1717, they voted “to give David Griswold four pounds to
supply the minister, Mr. Daniel Boardman, with wood for the
year ensuing :”—in 1718, “that those who signed a writing to
fetch Mr. Boardman’s wood shall be paid two shillings and six
pence a load in case those that are absent will not do their full pro-
‘portion,” and in 1720, that, “ The town agree to give William
Conn six pounds to find Mr. Boardman with wood for a year,
beginning at the 1st of January-next, and they paying him thrcc
pounds this present year.” In 1724 they agreed to give Benoni
Stebbins “nine pound fifteen shillings” to provide him with suf-
ficient wood for the year; and in January, 1726, that he should
. have “forty cord of good wood provided by the last of January
. .next, and those that fail, to forfeit twelve shillings a cord.”

- As to his salary, which was, apparently, always when he had
‘any stipulated sum, less than fifty pounds previous to 1724; and
there was difficulty in collecting it, and especially that which



. MR. BOARDMAN'S SALARY, 59

was levied on personal property. In May, 1719, the Assembly
granted “that the inhabitants of said town, for the support of
the ministry, 'shall _annually, for the space of four years, pay a tax
of four pence on the pound, to be levied upon all the polls and
ratable stock in said New Milford.” In October, 1721, much of
this tax remained unpaid, and the Assembly gave authority to
proceed in law to collect it, or send the persons indebted there-
for to gaol, according to the law in other matters of debt.' In
1724, the Assembly granted a ‘“tax upon each Right of lands in
said New Milford, of six shillings and six pence for the support
of the ministry;” and in the annual meeting of that year, Dec.
11, they “voted that Mr. Boardman's salary shall be advanced
to sixty pounds.” In 1725, the prices of grain advanced about
one-third ; wheat seven shillings per bushel, instead of four and
five shillings in previous years, and corn at four shillings and
eight pence instead of three shillings. . :

But the day of relief and advancement began to dawn, for in
the town ‘meeting, Dec. 30, 1726, “ there was a committee ap-
pointed to consult Mr. Boardman as to fixing his salary and the
price of grains for a number of years, and the town voted to pay
him as salary, ninety pounds a year for the space of six years,
and to pay in grain six cents per bushel below the market price’
at Fairficld, yearly, or in money; and pork at one shilling per
hundred below the above said market; and the time to deter-
mine the market price to be the middle of January, yearly.

“Voted that the above said salary shall be the hlghest that
they would bid.”

This proposition Mr. Boardman consented to accept provnded
his firewood should be in addition, but the town refused to add
it. Upon this, after three days, an adjourned meeting was held
and Mr. Boardman sent the following: ““Jan. 2, 1726-7. This
may give notice -to the inhabitants of the town that I will for
peace sake comply with the terms of ninety pounds and it may
be so entered upon record for six years.

' Danier BorpMman.”

In 1731, came the scceding of nineteen members of the churcl
to the Quakers, but the relatjons of these persons were such as
~ to affect the membership of the church much more than the
financial interests of the society, for in December, 1732, the
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town made a proposition to Mr. Boardman, and the following is
his reply: “Dec. 12, 1732. Being informed by the committee
that the town have agreed.to find me thirty cords of fire-wood,
mnety—ﬁve pound salary with the wood, ten shillings per cord,
species [grains] at the town’s prices:

I thankfully accept—and should more thankfully if there were
a full compliance. You'rs to serve,
: DanieL BorDMAN.”

In 1736, his salary was £120; in 1740, it was 4135, and in
1742, 4155 “money according to old tenor.” The last consul-
tation with Mr. Boardman concerning his salary resulted in the
following brief note which was quite characteristic of the man:
“Dec. 1743. To the moderator or clérk of .the town meeting:
I have received by Lt. Hine and Sargt. Lemuel Bostwick, a pa-
per that contains the several prices of Species and the vote for
my salary, viz.: 145 pounds; this may signify that I accept and
return thanks.

' DanieL BorDMAN.”

The severest struggle through which Mr. Boardman and his
people passed was the term of years from 1719 to 1724, while
-the first meeting-house was being erected and completed. The
urgency of their petitions to the Assembly, and the repetition of
them, indicate the greatness of the effort they found it necessary
to make, in order to the success of the gospel in their commu-
nity.

It was in 1722, also, that the “ North Purchase” was made, to
add to the territory of the town,—a movement which, in all
probability, was a damage to the town rather than an advantage,
since, for many years, it drew capital out of the town, when most
needed in it, instead of adding thereto, for it was no part of the
town until it was annexed in May, 1741.

The following is one of many receipts that Mr. Boardman
gave to persons who had been collectors in his behalf.

“ Nathaniel Botswick's Acquittance.

~ This may certify that whereas Nathaniel Bostwick of New
Milford, was put in collector by the General Assembly to gather
arate of six shillings and six pence upon each Right in the
township of New Milford, and to pay to Mr. Daniel Bordman,
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minister of said town, for the space of five years, which term of
time is supposed to have ended at or before the year 1730 ; this
may signify that said Bostwick has finished that work and is
discharged by me. ‘

New Mivrorp, Dec. 24, 1733. D. BorDMAN."

More New Selllers.

15. Capt. Stephen Noble, son of John, Sen., settled in
this town in 1713, for in a deed, Jan. 13, 1713-14, he is said to be
“of New Milford,” which signified that he was then residing
here. His father deeded him half of his home-lot and as thus
divided Stephen'’s part was the corner where Col. Charles D.
Blinn now resides, including the lot next south to the corner ;—
his lot being 38 rods on the street, east; 54 rods on the street
on the south (now Bennitt street) and bounded west and north
by his father's home-lot. After his father’'s decease, he pur-
chased the whole of his father's land and Right in the township,
and became, and continued to be for many years, one of the most
active men in offices and enterprises. He was the first Captain
of the first military company in the town, and soon after that
company was organized, about 1717, he was directed by the
State to take charge of soldiers stationed here then, and several
times afterwards, to protect the inhabitants from the reported
coming of the Canada Indians. It is probable that it was his
house that was stockaded or made as a fort at this time, and
thus continued some years. He, with John Bostwick, Jr., repre-
sented the town for the first time in 1725, and afterwards he'was
representative 16 sessions. By trade he was a blacksmith, and
his shop stood on the highway, now Bennitt street, some little
distance west of the corner, as mentioned in a deed. He was
selectman of the town many years, and was often appointed on
special committees for this town, and in behalf of the church, and
as a delegate for special public matters ; and his name, with that of
Zachariah Ferriss, stands attached to the certificates of surveys
of hundreds of deeds on the town records. The amount of pub-
lic work done by him and Zachariah Ferriss was never equaled
by any other two men, unless by Samuel Canfield, Esq., and Col.
Elisha Bostwick. The General Assembly, on the 13th day of
October, 1726, “ upon the intelligence of the Indian enemy com-

_ing toward our frontier,” passed the following :
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-“ Resolved by this Assembly, That twenty effective men be
forthwith raised in the town of Milford, with a Sergeant, and
march forthwith to New Milford, to be under the command of
Capt. Stephen Noble, to be improved for the defense of said
town ; and that the Major of the regiment of New Haven forth-
with make out the necessary orders therefor.”

“ Resolved by this Assembly, That Capt. John Marsh, and
Capt. Stephen Noble, forthwith send each of them a small scout
at their discretion into the woods, and in the name of this As-
sembly to command all our friend Indians to retire to the re-
spective towns or places where they belong, and that they may
not be seen in the woods except in company with the English-
men.”

Day after day for some weeks was the Cdptain seen passing
with his military scout out of the village in various directions
" and returning, for the purpose of protecting the frontier planta-
tion from surprise and massacre. On the Sabbath they marched
in full military style to the church and entered, leaving a senti-
nel outside during service, causing the military array in the
house of God to appear in strange contrast with the message of
the gospel ; especially so, when it is remembered that two Chris-
tian nations, England and France, were perpetually inspiring and
hiring the Indians to do this terrible work of death. The
Canada Indians were on the side of the French, and the Mohawks
and Connecticut Indians on the side of the English, and there
was no real release from this terrible fear until Canada was
ceded to the English, it being largely accomplished by the New
England troops in 1758 and q.

16. Samuel I[i'tchcock, from Springfield, Mass., settled
here in 1713, for his dwelling-house is named in laying out the
street in January, 1713-14. His house was near Samuel Prin-
dle’s, at the south-west cornecr of the green, near the northcast
corner of Mr. Andrew B. Mygatt's present dooryard fence, and
his family took rank as first class. He was one of the solid
men, with but little pretension in public office, a leader in intro-
ducing and raising cattle, as appears from several town votes;
but his useful career was closed by his decease, Dec. g, 1727,
leaving a number of children, who were married into the foremost
families. :
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1%7. Doct. Thomas Piclett came from Danbury a single
man, and pitched his dwelling-house where Mr. Henry Booth now
resides. He married, Dec. 13, 1716, Mrs. Miriam Mallery, the
widow of Caleb Mallery, who died the August previous. - He
was not called Doctor for some years, but town clerk Col. Elisha
Bostwick called him Doctor, being personally acquainted with him.
He acted well his part in town offices, as a farmer, and probably
as a physician. His descendants were prominent in the town
until within a few ycars of the present time. '

18. EIEns. William Gaylord came from Windsorin 1712,
and became a very successful and influential citizen. His house
stood on the corner lot on Main street and Elm, where Doct.
Charles Taylor now resides, and was kept a number of years as a
hotcl, called in those days an “ Ordinary,” and afterwards a tav-
ern. Mr. Gaylord had what the older people called a “faculty "
to buy land and pay for it, piece after piece, which was located
in nearly all parts of the town. This continued until about
1725, when he conceived the idea of emigration, and sold nearly
everything he had except his farm on the West Aspetuck, on
which he had settled his son Nathan, and pitched his tent or
log-house above the straits in the beautiful locality now called
Gaylordsville, where he took a new start in buying land, and
kept at it until he seemed fairly in the way to rival Minister Board-
man in that matter. Besides owning all Gaylordsville, he, with
Capt. Stephen Noble, owned 350 acres in Wetaug, now Salis-
bury, and sold it at a good price. He held also a part of the
Fairweather purchase on the east side of the Housatonic ; and
what more can only be known by reading the history of Gay-
lordsville. He was not a speculator in land, but bought *“to
keep,” although sometimes he sold a little. He was a busy man,
of immense energy and physical endurance, so much so that it
almost makes one faint to think of his “drive-ahead powers,”
buying land, trading land (after he removed), but every time ad-
ding a patch above the straits on the Housatonic. A State
House was wanted at Hartford. He took twenty pounds of the
stock, and the General Assembly gave him 100 acres of land at
Wetaug. He was a steady, upright, honorable man, but how he
did reach out for land! And he obtained it, too,—he did not buy
rocks, but the genuine black dirt that made the wheat grow
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most charmingly. Among other pieces of land he purchased, was

that whereon stood the only Indian orchard of apple trees which
. stood in the valley of the Housatonic, so far as we have heard,
except the one at New Milford.

19. Benoni Stebbins came from Northampton, Mass,, a
single man, in 1712, and while residing here, purchased in October,
1713, a Right of land of Benjamin Hurd of Woodbury, and his
home-lot was laid afterwards next north of David Griswold, lot
number eight in the Town Plot, on which he built his dwelling
and became a prosperous farmer, buying all the land adjoining
him for some years ;—his farm and home being noted unto this
day. He married Mary Kirby of Milford, Dec. 10, 1717. He
had no children, but adopted a son and a daughter,—the latter
being Rebecca Herrick of Milford, whose rather romantic his-
tory is told in the Giddings genealogy. The gravestones of
Mr. Stebbins and his wife are in the New Milford Cemetery.

" 20. Samuel Beebe settled in New Milford in 1712, but was
not a land-holder. - He came from Danbury, took an active
part in town affairs and offices, and removed to Litchfield,
as one of the first settlers of that town, and to which place he
and his wife took letters of commendation from New Milford
church, upon the settlement of the Rev. Timothy Collins, the
first pastor in that town. His grand-daughter Rebecca became
the wife of Abel Hine of New Milford, in 1763, and as such
constituted a prominent part of one of the prominent families of
the town. LI

21. Jacob Griswold, from Wethersfield, came to New
Milford in 1713, being made freeman here that year. He bought
a Right of Hugh Gray, Jan. 11, 171314, but his home-lot was
laid to him Nov. 17, 1713, next north of the ministry lot given
to Rev. Mr. Boardman, which was the sixth one on the west
side of the street in the Town Plot. This lot he sold to John
Weller, in 1716. In 1720, he was residing in Litchfield, where
he was one of the earhest settlers, in connectlon with Samuel
Beebe. . .

22. David Griswold came with his brother Jacob from
Wethersfield, in 1713, and his home-lot was laid next north of
his brother's, being lot number seven in the Town Plot. In 1722
he was residing in Farmington, and sold his Right in New Mll-
ford to Elnathan Bngham of Mansfield, Ct.
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23. Sargt. Benjamin Bunnell of New Haven, with
Caleb Mallery, bought of Richard Bryan of Milford a Right, May
20, 1714, and five days later, a home-lot was laid to them next
north of Col. John Read’s lot, but afterwards he sold to Mallery
his half, and bought the lot next north of Benoni Stebbins. He
was not prominent in town offices. He died in 1749. "

24, Caleb Mallery of New Haven, came to New Milford
in company with Benjamin Bunnell, in 1714, and built him a
dwelling on the west end of his lot ncxt north of the one called
John Reed’s, for when the first meeting-house was built, it was
to “be set up in the highway in the most convenient place be-
tween the house that is called Mr. John Reed’s and that which
is called Caleb Mallery's house.” Mr. Mallery died Aug. 20,
1716, having becen here a little over two years, and hence the
form of the reading above, which was made in 1719,

25. Jonathan Buck of Wethersfield, bought a Right of
Richard Boardman of the same place, June 19, 1715,—the date
on the deed being as follows: “ Dec decimo mensis qurti anno
sululis millessimo septingentissimo et decimo quinto annoq. reg-
ni Georgii primo magna Brittianis Galiq. et Hibernii Riss.”
This read véry well at Wethersfield, but not quite so well in the
woods at New Milford, although Samuel Brownson, town clerk,
recorded it in perfect style. His home-lot was laid on Aspetuck
hill next north of the parsonage lot, east side of the street; his
ten acres east of this, and his first forty acres on the plain west
of the Great river. He had a fahily of five sons and several
daughters after he settled here. His residence was on the west
side of Poplar street.

26. Inoch Buek came from Wethersfield, in 1715, at the
same time with and was probably brother of Jonathan, being a
single man, and marrjed here Mary Beebe, May 2, 1717. While
in Wethersfield he bought of Joseph Peck of Milford,a Right
for £20, Feb. 21, 1714-1%; and on Feb. 27, 1715-16, being then
of New Milford, he bought, of Thomas Weller, lahd in the In-
dian Field. He also purchased other pieces ‘of land, and in
1719 bought Jonathan Buck’'s homestead on the west sidc of
Poplar street. ,

27. Paul Welch, Esq., of Milford, inherited land in New
Milford, from his father Thomas Welch, who was deceased, and

9
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his ‘home-lot was laid to him before May 13, 1717, on Poplar
street, east side, a mile north of the old burying-ground ;—
his first forty acres was laid in “ Chestnut land.” He was jus-
tice of the peace many years, and had an extensive acquaintance
and a large popular influence. The fame of Squire Welch has
not ceased to this day. Probably there was not another man of
so much influence in the town when Rev. Nathaniel Taylor was
settled here as pastor. There is something about some persons
that bears great weight of character, although they make no ef-
fort to that end, and so with Squire Welch ;—his fame has force
a hundred years after he is ¢ gone, to be here no more.” Roger
Brownson, Jr., bought ten acres of land of him in 1727, in con-
sideration of an “anvil,” and therefore Paul Welch may have
been a blacksmith. Tradition says his dwelling stood, in the
later part of his life, where Col. William J. Starr now resides.

28. Samuel Camp of Milford, had a home-lot laid to him
May 13, 1717, east side Poplar street, next north of Paul Welch'’s,
and his first forty acres in “Chestnut land.” , He came prob-
ably in the spring of 1717. His descendants were not numer-
ous, although they still remain in the town. He is said in one
deed to be a mason, and as such, probably, did the mason-work
on the first meeting-house erected in New Milford.

29. Samuel Guernsey, “weaver,” of Milford, bought a
half-Right of John Thompson of East Haven, Jan. 5, 1716-17,
and settled in New Milford, probably, the next spring, and in the
following autumn he bought the other half-Right. His home-
lot was laid on east side of Poplar street, in what is now Park
Lane ;—and his first forty acres at Chestnut land. His descend-
ants were few and did not long remain in the town.

30. Corpl. William Harris, from Wethersfield, was resi-
dent here a few years, but it does not appear that he was a land-
holder. His wife Elizabeth united with the church in 1717, by
letter from Wethersfield. No account has been seen concerning
the family, except the baptism of children and her name on the
church record.

31. John Griswold,from Wethersfield, probably, and may
have been a brother to Jacob and David .Griswold ; he came to
New Milford about 1716 to build and conduct a grist-mill under
an agreement with 3 committee appointed by.the proprietors for
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the purpose. He, in connection with William Gould, built the
mill, and a considerable amount of land was divided to them and *
their heirs, some 'years later, as their due after the work was
completed. Scarcely had John Griswold established himself as

the miller of the town, when suddenly he departed this life, Dec.

24, 1719. In 1724, the town, by a committee, laid out over

eighty acres of land to his heirs in fulfillment of the agreement
with him. This land, lying on the east side of the Housatonic,

cast of the Long Lot,—or a little north-cast,—and running back

to Town Brook, was purchased by Roger Brownson, most, if not

all of it, and constituted a considerable portion of his farm. Mr.

Griswold’s widow, Mabel, was the sister of Rev. Daniel Board-

man. She married 2d Josiah Nichols of Danbury, but had sev-
eral children by her first husband. S

32, William Gould, who seems to have been the mill-
wright in building the first grist-mill, appears to have come into the
town with John Griswold, for several pieces of land were sur--
veyed to him in 1717, and soon after, lying next north of Samuel -
Adkins ;—that being in the vicinity of the place now called
Wellsville, and it is possible that he selected that locality in view
of erecting there some kind of mill. He is said to have been of
Milford, when in March, 1717, he bought half a right of land in
New Milford, of John Morris, for £20. He deeded half of “ his
land and housing” to his son William, for “love and good-will,”
in 1721, and died Feb. 15, 1730.

33. Samuel Adicins from Milford, but earlier from Weth-
ersfield, the son of Josiah Adkins of that place, settled in New. .
Milford about 1717. He bought of Ebenezer Bryan of Milford,
Feb. 6, 1716-17, a Right of land, and his home-lot was laid
out to him in New Milford, Dec. 31, 1717, and bounded
south upon highway, east upon highway called Poplar highway,

_north upon Wm. Gould, and west upon his own land. The
place has becn known for many years as the John Turrill place,
a little south of Wellsville. Mr. Adkins sold his land and inter-
est in land in New Milford about 1755, and removed from the
town. No children were recorded here, as his.

33. Dea.James Priine,.Jr., had ahome-lot and ten acres
measured to him April 20, 1716, and the next June his father, of
Milford, gave him half of his Right, and the next spring, being

1
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“of New Milford,” he bought his father’s half-Right; and his
" first land, 17} acres, was laid to him next north of Théophilus
Baldwin'’s, on the east side of the highway, at what is now Park
Lane, but then, probably a little south of Poplar swamp, which
was a locality just south of the Park Lane school-house. He
became a deacon of the First Church, and his family was among
the prominent ones of the town for some years.

38. Capt. Theophilus Baldiwvin came from Milford, and
settled in New Milford in or before the year 1717; a single man,
and married Jerusha Beecher in 1722. His first land was laid

to him in 1715 on Aspetuck Hill, which he probably sold soon
after, and his second—a home-lot and ten acres—was laid on
both sides of Poplar highway, bounded south by Jonathan
Buck, apd north by James Prime, which he sold to Hezekiah
and Ebenezer Baldwin; it being not far from the present Park
Lane school-house. His first 40 acres are said to have been
laid out-in 1713, “in Chestnut woods, northeasterly from the
town-plat.” He resided, probably, in the vicinity of. Poplar
swamp, east sxde of the street, until his early death, May 1,

1745, in his 51st year.

When the second military company was orgamzed in the
town, Theophllus Baldwin was appointed captain of the first
company, in October, 1738, and at the same time Joseph Bost-
wick was appointed lieutenant, and Samuel Canfield, ensign;
and the boundary-line between the two companies was an east
and west line across the town at the.meeting-house. Hence,
after this date, for many years the two sections of the town were
known by the terms “ North End” and “ South End,” and the
term “ North Farms " represented the farmers north of Poplar
swamp, up to or above what is now Northville; and ““ South
- Farms” represented those on the plain below what is now
Lanesville, or in the vicinity of Gallows Hill, but soon after it,
included those at the Iron Works.

" John Welch from Milford, received his home-lot on Aspe-
ituck Hill next north of Theophilus Baldwin's, Apr. 8, 1715, and
hls ten acres east of Poplar highway upon which he dwelt. He
died in 1732,aged 37. His son died in 1741, aged 21. In 1728,
he received land surveyed to him *“against Mount Tom eastward,
" east of East Aspetuck river, near to a place called the Thousand
Hills.” .
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James Iline of Milford came to New Milford a single man,
probably in the autumn of 1723, and became, and continued
some years, an influential and successful citizen; a man whose
judgment was often called into requisition on town committees
and the like, as often as any one in his d:iy. He came to the
town upon agreement with a number of citizens, as seen by the
following :

“Dec. 16, 1723. That we in consideration that James Hine
do become our smith, and do faithfully endeavor to do our work
with reasonable satisfaction for the full term of four years next
ensuing, do give him the several parcels of land hereafter named.

Ebenezer Baldwin, facre. John Welch, 1 acre.
Henry Garlick, 3« John Noble, = 1 *«
Theophilus Baldwin, Zachariah Ferriss, 1 *
Samuel Adkins, 1« Benoni Stebbins, 1 “
Gamaliel Terrill, r “ James Prime, i O
Samuel Camp, I« Enoch Buck, -
Abraham Bostwick, I« Thomas Pickett, 4 *
John Bostwick, N William Gaylord, 1 “
Samuel Hitchcock, 1« Samuel Brownson, 1 “
David Noble, § “ Thomas Brownson, 1, *
Paul Welch, | G ' —
19acres.

Afterwards the following were added :

“Jan. 15, 1723-4.
John Bostwick, Sen., I acre. Benjamin Bostwick, 1 acre.
‘Samuel Prindle, Sen.,, 1 *« Nathaniel Bostwick,1 “

Mr. Daniel Boardman, 1 “ —
. 24acres.

Twelve acres of this land was surveyed to him, Jan. 28, 1724~
_5, “near Town Hill brook on the northeast side of said brook,”
and the next year he bought ten acres adjoining these twelve;
and from that time he continued to buy small pieces of two, four,
“and ten acres, and finally as high as one-fourth of a Right, until
he became a large land-holder, and a very influential citizen.
He was appointed to office in the military company and soon
rose to be a lieutenant, and was always known as Lieutenant
Hine. He came. here with but little if any money, like many
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others in those times, but by indefatigable perseverance and
care, he soon became an independent man, and his descendants
stood among the first-class citizens for many years. He it
was that won the heart of Miss Margaret Noble, daughter of the
first settler, and married her in 1726, when she was twenty-two
years of age; who lived to the age of 92 years, dying Sept. 2,
1796, and to whom the Rev. Stanley Griswold was so much in-
debted for much of the information given in his historical sermon.
Two lives compassed the whole history of New Miiford up to
1876, having twenty years cotemporary, within a short distance
of each other’s residence. Miss Sally Northrop, who died in 1876,
over 100 years of age, was twenty years of age when Mrs. Marga-
ret Hine died, and hence, since both of these persons retained
great intellectual activity, the traditional stories and legends, as
well as important history of New Milford, have been kept in
- very reliable forms. Such a transmission by personal knowledge
and memory to so great an extent of time, may rarely occur;
and the town that gathers such laurels or wins such golden
harvests of years and self-knowledge may well boast of its
honors. Lieut. James Hine the blacksmith, the much-honored
lieutenant, was brother to the first Daniel. Hine, and died Apr. 1,
1774, ® 77, at his residence which stood where Mr. Egbert
Marsh now resides. ,

William Conn was in the town a resident as early as 1720,
but no land was laid to him, although he or his descendants were
in the town some years.

Nathan Terrill, of Milford, had a home-lot and ten acres
laid to him in 1720, at what is now Park Lane, and was of New
Milford when he married Ruth Buck of this town, June 7, 1721.
In-1717 his father, John Terrill of Milford, gave him “for love
and good-will” his Right of land in New Milford, which he, the
father, had purchased of the heirs of Amos Northrop, and on this
Right was laid his first forty acres *at the foot of Great Bare
Hill,”.and his second forty acres were laid “southward of Great
Mount Tom,” March 22, 1722. He was one of the proprietors *
in the north purchase, and therefore had already made his resi-
dence here, and he became an influential, successful farmer.

. Gamaliel Terril! and Josiah Terrill purchased a Right of
land in New Milford of Enos Camp, son of Samuel Camp, Feb.
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17, 1719, all the parties being of Milford. The record of their
first land, which is like many others, is as follows: “Laid to
Josiah and Gamaliel Terrill a home-lot seven and a half acres,
butting west upon the highway or town street, south upon
Joseph Garnsy’s home-lot, north and east upon undivided land,
twenty rods wide, sixty rods long. Mar. 3,-1720. At same
time a ten-acre division east of the above, twenty rods wide,
eighty rods long.” This was at Park Lane, cast side of the

street. . : '
Dea. Job Terrill, from Milford, bought, in 1728, Joseph
Guernsey’s home-lot and farm at Park Lane; became a deacon
in the First Church, and was a prominent citizen many years,
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has been known for many years as Squash Hollow, but it may
have been further south.

Falls: see Great Falls.

Falls Mountain : the mountain through which the Housatonic
passes, by the gorge, just below the Great Falls.. '

Fishing Falls : the Great Falls.

Fort Hill: that where the Indian burying place is, at the foot
. of Guarding Mountain.

Four Mile Brook : on the west side of Still River, about four
miles below New Milford village.

Gallows Hill: an elevation of gravel and sand, on Still River
plains, nearly four miles below New Milford village, on the eastern
side of which is located the Gallows Hill burying-place. Tradi-
tion says a man was hung on this hill some time before New
Milford began to be settled,—perhaps it was the old Indian that
committed such murders at Stamford.

. Goose Pond: alittle north of, and near Round Hill.

Goose Island.

Goodyear’s Island : is in the Housatonic River just below
Falls Mountain, and was so named' about 1646, from the fact
that Mr. Stephen Goodyear, one of the leading merchants
of the New Haven company, erected here a “trading house” for
the purposes of trade with the Indians.

Grassy Hill: also called Second Hill, lying next east of Town
Hill, and is two miles east of New Milford village.

Great Brook: runs from Chestnut Hill southward through the
east part of New Milford village.

Great Falls, are now located a few rods above the gorge at
Falls Mountain. These are now apparently further up stream
than when the channel was dug on the west side of them about
ninety years ago for a mill. These were the celebrated Fishing
Falls, where Lamprey eels were taken so abundantly by the
Indians.

. Great Mountain, is a large hill on the west side of Wood Creek,
in the southwest corner of New Milford township.

.. Great Bare Hill: said to be the highest elevation of land in
the town, lies north of Great Mount Tom ; is extensive in area,
and covered on the eastern and southern portions with-a pro-
ductive soil.
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Great River: the Housatonic, and is always called Great Riv-
er, before 1800, on the N. M. records. The name Housatonic
originated at or near Stockbridge, Mass., where it was first inter-
preted by the Dutch of N. Y. state,.and written Wustenhuck. .

Great Mount Tom : usually called Mount Tom, lies in full
view, and is the first mountain north from New Milford village.
It is said that, upon careful measurement, it rises to the height of
about goo feet above the meadow land on the east side of it.

Green Pond, is a pond on Green mountain.

Green Pond Mountain, is one of the range of mountains on
the west side of Wood Creek and Rocky River.

Guarding Mountain, is on the west side of the Housatonic,
opposite New Milford village. It was so named from the fact
of the Indians building signal fires on it to guard agamst an at-
tack by the Mohawk Indians.

Half-way Falls, was the original name for the falls on Still
River, where the Iron Works were erected in 1733,—now in
Brookfield. .

Horse-beat. This was the path traveled on horseback, by the
Soldier Scouts watching for the Canada Indians, in 1718 and
1724, under the command of Capt. Stephen Noble. The place
referred to particularly was where the scouts crossed the south-
ern declivity of Great Mount Tom. :

Housatonic : (see Great River, and the close of the chapter of
Indian History for New Milford).

Hundred Hills: apparently a locality near Roxbury line,
somewhere. :

Hut Hill: the hill two miles south of Bridgewater village.

Iron Hill: southwest of and joined to Bare Hill.

Iron Ore Road. * A highway from the Iron Ore Road south
of Ebenezer Pickett's—runs east across Tamarack meadow to
the other road.” This was in Merryall.

Iron Works. These were established first at the Halfway
Talls on Still River; the second company located at New Pres-
ton ; the third at what was afterwards Lanesville; the fourth in
Lower Merryall, called Davenport’s, and the fifth called first,
Nicholsons’, and next Booth's Iron Works, in the southern part of
Lower Merryall, at “ Booth’s Mill.”

Long Brook, as given by Roger Sherman, in a survey of .land,
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"is that which comes down from Kent between Cobble Rock and
Peet Hill, emptying into the West Aspetuck, and is sometimes
called the west branch of the West Aspetuck. There was also
a Long Brook on the plains east of Wood Creek hill.

Long Mountain : the range of high land on the east side of
the Housatonic, close to the river extending from Kent to the
Housatonic river, above New Milford village ; and is a-continua-
tion of the Vermont Green Mountain range.

Little Bare Hill : probably the one also called Iron Hill.

Little Falls : the falls half a mile below New Milford village,
where the Giddings Gnst-mlll now stands, but which mill was
known for fifty or more years as. the Stilson Grist-mill, and be-
fore that the Ruggles Grist-mill.

Little Mount Tom. The first of this name was near the first
homestead of Henry Garlick ; northeast of the old Dea. Nathan
Gaylord place. At present, and for many years,—a spur at the
northeast of and adjoining Great Mount Tom, is, and has been
called Little Mount Tom ; the contour of which from the north-
east is perfectly like Great Mount Tom.

Little Straits Hill :—see Straits Mountain.

Mary Land. Originally, the name was applied to the Rev.
Daniel Boardman'’s farm at Boardman’s Bridge, on the east side
of the river. Mr. Boardman held a slave who was brought from
the state of Maryland and the slave gave the name to the
place.

Middle Wolf-Pitt : probably on the east side of Long Moun-
tain, south of the notch.

Millstone Hill: the hill continuing south from Guarding
Mountain ; so called, because Partridge Thatcher cut out from its
granite bed some millstones.

Mine Hill : east of Second hill, extending into Roxbury, where '
considerable mining for silver has been done.

Mount Tom :—see Great Mount Tom.

Mount Tom Meadow :—the swampy land that was divided
into meadow lots in the early division of land, on the east side
of Mount Tom.

" Mud Pond : near Kent at the north end of Long Mountain.

Naromiyocknowhusunkatankshunk Brook, rises in Sherman,
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runs north, and entcrs the Housatonic a little distance below
. Gaylordsville. It was called Deep brook in one deed.

Notck. The Notch on Long Mountain, or a low place in the
mountain, where the road passes over the mountain and down
to the Great river.

Old Iron Oak Road.

Ore Hill.

Pect Hill: the large hill northeast of Cobble Rock ;—so
named from the Pect family who have owned much of it for onc
hundred and thirty years.

Dinchgut Plain : the bottom, or meadow land below Lanesville.

Pine Hill : east of Second Hill, north of Cranberry Pond.

Plank Swamp: the muck land at Park Lane, called at first
Poplar Swamp. '

Pond Rocks.

Poplar Swamp : the first one so named was about a mile and
a half north of New Milford village,—afterwards called Plank
Swamp, then Pug Lane, and more recently Park Lane. The
second one by this name was west, or northwest of the mouth
of Rocky River, where several divisions of land were laid to
Nathan Talcott. The third of this name was on the plain below
Lanesville.

Prospect Hill, *in Still River Neck, near Newtown line.” It
has been applied more recently to the hill east of New Milford
village, which, however, was without question, called Town Hill,
more than 100 years. It would be a pity to rob the grand old
hill of its historic name.

Punkin Hill: the hill east and southeast of Lanesvnlle Rail-
road station.

Rock Cobbte : a high spur-like mountain between the north
end of Long Mountain and Peet Hill.

Rocky Hill.

Rocky River: Wood Creek for two miles before it empties
into the Housatonic River.

Rock House Brook: perhaps, Long Brook near Rock Cobble.

Rock IHouse Cobble: the hill now called Rock Cobble. It is
said that there was, many years ago, an old house at the foot of
this hill, the lower part of which was built of coarse stone, and
from this may have arisen the name Rock House Cobble. Itis
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said a Doctor Warner, who was a sort of a hermit, resided in this
house, and that by some personal peculiarities he was called Old
Fifty-Crooks.

Saw Mill Falls,

Sand-hill Bridge: a bridge east of Park Lane school-house.

Second Hill: Grassy Hill—Good Hill, or the ridge of land
next east of the original Town Hill, extending from near Cross
Brook to Bridgewater line.

Shaft Brook: on Pinchgut Plain.

Shepaug Neck: the territory now comprised in the town of
Bridgewater; called more commonly The Neck. This part of
the town was for a time known as the “ Sheep Pasture " of New
Milford, because so many sheep were raised there. This name
was afterwards used as a kind of reproach, whereupon the Bridge-
water people came to a New Milford town fair with a team of
fifty yoke of oxen, with the motto on their wagon,—* From the
Sheep Pasture of New Milford.” The team took the premium.

Sherman Brook,

Squash Hollow : a little way down from the Straits, on the
west side of the Housatonic, where a band of Tories secreted
themselves for a time during the Revolution, and from which
they were driven by a band of men of the Gaylord family.

South Bare Hill: “ A highway up the South Bare Hill, north
or south of Cross Brook.”

Staddle Hill : east of Second Hill on the Woodbury road.

Steep Hill, is on the old Woodbury road.

Still River: that which comes down the valley from Dan-
bury, and empties just above the Great Falls ; so called because
there is in it so little current.

Still River Meadow : along Still River south of Lanesville.

Still River Neck: the land between the Iron Works on Still
River and the Housatonic River.

Stilson Hill: the hill north of Candlewood mountain, or the
southern portion of what was originally called Straits mountain.

Straits Mountain: the height of land on the west side of the
Housatonic, beginning at the Straits, a little way below Gaylords-
ville, and running in a southern direction. A part of this moun-
tain was called Little Straits Hill.

Tamarack Swamp: on the cast side of Long Mountain, in
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the valley a little to the northwest of the Lower Merryall Bury-
ing-place. )

Tamarack Meadow : near the Tamarack Swamp.

The Cove,—the wide place in the Housatonic, just below Falls
mountain ; called also the Fishing-place.

The Plain: the wide tract of bottom land on the west side
of the Housatonic, south of the Indian field.

The Straits : the place where thc mountains comc close to
the Iousatonic on each side, about a mile below Gaylordsville.

Straits Rock, is the same as the above.

Thousand Hills : used in a deed given of land lying north or
northeast of Northville,

Three Mile Brook: on the west side of the Housatonic,
about three miles below New Milford village, next south of
Lanesville.

Town Hill : the hill inmediately east of New Milford village ;
so named at the first settlement, and it should be retained instead
of any other.

Town Hill Brook: running southward between Town Hill
and Second Hill.

Town Hill Falls : in Town Hill Brook.

Two Mile Brook: on the west side of the Housatonic, about
two miles below New Milford village.

Wannuppee Island: a small island in the Housatonic river
a little way above New Milford village It is an Indian name
signifying “ overflowed ” or “ subject to overflow.”

Wavecoe's Brook : in the southern part of Bridgewater, with
two branches running southward.

Weraumaug's Mountain: in a deed by Roger Sherman, the
mountain west of the brook that comes between the hills, a
little way east of Upper Merryall Burying-place, down to Lower
Merryall.

Weraumaug's Meadow, in the valley at Lower Merryall, near
Mr. Ilorace Merwin’s,

Weraumaug Lake: commonly called Waramaug Lake ; called
in the deed of the North Purchase, Wonkkecomaug.

Whemisink Brook : enters the Housatonic at the upper part
of Gaylordsville, from the west or southwest. :
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Womenshenuck River: runs southwest, and empties into the
Housatonic at Gaylordsville.

Wood Creek : a brook coming from the town of Sherman on
the east side of Great Mountain and Green Mountain into Rocky
River.

Wood Creek Hill: the hill between Wood Creek Meadows
and Pinchgut Plain.

Wood Creck Meadows: a large tract of swampy land on
Wood Creek; to drain which considerable aid from the state
has been obtained and expended, in lowering the bed of Rocky
River. :

Wood Creck Mountain : probably the southern part of Wood
Creek Hill. v

Wolf-pit Mountain: a mountain a little way east of Falls
mountain, upon which there was once a wolf-pit.

Wolf-pit Brook : passes the old Isracl Baldwin homestead a
mile south of Northville.

Various Descriptions of the 1vwn.

In a book called “A General History of Connecticut” pub-
lished in London, in 1781, by the Rev. Samuel Peters, the
following description is given of this town : “ New Milford lies
on the Osootonic river. A church and meeting, with Steeples
and bells, beautify the town, which resembles Fulham." The
township, twelve miles square, forms five parishes, of which two
are episcopal.” :

The account of this town written by Rev. Benjamin Trum-
bull, D.D,, in 1818, is of interest:

“ New Milford, which is the second town in the county of
Litchfield, and was the chief seat of the Indian kingdom, in that
part of the colony, also merits a more particular description than
was given of it in the first volume.? Ubpon the petition of the
people of Milford, in May, 1702, the General Assembly granted
them liberty to purchase a township at Wyantenock, and directed
them to make a report of their doings to the Assembly. The
next March they made an extensive purchase of the natives. In
October, 1704, the legislature enacted, that the tract purchased

! Fulham, in England.
3‘I'rumbull, 11. 82.



DESCRIPTION OF TITE TOWN. 81

of the natives in May, 1702, by the people of Milford, should be
a township, by the name of New Milford ; and that it should be
settled in five years,—the town plot to be fixed by a committee
appointed by the Assembly. The town is situated on both sides
of the Housatonick, or Stratford river. The river enters it at
the northwest corner, and running a meandering course of about
twenty miles, goes out at the southeast corner. The longest
straight line of the town, from northwest to southeast, is about
cightcen miles. Its original limits were much more extensive
than its present boundaries. Two considerable defalcations have
been made from the original township; one at the south end,
west of the river which forms a part of the town of Brookfield ;
and another at the northeast corner, which is now a part of the
town of Washington, comprising a large part of the society of
New Preston. About two miles below the center of the town,
is a fall in the river, which the Indians called Metichawon ; the
English, the Great Falls. These stopped the progress of the
large fish, and made it formerly one of the best fishing-places
for shad and herring in the colony. . . . . .

“ This township was the principal seat of the Indians in the
county of Litchfield. The seat of the chief sachem was near
the Great Falls. His name was Wehononaug, a man of uncom-
mon powers of mind, sober and rcgular in his lifc, who took
much pains to suppress the vices of the Indians. When the
English were first acquainted with him he was supposed to com-
mand about two hundred warriors. The whole number of Indi-
ans might have been one thousand. The other clans of Indians
in the country, at Pomparague (Woodbury), Bantom (Litch-
ficld), Piscatacook (Kent), Weatauge (Salisbury), and the ad-
jacent parts, were supposed to be in the strictest league of friend-
ship with the Indians of Wyantenock, otherwise Oweantinoque,
The palace of their chief sachem, where he commonly resided,
was near the Great Falls. The tradition is, that it was con-
structed of barks, with the smooth side inwards, on which were
pictures of all known species of beasts, birds, fishes, and insects;
drawn by an artist sent to him by a friendly prince, from a great

distance.”
11
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Mr. John W. Barber, in his Historical Collections of this State,
written in 1836, gives the following description of this town :*

“ New Milford, the largest town in territorial extent in Con-
necticut, is in the southwestern extremity of the county. .. . .
It has am average length of thirteen miles, and an average

-breadth of six and a half miles, comprising an area of eighty-
four square miles. The township is hilly and broken ; several
mountainous ridges extending through it. *The soil is much di-
versified, and, where susceptible of cultivation, is generally good;
but on the whole more distinguished for grain than grass. There
are, however, large quantities of excellent meadow ground, but
the pasturage is, on.the whole, not abundant. It is essentially a
farming town. Large quantities of grain are annually raised.
The township is centrally intersected by the Housatonic ; two
branches of the Aspetuck, the Rocky and Still rivers, with other
'streams, enter the Housatonic in this town, affording numerous
excellent mill-seats. On Second hill, in the eastern part of the
town, from two to three miles from the central village, are inex-
haustible quantities of granite of a superior quality. There are
also a number of extensive marble quarries in the town. Hatting
business is carried on to some extent in Bridgewater society.
There are nine houses of worship in the town, two Congrega-
tional, two Episcopalian, two Baptist, two Methodlst, and one
for Friends, or Quakers.’”

The above description was largely wrltten by Judge David S.
Boardman, at the request of Mr, Barber. Mr. Boardman made
further observations on the Indians and Waraumaug, which Mr.

* Barber placed in a foot-note:

“He was so considerable a personage as to have reserved, as
his hunting-ground, a considerable part of the present society
of New Preston, which always, until the recent incorporation of
the town of Washington, of which it is a part, was called Raxu-
maug, after the original proprietor, dropping, for convenience,
sake, the prefix e. I have often seen the grave of this chief in
the Indian burying-ground, at no great: distance from his
place of residence; distinguished, however, only by its more
ample dimensions from the surrounding graves, out of many of
which large trees are now growmg There isa sxmllar burymg-

3 Hlst Coll o 474
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ground on the west side of the river, opposite to and in sight of
our village (New Milford), on the bluff, bounding the Indian
field, so called, and contiguous to Fort Hill, the site of the last
Indian fortress known to have existed in this town.”

In the Gasetteer of Connecticut and Rhode Island, published
in 1819, there is a more specific description of the town at that
date than is anywhere else to be found. \ ’

“New Milford is a large and flourishing post-town, in the
southwestern cxtremity of the county, 48 miles from Hartford,
..... It has an average length of 13 miles, and an average
breadth of six and a half miles, . . . . being one of the largest
townships in the State. There are three bridges across the
Housatonic, and numerous sites for mills and other hydraulic
works, within this town. . . . .

“This township is hilly and broken, several mountainous ridges
extending through it. These ridges consist of granite and mica-
ceous schistus ; the former is generally found upon the tops or
summits, and the latter upon their declivities. Quarries of the
mica slate have been opened and worked, which make excellent
hearth-stones. The vales in some sections of the town abound
with limestone, and within these calcareous districts there are
several valuable beds of marble, several quarries of which have
been opened, and large quantities of the stone dislodged and
raised, which are manufactured into slabs for use and market,
for which purpose there have been six saw-mills erected for saw-
ing marble. ‘

“ Among the minerals of the town arc iron ore in small quan-
tities, porcelain clay, yellow ochre, and some silver ore; a mine
containing small quantities of this last was formerly worked, but
has long since been abandoned. There are forges for the manu-
facture of iron, but the ore is principally brought from without
the town, ’

“This town contains two located Congregational socicties,
two societies of Episcopalians, one of Baptists, and one of Qua-
kers; all of which are accommodated with houses of public
worship.

“It contains also a pleasant and flourishing village, situated

- upon a plain bordering upon the Ousatonick. The village has
60 dwelling-houses, many of which are large, neat, and handsome
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buildings, a post-office, several mercantile stores and mechanic
shops.

“ In this, as well as the other towns in the county, agriculture
is the leading and principal business of the inhabitants. The
lands are a sandy and gravelly loam, and some of them a calca-
reous loam, are in general fertile and productive, affording wheat,
rye, ‘corn, oats, and flax. The making of butter and cheese, beef -
and pork, and the growing of wool, receive considerable attention.

“The New Preston turnpike-road passes through this town.

“ In addition to the domestic manufactures, and those of mar-
ble and iron, already mentioned, there are one woolen factory,
one hat factory, four grain mills, four carding-machines, six ful-
ling-mills, and four tanneries. There are seven mercantile stores.
The population of the town, in 1810, was 3,537, and there are
now about 500 qualified electors, about 250 militia, and 540 dwel-
ling-houses.

“The amount of taxable property, including polls, is $74,857.

“ The valuation or assessment, under the laws of the United
States, in 1816, was $1,113,012, being an average value of 26 %,
dollars per acre, for the whole quantity included in the valuation,
which was 41,630 acres. _

“In 1799, the real estate of this town, together with Roxbury,
was valued at $776,146.

“There are in this town sixteen school districts and schools;
four practicing physicians, three clergymen, and three attorneys.”

The Common Field.

At first, in 1715, the Common Field contained all the land on
the plain from Wannuppee Island down nearly to Four-mile Brook,
on the west side of the Housatonic, and was secured by building
a fence from the fording place, just below the mouth of Rocky
River, along the foot of the mountains, on the west side of the
plain, to the southern end of the field, then across the valley to
the Great Falls,—the river constituting the fence on the east
side of the field. The next year a fence was built, on the east
side of the river, from the Great Falls, “on the front of the lots”;
that is, on the west side of the road as it now runs from the Falls
to New Milford village, then along the west side of Main street, to
what is now Bennitt street, and then down to the river; but about
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a year later it was continued from Bennitt street up the Aspe-
tuck hill to about the north side of the old Stebbins place, thence
west to the fording place. This fence was proportioned, to be
built and maintained by the individuals who owned land within
the field, and those persons comprised nearly all the settlers in
the town. A part of the old fence-ditch is still to be seen in the
- woods half a mile north of Mr. Charles Hatch’s dwelling-house.
The land on the east side of the Housatonic, still called the
Long Lot, was so called as early as 1729, and was owned largely
by the Bostwick families.

The Meadow Lands. )

In the time of the early settlement of the town all meadow
land was secured by clearing marshy or swampy land and allow-
ing it to grow up with grass by the seed already in the soil.
The sowing of seed to secure grass was almost unknown, and
impracticable for the want of grass-seed. . It was one of the

" great troubles in the Colony, to secure grass, and hence the
General Court, early in its history, enacted that a certain amount
of time should be devoted yearly, in the several plantations, to
the cutting of under or small brush and trecs in the more open
forests, by every inhabitant, with a few exceptions, for the pur-
pose of allowing grass to grow in such places, since the cattle
roamed through the forests about every plantation, subsisting in
the summer on what grew in the forests.

Three divisions or allotments of land for meadow were made
in New Miiford, independent of the other divisions of land. The
arrangement being agreed to by the proprietors, the numbers
were placed in a hat or box; the names were then called accord-
ing to the list as it stood at first recorded on the proprietors’
book. Beginning at the head of the list, the names were called
in regular succession, and as a name was called, a number was
taken from the box and placed to the name called, and they
continued thus until the end of the list was reached. The com-
mitteec to draw the numbers for the three draughts were the
same; viz., Daniel Boardman, Zachariah Ferris, and Stephen
Noble. : '

Col. Elisha Bostwick, town clerk more than fifty years, copied
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all the draughts, and the allotments of each survey according
to these draughts; the headings to each draught he wrote as
follows :

“ A Record of the meadow lands appertaining to the Original
Proprietory rights in the Township of New Milford, copied from
the original manuscripts.”

“ New Milford June 8, 17109.

A draught for the first division of Meadow-lands; containing
the Marshes, and Three-mile brook and Still river :—The draught
follows according to the proprietors names in the List.”

“ New Milford June 8, 17109.

A Draught for the Second division of Meadow land called
Wood-creek—the draughts according to the proprietors names
in the List.”

“ New Milford June 8, 1719.

A Draught of the third division of Meadow land containing
the Great river and both branches of the Aspetuck. The
draught follows according to the proprietors names in the List.”

In the third division, when the survey was made, it is said:
“ Beginning at the Straits.” ‘

The following will illustrate some of the intricacies of keeping
the records of so many small pieces of land divided to the same
Right, but often to various individuals :

“The 1st lot [first division] is 3 acres and 66 rods—it is on a
small brook that runneth into the Indian field. Recorded to
Thomas Baldwin ;—drawn to the Right of Lieut. Samuel Bur-
well.”

“The 103d lot is south of the Long brook, butted on the
brook and on the hill and on the river; be it more or less.
Drawn to the Right of Samuel Camp, Lanes-end. Recorded to
Mr. Daniel Boardman and Jonathan Griswold.”

A large number of lots contained only three or four acres;
some of them went as high as seven acres. Quite many of the
lots on the east side of Still river consisted of a piece of land
eight rods wide and about twenty rods long.

In the second allotment, which was in Wood Creek, ‘begin-
ning at the north end of the creek,” were eighty rods in length
and three rods in width. In many cases the dimensions in acres
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are not given, and frequently where the width is given in rods
the length is not given, so that a full description to the present
undcrstanding is impossible.

After the above division of meadow lots, another meadow was
made on the east side of Great Mount Tom, and one also on the
west side of the same mountain, in the valley; and still later,
another at Tamarack swamp.



CHAPTER VI.
A MEETING-HOUSE AND THE NORTH PURCHASE.
1716—1731.
NTERING upon the building of a meeting-house
was a much easier matter for the few families in
New Milford than the completing of the work; but
to them such a work was right,—a religious duty,
and must be done.
The house in which their meetings were first held,
called Mr. Read's house, was probably built of logs,
one story high, and had but one window, and was not very com-
modious nor an ornamental place of worship. It was in this
house, most likely, that Mr. Daniel Boardman was ordained pas-
tor of all the inhabitants of the town, who numbered about 12§
persons.
It stood in the highway a little north of the site of the old
Town house at the north end of the present public green.
The following is the second petition presented to the General
Assembly by the New Milford people, and in it is the first men-
tion made as to the building of a meeting-house.

The first movement towards providing funds for building a
meeting-house is indicated in the following petition:

To ye Honor®* Gen' Assembly now convened att Hartford this instant May,
1712

The humble petition of ye Inhabitants of Ncw Milford shewcth: That whereas,
wee forierly made our application to this Ilunor*! Court for advise awd help in
order to ye setting up the worship of God publickly amongst us: the w* ye s¢ Court
was pleased readily to grant—for ye wt favor we humbly acknowledge with great
thankfulness; And upon those experiences of y* right readiness to grant of request,
wee are againe encouraged at this time further to make o' request:—

1. That wee may have libberty to Levy a Rate at any time when ye Mony is due,
altho’ ye yeare bee not expired.—

2. That wee may increase ye Rate (upon ye Land) as afore granted y* it may bee,
to twelve shillings upon each share—especially considering y* wee are now very like
speedily to bee imployed in huilding an house for ye Minist', and probably in prcpa-
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ration for a Meeting-house—We pray y* all of nccessary charge in building a Minister
house and meeting house may bee raysed upon ye Land; Wee apprehend it hath bin
granted to other new beging places w' great acceptance: Wee Finde y* ye seven
shillings is too little therefore Request as above s':

To all wh wee humbly subscribe and shall allways pray as in duty bound.

New Miliford
May 15" 1712,

John Bostwick beniamin bostwick
John Noble, Sen*.  tho weller

Zacrey faris John Noble Juny'
Sam! brunson John Boswick Jun*
roger brunson Sam!! Prindle
John weller Roberd Bostwick

Mr. John Read resided in the place but a short time, leaving
before 1712. His house, or the house he left, was repaired in
1717; the vote says that there should be ‘*‘glass provided to
furnish the window in the house we meet in upon the Sabbath,”
and in it they continued to worship until the first meeting-house
was so far completed as to meet in it. The first vote to build a
meeting-house was passed in 1716, but the work was not actually
commenced until in 17109,

The plan and particulars of this house were decided in town-
meeting as follows :

“Feb. 23, 1719. At a town meeting legally warned the inhabitants being con-
vened, it was voted in the affirmative, that there should be a meeting-house built of
forty feet in length, and thirty in breadth, and twenty in height between joints, with
other suitable proportions.

* Voted that the meeting-house shall be set in the hrghway in the most convenient
place between the house that is called Mr. John Read’s, and that which is called
Caleb Mallery’s house. .

* It was agreed that there should be ten thousand of eighteen-inch shingles, being
three-quarters of an inch thick at the lower end, and otherwise suitably propor-
tioned and of such a breadth as may run five inches one with another; and after that
there shall be two thousand and five hundred of good clapboards of white oak, four
feet and four inches in length, and six inches in breadth, and not less than half an
inch thick well and even dressed, gotten for the use aforesaid, that is in order to
rearing a meeting-house.

*“ Agreed that these clapboards and shingles shall be got and brought to the place
by the middie of June next, and that every man shall forfeit twelve pence a hundred
for their neglect, and after that, six pence a month upon cvery hundred that they
shall be negligent in performing of their work.

* Agreed that these clapboards and shingles shall be gotten upon the present list
by every man according to his list.

“There shall be allowed two-pound ten shillings a thousand for clapboards got-
ten and brought to the place, and then fitted to be laid, and twenty-five shillings 2
thousand for shingles got and brought to the place and fitted to be laid. ’

12
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“ There was chasen for a Committee to cull the clapboards and shingles, John
Bostwick and Samuel Brownson, ¢ who are faithfully to do it.’

“There was chosen for a committee to make a rate upon this work above men-
tioned, by the present list, and to warn every man to do his work; Roger Brownson,
David Griswold, John Welch. ‘ )

“ Agreed that Jonathan Buck shall be excused from this rate towards the meet-
ing-house, which is to be made upon the present list.”

The strictness observed in culling the clapboards and shin-
gles by a committee charged “faithfully to do it,” directs the
mind to the ancient method of selecting sacrifices upon the rule
that there should be not a spot or blemish to mar the perfect-
ness of the offering. The resolution to make progress in the
work, by imposing fines upon those failing to fulfill their parts,
was commendable ; but the hindrances in a new wilderness plan-
tation were more than anticipated, for it was the middle of the
next December before further steps could be taken in the work.
At whicht time, ““Dec. 17, 1719, Zachariah Ferris, Roger Brown-
son, and William Gaylord, were chosen to agree with a carpen-
ter to get the timber for the meeting-house, and this committee
shall see that the timber shall be drawn to the place agreed
upon for setting it up.”

The next work was to pay for this timber. The clapboards
and shingles were to be setured the year previous by a tax on
the town list to be paid in those articles; but it seems they
could not pay for the timber with shingles, and therefore some-
thing else must be had. *Jan. 8, 1720., Agreed that there
shall be a rate raised of five and twenty pounds, between this
-and the middle of February next, for defraying the charge of
getting and drawing the meeting-house timber; and Stephen
Noble was chosen collector of this rate.

The following petition reveals most clearly the circumstances
and condition of the town at the time: .

“To the Ionourable, the Govenour and Company of Ifis Majesties Colony of
Connecticutt, In New England, In Generall court assembled, In Hartford : May:
14: 1719:

The Humble Petition, of the Inhabitants of ye Town of New Milford, within ye
s? Colony humbly sheweth—

That this Honourable corporation did Grant a Petition In May 1716: to the In-
habitants of ye s? Town of New Milford, that a tax of ten shillings should be Leav-
ied on each proprietor of New Milford not Settled theire, which tax ware to continue
three years from that time, for the support of the Ministry for N. Milford. 3 shil,, of
ye 1owas appoint'd to be Improved for ye building of a meeting-house. These threc
years being now expired: And we having allready attended ye direction;that your
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Honours Gave us In the Returne of that Petition: which was that we for the future
should agree with them, and if not, then it should be as this Court should further
order, as was expressed In the Returne of the former petition.

This Honourable court may be Informed, that we have taken dew care and used
Indeavours to agree with them, having twice written and lastly sent a man to them,
and have been Insuccessfull in those means, in that we can’t come to any meet
agreement with them, for the future.

Whereupon youre Honoures Humble Petitioners pray that according to your for-
mer Incouragement: and your wonted zeale for Justice and piety that you would be
moved to pitty our Needy condition:

upon these three considerations: namely: that there are but twenty-three families
here settled at N. Miilford: and the most of those low in the world. 2zly that it will
amount to something considerable above ten pence upon ye pound upon our ratea-
ble estate, to defray the charge of our minister who is settled and hath a family.

3- that Necessity puts us to build-a meeting-house, which we have begun this
Spring. )

Considering that we are so slow in groath, and the Great burden that is upon us:
and moreover that its troublesome to this Assembly, to have a multitude of these
prayers and also chargeable to us.

Hereupon we humbly pray that each proprietor not settled at s¢ N. Milford, may
be obliged, to pay at least Seaven shillings annually for each Right not settled un-
till theire be the Number of fifty five families settled at s¢ N. Milford, all of which
for ye support and maintenance of ye minister theire, (theire being an hundred and
four Rights in ye whole) this is our most humble prayer, or that your Honours will
any other way provid for ye support of ye worship of God among us, all tenders of
agreement proving Ineffectual your Honoures humble petitioners, as in duty bound,
shall ever pray.

N. Milford, May 4th, 1719. * Samuell Brownson,

. Stephen Noble, § Selectmen.”
John Bostwick.

The twenty-three families were those of the following persons :

Capt. Stephen Nob! Paul Welch,
John Noble, Jr,, Thomas Pickett,
John Bostwick, Sen., William Gaylord,
John Bostwick, Jr., John Welch,
Benjamin Bostwick, Samuel Camp,
Zechariah Ferriss, James Prime, *
Samuel Brownson, Samuel Adkins,
Roger Brownson, Jonathan Buck,
Samuel Prindle, Enoch Buck,
Samuel Hitchcock, Theophilus Baldwin,
Benoni Stebbins, Jonathan Buck.

Benjamin Bunnell,

A number of families besides these had settled in the town,
but had died or removed.

Eleven months later another stage of progress was entered
upon, which must have given a more visible assurance that a
meeting-house would be realized in a future day.
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“Dec. 7,1720. There was chosen Samuel Brownson, William
Gaylord, Roger Brownson, Zachariah Ferris, and John Bost-
wick, Jr., a committee to manage the prudentials of the town in
setting up the meeting house, and to see it covered and closed,
and the doors set ‘up at the town charge, and to levy a rate for
defraying the said charge, and this committee to be paid by the
town for their trouble; and Benjamin Bunnell was chosen col-
lector of the meeting house rate.”

After this action, nine months passed before further action
could be reached, and then we learn with surprise: * Sept. 21,
1721, David Noble was chosen collector for the shingles and
clapboards for the meeting house and to see that the rate be paid
forthwith.” More than two years and a half passed after the
first vote to secure these articles for covering the building, with
considerable tax as a fine for failure to fulfill, but they were still
wanting, and the pressure was so heavy for money that they
sent another petition to the Legislature for a still further release
from paying ‘“country rates” for six years, which request was
partially granted. _

At the October session, 1721, the selectmen petitioned * that
for six or seven years the town be released from the country tax
because—they are a very small society and so the minister's rate
is great ; they are building a meeting house and have paid two
rates thereto—the last one exceeding eight pence upon ye pound
and the first one not much short, and yet the building not more
than half accomplished ; and they are but about sixteen hundred
pounds in the list ; and that they had realized all they expected
from the tax on non-resident proprietors—because Mr. Samuel
Clark, merchant, of Milford, who was made collector of that tax,
was not impowered to collect it, and they ask that power may be
given him to that end.”

May 6, 1723, they again ask that these non-resident proprie-
tors may be compelled to help them-—to support the minister and
go on with the meeting-house.

Three regular rate-bills were made each year, besides any for
the meeting-house :—one for town expenses, one for the minister,
and one for the support of the school; but they kept on in a
direct line of forward movement, even though but little was
accomplished in a whole year.
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“Dec. 11, 1721. The town agreed that the former committee
are empowered to get and lay a floor in the meeting house, and
do empower said committee to raise a rate for defraying charges,
and Benjamin Bunnell is chosen collector for the meeting house
rate.” :

It has been reported that this meeting-house was built in the
year 1720, but on Dec. 7th of that year the frame was not yet
raised, and on the 21st of Sept., 1721, the frame appears to have
been standing, but the shingles and clapboards were not yet
collected. This work was probably accomplished within three
months after, at the end of which (Dec. 11, 1721) they voted to
put in a floor. In this state the house may have been used
during the spring and summer of 1722, until another effort was
made, as follows: “Oct. 8, 1722. It was agreed that the walls
of the meeting house should be walled up to the girths now
before winter ; that the walls shall be filled in by nailing lath
upon the studs and then filling in with timber and mortar, and
that the floor shall be jointed and drove up.” But this work
weont over until September, 1723, nearly a ycar, when another
cummittee was appointed “to provide lime and lath to do the
walls of the meeting house and to plaster the walls of the house
and to lay the floor; and lay a rate upon the list of estates in the
town for defraying the charges of the work™ ;. which work seems
to have been completed soon after. After this another year
passed, and then they appointed a committee “ to provide timber
for the finishing of the meeting house,” which “finishing” is
explained, Jan. i4, 1726, when they are directed to “get timber
for seating the mceting house, and that they should go on with
their work according to their former instructions.”

But nearly every step of progress in completing the house
drove them to call on the Assembly for aid. In Oct., 1727, they
asked that their country rate might be applied to aid their school
and help finish their mceting-house, and it was granted for two
years. And again in May, 1730, they asked that the country
rate might be used in finishing the meeting-house, and it was
granted.

From 1726 forward, for nearly three years, this house was
probably used as a place of worship, without any furnishings
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except temporary seats of boards, or something of the kind, as
indicated by the following record:

“July 11, 1729. It was agreed to leave the form of placing
the pulpit and the seats in the lower part of the meeting house
to the committee that shall be chosen, and to the workman which
shall be improved to do the work.

“ Capt. Stephen Noble, Samuel Canfield, Sergt. Benjamin Bun-
nell, Joseph Ferriss, and Sergt. John Welch were chosen a com-
mittee for the above said work and what further instructions
shall be given to said committee.

“The town did empower the above committee to hire a work-
man to erect the pulpit and the seats in the meeting house and
also to raise a rate to defray that part of the charge that shall
be wanting when the money raised by the country rate which
was ordered to the use aforesaid shall be laid out.”

This work they hoped would be soon completed, to the great
joy of the people, for in view of the occupancy of the seats by
the older people and their separation from the young people,
according to the custom of that.day, they passed at this same
time the following vote :

“July 11, 1729. Ebenezer Baldwin and Thomas Oviatt, sen.
were chosen tithing men from this time till the town meeting in
December to oversee the youth in the meeting house in the time
of exercise, that is the males. At the same meeting James Hine
was chosen to oversee the female sex in the time of exercise.”

Still there was delay as though this house could never be fin-
ished, for in the next December they voted that *there should
be seats made on both sides of the broad alley in the meeting-
house,” and also that there should be timber provided for mak-
" ing the gallery and the stairs at the doors, and the stairs to be
made as soon as may be; and Mr. Zachariah Ferris, Benjamin
Bostwick, and Dea. James Prime were chosen for gathering the
timber for said work, and to raise a rate for defraying the charge
of the above said work.” '

. At the same meeting “it was voted that there should be a
committee chosen to seat the meeting-house, who shall seat per-
sons according to age, dignity, and estate; that all persons above
the age of fifty-five years shall be seated according to their age,
dignity and list of estate, and Capt. Stephen Noble, Sergt. The-
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ophilus Baldwin, Roger Brownson, Sergt. John Welch, and Sam-
uel Canfield were chosen to seat the meeting-house according to
the directions above mentioned, and that it shall be done by the
list of this present year. ‘

+ “Voted that the pew next the pulpit stairs is the highest in
dignity, and the second pew and the four long seats to be equal
in dignity.

“Voted that some other women shall be seated ‘with Mrs.
Boardman according to the dignity of their place.

*Voted that there shall be a drum beat for a sign to go to
meeting by.” ’ :

“ April 30, 1730. Voted that a prayer be sent to the General
Assembly to try if we cannot obtain that our country rate may
be granted that it may be laid out for the furnishing of our meet-
ing-house and defraying the charge of the school.”

“Dec. 7, 1730. Voted that they will have the galleries fin-
ished by this time twelve months, and the work to be done
according to the platform that the committee, with the workman
that does the work shall agree upon; and that Nathaniel Bost-
wick, Theophilus Baldwin, and Joseph Ferris were chosen to get
the timber for the finishing the galleries, and that they are au-
thorized to raise a rate and agree with a workman to finish the
galleries with what can be spared out of the rate called the
country rate.”

On Dec. 13, 1731, there was a vote that “if there be any
money wanting to the finishing the meeting-house, to take it out
of the town treasury, and if there be any overplus to return to
the town treasury,” and that Capt. Stephen Noble should audit
the account, and hence the probability that the meeting-house
was completed, after a struggle of fifteen years from the first
vote to raise money for this object, and twelve years after the
work was commenced.

But at once new troubles are experienced ; particularly to se-
cure the prompt attendance of the people upon the services at
the meeting-house, and to seat them in a dignified order in the
house. To secure the first they appointed a strong committee
to purchase a new drum, hire 2 drummer to beat the drum
“upon the Sabbath and other times of public worship, to notify
the people of the time of going to meeting,” and to sweep and
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shut up the meeting-house. But the second object was much
more difficult in its attainment, yet they, like brave men, made
an effort after the following manner:

“Dec. 13, 1731.  Voted that the meeting-house shall be seated,
—and to go back to thelist which was made for getting the timber
for the finishing the inside work,—the pulpit and the like ; alsoall
persons that are upward of fifty years of age shall be allowed two
pound per year for their age ; also no man shall have but one
head in his list. Dignity is also allowed in the said business.
The highest seat in the meeting-house is the pew next the pul-
pit; the second, is the forward seat in the body of seats; the
third, is the hinder pew [the second pew on the side of the pul-
pit]; the fourth is the second seat on the square body ; the fifth
is the forward seat in the front gallery; the sixth is the third
seat in the square body ; the seventh is the forward seat in the
side gallery ; the eighth is the fourth seat in the square body;
the ninth is the fifth seat in the square body. Also allowed
there shall be seven in a seat—in both pews and also in the
square body. Also it is agreed that the Committee are to have
respect to each man’s list in seating him. Capt. Stephen Noble,
- Lieut. John Bostwick, Samuel Canfield, Sergt. John Welch, Mr.
Roger Brownson, Sen., are the Committee for the said business,
and that the seating of the meeting-house shall be completed by
the first of January next ensuing.” But before that time camc
they had called another meeting and “ voted that the former se-
cam for seating our mecting-house is void and of none effect,
and that there shall be another secam laid for said work. Vo-
ted that all the men above fifty years of age shall be seated in
the seat they now sit in, and that Thomas Oviatt, Sen., shall
sit in the second seat in the body of said house; that all men in
this town that bear lists shall be first seated, and then all that
are sixteen years of agc and upwards, shall be seated according
to their age; that the widows shall keep their seats; that Mr.
Samuel Brownson's wife shall keep her seat, and Dea. Prime’s
wife shall sit in the middle pew.

“ Voted: that there shall be but one head to each list ; and that
there shall be eight men seated in each pew and in each seat in
the square body.”

In the above statement that, “ Dignity is also allowed in said
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business,” may be seen the principle of respect paid to persons
of different stations and circumstances among the early settlers.
The first rule of difference was that persons of all rank and class
should show respect to aged people, rich or poor,—whoever they
might be; and hence, such persons were seated at the side of
the pulpit. The next class, which was really the first class of
conferred honor, was that of the ministers and the officers of the
Colonial Courts ; to whom was always applied the abbreviation,
“Mr.” Following this class came the officers of the military
organizations in their gradations, from field officers. to the cap-
tain of the company, and from him down ; there being, at. first,
no other civil officers except constables. After some years the
office of justice of the peace, honored with the title of «“ Esquire,”
took the place of local members of the General Court.

The consideration of property came into the account when

two persons of the same grade were considered; that is, when
two captains were to be seated, the one having the highest list
took the precedence, and the same with unofficial persons, as
farmers (called “ yeomen”), weavers, and all mechanics; the one
with the largest list came first. The meaning of “one head in
the list,” was that if a father stood eighty pounds on the list, he
alone could be seated on that amount, but none of his children;
his wife being in the same rank, but in another pew; yet in some
churches, in later times, the husband and wife sat in the same
pew. : '
It may be remembered that in the early days of the New Ha-
ven and Connecticut Colonies, the dignifying the meeting-house
and seating the people by certain grades of wealth was unknown,
and that the practice became common only after slavery became
an established institution. ,

It will also be seen that there was no call for tithing-men until
the children and young people were separated from their parents
during service in the meeting-house.

The law requiring the appointment of tithing-men was passed
in 1721. In the early days of New England it was customary,
however, to appoint an officer to keep persons from sleeping
during the delivery of the sermon. In the memoir of the Rev.
Samuel Whiting of Lynn, Massachusetts, the following is given

13
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as an extract from “Obadiah Turner's Journal,” one of Mr.
Whiting's parishioners:

“ June ye 34, 1646. Allen Briges hath bin chose to wake ye sleepers in meeting.
And being mch proude of his place, must needs have a fox-tail fixed to ye end of a
long staff wherewith he may brush ye faces of them yt will have napps in time of
discourse ; likewise a sharpe thorme wherewith he may prick such as be most
sounde. On ye last Lord his day, as hee strutted about ye meeting house, hee did
spy Mr. Tomlins sleeping with much comfort, hys head kept steadie by being in ye
corner, and hys hand grasping ye rail. And soe spying, Allen did quickly thrust his
stafl behind Dame Ballard and give him a grievous prick upon ye hand. Where-
upon Mr. Tomlins did spring up mch above ye floore, and with terrible force strike
hys hand against ye wall, and also, to ye great wonder of all prophainlie exclaim in
3 loud voice, ‘cuss ye woodchuck,’ he dreaming, as it seemed, yt a woodchuck had
seized and bit his hand. But on coming to know where hee was and ye great scan-
dall hee had committed, he seemed much abashed, but did not speak. And I think
hee will not soon again go to sleepe in meeting. Ye women may sometimes sleep
and none know it, by reason of their enormous bonnets. Mr. Whiting doth pleas-
antly say yt from ye pulpit hee doth seem to be preaching to stacks of straw with

- men sitting here and there among them.”

It is well sometimes to catch a flying thought, and thereforc
the following is an extract from the journal of another of the
same Mr. Whiting’s parishioners : '

“Ponder more on ye godlie discourse of Mr. Whiting touchiﬁ,; sanctification, and
“kerry him a load of wood.” *Strong drink is a cuss, Also tobacco.”

The following extracts are given as completing the history of
the first meeting-house:

Dec. 13, 1731. A committee was chosen to make up accounts with the meeting-
house committee. and “if there be any money wanting to the finishing of the meet.
ing-house, to take it out of the town treasury; and if there be any overplus to be
returned into the town treasury, and Capt. Stephert Noble and Mr. Roger Brownson
are chosen auditors for the said business,”

“April 11, 1743. Voted that a committee be chosen to take out a part of the
women’s seats in the meeting-house and appoint said place for some of the men, and
that Mr. Nathanie] Bostwick, Mr. Ebenezer Fisk, and Mr. William Drinkwater, be a
committee for sald work.”

Lirst Sabbath Day House.

“Dec. 10, 1745. Pursuant to a grant made by the town of New Milford, Dec. g,
1748, unto the farmers of said town, we whose names are hereunto subscribed, have
set out unto Zerubabel Canfield, Japheth Collins, and Pitman Benedict, a certain
piece of land to set a house thereon, whereunto they may resort on the Sabbath
day, lying north of the meeting-house on the side of the hill adjoining to Sperrie’s
land, that is eighteen feet in length, running from said Sperrie’s land westward, and
twelve feet in breadth.”

After the organization of the Quaker interest, there was a con-
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troversy begun as to the land gwen to the first society, and hence
the following action of the town meeting. S

“Dec.9, 1734. At a Proprietors meeting held in New Milford by adjournment

. . respecting the meeting-house in said place, which was erected by these com-
monly called Presbyterians or Dissentors for their worship of God in contradistinc-
tion to those commonly called the Church of England or Prellacy or any other
sectary whatsoever, we Presbyterians, those distinguished, do now by our unani-
mous votes, dedicate, bequeath, and declare, that the .meeting-house above men-
tioned with a conveniency of ground about it, shall be held for the Presbyterian wor-
ship and no other. Nomiine contradicte,”

New Miilford North Purchase.

The first record to be found. concerning the New Milford
North Purchase, was made on June 12, 1722, in which the in-
habitants agreed to certain rules for dividing the land providing
they could make the purchase ; and appointed Samuel Brownson,
William Gaylord, and Stephen Noble, as the committee to buy
theland. This purchase was not to be made of the Indians, for the
Windsor Company had done that two years before; but of the
towns of Hartford and Windsor, to whom it had been previously
conveyed by the Assembly. Ten days later they made the fol-
lowing provisions: “ At a meeting of the inhabitants, it was
agreed by signing our names that we will proceed to purchase
one mile and a half across the north end of New Milford bounds,
eastward of the Great river from the river to the eastward side
of the bounds, butting eastward upon that land which is set out
to Weramaug, north upon land purchased -by the committees of
Hartford and Windsor, west upon the Great river called Strat-
ford river, south upon New Milford bounds. We agree that
none shall have a share or interest in said land but those only
who pay the purchase money within two months after this date.
It is to be understood that none shall be purchasers but those
who were comprised in the former vote at a town meeting held
June 12, 1722, wherein we did agree that every man of twenty-
one years of age might be a purchaser, and those that had a son
under age to purchase for one son and no more. It is to be
understood that there is part of this money to be paid forthwith;
and John Welch is chosen collector, to receive and pay such
moneys as is agreed to be raised, to purchase the northward land
from our town.”
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The names attached to this agreement are the same that are
found in the division of the land, only with two additions, or two
persons who did not finally become proprietors. The deed was
" dated the next day; and in the next October, a vote was passed
in town meeting to request the General Assembly to annex the
purchase to New Milford as a part of said town ; but this was not
done for some cause or other until in May, 1741, when it was
accomplished through a memorial, and the energy of Mr. Samuel
Canfield as the agent.

Deed of the North Purchase.

" “To'all Christian people to whom these presents shall come: William Whiting,
Thomas Seymour, and James Ensigne, all of Hartford, Samuel Rockwell, and Sam-
uet Allyn of Windsor, in the county of Hartford and Colony of Connecticut, com-
mittee and agents for said towns, send greeting :—that whereas the said towns did
" obtane a grant in the year 1686 from the governor and company of his majestie’s
English Colony of Connecticnt for all the lands on the north of Woodbury and Mat
tatuck, and on the west of Farmington and Simsbury, to the Massachusetts line
north, and to run west to Ousotanuck or Stratford River, and also have purchased all
the lands contained within said bounds of the natives as will appear by their deeds
on record, now know ye that we the said William Whiting, Thoinas Seymour, and
James Ensigne, committee agents for the town of Hartford, Samuel Rockwell, and
Samuel Allyn, committee agents for the town of Windsor, in consideration of the
sum of thirty pounds in hand paid or secured to be paid by Samuel Brownson,
William Gaylor, and Stephen Noble, committee agents for the inhabitants of the
town of New Milford, in the county of New Haven and Colony aforesaid, but especi-
ally for the benefit and encouragement of the said town; have remised, released,
and forever quitclaimed and by these presents do fully, freely, and absolutely from -
themselves and in behalf of the rest of the inhabitants, proprietars of the towns of
Hartford and Windsor aforesaid remise, release and forever quit.claim unto the said
Samuel Brownson, William Gaylord, and Stephen Noble, committee agents as afore-
. said for themselves and in behalf of their associates now inhabitants in the said
town in such proportion as they shall hereafter agree in their full and peaceable pos-
session and seizin, and to their heirs and assigns forever, all such right and estate,
title, interest, and demand whatsoever, as the said towns of Hartford and Windsor
had or ought to have, of, in or to, a certain tract of land situate and lying north of
the bounds of New Milford aforesaid, and is butted and bounded as followeth, viz. :
west on the Great River one mile and one half of a mile in breadth, froms thence to
run a parallel line with the north bounds of New Milford aforesaid unto the land
sequestered for the use of Weraumaug, lying eastward of said Great River, butting
uorth on the land belonging to the towns of Hartford and Windsor, east on the land
set out fo said Weraumaug, south on the bounds of the said town, and west on the
Great River; to have and to hold the said tract of land with all the privileges and
appurtenances thereunto belonging or in anywise appertaining, unto the said Samuel
Brownson, William Gaylor, and Stephen Noble, committee, agents as aforesaid, for
themselves and the rest of the inhabitants now dwelling in the town of New Milford
aforesaid, to them, their leirs and assigns forever, so that we the said William Whi-
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ting, Thomas Seymour, James Ensigne, Samuel Rockwell, and Samuel Allyn, com-
mittee, agents as aforesaid, nor any of the inhabitants, proprietors of the towns of
Hartford and Windsor aforesaid, nor their heirs, nor successors, nor any other per-
son or persons, for them or in their names or stead, shali or will by any way or
means hereafter have claim, chalienge or demand, any estate title or interest of in
or to the premises, or any part or parcel thereof; but they and every of them shall
be utterly excluded and barred forcver by these presents; and also the said Whi

ting, Seymour, Rockwell, and Allyn, committee as aforesaid,' the said parcel of land
with the appurtenances, to the said Brownson, Gaylor, and Noble, committee, agents
as aforesaid, and to the present inhabitants of the said New Milford, and to their
proper use and behoof, in manner and form afore specified against the heirs and suc-
cessors of the said towns of Hartford and Windsor aforesaid, and every of them
shall warrant and defend forever by these presents, in witness whereof the said Wil-’
liam Whiting, Thomas Seymour, James Ensigne, Samuel Rockwell, Samuel Allyn,
committee's agents of aforesaid have hereunto set their hands and affixed their seals
the twenty-third day of June in the 8th year of the reign of King George, and in the
year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and twenty-two, 1722,

Memorandum. It is to be understood that there is included in this deed one hun.
dred acres lying upon West Asputuck River, for which we have signt a quit claim
vesterday unto William Gaylor and is excepted in this deed.

"~ William Whiting,
Thomas Seymour,
James Ensigne,
Samuel Rockwell,
Samuel Allyn.” .

This tract of land was not purchased by the town of New
Milford, but by certain individuals associated together for this
purpose ; the number being sixty-four, and the name of each,
with the number of the lot laid to him, may be seen in the fol-
lowing list : : '

“ 1 Benoni Stebbins, . 17 Samuel Brownson,
2 Theophilus Baldwin, 18 Stephen Noble,
3 Ebenezer Pickett, 19 Joseph Bostwick, Sen.,
4 William Gaylord, 20 William Corns,
s John Weller, Jr., 21 Paul Welch,
6 James Prime, 22 Benjamin Gaylord,
7 Roger Brownson, Jr., 23 David Noble,
8 Samuel Prindle,, Jr., 24 Joscph Buck,
9 Zachariah Ferriss, “25 John Hitchcock,
to Nathan Bostwick, 26 Enoch Buck,
11 Samuel Camp, 27 Benjamin Bunnell, Sen.,
12 Ebenezer Baldwin, Jr,, 28 Gamaliel Terrill,
13 John Bostwick, Sen., 29 Robert Bostwick,
1'4 Robert Bostwick, Jr., 30 Ebenczer Bostwick,
15 Ebenezer Buck, 3t Mr. Nathan Terrill,
16 Thomas Brownson, 32 Daniel Boardman,

! This deed is here deficient.
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33 Jonathan Hitchcock, 49 George Corns,

34 Jonathan Noble, 50 Jonathan-Buck,

35 Thomas Weller, 51 John Noble, 34,

36 Lemuel Bostwick, 52 John Noble, 24,

37 John Bostwick, 29, 53 Roger Brownson,

38 William Prime, . 54 Ebenczer Washborn,
39 Samuel Adkins, §5 Benjamin Bunnell, 24,
40 Joseph Bostwick, 29, 56 Samuel Hitchcock, 29,
41 Samuel Hitchcock, 57 Daniel Noble,

42 John Welch, Sen., : 58 Benjamin Bostwick,
43 John Bostwick, 34, 59 John Weller, Sen.,

44 John Ferriss, 60 Nathaniel Bostwick,
15 Samuel Prindle, 61 Henry Garlick,

46 Obadiah Weller, 62 James Camp,

47 Abraham Bostwick, 63 Thomas Dlicket,

48 Ebenezer Baldwin, Seun., 64 John Welch, 24,

“ These sixty-four lots, lying in that land called New Milford North Purchase,
were laid out in Aprill Anno Dom. 1731, by Stephen Noble, Roger Brownson, Wil-
liam Gaylord, and John Welch, who were committee chosen by the proprietors to
do the work of laying out .the said Jand.”

- After the purchase was made and the deed received in 1722,
but little was done in regard to it until it was surveyed four years
afterwards, except the sale of a few Rights or shares by indi-
viduals. _

The record of the survey of this tract of land (not the laying
of it into lots), is stated by the surveyor himself :

[ the subscriber hereunto . . . . . have, being assisted with chain bearers sworn
according to law, surveyed and laid out the above land in manner as hereafter ex-
pressed, beginning at the northeast corner bounds of said New Milford township,
and from thence run due north one mile and a half where we made a monument, it
being a white oak trce marked with stones laid to it, and from thence we run a due
west line, or a line parallel to the north line of said New Milford township to the
IHousatonack River; and then returning to the monument above mentioned and
ran due east till we came as we supposed to the line of Weramoags reserved land,
in which line we have marked many trecs and erected many monuments, the last be-
ing [a] white oak tree standing in said Weramaugs linc being marked and stoues
laid to it ; and from thence a strait line to the above said northeast corner hounds
of said New Milford township. The above said work was completed August 1st,
1726, by me Edward Lewis, county surveyor.”

From this time until the laying out of the lots in 1731, quite
a number of Rights or shares were sold, so that at the recording
of the lay-out the original owner’s name is given, and also in a
number of cases the name of the one who then owned the
Right, with a few exceptions, in which the later owner’s name
was not known. In May, 1731, application was made to the



NORTH PURCHASE LOTS. 103

General Assembly for a ““ Patent,” which was executed, bearing
the date of May 29, 1731, and contained no descriptive explana-
tions above those of the surveyor Edward IL.cwis: except the
statement, ** esteemed to be about six miles and a half long, and
one mile and a half wide.” :

The method of dividing the territory of New Milford to its
one hundred and hine owners—each one selecting the location
of his division of ten, twenty or forty acres wherever he pleased
in undivided land,—had proved so unsatisfactory, that the proprie-
tors of the North Purchase resolved to avoid such confusion, and
therefore determined to lay out each man’s proportion in one
piece, and proceeding upon the rule that “the lands should be
sized, or an allowance made for rock and hills, laid them into
two tier of lots running cast and west the whole length of the
purchasc, thirty-two lots in each tier.” They previously laid the
highways,—onc highway near the middle of the purchase, run-
ning east and west between the two tiers as nearly as might be,
one on the south side of the tract, one on the east end of the
tract, and twelve others in various parts of the territory. The
first one was ten rods wide, the others, nearly all of them,
were four rods wide, running mostly north and south between
the lots, or as nearly so as the hills and swamps would allow.

Besides the vote “that each proprietor shall have his part in
one entire piece,” they voted that “the lots shall run but half
way through the tract, or thus one lot on the north side and the
other on the south side,” but when they had finished the survey
there was land left, and in 1747, they made a Second division
giving each proprietor another lot. These latter lots consisted
of pieces left, in all shapes and forms, at the first survey ; and in
a certain portion of the tract lying east of the first twenty-sixth
lot there was arranged a tier of lots—the lots being twenty-two
rods long and seven wide, the tier running north and south.

In order that there should be no selecting of lots, and hence
no complaint, they decided to draw lots, and in the exccution of
this method sixty-four numbers were placed in a hat or box, then
a proprietor went to the box and took out a number, and that
number was placed to his name on the proprietor's record where
it now stands:—the first .name being Zachariah Ferriss, who
drew lot number nine; John Ferriss, the next name, drew lot
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number forty-four. In this manner, probably, each secured the
lot which was afterwards laid out to him. The committee began
at the west-end of the north tier, and went eastward to Waura-
maug's Reservation and then back on the south tier.

The east and west highways were laid very crooked, and would
seem by the reading to have bheen almost useless, if they had
been made as surveyed. ‘

It was in the surveying of this land in 1726, by the county
surveyor, probably, that the party sat down by a stream to eat
their dinner, and having the usual compliment of *fire water,”
became very merry; from which fact arose the local name “ Mer-
ryall,” which was afterwards divided into Upper and ILower
Merryall.

The deed to Benjamin Fairweather is introduced here in part,
because of the number of peculiar historical statements in it, and
hecause New Milford men were largely interested in it; for it

N.was under this deed that William Gaylord held the exempted
land in the North Purchase.

Benjamin Fairweather's Decd,

“We, Weramaug of Oweantunuck and Nepato of Knunckpacooke, ? Indian pro-
prietors of the land that lies along Stratford Great River, northerly from New Mil-
ford; for and in consideration of the sum of twenty-nine pounds in money to us in
hand paid by Benjamin Fairweather, . . . .. do sell a certain tract of land bounded

.. . . beginning by the said River side over against which there is a brook comes
into the river on the west side . . . . and it runs along the river beforesaid as the
said river runs, the said breadth of one full mile from the River side for about five
and twenty or thirty miles by estimation, till it extends so far as to comprise and
take in the whole of mast swamp, so called, that lies on said river, being about two
and a half miles beyond the deep brook that runs into said swamp, where at the
mouth of a little river on the north side of a red-ash tree, there is a heap of stones
and marked with the letters B. F. N. L. R. G. W, and runs something to the east-
ward of the north to the top of a great tree with stones laid to it, and marked with
letters as before; the which tract of land together with the island thatis in the
river against the said mast swamp, bounded northerly and casterly with our own
land, westerly on the Great River, and southerly with New Milford.

June 19, 1716.
Witnesses. WERAMAUG'S mark.

William Gaylord, NEPATOE'’S mark.
Stephen Noble,
Jacob’s mark,
Tanhook’s mark,
Mauhehu’s mark,
Simon's mark,
onathan Hall,
onathan Stiles mark.

4 A locality on the river in Kent, or a little above.
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The deed of Cockshure is also given for historical reasons, as
the last deed of the Indians to New Milford people.

Cockshure's Deced.

“New Milford, April 4, 1739—Stephen Hawley’s deed recorded.

To all people to whom these presents shall come, greeting; know ye that I Cock-
shure, Indian of an Indian plantation within the township of Woodbury in the county
of Fairfield and colony of Connecticut in New England ; for, and in consideration of
a valuable sum of money in hand received, do by these presents for myself and heirs,
unto Stephen Hawley of Newtown in ye county aforesaid, and to the sole use and
behoof of ye proprietors of New Milford in the county of New Haven, and colony
aforesaid and to their successors forever, demise, release, and forever quit claim my
claim, right, title, and interest in and unto a certain tract parcel of Jand within the
township of New Milford aforesaid, being the whole of that plain intervale or River
land be it more or less lying and adjoining upon the east side of the Great River, so
called and bounding northward upon ye brook called Wawwecous, soutwardly upon
Woodbury line, and castward upon the top of the mountain: To them and their
successors ye above demised premises with all manner of its appurtenances as their
own proper estate of inheritance in fee simple. To have, hold, occupy, and enjoy
forever.

In witness whereof I ye said Cockshure, Indian, do hereunto set my hand and affix
my seal this 3ist day of July, A.D,, 1733.

COCKSHURE, Indian, his mark.”

The First Grand List which included New Milford.

In May, 1725, the Assembly ordered “that the towns of Ash-
ford, Hebron, Ridgefield, New Town, and New Milford, shall
proceed to take and make a list of all the polls and rateable
estate by their listers this present year, as other towns in this
colony do.” ‘
 The town had been released from paying taxes for Colony ex-
penses to this time, and as a conscquence was allowed no Rep-
resentatives in the Assembly. In accordance with the above
vote the list was reported the next October, and in order to see
how New Milford compared then with the other towns in the
Colony the whole list is given.

14
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“ A list of the several Towns of this Colony, sent into this Assembly.?

£ s d 4 s d
Hartford, 24,784 1 6 New Haven, 31,160 13 1
New London, 17,563 1 o Fairfield, 27,937 o1 1
Haddam West, 5055 11 6 Haddam East, 8,596 2 1
Norwalk, 15412 0 7 Stratford, 22,207 1 2
Colchester, 10618 2 o Saybrook, 12,300 14 ©
Wethersfield, 19,304 o o Stamford, 15626 2 6
Middletown, 17,704 § 3 New Milford, 2,739 11 7
Hebron, 5231 4 O Groton, 12,577 6 10
Pomfret, 6,375 10 o Glassenbury, 6056 6 o
Windham, 8012 o 6 Farmington, 15827 15 9
Killingsworth, 6868 9 9 Coventry, 4578 1 6
Danbury, 7,271 0 © Canterbury, 5721 4 O
Mansfield, 5,166 10 6 Branford, 13,565 15 ©
Waterbury, 381z 6 o Plainfield, 671314 9
Guilford, 19,921 0.1 Killingly, 5058 o o -
Simsbury, 7737 § 6 Greenfield, 10,189 10 ©
Lebanon, 12,404 2 © Preston, 9,847 14 4
Norwich, 22018 o 6 Derby, §310 11 ©
Durham, 5764 O 1o Lyme, 12,264 19 10
Windsor, 19,566 18 o Stonington, 14,914 17 11
Wallingford, 16853 16 3 Woodbury, 8,278 6 o
Milford, 22,113 17 10 Add'n Guilford, 841 6 O
Fourfold ditto. 40 10 ©

Prices of Grains.

The prices of grains increased very much from the commence-
ment of the town to 1760, instead of decreasing as more and
more was raised.

In December, 1715, it was voted that grains should pass for
paying town charges as follows:

Wheat, per bush., 4s. . Oats, 1s5. 44.

Rye, 2s. 84. Flax, per pound, 64.
Indian Corn, 25.

In 1717, Wheat, 4s5. 6d.  Flax, 7d.
Corn, 2s. 64. Oats, per bush., 1s. 84.
Rye, 3s. Pork, per pound, 2}d.

In 1725, Wheat, 7s. Corn, per bush., 3s. 84.
Rye, 4s. 84. Oats, 2s.

In 1732, Wheat, 8s. Corn, 6s.
Rye, 5s. 6d.  Pork, per bbl., £2 4s.

9Col. Rec, V1. g70.
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In 1737, Wheat, 125, Oats, per bush,, 3s.
Rye, 8s. Flax, per 1b., 12d.

" Corn, 5s.
~ In 1744, Wheat, 125, Oats, per bush., 4s.
Rye, 8s. Flax, per b, 2.

Corn, 7.

Before 1760, wheat reached the high mark of twenty-two shil-
lings per bushel.

Ear Marks.

** Marks for cattle and swine.

John Weller, a hole in the right year (ear).

William Gaylor, a hole in the Left year.

John Noble, Sen., a hole in the Left eare and a cut in the bottom of the right ear.

Dan!. Boardman—his mark is a half-penny on the fore side of the neare eare.
All entered Jan. 29, 1713-14.

Mar. 31, 1719. Johin Griswold’s ear mark for neat cattle, sheep, swine, and horses
is 2 half-penny on the fore side of each ear.”

* Elnathan Botchford’s ear'mark for neat cattle, sheep, and swine, is a half- penny
on the under or hinder side of each ear one. Recorde May 21, 1728.

 John Prindle’s ear mark for neat cattle, sheep, swine, and horses, is a half-penny
upon each side of the off or right ear. Recorded Jan. 20, 1728—9.

* John Weiler, Senr’s. mark for geese is the hind toe of the off or right foot cut
off. Recorded Dec. 14, 1728.

* Joseph Waller’s ear mark for neat cattle, sheep, and swine is a w or two swal.
low tails upon the top of the off or right ear. Recorded Sept. 30, 1730.

“ Nathan Terrill’s ear mark for neat cattle, sheep, and swine, is a crop in the near
or left ear, and two slits right down in the crop. Recorded Dec. 24, 1724.”



CHAPTER VI1I.
THE QUAKERS.

AITHFULNESS as well as impartiality in history is
of great value, and when ascertained is generally ap-
o preciated by the upright citizen. When truth is loved
because it is /#uth, and not because it is on our side,
then is there profit in searching everything under the
sun, for the end thereof is life. The most difficult
place, as is proved in the experience of the world, 1o
"write historically, is upon religious topics, and hence the extreme
meagerness of religious historical writings, and their almost uni-
versal onesidedness. What writer of such history in all the past
can be fully trusted? The want of faithfulness or the exercise
of partiality in the history of a small 1own, might seem to be a
trivial matter to the world at large, but for the fact that that
world is made up of exceeding small portions when compared
with the whole. How frequently the use of a word in a sen-
tence, which otherwise would be impartial, gives the bent of the
author’s mind, and we read the whole statement with suspicion
or satisfaction, according as our prejudices or interests are
effected.

An illustration is at hand in the following account of the
Friends or Quakers, as given by the Rev. Daniel Boardman, in
one sentence, and in two words of that sentence. He says,
“Sundry Church Members fell away to Quakerism.” If they
“ fell away ” then they went to something lower than that from
which they fell, in the opinion of the author, who was, as a whole,
a liberal, and for his day, a large-hearted minister. '

The following record was made by Rev. Daniel Boardman on
~ the church book without the figures:

“Sundry Church Members fell away to Quakerism in the year 1731 and 1732.
1 Samuel Prindle, Sen., and 4 Obadiah Weller,
2 Dorothy Prindle his wife 5 John Prindle,
3 Sarah Ferriss, wife of Zachariah, 6 Samucl Prindle, Jr.,

‘
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7 Nathan Talcott, 15 Phebe Beecher, afterwards Phebe Fer-
8 Thomas Weller, riss,

9 David Ferriss, 16 Dorothy Prindle,

10 Benjamin Ferriss, 17 Hannah Ferriss, afterwards Hannah
11 Nathan Gaylord, Talcott,

12 Joseph Weller, : 18 Hannah Bostwick, afterwards Hannah
13 Sarah Prindle, Weller,

14 Elizabeth Prindle, 19 Daniel Prindle, in 1734.”

The above is -all the record found in the Congregational
Church or Society in regard to the Quakers, or the occasion of
their separation from the first Church, except the record of the
return of some of these persons to the same church, and a reso-
lution passed that any others might return without making con-
fession before the public congregation. These were all members
of the families then resident in the town except Nathan Talcott,
who had been a member of the first Church since Nov., 1726,
There may have been others in the town not members of the
first Church, who were Quakers, but of such supposition there
has been found no evidence, except as to David Ferriss, who had
been away for three or four years at Yale College, and had be-
come a Quaker,’ nor were there any of that denomination, so far
as appears, who had just settled in the town, who might have
persuaded thesc persons to become members of the socicty of
Friends. The whole movement seems to have been a desire for
a little more freedom in methods of worship, than had been the
custom in Congregational, or what was then called the Presbyte-
rian, Churches in the Colony.

The only information obtained as to this question is found in
- the Memoir of John Woolman, a native of the west part of New
Jersey, born in 1720, who became a Quaker minister, and trav-
eled extensively. In his Journal, printed in 1845, there is a brief
account of a visit he made to New Milford, in 1747, as follows :

“ Besides going to the settled meeting of Friends, we were at
a general meeting at Setawket, chiefly made up of other Socie-
tics; we had also a meeting at Oyster Bay, in a dwelling-house,
at which were many people ; at the former there was not much
said by way of testimony, but it was, I believe, a good meeting ;
at the latter, through the springing up of living waters, it was a
day to be thankfully remembered. Having visited the island, we

'See his Biography.
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went over to the main, taking meetings in our way, to Oblong,
Ninepartners, and New Milford. In these back settlements, we
met with several people who, through the immediate workings
of the spirit of Christ on their minds, were drawn from the vani-
ties of the world to an inward acquaintance with him. They
were educated in the way of the Preshyterians. A considerable
number of the youth, members of that society, used often to
spend their time together in merriment, but some of the princi-
pal young men of the company, being visited by the powerful
workings of the Spirit of Christ, and thereby led humbly to take
up their cross, could no longer join in those vanities. As these
stood steadfast to that inward convincement, they were made a
blessing to some of their former companions; so that through
the power of truth, several were brought into a closer exercise
concerning the eternal well-being of their souls. These young
people continued for a time to frequent their public worship;
and besides that, had meetings of their own ; which meetings
were awhile allowed by their preacher, who sometimes met with
“them ; but in time their judgment in matters of religion, disa-
greeing with some of the articles of the Presbyterians, their
meetings were disapproved by the society, and such of them as
stood firm to their duty, as it was inwardly manifested, had many
difficulties to go through. In a while their meetings were dropped ;
some of them returned to the Presbyterians, and others joined
to our religious society. I had conversation with some of the
latter, to my heélp and edification; and believe several of them
are acquainted with the nature of that worship, which is performed
in spirit and in truth. Amos Powell, a Friend from Long Isl-
and, accompanied me through Connecticut, which is chiefly in-
habited by Presbyterians, who were generally civil to us.”

FFrom this extract it appears that some considerable unusual
religious interest arose in the first Church in 1725 and 6; and
this indication is strengthened by the fact that during the year
1726, and the first part of 1727, up to April, thirty-six persons
united with this Church, a much larger number than during the
same extent of time, while Mr, Boardman was pastor, and indeed
larger than at any period before 1800. Most of these, as the
record shows, were young people, as Mr. Woolman says, and it
is very probable that they held young people’s meetings, as he
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says, although such meetings were very unusual in the customs
of the churches of that day, and it is very probable, also, that the
older members of the church disapproved of that kind of meet-
ings, and so much so+as to cause them to be discontinued. They
were probably just such meetings as nearly all Congregational
churches would now encourage, and in the continuance of which
they would rejoice. The history of the public lives of these
persons, as indicated in the records now accessible, is of some
interest and may be instructive.

1. Samuel Prindle, Sen., was one of the first lwelve
settlers in the town, and united with the first church in 1720,
and returned to it eight years after he left it. He was a success-
ful farmer, living in the south part of the village. He died Sept.
20, 1750. He had a family of nine children, who married into
good families, and were active citizens.

2. Dorothy Prindle, wife of Samuel, united with the
First Church at the same time with her husband, 1720, and re-
turned to it in 1736. .

3. Sarah Ferriss was the wife of Zachariah, one of the
most prominent men in the town at the time. He was one of
the eight men who united with five women in the organization of
the First Church; but she did not unite with that church.
Although he remained in the Congregational Church, yet his.
wife and three children having joined the Friends, he favored
that organization very materially, and especially by giving them
ground for a burying-place, as stated by Rev. Mr. Griswold.

4. Obaditah Weller, born in 16gg, the son of John, who
was one of the first twelve settlers of the plantation, united with
the First Church in 1726. He was quite a substantial land-
holder and citizen.

5. John Prindle was the third child of Samuel Prindle,
and may have been born in New Milford, but it is not certain.
He united with the First Church in 1726, and of him Rev. Dan-
iel Boardiman made the following record : “ October, 1729. John
Prindle a member of y¢ church, was suspended from communion
by a general voice of y* church at a meeting of y* Brethren, for
scandalously and schurrilously abusing Daniel Boardman, his
pastor.” When he became a Quaker, he doubtless changed his
previous use of his tongue, for the Quakers were very celebrated
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for speaking no harm of any. It was a good place for him to go
if he must go from home, but he did not stay with the Quakers,
since he is found in the society of the Church of England in
1743. He appears to have been a good farmer and citizen, but
not prominent in the town. His residence was on the west side
of the plain, south or southwest from the Indian Field, near
what was frequently called, in deeds, the “ Goose Pond.”

6. Samuel Prindle, J»., brother to John, united with the
First Church in November, 1726; was about forty years of age;
residing near his brother John on the west side of the plain.
He also joined the Episcopal Church organization in 1743, with
whom he remained, so far as known, until his decease. e was,
apparentl), an ordinarily successful farmer, but not prominent
in public matters.

7. Nathan Talcott, son of Joseph (afterwards Governor of
Conn.), came into the town a young man, and united with the First
Church in November, 1726 ; and, being a spirited or enterprising
. young man, may have been a kind of leader among the young
people, and, like the others, had some idea of a little greater free-
dom of religious worship than was common then in Connecticut,
but quite common at the present day ; and, therefore, led off to
the Quakers as the only resort practicable under the circum-
stances, and not because he had any particular knowledge of or
affinity for that denomination. He afterwards married Hannah
Ferriss, who at this same time became a Friend, and who be-
longed to one of the first families of the place. Nathan Talcott
was the son of Joseph, of Hartford, who married the daughter of
George Clark, of Milford, and this grandfather Clark gave to
Nathan a Right of land in New Milford. The Right was to
descend to Nathan, but if he should die before he became twenty-
one, then it was to descend to his brother Joseph, and if he
should die before he became twenty-one, it was to descend to his
brother John. Nathan became the possessor, and died young.

8. Thomas Weller, born in 1702, a brother to Obadiah,
married Hannah, daughter of Benjamin Bostwick. She was of
one of the best {amilies of New Milford, as was also her mother
of one of the most prominent and substantial Woodbury fami-
lies, and hence the changing of these young people from the
First Church to another denomination made no small sensation
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in New Milford and far away into New Jersey ; and therefore the
Quaker minister, John Woolman of New Jersey, made his far-
away journey into ‘‘ these back settlements,” as he termed them,
to see what a wonder was here, that so many young people
should become Quakers, or Friends, apparently of their own
monitions. This ¢back settlement” term sounds about the
same as the habit of the New York people in calling New Haven
citizens “ country people” at the present day. But possibly Mr.
Woolman designed to return compliments for the favor done by
the Connecticut and New York people in the special attention
paid to his state in the phrase “ a backwoods Jerseyman.”

Thomas Weller, son of John, was not prominent in public
matters, although his name frequently occurs in town offices.
He united with the First Church in 1726, and appears to have
been a prominent citizen, although not a leading one.

9. David Ferriss, son of Zachariah, born in 1707, united
with the First Church in 1726, when nineteen years of age. It
was near his dwelling that the first Quaker meeting-house was
" erected, on the plain in what is now the ground of the old ceme-
tery, on the west side of the Housatonic, about half a mile below
the old toll-bridge. His father deeded the homestead to him in
the village in 1748, and in 1752 he, David, was residing in New-
castle, State of Delaware, with his brother Zachariah Ferriss.
He became a Quaker preacher after some years. (See Biog)

10. Benjamin Ferriss, son of Zachariah, born in 1708,
married Phebe Beecher of Milford,in 1728. She may have been
sister to Eleazer Beecher, who settled in what was then denomi-
nated the north part of the town of New Milford. He united
with the First Church in November, 1726, with seventeen others
at the same time; nine of them were young men. In 1741,
when residing in Dutchess County, N. Y., in deeding a piece of
land in New Milford, he reserved a certain portion for the
Friends’ burying-place, where the first Quaker meeting-house was
built the same year.

11. Nathan Gaylord, son of William, who settled at
Gaylordsville, resided on what is still known as the Richmond
Place. He united in 1753 with the Strict Congregationalists, in

15
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which church he became a deacon, and continued a well-known
and much esteemed citizen.

12.: Joseph Weller, youngest son of John Weller, one of
the first twelve settlers, was born in 1711, and hence was only
twenty years of age ; not married, and probably residing with his
father on Aspétuck Hill, east side of the street. Ile owned con-
siderable land, given him by his father. He united with the
First Church in 1727, and returned to it in 1736.

13. Saral Prindle, daughter-of Samuel, one of the first
twelve settlers, was born in 1707. She united with the First
Church in 1726, married Job Gould in June, 1731, and returned
to the First Church in 1736,

- 14. Elizabeth Prindle, daughter of Samuel, sen., and sis-
ter of Sarah, was born abeut 1700 ; married William Hutchings,
who was one of the first twelve in the organization of the Church
of England in 1743.

15. Phele Beecher, said to have been of Milford, and
was probably sister to Eleazer, an early settler in the north part
of the town ; married Benjamin Ferriss, who also had become a
Quaker. They removed before 1752 to Dutchess Co.,, N. Y. .

16. Dorothy Prindle, daughter of Samuel, and a twin
sister to Sarah Prindle, born in 1707, married not long after, El-
nathan Botsford, and this having been the first Quaker wedding
recorded as celebrated in New Milford, is here inserted ; the
record being, however, a little incomplete, because the edge of
the leaf of the book is considerably worn away by use during
one hundred and fifty years.

Elnathan Botsford, son of Samuel and Hannah Botsford of New Milford, in the
county of New Haven and Colony of Connecticut in New England, and Dorothy
Prindle, daughter of Samuel and Dorothy Prindle of New Milford in the county and
Colony aforesaid, having publicly declared their constant intention of taking each
other in marriage in several mectings of the people called Quakers in the house of
Josiah Quimby at Mamarroneck in ye county of Westchester and province of New
York, and enquiry having been made by order of said into both their clear-
ness from all other persons in relation to marriage, and no one appearing to hinder
their intended marriage, they also having their parents’ consent—therefore the
meeting left them to their liberty toaccomplish marriage according to the good
order of truth amongst the aforesuid people.

These are to certify that upon the eightcenth day of the first month called

March, in the year according to Christian account 1733-4, in a meeting of the afore-
said pcople at the house of Samuel Prindle, in New Milford aforesaid, Elnathan
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Botsford and Dorothy Prindle taking cach other by the hand, and in said assembly
did then and there in solemn manner declare that they took each other for husband
and wife, and promised each other that by the Lord's assistance they will be loving
husband and wife to each other uutil they be separated by death.

As (or further confirmation of their said marriage and promise to each other in
manner and form as above expressed, they have both of them set their bands to
these presents ye day and time above mentioned, she assuming her husband’s name
according to the custom of marriage ; and those whose names are hereunto subscribed
being present amongst others at the solemnizing of said marirage, are witnesses to
the samc. .

ELNATHAN BOTSFORD,

her
DoroTiiy X BOTSFORD.
mark.
WITNRSSES.
Samuel Bowne, Sarah Gould, her mark,
Richard Wallett, - Abigail Prindle, her mark,
Benjamin Ferriss, Ferris, her mark,
Nathan Talcott, Hannah Gaylord, her mark,
Ferriss, Dorothy Prindle, her mark (the

Nathan Gaylord, mother of the bride).
Jonathan Buek, Samuel Prindel,
Joshua Cornwell, Prindle,
Richard Cornwell, ’ Daniel Prindle,
Samuel Bolls, Abraham Gillett,
Nathan . Job Goold.

Jonathan Pierce,

17. Hannah Ferris, daughterof Zachariah, born in 1712,
married Nathan Talcott, who lived but a few years, and after his
dcath shc married Dobson Wheeler, and removed to Oblong,
Dutchess Co, N. Y.

18. Hannal Bostwick, daughter of Benjamin, who was
nephew to the first John Bostwick in New Milford. Her mother
was Zeruiah, daughter of Moses Johnson, of Woodbury, a
woman of so much rcliability that her husband made her sole
executrix of his will. ~Hannah married Thomas Weller, who
also became a Quaker.

19. Daniel Prindle, son of Samuel, one of the first
twelve settlers, born about 1709, was a single man when he be--
came a Quaker, but afterwards married, first, Abigail Oviatt,
second, Phebe Fed, and had a family of six children. He was
not prominent in the offices of the town, but was a successful
farmer. In 1743 he united with the Church of England enter-
prise that began at that time.
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It would be vain to attempt to make the defection of these
persons a trivial matter. It was anything but trivial to the Rev.
Daniel Boardman, although he could bear it as well as any be-
cause of his royal good will towards everybody, but his great
desire for the oneness and success of the causeof religion in the
church he was laboring to support made the matter a very serious
one to him. Besides, a large proportion of these persons had
grown up almost from childhood under his pastoral care, and they
were to him as children going astray, however good Shepherd
care they might find elsewhere. Eight of these persons belonged
to the Prindle family, four of them belonged to the Ferriss fam-
ily, three to the Weller family ; one was a Talcott, one a Bost-
wick, and one a Beecher—all good, substantial citizens.

But the matter did not end at this point of separation ; it went
on accumulating strength and public influence, while its growth
was but the weakening of the first vine planted. The member-
ship of Mr. Boardman'’s church did not exceed dne hundred, and
hence one-fifth withdrew. None should be envious at the in-
crease in any truly Christian denomination, but when division
threatens the continuance of any regular religious services, it is
difficult to hold any view but that of regret. The first society
had struggled in a most heroic manner to sustain the preaching
of the Gospel, and the minister had supported himself on the
smallest possible salary, receiving about one hundred and twen-
ty-five dollars a year, in grain, and flax, and the like; and the
parish had just completed the meeting-house, and began to hope
for comfortable days, when this new movement and division took
place. But the magnanimity and unselfishness of the Congre-
gational people are seen in the following record:

“Dec. 8, 1735, Voted that Nathan Talcott, Nathan Gaylord,
Thomas Weller, John Ferriss, John Prindle, Joseph Ferriss, Dan-
iel Prindle, and Samuel Prindle, Jr., shall be freed from paying the
minister's rate assessed on them, provided the next General
Court will give liberty therefor.” .

This, when at the same meeting, seeing no other way to main-
tain their minister, they voted to send a prayer to the General
Assembly to try to obtain a tax on the non-resident proprietors
for the maintenance of the ministry. If this was not magnani-
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mous generosity toward another denomination, and in favor of
the highest religious freedom, then the exhibition of these char-
acteristics is seldom, if ever, seen.

In this extract are seen two names not included in the list of
nineteen, and these persons, desiring to be freed from paying
ministerial tax in connection with the others, must be regarded
as having united with the Quakers.

Joseph Ferriss, son of Zachariah, born in 1703, marrxed
Hannah Welch, of Milford, in 1725, and "had a family of four
children. His father, Zachariah, gave him in 1725 five acres.lying
south-of Mallery’s land, “bounded west with Town street, south
with a highway, and east with a highway, . . . with'a
dwelling house on said land.” This house stood near the present
parsonage house of the Congregational society, on Elm street.

John Feririss, born in New Milford in 1714, a younger
brother of Joseph Ferris, was a young man twenty-one years of
age, having taxable property. He was the son of Zachariah
Ferriss,and he married in 1738 Abigail Tryon, which marriage, be-
ing probably the second one celebrated after the Quaker forms,
and recorded in full, with many witnesses, is here given as an
interesting item of history, the wording of it being varied con-
siderably from the preceding one.

Whereas John Ferris of New Milford in the county of New Haven, son of Zach-
ariah Ferris and Sarah his wife, and Abigail Tryon of New Milford having declared
their intention of marntiage with each other before the monthly meeting of the
people called Quakers at Mamaroneck according to the good order used amongst
them, whose proceedings therein, after deliberate consideration thereof, and having
consent of parents, and nothing appearing to hinder: These may therefore certify
all whom it may concern that for the accomplishing their said intention, this fifteenth
day of ye third month in the year one thousand seven hundred and thirty-eight, the
said John Ferriss and Abigail Tryon presented themselves in a public meeting of the
said people and others at the house of Joseph Ferris in New Milford and then and
there the said John Ferris taking the said Abigail Tryon by the hand and did in a
solemn manner declare that he did take her to be his wife, promising to be unto her
a true and loving husband till death shall make a separation, and then and there in
the same assembly ye said Abigail Tryon did in like manner declare that she did
take the said John Ferriss to be her husband, promising to be to him a true and
loving wife until death shall separate them; and moreover ye said John Ferris and
Abigail Tryon there, according to the custoin of marriage, she assuming the name of

her husband, as a further consideration thereof did then and there to these presents
set their hands, and we whose names are hereunder subscribed being amongst others
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at the solemnizing of the said mamage and subscnpnon as above said, have also as
witnesses set our hands to these presents.

. -JoHN FERRIss.
her :
ABIGAIL == FERRISS.
mark
Witnesses :
her
Jane Tryon, .. Hannah H Talcott,
Richard Cornwell, mark ;
Nathan Gaylprd, John Prindle,
Peter Thatcher, Daniel Prindle, - ' .
Samuel Bolls, Ziba Tryon, .= . . . .
Daniel Prindle, N Sarah Ferriss, .
Daniel Farrand, Joséph Ferriss, '
" her " Benja, Ferriss, B _
Martha | Prindle, - Zachariah Ferriss, o ey
mark ', James Tryonm, ,; ‘
Joseph Rodman, . Oliver Tryon,- ..
Thomas Weller, “Nathan Talcott, .
Richard Hallet, o her v~
Joseph.Rennels, i . Sarah }(:Naoble, ..
. By - : mrk

" Samuel Prinde. —zs.

e

Several .other Quaker weddings are recorded In thls same
manner, with the witnesses; one as late as 1822.

This record indicates, the. relation.of the Quaker Church in
Mamaroneck, N. Y., to the Quaker ‘movement in New Milford.
In the former place this people:long held a large, salutary, and
commandmg influence, some of them becoming celebrated as
the opponents of slavery and successful advocates of freedom in
its purest forms within the last generation.

In April 1755, the proprietors

Voted that' those of the Quakers in New Milford who are proprietors in the com-
mon and undivnded land in said New Milford shall have liberty to give land to be
laid o_ut in suc‘h‘land as shall be taken off the highways, and shall receive of the
money that shall be ‘obtained by the sale of such lands in proportion to their inter-
est in said c?mmon lnnd provided they will give land out of their divisions to lay
out in'such proportxon, or'if such Quakers shall choose to have their proportion of
such lands’ set off to them in land toward their respective divisions last granted, they

may have the ume laxd out to them by the committee appointed to lay out said
lands accordmgtto quahty and quanuty Voted in affirmative.

‘ This’ was'“a vote,  the same in principle as was passed one
mon_th“prewous‘,m_“regard to “the professors of the Congre-
gational Order-and the professors of the Church of England,”
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and shows the disposition of the people of that date to treat a.ll
denominations alike.

Rev. Mr. Griswold informs us that the Quakers built. their
first meeting-house about 1741, and afterwards removed it to
what is now Lanesville,

In 1762 a piece of land between the Quaker meeting-house
and the river was deeded to scveral persons'in behalf of the in-
terests of the Quaker people. The two first persons named are
said to be of New Milford, the others of New York Government
(Oblong). , :

"Dobson Wheeler, Timothy Dakins,’

Gatius Talcott, George Soule,
Benjamin Ferriss, Abraham Wing,
David Akins, Read Ferriss, -
Jerry Chase, Zebulon Ferriss.

Law against Quaker and other Books.

May, 1668. Whereas by a former order heretical books, viz.: such books or man-
uscripts as contain the errors of the Quakers, Ranters, Adamites or such like Noto-
rious Heretiques should not be kept, under the penality expressed in the said law,—
This Court orders for the future that all such books when and wheresoever they are
found they shall by the Constable be seized and delivered to the Commissioner or
Assistant of the town, to be kept by him until the next County Court.. And then
the said County Court shall take care and full order that all such books as aforesald
be utterly suppressed. |

July, t675. This (.ourt being moved to consider of the law rcspecting the
Quakers, do see cause at present to suspend the penalty for absence frqm our public
assemblies, or imprisonment of those of that persuasion, provided they do not
gathcr into assemblies in this Colony nor make any disturbance.

According to this latter quotation, all the Quaker meetmgs
held in New Milford up to that date had been illegal, but the law
was treated as dead.

It has been stated often that the Connecticut people never
persecuted for religious opinions, but this is a great error, for
the records show that several Quakers were imprisoned and
whipped severely under the New Haven Colony in its early his-
tory. One such was arrested at Southold, L. 1., and sent to New
Haven, where he was required to debate with Rev. Mr. Daven-
port, who after such debate declared that he delivered this
Quaker to the secular power for punishment ; and Mr. Lambert
in the History of Milford declares that the civil power whipped
him (the Quaker) severely and banished him.from the: jurisdic-

-
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tion. One such Quaker when
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banished settled at “ Quaker’s

Farm,” in what is now the town of Oxford, Conn., where he
resided several yearsand then left, but the locality has been called

ever sincé “Quaker’s Farm.”"

Inscriptions in the Old Quaker Buryingplace.

This ground is located about half a mile below the Town
Bridge on the west side of the Housatonic river.’

TP

‘The perp marks i

. In memoryof | .
CorNELIUS B BALDWIN | who died Apr
2, 1857 | aged 72 years.

Eunice | wife of | Cornelius B Baldwin
| died Sept 4, 1864 | aged 71 years.

In | memory of |
Lewis BronsoN | who died | Jan 15,
18 56&3: 4 yrs.
rapt in the shades of death
l}go n;m'eht:\ae;‘lrien::lI¥= hc;hlc:ee
] 0 Vi
One‘; ¥1!led so vyetﬁ by thee.

LuTHER LEW1S | BRONSON | Died | Nov
17, 1858 | aged 16 yrs-1 mo | &15ds.
DENN1s BUCKINGHAM | died | March 17,

1862 | = 37. -

ELECTA MARsH | wife of | C O Copley

| died June 2, 1876 | aged 77.

JuLia M | wife of [ Ansona Eggleston |
Died | March §, 1861.

LUTHER | son of Ansona | & Julia M Eg.
gleston | Died | Feb 3, 1860 ] A 4
mos & 7 ds.

In | memory of |- )

CaAPr | AMASA FERRISS ldied April 26,
1811 | in the 1 year | of his age.

K In | memory of |
ANNA wifeof | Joseph zerriss | who died
Oct 15, 1850 { aged 72 years.
) In | memory of | '
ANNIS | wife of | Daniel H Ferriss LWho
died | Feb 19, 18532 | AL 81 yrs & 8 mo.

CoNSTANTINE W FERRIsS | Born | Nov
19, 1809 | died | July 27, 1879.

EuNIiCE | CORDELIA | daughter of
Zechariah & | Hannah Ferriss, died

.. Oct 1o, 1829 | aged 3 years | 8 mo 20

dars.
. ‘I’he once loved form now cold and dead
.. Each mournful thought employs
" And nature weeps her comforts fled
And withered all her joys.

di the end of each line of inscription on the stone,

In memory of |

Mgzs ABIGAIL Ferriss | Consort of Mr
David | Ferriss who departed | this life
Sept 11, 1797 | aged 66 years.

MR DaviDp Fxnmss(l was born Sept 18,
1726 | and deceased July 2o, 1800 | in
the 74th year of his age.

To whose memory this stone is erected.
- In]memoryof | .

DaNigL H FerRiss | who died | Apr 2,
1843 | aged 72 years. -
Davip | son of | Daniel H& | Annis Fer-
riss | died | Jan 2, 1799 | aged 4 mo.
Eunice Ferriss | died | July 28,1869 |-

A 63.

MR JosepH FERRIss | died Feb 14, 1814
| aged 82 years.

In | memory of

JoANNA wife of | Joseph Ferriss | who
died | Dec 7, 1823 | aged 89 years.

- In | memory of |

Juria ANN FeRRISS | who departed this

life | July 13, A D 1817 | aged 16 years.
In memory of

PHenE FERRIss | wife of Zachariah Fer-
riss | who die LM:ly 14, 1811 | aged
68 years 4 mo | & § days.

RAcHEL G | wife of | Constantine | W
Ferriss | died | Oct 23, 1854 l ®t 43
Mother of Benjamin & Arthur Ferriss.

In memory of

Mgrs REUMAH FkRrRiss | Consort of Mr
Daniel 1{ | Ferriss & the daughter of
—Mr Jobn Ilull & Mrs Eunice | ITull
who departed this life | on the 3d day
of Nov. 17?3 | in the 2gth year of her
age | and also of .

Henry FErriss son | of Daniel H Fer-
riss & Reumah | Ferriss who died Oct
1st, A D | 1794 aged 11 months.

Not virtue’s charins nor innocence can save

Nor death’s cold arms perniit a wish’d retum

But Youth's fair smiles must find an early grave
Tho' Nature shudder and tho’ Friendship mourn.

1See New Haven Col. Rec. and Hist. of Derby, Conn.

-
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In | memory of |
7ZACHARTANl FERRISS |ywho died | Feby
19, 1804 | aged 65 years.

HANNAH | wife of | Zachariah Ferriss
| died | Aug 1, 1861 | aged 82 yrs 7
mo | & 22 Ds.

7ZACHARIAH FERRiss | died Aug 30, 1860
| Aged 82 yrs 1 mo | & 19 Ds.

. In | memory of |

NATHANIEL GALUTIA | who died March
6, 1822 | aged 40 years.

PoLLy HiLL | wife of Silas Hill | died |
Sept 26, 1854 | Aged 63 years.

SiLas HiLL | died | Oct 7, 1874 | Aged
85 yrs § mos | & 21 days.

The strong must die.

S1LAs BYRON | son of Silas & | Polly Hill
| died | June 13, 1860 | Aged 25 yrsg
mo | & 22 ds.

Moopy Howes | Died | Nov 19, 1866 |
e 62 y8 & G mo.
MasoriAM Howzs | Died | Julyg, 1854
{A2zyrs 11 mo‘& lsss.
My body *neath the sod now lies
My spint dwells in yonder skies
tever may have my lot '
Since you've spared to see me die
(A)'n: ;lgealh t{)e :nlw'l'd:nu:“ g.r;:; to lie
. riendly teai
Upon my low and Lun)\'b{e bed.
In | memory |
MARANDA E | daughterof | Dr BB & |
Hopestill Hull ﬁ who died | Jan g,
1855 | aged 7 years.
JANE O | wife of | Henry W Mallett |
died | June 11, 1866 | aged 43 yrs.
Amos H Magsu | died | Oct 1, 1860 |
At 75 yrs.
ANN | wife of | Amos H Marsh
Mar 22, 1877 | At go yrs.
ARTHUR P |son of [ Orman B & | Amy
M Marsh | died | Mar 16, 1850 | aged
4y'rs | &9 mo.
In memory

| died |

of |

Besey E | widow of | Elihu Marsh 2d | |

who died | Oct 23, 1851 Aged 8.
In | memory of |
* BRADLEY MARsH | who died | April 25,
1834 | aged 54 years. hd
CorNELIA A | wifeof | Decater D Marsh
| died | Nov 11, 1866 | A% 29. '
Asleep in Jesus blesed aleep
From which none ever wake to weep.
In | memory of
Evivu MarsH 2D | who

1830 | =t 54.

g

ied | Dec 1,

memory of :
who died | Mar 31, 1849
mo | & 12 days.

16

JouN MARSH
| =t 53 yrs

121

In | memory of |
Mir1AM MARSH | who died Oct 1, 1818 |
aged 65,
ORMAN B MARsH | Died | May 18, 1877

| £ 74
In | memory of—

SALLY wife of | Bradley Marsh | &
dauihter of Philip | & Elizabeth Wells
| who died | Dec 8, 1827 | /E 44.

In | memory of |

SAMUERL MARsH | who died | May 14,
1822 | aged 70 years.

SAMUERL D MARsu | died | May 6, 1856
| xt 64.

PoLLy | wife 056| Samuel D Marsh | died
| May 24, 1863 | &£t 74.

In | memory of |

SusaN M | daughter of | John & | Ter-
essa Marsh | died Oct 5, 1818 | aged 1
year & 7 months.

In | memory of | -

TrRESSA MARSH | wife of | John Marsh
| who died | Nov 16, 1831 | Aged 33.

MARIA | wife of L‘:[ohn Marsh | died |
Aug 17,1868 | A g4 yrs 7mo | & 3 ds.

Two infant | daughters of | Walter & |
Arabella Marsh.

; CATHARINE M | daughter oflL

Sophia McMahon fdied |

A 33

. CORNELIUS MCMAlION | son of | John &

Sophia McMahond| died | May 11,
1853 AL 31 yrs & 4 ds.

Evizanerii E | daughter of | John & So-
phia | McMahon Fdied | June 23,1855
| aged 30 yrs. -

JonN McMatioN | died | Oct 12, 1853 |

,  aged 66 yrs.

. NETTIE | daughter of | Andrew ] & |

i Phebe W McMahon | died | July 24,

i 1872 | A 3 weeks.

i MARCUS W | son of | John &'| Sophia
McMahon | died | Sept 4, 1861 | &£ 20,

!CHARLBS E | son of | Samuel C & Ig[ulia

! M | Millington | died | June g, 1871 |
= 1L :

BETsEY ANN | MOREHOUSE | wife of |
Minor Morehouse | died | June 20,
1852 | aged 51 yrs | & 8 mo.

Erkcrra Morgtiouse | died | Feb 6,
1878 | :\Scd 83 yrs.

Well done good and faithinl servant.
In | memory of |

JoHN MOREHOUSE | who died | Oct 17,
1828 | aged 66 years.

In | memory of |

LemueL MoRrginousk | who died | Dec
16, 1839 | aged 73. .

John & |
ov 9, 1870

i
|
i
1
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LyxaN B Moreuousk | Born | Jan 8,
1801 | died | Aug 31, 1871,
In 1 memory of |
MABLE wife of | John Morehouse | who
died | May 25, 1847 | aged 82 yrs.
In | memory of |
-MEHRTABLE | wife of | Lemuel More-
house | who died | Sept 21, 1860 | aged
06 yrs 7 mo & 2 ds.
MOoRTIMER B | MorEeitouse | died |
Mg S» 1849 | aged 24 yrs 7 mo | &
7 ds. :

CAROLINE M | daughter of Edward M &
| Polly Ann | Noble died | June 25,
1851 | A 1yr& | 10mo.

CHAUNCY NoOBLE | Died | Oct 24 1857 |
aged 62 y'rs.

EpwarD M NosLE | Died | March 30,
1853 | aged 32.

SALLY | wife of | Chauncy Noble | Died
| Dec 31, 1863 | aged 64 y'rs.

CLARK A |son of | Stephen & | Mary
Osborn | died | May 13,1857 | A 2ys
& 11 mo. .

MARyY | wife of | Stephen Osborn | died
| April 23, 1862 | = 37.

Ouvm;{l OsBORN | died | June 11, 1857
| 0.

a
: qn th:e’ midst of life we are in death.
WALTER | son of | James & | Caroline
Osborn | died { Sept 18, 1854 | = 6 mo.
WaTsoN D OssorN | died | July 21,
18715-‘! Aged 21 yrs | & 11 mos. *
The Lord gave and the Lord hath taken away.
CHARLES G PEck | Died | July 2,1875 |
= 50.
Be ye aiso ready for in such an hour | as ye think
not the Son of Man cometh.
In | memory of Two | Infant children of
| Charles G & | Amelia A Peck | Died
| June 9, 1860.

‘Then why murmer parents with sad discontent
The message received from your bountiful Lord
Remember the beauteous Jewels was lent

Nor bewail the dear gems to its owner restored.

Mgs LP PEck |

In memory of luscu.LA’l[ wife of Jo-
seph | Peck daughter of Tho | Starr is
preserved b{] This Monument | She
died Nov 20th | 1788 in the 23 year { of
her age.

EiLeN S'Lwife of | Rufus B Pike | Died
)} March 31, 1869 | A 28.

ijamih Bostwick's Will.
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OLIVER W PICKET | died Feb 18, 1846

| aged 48 years.

DanNteL A Pickerr | died | Jan 16, 1844

| aged 76 years.

ANNA PickeTT | wife of | Daniel A Pick,
ett | died March 18, 1812 | aged 42
years.

Erected to the | memory of | .

EriRrAiM  PLATT | who departed this
life | Sep 26, 1798 in the soth | year
of his age.

Erected | to the memory of |P
HopesTiLL | relict of { Ephraim Platt L
who died | Oct 29, 1808, | in the 6ot

year of her age.

Lucy | wife of | Jacob B Platt | died |

Mar 17, 1852 Al 73.
Peace to thy dust affection’s lay
Proclaim how well thy worth was known
And tears which friends thy memory pay
Can teach us more than sculptured stone.

Erected to perpetuate | the Memory of |

ZALMON PLATT who | departed this lite
Decr | 12th 1802 in the 24th year | of
his age.

Jacos B PrLaTT | died | July 16, 1845 |
Ay .

SERGEANT | HENRY RUBY | of the. U S
Regular Army | died { Nov 11, 1863 |
= 27

ORRIN J RuBy | died | March 20, 1864 |
® 29.

]A;;D Way, | died | April 6, 1865 | £
MABBLJ his wife | died | March 11, 1866
| A 88.

Jane | wife of

erome Way | died |
Sept 26, 1866 ’ J?. 49.

PoLvy | wife of | l%erome Way | died |
July 26, 1856 | At 53 years. -

CHARLOTTE M | daughter of | Hezekiah
& | Eunice A Wells | died | Nov §
1853 | A 28.

Died | Sert 10, 1828 |

EpGAR C son | of Hezekiah & | Eunice
A Wells | aged 1 yr & | 6 mo.

EuNick ANN | wife of Hezekiah Wells
| died | Aug 2, 1846 | & s2.

HEzEKIAH WELLS | died | July 7, 1861 |
A 82,

In the name of God, Amen.

I Benjamin Bostwick of ye Town of New Milford in ye county of New Haven and .
Colony of Connecticutin New England, Being weak and very sick but through the
goodness and mercy of God of a sound mind and memory, considering the mortality of
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man and that I must shortly put off this mortal body, Do make and ordain this my last
will and testament and desire it may be reconed of all as such: and first of alll give
and recommend my gpul into the hands of God through Jesus Christ my glorious
Redeemer, and my body I recommend to ye earth to be buried after a decent Chris-
tian manner at ye direction of my Executrix hereafter named not doubting but that
my soul and body shall be received at ye glorious resurrection of ye Just.

And as touching what worldly goods or estate it hath pleased God to bless me °
with, all I give bequeath and dispose of in ye following manner: and first of all, my
will is that all my just debts and funeral charges be first paid and satisfied by my
executrix.

Htem. T demise, give and bequeath unto my well beloved wife Zeruiah all my
house hold linin cloth, also ye one half of yeremainder of personal estate to her and
her heirs for ever, also ye improvement of third part of my lands during her natural
life.

Item. I demise, give and bequeath unto my very dutiful and well beloved son
Benjamin, my dwelling house, barn and all my lands, my real estate, also ye one
half of my personal estate except the legacies to my daughters, linin cloth which I
have given unto my above said wife, and two guns which may hereafter be given
unto my grandsons, to him, to his heirs to have and to hold forever.

Item. I give and bequeath unto my well beloved daughter Hannah ten pound
money to be paid by my son Benjamin out of what I have given him when he shall be
of ye age of twenty-one years.

Item. I do give and bequeath unto my beloved daughter Betty ten pounds
money o be paid by my son Benjamin when he shall be of ye age of twenty.and one
years out of what estate that I have given him.

Ttem. I give and bequeath unto my well beloved daughter Jerusha eighteen pounds
money to be paid by my son Benjunin when [he] shall be of ye age of twenty and
one years out of what estate I have given him.

Item. 1 give and bequeath unto my grand son Joseph Canfield my Trumpet
musled gun.

Item. I give and bequeath unto my grand son Benjamin Benedict my gun that 1
bought at

Item my will is that for and in’consideration that I have givenunto my son Benja-
min aforesaid all my lands that the aforesaid Benjamin shall provide for and main-
tain my well beloved daughter Jemima with suitable apparrel, meat, drink and other
nccessaries for ye comfort of her life during her natural life.

And 1 do hercby nominate, appoint and ordain my well beloved wife Zeruiah to be.
sole executrix of this my last will and testament, in witness whereof I have set my
hand and affixed my seal this 15th day of May anno D. 1739.

Signed, sealed, pronounced, published and delivered by ye above said Benjamin
Bostwick to be ye last will and testament in the presence of

his
BENJAMIN & BOSTWICK.

mark
ROGER BROWNSON,

EBENR. FisK,
JoHN S. BRADSHAW.

An inventory of the Estate of Benjamin Bostwick of New
Milford in New Haven county, deceased, taken June 8, 1739:
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WEARING CLOATHS.

. b, 8.
One Broadcloth Coat & Jacket & one pair of Leather Britches....... 15 0§
two woolen shirts 158: a great coat 11b 158: flannel Coat & Jacket..... 5 10
two pair of Linen Britches 8s 6d: two old Jackets 1ib.... ......... .1 o8
one pair of Leather Britches 6s: Hat 108: one pr of shoes 16s....... 1 12
two pr. of shoes 18s: stockings gs..... N 1 o3
one Bed bolster & 2 pillows 5lb: one Bed and bolster 4lb........ .. . 9 o0
one Bed 1lb 108: one bolster 108 : four coverleds4lb ros.............. 6 10
one RUZE 21D 108, 0etettonssnneniontenerioneecioionesinomsansonens 2 10
all ye Household Linnen 13lb 138 06d...........c..ooiiiiiiiiial 13 13
two woolen Sheets. . ..oerninrniiiioie ter teiiiiiiireiieiaaeeaa 3 oo
four pounds & a quarter of wosted yarn...........cveniiniiniainia.s 2 o2
to 24 Runn of "Linnen yarn 21b 8s: one gun 12lb. ..............eltl, 14 o8
one gun 3lb ros: one gun 3lb....... e erat e e 6 10
one pound of combed wool 6s: half a pound of Cotton Wool 28 &I . o 8
nine pounds & § of flannel 6lb: two Cushions 128.........c..c0vuve 6 12
Woolen yarn 4s : Brass Kettle 121b : one brass Kettle 81b : old brals 3s.. 20 o7
Iron Skillet 148: Iron Pottlb3s......oovvieiiiiiiiiii, i 1 17
Three puter Platters 11b 10s: one bason 12s: one bason 63: onebason4s 2 12
six plates 158: old puter 4s 6d : a quart pot 8s: 3 spoons 2s: 7 spoons

T PN I 12
§ Doz. & half of puter buttons 58 6: 2 doz. & ¢ of brass buttons 12s 6d o 18
A fine Hatchel 11b 25 6d : a coarse Hatchel 6s: a Copper pot 3s....... 1 1o
two glass bottles 38 : 2 pails 78 : Wooden dishes 78: trenchers® 18 6d.. o 18
two pails 3s: four bowls 936d : a stone Jugg 168....ccuvuieyeinnennnns 1 oy
A great Bible zIb 15s: a Testament §s: othersmall books 7s .......... 3 10
A Peal® 18s: Tongs 128: hand Irons 11b 48 : 2 trammels® 11b 4s: a grid-

IPON 108, vte s tine teensossecnasnasensenncnsssnnananssnnen 4 8
A melting Ladle & a hook g8 : lamp 18: a Box & Heaters 14s......... 1 00
six pound of Lead gs: one pound of Powder7s: powder horns 3s. ... o 19
Stillyards 158: a Dutch Wheel 11b 16s: a great Wheel 7s............. 2 18
a Chest 11b 48: a box 12s: old chest 38: wool combs 1lb 10s......... 3 o9
a great chair 12s: four small chairs 16s: g barrills 2lb §s.............. 3 13
a tin tunnel 38 : three double casks 11b 4s: two small casks 6s......... 1 13
meat 15lb: a brewing tub 8s: one barrill 38: achurn §s.............. 15 19
three smalltubs 68 : a Tunnel §s: fatt 148: 2 dishes 28: bread tray 3s.. 1 10
A Tub 25: a meat tub §8: four bedstids 21b 16s....... Ceee reereieee. 3 o3
an old half bushel 18 6d: by 31 pound of wool 6lb 48................ - 6 08
flax 11b 118 6d : 3 deerskins 21b 148: 15 bushels of Wheat meal 6ib 15... II 00
Tow 78 6d ; Buck Wheat 1ib 108 : meat 3lb 38: Wheatglb 18s........ .14 18
three baggs 5s: four bushels and half of Rye 11b 78: two meal troughs

3 | Pt sreceerieracsariiensnas 3 13
two small troughs 108: one meal trough 3s: two bus! of Indian corn10s 1 03
twelve small tubs 1lb 4s: a steel trap 2lb 10s8: a Table 1lb gs.......... 4 19
A Reed & Geers 128: old Reed and Geers 3s: a looking Glass 1lb..... 1 15§
four knives 3s: Joiners tools 21b 103 : Turning tools 138............... 3 ob

$ Trenchers were wooden plates.
$ A peal was a shovel.

4 A trammel was a crane or iron arm for the fire-place.
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A hand saw 166: a small saw 6s: 2 bow saw 128: two broad chissils 8. 2 o2 oo
two augers gs: two IJoes 14s: Cart boxes 1lb 13s 4d: Cart Wheels 6lb. 8 16 o4
A plow with plates 2Ib 8s: a table 3s: Grindstone 25 6d: a plow Clevis
and PiN §8 ouniiiiiiii i it et 2 18 o6
A Wheat Riddle 38: oat Riddle 2s : one Draught Chain 1lb 5s ......... 1 10 00
Draught Chain 11b 108: three yokes with ye Irons 1lbxas............. . 3 02 o0
. two horse Collars 19s : two pair of Horse Chains 1lb................. 1 19 o0
four oxen §zlb : two steers 171b : three cows 30Ib : one Heifer 3Ib 10s...102 10 00
A Hammer 5s: two forks 128: Beetlerings 4s: Scythe & tackling11b.. 2 or oo
three bells with straps 11b 6s ; Rakea 236d : two wedges 6s: horse shoes )
L PN 1 17 10
old iron 38 6d : twoaxes 18s: a Saddle 71b: Saddle 3lb two bridles 158 11 16 06
three halters 3s: two yearling steers 61b: 2 calves 3 1b: Sheep 15lb 108. 24 13 00
old Horse 4lb: Young Horse 5olb: a mare and two year old colt 18lb.. 72 00 oo
twosows 161b: eight Hoggs 16lb: five small swineg4lb.......... Ceees 36 oo oo
Six Piggs 31b 12s: three small piggs 1§8.. ......cocivuvnuvnniinses 4 07 00
A sled 12s: two flails 3a: Cash 121b13s 11d: a note 5ib...........nt. 18 o5 11
Leatherglb 8s....vuivniiiviiiiiiiiieriiniiiiiiier ciininanes e 3 o8 oo
Indian Cornonthe land.........cooiviiiiienineenerinvinennnn. ... 16 00 o0
Wheat at 2nd Hill 371b 16s: Wheatat Poplar Swamp 2 145........... 40 10 00
Oatson ye Land glb 118: Rye on ye Land 21b 14s: two pair of fellers
L 37 N 9 o9 oo
A Timber chain 11b §8: a branding Iron §s; three pounds of steel §5s.. 1 18 o0
to 31 pound of Iron 1lb §s 1od: a Harrow 3lb18s .. .... .........e 5 03 oo
oneaxGs: aplowplate & bolt 38 6d ....ovvviiniviiiiiiiiiiiina o 09 06
Redwood 23: old Iron 48 9d: Wooden bottle 48.........cuvvunnen.. o 10 09
flax crackle 12s: a sheep skin §d: Barly on the land 2lb1gs.......... 3 11 oo
a scouring Rod 28: Brassbuttons 38 6d.......ovevvivieiiniiiiinans. o o5 06

The foregoi;\g Estate apprised by us.
OHN BosTwick, }Appnsers, sworn to that
HoMAs PREKET, §{ work according to law.
Added before oath was made— )
two Razors—one at 6s: ye otherat 1s............ Cearieiieiseineens o 07 00
Carefully extracted from ye Original on ye files of ye Probate in Woodbury

July 3, A.D. 1739.



CHAPTER VIIL
SKETCHES OF PROMINENT MEN.
1730—1750.

IVING due credit to each family by way of special
. mention or a biographical sketch, is very desirable
in a local history, but it is work for such a town as
New Milford, as would require the study of a whole
year, and therefore all that can be done in the pres-

/ ent case is to approximate the desired object as near
" as time will allow. Some sketches will be found
also in the chapters on the Quakers, Episcopalians, and Sepa-
rates; and on Bridgewater, Brookfield, and New Preston, as well
as others. Much time has been given to ascertain where fami-
lies came from, at first, and when they came, and in this slow
work, we have succeeded middling well, but not quite to satis-
faction. '

Ebenezer Fisk, Sen., came from Milford in 1737, and
settled on Second hill, or on the west side of Town Hill. His
father, Doct. John Fisk of Milford, bought a Right of land in
New Milford, in 1709, and gave half of it to his son Ebenezer,
the same year, but the latter did not settle here until 1737.
Ebenezer, Sen., had a son Ebenezer, Jr.,, who married and had a
son Ichabod, born in 1747, and apparently removed from the town
not many years after. Ebenezer, Sen, died October 4, 1747,
aged §3. ,

Dea. Job. Terrill, wife and family came from Milford,
about 1734, and settled on a farm in Park Lane, which he sold
in 1743, to Amos Northrop, 2d. He was quite prominent in the
town ; was deacon in the Congregational church in 1739. No
record of his family has been seen except that he had a wife
Sarah, and a son Job, who died ten days old.

William Drinkwater, came from Ridgefield, and bought
of Zachariah Ferriss one half of a Right of land Apr. 20, 1730,
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and built a gristmill on the East Aspetuck, near or at the site
of the present Paper Mill, just above Wellsville. This mill he
sold to Nathan Terrill, in March, 1735. Mr. Drinkwater was a
prominent active citizen, but died early in the year 1758, leaving
a large family.

John Drinkwater, came from Rhode Island, and bought
of Wm. Drinkwater, 10 acres of land ‘ near Little Mount Tom,
with a dwelling-house on it,” March 30, 1735, and sold the same
to John Sherwood, July 5, 1736, and removed from the town so
far as known. '

Samauel Lumm, from Derby, settled here about 1737, near
the mouth of Town Hill Brook, having quite a family, the last
child recorded here in 1765. The location which fell to his lot
was about as poor as anythmg in the town, and it is not surpns-
ing that the family all left the town.

Joel Hervey, came from Lebanon, where he married Sarah
Thatcher, Dec. 13, 1737, and settled in New Milford, having been
here some time before his marriage. He had land laid to him
at the mouth of Rocky river, where he, in company with Joseph
Seelye, built a sawmill—and possibly having the intention of
building a gristmill. He sold his mill property, farm and landed
interest in this town to Partridge Thatcher, a brother-in-law, in
1743, and removed to Sharon, Ct., where he built another mill by
which he made himself, and the town, quite noted to fame, as
set forth by an ancient writer.’

‘“Sharon forms three parishes, one of which is Episcopal.
It is much noted on account of a faimous mill, invented and built
by Mr. Joel Harvey, upon his own estate ; for which he received
a compliment of £20 from the Society of Arts in London. The
water, by turning one wheel, sets the whole in motion. In two
apartments wheat is ground ; in two others, bolted ; in another,
threshed ; in a sixth, winnowed ; in the seventh, hemp and flax
are beaten, and in the eighth, dressed. Either branch is discon-
tinued at pleasure, without impeding the rest.” :

Joseph Seelye, probably, from Stratford, came to New
Milford and married Thankful Weller, in 1735, and in connec-
tion with Joel Hervey, built a sawmill, and possibly a. gristmill,
all of which he sold to Partridge Thatcher.

1 Hist. of Conn., by Samuel Peters, (1781) 146.
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Amos Northrop, came from Milford and purchased 190
acres of land of Job Terrill for £1,600, June 30, 1743, a part of
which land consisted of a home-lot and ten acre division, with a
dwelling-house on it, in what is now Park Lane. No record of
his death has been found.

Jonathan Meeker, came from Fairfield in 1743, and pur-
chased, for 41,300, 266 acres of land of Nathan Terrill, “witha
gristmill and all appurtenances and a dwelling-house on it,” and
afterwards bought a piece of land “to the backside of Mount
Tom, northward of the Horse-beat.” This was the mill built
by William Drinkwater. ‘

“ Dec. 14, 1747, Voted that whereas Jonathan Meeker of New
Milford, hath a gristmill standing on the river called East Aspe-
tuck, which is a public benefit to said town ; whereupon said town
fully and freely conveys the use and benefit of the said stream
to said Meeker, with this proviso, that the said Meeker shall
never hinder or interrupt any person that shall build any mill or
dam on said stream for public use anywhere between the mouth
of said river and within sixty rods of the mouth of the west
pond, where said river comes out.”

Ebenerer Hotchkiss, married in New Milford, Hannah
Terrill, in 1742. He bought land near the mouth of Town Hill
Brook, in 1745. He was deacon in the Separatist’s church many
years, and died in 1796. His descendants all seem to have dis-
appeared from the town about the year 1800. His residence was
at the east end of the town bridge at the Great Falls.

Samuel Canfleld, Esq., son of Jeremiah, came from Mil-
ford, apparently before any of his father’s family, and purchased
of Robert Bostwick, June 5, 1723, a dwelling-house and three
pieces of land for £110, the house standing on the site of the
one now next south of Mr, Charles Randall’s dwelling. He
married in 1725, and resided in this house until his death in
1754, aged 52 years. His father gave him a half Right of land.
Hé was a successful man ; became deacon of the church in 1742;
town clerk in 1748; was Justice of the peace, and as such mar-
ried the Rev. Nathaniel Taylor, as well as many other persons;
was representative in several sessions. His descendants have
been prominent in the town, especially his son Col. Samuel Can-
field, and his grandson Ithamar Canfield. He was one of the
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most active men in the settlement, of the Rev. Nathaniel Tay-
lor as pastor, and in sustaining the Half-way Covenant method
"in church government, having united with the church in 1726.
When Litchfield county was organized in October, 1751, the four

-first justices of the Quorum for the county were John Williams,
Samuel Canfield, Ebenezer Marsh, and Thomas Chipman. The
guorum was the highest court in the State. In 1754 he was
appointed the agent of the county for the building of the Court-
House at Litchfield. But few men have a higher record than he
at his age, in the olden times.

Ebenezer Washborn, settled in New Milford, in 1722,
having in April of that year purchased thirty-seven acres, inclu-
ding the home-lot of David Griswold, next north of the Rev.
Daniel Boardman’s home. He mortgaged this farm, but failed
to meet the obligations, surrendered it to Mr. Griswold then of
Farmington, and he removed to Dover, N. Y. This was the
first business failure in the town, so far as seen, but unfortunately
not the last one. He retained his interest in the North Purchase,
which he sold in 1724. He afterwards resided in the town with
his family, some years.

Jonathan Buck, son of Jonathan, one of the first settlers
of the town, proposed to establish himself in hls trade upon the
following conditions :

“Jan. 6, 1728, Jonathan Buck a copper-non apprentlce to Ben-
jamin Bunnell of Milford, sendeth a desire to this town to see
what people will give him for encouragement, upon condition he
settle in this town of New Milford as soon as his time is out
with his Master Bunnell, which will be perhaps in Nov, 1729;
and he also be obliged to supply the town with needful copper
ware, viz.: set-work and Rhine work at a reasonable price, so
long as there shall be an occasion for his work or until there is
another or others of the trade sufficient to supply said town,
in said town or while he shall have llfe or ability so to serve
the town :

“These are to Begg a contribution of land to be given out of
the next division, or money or labor upon consideration of the
above-mentioned conditions, which being granted, Mr. Daniel
Bordman gives one acre, John Welch one acre, Theophilus Bald-
win one acre, Benoni Stebbins one acre, Joseph Buck two day’s

17
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work, Nathan Terrill half an acre, Jonathan Buck, his father, will
give considerable labor, Enoch Buck 10 shillings in work, Jeames
Prime 10 shillings money or work, James Lake one acre, Job
"Terrill one acre, Paul Welch one acre, Roger Brownson one
acre, Nathan Talcott one acre, Roger Brownson, Jr., two days’.
work, Zachariah Ferriss one acre, Gamaliel Terrill two days’
work, Samuel Brownson six shillings.”
. In Feb,, 1730, the deed for these lands was executed, Mr. Buck,

Jr., having set up his trade in the town according to agreement.

This land was laid upon the east side of East Aspetuck, joining
Samuel Adkins and Wm. Gould’s land. Jonathan Buck, Jr.,
bought land at the same time, 22 acres, at least, in 1730.

Thomas Oviatt married his 2d wife, Mrs. Lydia Clark, and
settled in New Milford in 1723. He bought half a Right of John
Clark, and settled on west side of Second hill. He had a num-
ber of children all born before he came here. '

Jeremial Canfleld, Sen., of Milford, purchased of Samuel
Clark, Jr., of Milford, Mar. 11, 1726~7, three and a half Rights
of land, which Rights were those of Samuel Clark, Sen., the mer-
chant of Milford, and the largest land-owner in New Milford,
.except the Rev. Daniel Boardman. His two home-lots (Mr.
Clark’s) were located next south of Mr. Boardman’s first lot on -
Aspetuck Hill, and were numbers two and three on the west side
of the town plot; and some of his land had been located on
Second Hill, and some in what is now Bridgewater. }

Jeremiah Canfield, Sen., settled in New Milford soon after
buying the land of Mr. Clark, for in a deed of that year he is
said to be *“of New Milford,” and several pieces of land were
laid to him that year. He held one Right as an original pro-
prietor, and he gave to his son Jeremiah, who is called * Jere,”
half of this Right in 1717, and had land laid to him in 1725,
“ fifteen acres on the plain near the Round Mountain, between
it and Wood Creek Hill ; also the same year ten acres of the 3d
division, at a place called Poplar Swamp, west of John Noble’s
first 40 acres.” His four and a half Rights gave him and his
heirs over fifteen hundred acres of land at the end of the seven-
teenth century, when the last division was made.

He united with the First Church in 1736, being then advanced
in years. His wife Elsie died Jan. 4, 1739-40, and he died
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Mar. 18, 1739~-40. After his death, his heirs made a division of
some land, and in the deed the following appears : “ This inden-
ture made between Jeremiah Canfield, Thomas Canfield, Daniel
Terrill, and Zeruia Canfield the wife of Daniel Terrill of Milford,
and Azariah Canfield, Samuel Canfield, Zerubbabel Canfield, Jo-
seph Canfield, John Bostwick and Jemima Bostwick his wife, and
Josiah Bassett of New Milford, brethren and sisters, witnesseth,
that we are seized of a certain tract of land fallen to us by heir-
ship from our honored father Jeremiah Canficld deceased, situate
on the great plain west side of the great river.”

Jeremiah Canfleld, Jr., was at that time in Milford, but
afterwards settled in New Milford, in Bridgewater part.

Thomas Canfleld never settled here, but his son David
did. All the others were here except Daniel Terrill and his
wife.

David Canfield, son of Thomas, came to New Milford, and
settled on Long Mountain about 1748, and built the two story
house stil] standing and known as the old Abel Canfield house.
When he first went from New Milford village to this land he was
guided only by marked trees, and his house was the only one so
far as known on that part of the mountain for several years.
Mr. Canfield's location was on good land, and the views of dis-
tant mountains were very fine. The drive from this old house
northward for a mile, in a pleasant summer afternoon, is very
grand and entertaining. ‘ '

It was in the dooryard of this Abel Canfield house that
Eleazer Beecher was ordained an Elder in the Baptist Church
at a Convention, near the beginning of the Baptist meetings,
which finally resulted in the Baptist Church at Northville, where
Mr. Beecher preached many years.

This old homestead remained in the Canfield family until
within a few years.

Josiah Bassett, from Stratford remained in New Milford
but a few years, and removed to Woodbury. He had married
Alice, daughter'of Jeremiah Canfield, Sen., in 1707, and hence
was past middle life when he first came here.

Zerubbabel Canfleld was residing here in the town before
. 1745. '
William Sherman came from Newton, Mass,, in 1739 or
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1740, and purchased a small piece of land here in April, 1747,
another piece in 1742, and in 1743 purchased quite a tract of
Zachariah Ferriss, lying on the west side of Long Mountain at
the Notch, for £430, and on this he seems to have built a house,
since the deeds do not speak of one when he bought these sev-
eral pieces, and since he was residing here a few years later,
when the place was called New Dilloway. He also bought
another piece of land for £350. In 1750, he purchased a dwell-
ing and lot in the village, the site of the present Town Hall, and
established a store. He died in 1756, aged 40 years.

Roger Sherman, brother of William, came from Newton
in 1743, a single man, and resided with his brother; for he is
said in a deed, in 1746, to be “of New Dilloway,” having then
been in the town three-years. In 1748, he purchased a house
and lot of Gamaliel Baldwin, in Park Lane, for £1,500, and made
his residence there, but afterwards removed to the village and
came into possession’of his brother William’s home, nearly on
the site of the Town Hall, where he resided until his removal to
New Haven. This dwelling and lot he sold to Abel Hine,
Esqr., in 1761. (See Biog.) Upon further inquiry the place
called New Dilloway seems to have been in the extreme northern
part of the town of Sherman.

By the thoughtfulness of the Hon. George F. Hoar, Senator of
the United States, the following- paper is preserved and a copy
furnished for publication, which illustrates the spirit of enter-
prise for new settlements which pervaded New England in those

_days, to a surprising degree.

“ Whereas the Honorable James DeLancey Esqr., Lieutenant-Govenor and Com-
mander-in Chief of the Province of New York by Proclamation, hath given Encour-
agement that he will Grant a Patent of Certain of the Ungranted Lands in
the North part of said Province to such persons as will settle the same ; Where-
upon we the Subscribers do form ourselves into a Society for that purpose and do
mutually agree to settle a Tract of Land sufficient for a Township, viz.: of about
Twelve miles square, Lying Eastward of Fort Edward upon Wood Creek with 160
families thereon by the expiration of three years next after the expiration of the
present war between Great Britain and France, provided we can obtain a Patent for
the same, and we do agree that there shall be two rights of Five Hundred acres
each, one for the use of the Ministry and the other for the Schoo), and each of us do
scverally promise and engage to settle our Family on each Five Hundred acres that
we subscribe for, and we do also each of us promise to pay his ratable part of the
Charges of obtaining such Patent and of Surveying and Dividing said land, and we -
do appoint Mr. Jehiel Hawlgy of New Milferd on our behalf to apply to his Hon-
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our the Lieutenant-Govenour of the Province of New York to obtain a Patent of
said land. In witness whereof we have hereunto set our hands the 14th of
February, 1760. '

Jehiel Hawley 4 rights, Caleb Daton,
Roger Sherman, Eleazer Beacher,
Roger Brownson, Benjamin Phillips,
Matthew Hawley, Daniel Burrit,
Isaac Deforest, Asahe] ———,
Daniel Buck, Bushnell Bostwick,
Isaac Casel, Phineas [lurd,
Andrew Hawley, Samuel ~————,
Jonathan Benedict, Daniel Sherman,
Samuel Summers, ' Reuben Castel,

. Isaac Brick, . . Peter Castel,
Elijah Bostwick, John Squier,
Nehemiah Fisher, Thadeus Lacey,
Ebenezer Tolls, - Gedeon Hawley,
Alexander Mackay, Joseph Villeor,
Nathaniel Beecher, Consid. Hurlbut,
Israel Baldwin, Remember Baker,
Stephen Hallock, Richard Fairman j3 rights,
Solomon Palmer, Jr., Gedion Botsford,
Abel Hawley 3 rights, - John Foot.

Abraham Gillett, son of Eliphalet of Milford, came to
New Milford a young man, and in January, 1729, his father and
mother deeded him a half Right of land in New Milford, and his
dwelling-house was located at the corners of the roads a little
way east of the New Milford burying-place. He married here
Abigail Prindle, January 28, 1730, and appears to have died in
or before 1743. He was the Constable of the town a number of
years. :

John Hitchcock, son of Samuel, the first of the name in
the town, was a representative, and quite active in town matters
for some time, after about 1750. The Hitchcock families were
quiet farmers, not very prominent in the offices of the town.
Some of them remained in the town until after 1800.

Nathan Gunn from Milford, came to New Milford a single
man and married Hannah, daughter of John Welch, deceased,
in 1741, and settled at Park Lane. In 1744, he and his wife sold
the part of the John Welch homestead which fell to her from her
father’s estate, to their brother-in-law john Comstock.

Capt. Nathaniel Bostwick, son of John, Sen., came into
the town quite a number of years after his father, and built his
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house on the south end of Town Hill on the road to Bridgewater,
and was a successful farmer, a man of much influence of charac-
ter. He was representative, and active in the public interests
of the town,—a substantial, respected citizen; the father-in-law
of Sherman Boardman. ,

Tdeut. Daniel Bostwicl, son of John, Sen,, born in New
Milford (the family records say) in 1708. His dwelling was on
the corner where now Mrs. Emily B. Sanford resides, and there
he kept a tavern many years, being a prominent citizen, a rep-
resentative, and lieutenant in the militia. His daughter Annis
married William Clark, who kept a tavern further south on the
west side of the green.

Justus Miles from Milford, purchased of Daniel Hine in
January, 1742, a piece of land north of Park Lane school-house,
west side of the road, and on the north side of the road going
west to “ Terrill's Mill” (now the paper-mill), and built a house on
it. He was a cordwainer, now called shoemaker, and the follow-
ing town vote was passed in his favor:

“Dec., 1748. Voted that Justus Miles shall have liberty to build tanworks on ye

highway, by ye north end of Henry Garlick’s home-lot that leads towards Chestnut
land.”

Probate Court.

The General Aséembly ordered, in 1719, “that there shall
be a Court of Probate held at Woodbury, for the towns of Wood-
bury, Waterbury, New Milford, and Litchfield, by one judge
and clerk,” at which place the Probate records were kept until
1789.

Wetaug, now Salisbury.

When a few inhabitants were at first settled at Wetaug, the
General Assembly connected them with New Milford, or at least
sent them here to receive official authority for their officers, as is
indicated by the following record, and the fact that a few deeds
of land in that place were recorded here:

“ New Milford, Feb. 26, 1728-9. The account of the inhabi-
tants of Wetaug brought in, and by their vote Rulough Ducher
was chosen brander for the place as may appear in their note in
these words: ¢ Feb. 8, 17289, there convened the inhabitants
of Weatalk to elect a man to mark and record the horses, and
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have chosen by Magarctt of votes Ruleph Ducher, in witness
hereof our hands.
George White, - .
Christofell Ducher, K. D,
Abraham Vandusa.'

“ And Ruleph Ducher, took the brander's oath before me,
Samuel Brownson, Justice of the peace.”

Organization of Litchfield County.

“Be it enacted by the Governor, Council, and Representatives, in General Court
assembled and by the authority of the same,

That the townships of Litchfield, Woodbury, New Milford, Harwinton, New
Hartford, Barkhamsted, Hartland, Colebrook, Norfolk, Canaan, Salisbury, Kent,
Sharon, Cornwall, Goshen, Torrington, and Winchester, lying in the northwesterly
part of this Colony, shall be and remain one entire county, and be called the County
of Litchfield. October, 1751”1 Also: "

“This Assembly do appoint William Preston- Esqr. to be Judge of the County
Courts in and for the county of Litchfield.”

“This Assembly do appoint John Williams, Samuel Canfield, Ebenezer Marsh,
and Thomas Chipman, Esqrs, to be Justices of the Peace ¢/ Quorum in and for
the county of Litchfield, until the first day of June next.”

CENsUs oF CONNECTICUT IN 1756.
Hartford County.

Towns. Whites. Negroes. Indians.’ Towns, Whites. Negroes. Indians.
Bolton, 755 " Symsbury, 2,222 - 23
Colchester, 2,228 84 Somers, 900
East Haddam, 1,913 65 Stafford, 1,000
Enfield, 1,050 Suffield, 1,414 24
Farmington, 3,595 112 Tolland, 9oz ' 13
Glastonbury, 1,081 24 Wethersfield, 2,374 109
Haddam, 1,223 18 Willington, 650
Hartford, 2,926 101 Windsor, 4,170 50
Iicbron, 1,855 —_—
Middletown, 5446 218 35714 854

VA bill for establishing the County of Litchfield, to comprise the towns now em-
braced in that county, save Barkhamsted, New Hartford, Plymouth, and Watertown,
was passed in the Lower House, but rejected in the Upper, in October, 1741. In
May, 1748, a bill to erect a new county with Woodbury as the county seat, and inclu.
ding the Southern part of Litchfield county with some towns in Fairfield and New
Haven counties was rejected in the Lower House. The Lower House in 1750,
passed an act to constitute a new county comprehending Kent, Litchfield, and Har-
winton, on the South, Harwinton, New Hartford, Barkhamsted, and Hartland on the
east, and with Litchfield as the Shire-town : the Upper House dissented, but the bill
was continued to May, 1751, when a new one was introduced embracing also Wood-
bhry, and New Milford, upon which the two houses could not then agree; Wood
bury was unwilling to be annexed to the new county, New Milford. preferred to
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New Haven County.

Towns. Whites. Negroes. Indians. Towns. Whites. - Negroes. lndians.
Bedford, 1,604 106 New Haven, 5,085
. Derby, 1,000 Wallingford, 3713 .
Durham, - 765 34 Waterbury, 1,802 27
- Guilford, 3,263 59 -
. Milford, 1,633 17,955 226
New London County.
Groton, 2,532 179 158 Preston, 1,040 78
Lyme, 2,762 100 94 Saybrook, 1,808 33
Killingsworth, 1,444 16 Stonington, 2,953 200 365
New London, 3,171 . _— -_ -
Norwich, 5,317 233 22,015 829 617
. Fairfield County. '
Danbury, 1,509 18 Reading, .
Fairfield, 4195 260 Ridgefield, 1,069 46
Greenwich, 3,021 Stamford, 2,648 120
New Fairfield, 713 Stratford, 3508 150
New Town, 1,230 23 : —_— -
Norwalk, 2,956 04 19849 711
: ' , Windham County.
Canterbury, 1,240 20 Ashford, 1,245
Coventry, 1,617 18 Voluntown, 1,029 19
Pomphret, 1,677 50 Union, 500
Killingly, 2,100 Windham, 2,406 40
Lebanon, HLI71 103 ' Woodstock, 1,336 30
Mansfield, , 1,598 16 _
Plainfield, 1,751 49 19,670 345
Litehfield County.

Barkhamsted, 18 New Milford, 1,121 16
Canaan, 1,100 Norfolk, 84
Colebrook, ‘ Salisbury, 1,100
Cornwall, 500 Sharon, 1,198 7
Goshen, 610 Torrington, 260
Hartland, 12 Winchester, 24
Harwinton, 250 Woodbury, 2,880 3t
Kent, 1,000 — ——
Litchfield, 1,366 1,773 54

New Hartford, 260
Several Counties.

Hartford, 35,714 854 Windham, 19,669 345
New Haven, 17,955 226 Litchfield, 11,773 54
New London, 22,015 829 617 —_— -—
Fairfield, 19849 711 126,076 3.019 617

remain connected with New Haven county, Hartland, Barkhamsted, and New Hart-
ford chose to continue attached to Hartford county. After the incorporation of
Litchfield county, the three towns last named petitioned to be restored to Hartford
county, whick was granted as to Hartland, in May, 1796.” Col. Rec,, x. 56.
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Gallows Hill Burying-place.

The “ South Farms” spoken of in the following record or deed
included settlers both below and some distance above this bury-
ing-place, and for some years this was the place of interment for
families, not only at the Iron Works, but also for those some
miles east of that place. This ground has been much neglected
for some years, there having been but very few burials there
within twenty or thirty years; yet it is a beautiful place for the
purpose. The following shows when it was appropriated by the

“town: '

“ New Milford, Oct. 23, 1734. Then laid and appointed for a
Burying place in the township of New Milford, at the South
farms, a certain piece of land lying on the country road to Dan-
burie by the place called Gallows hill butted and bounded as fol-
loweth : west upon Danburie Roade:. north on a highway -that
runs from the country Roade to the Still River Lots: East on
the Still River Lots or highway : South on common land, and is
in length north and south twenty rods, and in breadth at the
north end twelve rods, and at the south end eight rods.

Measured and laid out by us

AMES Hing
ATHANIEL BosTwick ;- Selectmen.”
JosepH Bosrwick

This act of the Selectmen was sanctioned by a vote of the

pro-
prietors Oct. 30, 1734 ’

Inscriptions on the Tomb-stones.
A.C. 1791,
Joun H [ son of John & | Harriet R Bas-

TAMAR BALDWIN | wife of | Joel Bald- .
sett | died Mar 15, 1862 | A 5 yrs. &

win | died | Sept 26, 1862 [ Al 72yrs &

5 mo.
In memory of |
Joun Bassrrr | who died | July 13,
1856 | aged 26 years,
GrorGEC BALDWIN | died | Oct8,1851 |
Aged 26 years.
JorL BaArpwiN | Born | Oct 29, 1772 |
died | Dec 25, 1848.
In metnory of
MaBrL  wife ofJ Joel Baldwin | who
died | June 29, 1818 | aged 43.
In memory of | two children of | Joe! &
Mabel Baldwin
Minzzva | died Nov 17, 1804 | aged 2
years. ’ . :
THoMAs died Sept 11, 1810 | aged 1 year.

18

§ mos,
‘The reat beyond is sweet.
THADDEUS BALDWIN | died July zs,
1815 | aged 8o |
THADDEUS E | his son | died April 21,
1786 | aged 22. '
EL1 | another son | died May to, 1779 |
aged 5 days.
SArAH | wife of | Thaddeus Baldwin |
died Dec 29, 1798 | aged s1.
PoLLy | daughter of | Joel & Mabel Bald-
win | died Jan 11, 1813 | aged 14.
Alas sweet youth not all your charms
Could save you from h’s icy arms.
Joun BANKs | Died | Nov 29,1860 | aged
56 years. .
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THIRZA BANKs | Died | May 3, 1859 |
aged g3 years. .
In‘l memory of
LeviL | sonot John & | Thirza BanksL
who died | April 15, 1848 | 23 yr's
8 mo.
In | memory of |
‘EBENRZER BLACKMAN { who died | April
3, 1856 | Aged 77 years.

In | memory of |
EveLINE O | wife of | Ebenezer Black
man | & daughter of | Samuel C & Bet-
sey | Nichols | who died | Feb 1o, 1851
aged 23 y'rs.
“ Jtis the Lord: let him do as'seemeth him good.”

In | memory of
Joun son of | Ebenezer & Lois Black-
man | who died | Dec 15, 1849 aged 34
y'rs. )
LitrLe MINNIE | Daughter of | Ebene-
zer & | Harriet Blackman | Died | Jan
19,1859 | Al. 4 Y'rs & | 8 mo's.

“ For of such is the Kingdom of Heaven.”

In | memory of .
Lo1s | wife of | Ebenezer Blackman | who
died | Sep 18,1858 | AL 97 Y'rs.
. * In | memory of |
PoLLy W Dau' of | Ebenezer & Lois |
"Blackman | who died | March 31, 1847
| aged 41 years.
In | memory of |
Davip Bostwick | who died | July 16,
1860 | aged 99 years 4 mos | & 22
Days. .
In | memory of |
MRrs DEBORAH wife of | Robert Bost-
wick who | died 5th May, 1792 | aged 64
years.

: In | memory of |
HANNAH wife of | David Bostwick | who
died | April 18, 1848 | aged 84 years |
9 mo & 23 days.
Sacred to the memory of |
WiLLIAM Bostwick son of | Benjamin
& Esther Bostwick | who died Aug 15th,
1797 | aged 30 years.
“Oh take these tears mortality’s relief,
Aund till we spare your joys forgive our grief,

‘These little relics, a stone, a verse receive,
“I'is all a father, all a friend can give.”

MARY | wife of | James E Briggs | Died
Aug 2, 1843 A 28.

IsAAc BRriGGs | Died |
71y'rs.

James E | Brigas | Died | Jan 8, 1851 |
£ 33 . -

In memory of |

MR JEssk BeNepiCT | who died | July 3,

A D 1826 | Aged 68 years.

June 19,1845 | &£

HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

In memory of
Mgrs MARY wife to Mr. | Noah Benedict
who | died May 2, 1793 in the | soth
year of her age.
In | memory of |
HANNAH BENNETT | wife of | Stephen

Bennett | who died | July 23, 1855]

aged 76 years.

In | memory of
STEPHEN BENNETT | who

1838 | aged 75 years.

* An honest man is the noblest work of God.”
WiLLiaM | son of John T & | Sally M
Bennett | died Nov 9, 1835 | aged 9
mos & g d’s.

In | memory of |
DanizL BrabsHaw | who died | March
10, 1810 | Aged 33 yéars.

ied | Nov 24,

In | memory of | .
MINDWELL BRADSHAW | who died | Oct .
1, 1819 | aged 78 years,

In | memory of |
WiLLIAM BRADSHAW | who died | Dec
28, 1818 | aged 77 years,

In | memory of
ISRAEL BrisToLL | who died | July 23,
1829 | Aged 32 years.

IsrRAEL { sonof | Themas P & | Currence
Bristoll | died | Jan 22, 1835 | aged 11
months.

In | memory of
SARAH wife of | Nathan Bulkley | who
died | April 22, 1833 | aged 46 years.
‘“As I am now, so you must be
Prepare for death and follow me.”
In‘l memory of |

ANNA wife of Israel Y Camp who de-

parted | this life Decr 30, 1797 | in the

69 year of | her age.

- In memory of |
HuLpAH wife of | Riverius Camp | who
Died February | the 17th, 1782 in the |
28 year of her Age.
* Lye still and uleep | in silent shades
- Enjoy a quict Rest |
Let | no disturbing {oe | invade
Your calm | and peaceful bicast.”
In | memory of |
HezekiAg CaMe | who died | Dec 4,
1845; | aged 87 years jand |
Frances | His wife who died | April 13,
1844 | aged 82 years.
~ In | memory of |
ISRAEL Camp who | departed this life
Jany 12, 18Bo4, in the 82d year of | his
age.



GALLOWS HILL BURYING PLACE.

In | memory ofJ
RivErius CAmP | who died | April 23}
1824 | in his 74 year.
LvsaNDeRr CoLE | died | May 21, 1876 |
Aged 77. ’
SALLY WiILDMAN | his wife | Died Oct 7,
1871 | Aged 68.
In memory of |
NATHAN CORNWALL Junr | of Danbury
who died | New Milford | with the
small-pox | March 26th, A D 1801 |
aged 18 years 11 mo | & 8 days.
Alas ere manhood ripened | on thy cheek
Reinorseless death has swept thee | to the tomb
Yet weeping friendship shall thy virtues speak
And snatch thy name from dull oblivions gloom.
In | memory of | :
Horace B CrANE |son of Stephen
Crane Esq|and the late Hannah
Crane | who died Jan 28, 1825 | aged
19 years & 5 months, .
Ye living men come view the ground |
Where you must shortly lie.
In memory of
MR Isaac CRANE who | died Sept de.
1800in | the 34th'year of his age | Also
MRs ROANE his wife who | dicf Sept 26,
1800 in | the 31st year of her age.
In memory of
JamEes DERRY | who Died
Con | Mar g, 1839 | /E 36.
Think not to find record of his worth
Emblazoned on this perishable stone,
None may presume to set his virtues forth
None but his Judge can make them fully known.
BrEwsTER EAsToN | Died | Nov 30,
1835 | A& 65.
*  He feared not death,

SARAH | wife of | Brewster
died | Feb 19, 1860 | £ 77.
The Bib.e was her companion.
Sarat | wife of | Hanford Edwards'L
(Iied] Nov13,1855 | A222 Y'rs 6mo
11 D’s.

at Brookfield

Easton |

Moumn not for me T am not afraid to die.
I1ANFORD EDWARDS | Died | March 17,
1867 | 2282 Y'rs 6 Mo | & § D’s.
Gone where dwell the pure in Heaven,
RAcHEL | wife of | Hanford Edwards
Died | Oct 7, 1870 | 4283 y's 6 M’s |
10 '8,
Hew beautiful ia the memory of the dead.

In memory of |
Aner. Epwarps | who Died | April s,
1826 | A 73| Also
SArAR his wife | who Died | Feb 19,
1842 A 83.
HANNAH  FaincuiLp | Died | Oct

is,
1854 | A 8s.

139

In | memory of | v
RACHEL CaRroLINg | wife of | Elijah B
Fenton | & daughter of J Stephen & |
Hannah Bennett | who iedJ Sept 14,
1843 | AL 33y'rs 4mo | & 18 d's.
“The pure in heart that God shall see,
Prepare my friend to follow me;
O Jesus purify each heart,
t we may meet no more to part.
SoPHIA | Daughter of Foster | & Eunice
M | Hurlbert | died Aug 29, 1813 | &£
2 ys & 3 mo.
D.X[IDA FostTEr | Died | July 23,1866
5 74,

MARIETTA P NoBLE | his wife | Died
Oct 1, 1873 | &£ 78.

SusaN EL1ZABETH | Daughter of | David

& | Marietta P Foster | Died | May 21,
1871 | A 44.
JoHN PENFIELD | son of | James A & |

Susan H Giddings | Died ] Oct 11,

1850 | A 25 Yrs 6 Mos & 4 D’s.
Susan H | wife ofséglames A Giddings
Died | June 10,1868 | A 62.

In | memory of |
ANNA wife of | Sturges Goodsell | who
:ieddl Oct 13, 1839? aged 44 y'rs 6 mo
4d's.

In | memory of |
Burr | son of Sturges’| & Anna Good-
sell | who died | I\%arch 31, 1865 | aged
.1g years, .
Died | Dec 7, 1844 |
EL1zA A | Daughter of | Sturges & Anna
Goodsell | A 25.
Our fondest hopes our most endgarin’ ties
Are mortal, but affection never dies.’
In | memory ofII
HENRY | son of Sturges & [ Anna Good-
sell | who died | Jan 16, 1845 | aged 21
y'rs.
SturGks GoonseLL | Died | May 2,
1869 | /L 76 y'rs.
In | memory of |
EL1ZABETH | daughter “of | Joseph & |
Samantha Hawley | who died | Sep 22,
1844 | aged 5 yrs & 6 mo. :
Suffer little children to come | unto me for of
such is | the Kingdom of Heaven.
In memory of |
MRr AMmos HUBBKLL{who died | Sept
25, 1825 | aged 35 years.

In | memory of |
CLEMENT HuUBBELL | who died Jan 21,
1839 | aged 86 years | & 7 mo.

CLeMENT | HUBBRELL [ & Mrs Hepzi |
bah Hubbell | He Died Aug 12, AD
1747 | aged 4 years.
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- In | memory of
SarAH wife of | Clement Hubbell | who
died | Jan 3, 1838 | aged 86 years | 4
mo & 15ds.

In | mcmo?' of |
URANIA , Daughter of Amos & Rinda
Hubbell who | died Jan 26, 1816 | A: 3

years & 3 mos.
In | memory of |
FosTer HURLBURT | who died | April
13, 1842 | aged 65 y & 6 mo,
Also of | his daughter
SaLLy HURLBURT | who died
1833 | aged 28 y & 6 mo.
SAMUEL C | son of Foster & | Eunice M
Hurlburt | died Sept s, 1813 | AZ 6 ys
7mo | & 19 ds,
Died | July 21, 1868 |
ANNIs B | wife of | Gideon Hull | & 75.
In | memory of |
Davip HuLL | who died | Dec 19, 1822 |
aged g5 years.
In memory of
DEeBoRAH Dau of | go n & Eunice | Hull
who died [ March s, 1797 j aged 20

years.
In | memory of |

EuNicE | wife of {ohn Hull | who

died | March 16, 1830 | aged 93 years.

April s,

" Died | June 18
GipEoN Huu! [lA: 680' 551
In | memory of |
JouN HuLL | who died | Dec 28, 1808 |
aged 70 years.
In | memory of

SALLY wife of [ David ull|| who died |
Oct 15, 1802 | aged 32 years.
In memory of E
URrANIA Daut of | John & Eunice | Hull
who died | Feb "1o, 1809 | aged 35
years.
In memory of
Mx DAVID JacKsoN who | died 26th Dec,
1754 Aged | 47 years, '
ELDAD JACKSON son of the | Rev Henry
{:Ckson and | Martha his wife died |
ar 14. 1777 aged 14 | days | And
HENRY JACKSON son of the | Rev Hen
Jackson and | Martha his wife died
Jan’y | 29, 1782 aged 1 year and | 10
months. .
. In memory of |
HANNAR Relict of l Mr David Jackson |
who died June | 11th, 1784 aged 70
- Years.
HENRY JACKSON | Died { Apr 3, 1861 |
Aged 75.
Rev HENRY JACKsoN A M died | Nov
24th, 1799 Aged 51 years.
‘The strokes of fate conclude | all earthly views.

HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

MRs MARTHA | relict of the late | Rev
Henry Jackson | died Oct 22, 1825 |
aged 76 years.

MARTHA JACKSON | wife of William
8Gsaylord Died | May 18, 1872 | Aged

Mary E | wife of | Henty .Jackson |
Died | July 22, 1865 | Aged 75.

OLIVER P JACKSON | son of Eldad C | &
Cynthia Jackson | died | Sept 3, 1830 |
aged 21 yrs 6 mo | & 1t das.

SiueoN B | son of | James & | Sarah A
Je(;mings | Died | Apr 25, 1835 | aged
5d’s.

HuLDAH KEELER | wife of Benjamin
Keeler | died July 28, 1823 | & 37.

JosHuA | son of | Arche W & Betsey |
Knapp | died April 21, 1812 | Aged 14
months.

In memory of |

Levt KNapp | died March 27, 1802z |

aged 33 years | 8 months & 13 days.

In the midst of life | we are in death.

Lucy A KnNarp | Daughter of | Levi &
Sarah Knapp | died Oct 21, 1812 | A
19. :

Saran Knarp | wife of | Levi Knapp |
died Jan 7, 1813 | A 46.

- In | memory of |
EvLts wife of | Levi P Knapp | daughter
of Samuel & | Phebe Brooks | who died
March 8, 1823 | in her 32 year.

CHARLES B | Born Aug 30, 1828 | died
Febig, 1832 |

FREDERICK FH
Died July 8, 1833 | .

Children of | Hiram & | Marinda Lake.

HiraMm LaKE | Died | Oct 30th, 1861 |
aged 63 yrs 4 mo | & 9 Days.

Laxz [Monument]

Wu H LaAxe | Died | Apr 8, 1869 ]
Aged 65.

MABEL LAKE | wife of Benjamin Lake |
Died June 23, 186z | aged 86.

BENJAMIN LAKE | Died | Mar o, 1847
Aged 80.

LBom Aug 2r, 1831 |
33

'Y | EL1zABETH LAKE | Died | Apr 18,1869 |

Aged 57.
Sacred to the memor( of | ’

SALLY MEEKER wife of | William Meeker

who died | Sep 29, 1803 | aged 21 years.

Let those immortal undissembled love

Still still pursue her to those realms above

Where may we join her at this frail lifes end

And there unite with our departed fricnd.

In memory of |
EMELINE—Daut of Moses & | Mary
Mills | who died | Sep 13, 1842 | Aged
23 years. .
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Mosks MiLLs | Died Sep 27, 1856 | aged
64 yrs.
Died | Sept 23, 1797 |
AmMMON | son of Lemuel & | Mahetable |
Morehouse | /& 3 months.
In | memory of |
CATHARINX wife of | Paul Davis | who
died | Oct 31, 1816 | aged 22 years.
Our little Lizzie.
Why should we weep for thee
Since thou hast gone unsullied,
Hack to Heaven,
MARTIN N Lee | Died | Jan 18, 1857 |
in the g4th year | of his age.
Our [ather slecps.
In memory of
ABNER L!wugswho died | Jan 17, AD
1815 | in the 68 year | of his age
Monument
Levi MerwIN | Born Feb 1746 | Died
March, 1808.
Lots | wife of Levi Merwin | Born Feb,
175t | Died May, 1822.
A solemn thought |
Dust thou art and unto |
dust thou shalt return.
In memory of | two children of | Samuel
& Martha Merwin |
SAMUEL died | Aug 22, 1771 |aged 4

years.
MARTHA died | Sept16, 1770 | A 7 years
& 9 months.
Sleep Jovely Iabes & take thy rest
(rod called thee home he thought it best.
Mary | wife of | Edward Maxfield | died
Nov 21, 1847 | /E 83 years.
In memory of |
RERECCA MARIA | daughter of Edward
& | Mary Maxfield | who died | April
17, 1822 | in her 18 years,
In memory of |
MR Joun MoxrxHo | UsE who died June
24 | 1803 in the 65th | year of his age.
CLARK H | son of Emmon H & | Ellen
Nearing | died | Aug 23, 1850 | aged 3
years.
+ In memory of | .
Jonn I NEARING | who dicd | Feby s,
1806 | aged 84 years.
In memory of
Rupy NEARING | who died | May
1839 | aged 83 ycars | & 2 mo.

In memory of |
Asa NicnHois who | departed this life
Feby | oth, 1816 Aged 28 years.
In memory ot |
PriscILLA daughter | of Jonathan Bulk-
ley & | Wife of Asa Nichols | who de-
parted this life | Sep t3th, 1815aged 25
years.
All flesh is grass [ but the word of God | shall
for ever.

’
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In memory of

RANE Daut of | Isaac & Sarah | Nichols
who died | Jany 15, 1802 | in 67 year |
of her age.

Samurr C NicHots | Died July 13,
1872 | £ 78 y'rs 2mos & | 6 d’s.
Blessed are the dead that die in the Lord | from

henceforth yea saith the spirit, that | they may

rest from their labours ; and | their works do follow
them. Rev. 14. 13. ’
The Rev |

Birpsey G NoszLE | died | Nov

1848 | aged 57 years.

EDWARD | SYLVANUS | son of the Rev
B G & Charlotte | Noble died | Jan 18,
1827 | Aged 3 months. -

CHARLOTTE NOBLE | wife of the Rev |
Birdsey G Noble | Died | May 11,
- 1843 | aged 51 years. ;

In | memory of |
ErizaseTH wife of | Sylvanus Noble |
whodied | Jan 27, 1825 | aged 8 years.

In | memory of |
SYLVANUS NoBLE | who died | March 26,
1837 | aged 81 years.

- Life is short— Eternity long
, Memento mori memento mori

16,

In memory of |
MR THoMAs NoBLE who died | Novr 4th,
1783 Aged g: years | And
MRrs MARY his amiable | Consort who
died Jan 17th, 1795 | aged 78 years.
Thestrokes of fate | are death to earthley views |
‘he soul suwrminunts the tomb | & in her state ne-
E:;: | devoid of hope of fear or faith | enjoys her

In memory of |
ELIZARETH wife of | James Osburn | who
died | Jan 24, 1813 | aged 75 years.
) In memory of }
JamEes OsnurN | who died | March 26,
1811 | aged 77 years,

In memory of |
Israxt, OsRURN | who died | March 30,
1835 | aged 74 years | 8 mo & 24 ds.
Rapt in the shades of death no more
L'Thly far;"endlytfnce 1 uecl ace
1 m) eve!
Oﬁcye s0 fveﬂ glled Lyyl:hee.
In memory of
MERCY wife of | Israel Osburn | who
died | Oct 15, 1795 | in the 29th year |
of her age. '

- In | memory of |
NABy wile of | Israel Osburn | who died
Sept 20, 1813 | aged 37.
In memory of
SarAH OsBURN | who

ied | Jan 2o,
1813 | aged 87 years.

l 1772 |
HANNAH | PALMER | aged 2 mo.
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Here lies the body of
Rurus PALMER who De | parted this life
Novem | ber 24, A D 1772 in the | 11
year of his Age. . )

Behold and see as you | pass

As youare now | 30 once was

As I am | now 80 must you be |
Prepare for Death | and follow me.

MR ELt Perry | Died | May 3, 1834 |
A 82,

MARYSé his wife Died | Aug 11, 1827 |
A 86,

In inemory of |
MRs SARANM wife of | Mr John Prindle |
of New Haven | who died March 16th,
A D 1767 aged 23 years. :

When this you see Remember me,

Died Jan 28, 1838 |
HANNAH L | daughter of Tilly & Lucy |
P I Reed [agedgy'rs | & 11 d's.
: In memory of |
CAPT JoszPH RUGGLES | who died Novr
8, AD 1802 | & 71.
N Isy Death Jud, Eterni
Faith ope Love & Charty.- "™
In | memory of |
SAMUEL RUGGLES | who died March 17,

1795 | aged 44 years,

In | memory of |
HuLDAH wife of | Samuel Ruggles | who
died Nov 19, 1807 | aged 48 years.

SAMUEL SANFORD | died May 16, 1814 |
aged 6g.
This spot contains the ashes of the just
Who sought no honors & betrayed no trust
This truth he proved in every path he trod
An honest man’s the noblest work of God.
In memory of |
SAMUEL A.SANFORD | son of Uriah &
Eunice | Sanford who died | Aug 2,
1834 | in the 20 year | of his age.

In memory of |
SAMUEL SANFORD | son of Mr Samuel
& Sarah Sanford | who died sth July
1783 aged 3 years | 6 months & 7 days.

Porry | daughter of | Saml & Sarah San-
ford | died Jan 16, 1704 | aged 6.

In | memory of i
SaraH wife of | Samuel Sanford | who
died | June 7, 1822 | aged 77 years.

PoLLy | wife of | Thomas Sanford | died
" Sep 26,1861 | A 86 y'rs.
In| memor{ of |
THOMAS SANFORD | w
1849 | in the 8o year | of his age.
In | memory of |
UrIAH SANFORD | who died | Oct 1

1838 | in the 71 year | of his age. 5

o died | Feb 11,
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ELiza C | daughter of | Benjamin & |
Polly Ann Stebbins died | Jan 25,
1845 | aged t ye 1 m | & 19 d’s.

This lovely bud so young so fair
Called home by early

Juat came to show how sweet a flower
In paradise would bloom.

HANNAH | daughter to | Polly Ann |
Stebbins die &Oct 30, 1844 | aged 2
y'rs | tomo & 8 D,

Dear child how short thy stay
How soon thy journey’s o’er
Thy spirit’s fled away
o visit earth no more,

PoiLLYy ANN | wife of | Benjamin Steb.
bins | died | Apr 12, 1847 [ At 31.

AGUR TOMLINSON | died | Juney, 1841 |
aged 62. .

Joskrit ToMLINSON | died Aug 7, 1839 |
aged 33 | -

Davip HeNnry TomLinsoN | died & was
buried | White Hall Alabama | Aug 9,
1837 | aged 16| Sons of Augur & |
Mary Toumlinson.

MARy | wife  of [ Agur Tomlinson |
died | March 24, 1861 | AL 84 y'rs& 5
mo.

In ! memory of &

THoMAs TiLT | whodied | Dec 14,1850 |
A 79 years,

: In memory of | '

HANNAH wife of | John Vail | whodied |
August 14, 1809 ] aged §6 years.

In memory of |

PARTHENA VALE | who died | May 15,
1841 | aged 59 years.

In memory of

BENJAMIN | son of Mr & Mrs Hannah
Waller He died | September 2, A D
1745 ] 3 years of | Age.

Inmemory of ’

MR Joserd WaLLER | who died July 8,
1788 | in the 88th | year of hiy age.

In memory of

MRs | HANNAH ye wi | fe of Mr Jose | ph
Waller She died February| ye 4th,
A D 1747 [ & in ye 44 year |'of her
age
g ‘Al T am now o you | Must Bo

Prepare for | Death & follow me.
In | memory of

ABIGAIL | wife of | John Warner | who
died | Dec 29, 1851 | aged 86.

AMELIA D | Dau of Daniel N & | D.yo-
thy Warner & | adopted daughter of 11i-
ram | & Sophia Warner | died at New
Y06rk Jan 5| 1845 aged 4 years 1 mo |
& 6 ds.

Blest child thou'st passed from earth away
To the bright realms of endless day
Too good too pure for carth thou’st gone

To dwell with angels round the throne,
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Arrma E | wife of | Orange Warner ‘
Died | Sep 28,1855 A2 51 Y'rs 1t Mo
& 16 D’s.

‘Thou hast all seasons [or thine own O Death.

In | memory of |
ASA WARNER | whodied | Dec 13,1819 |
aged 76 years. -
In memory of |
CuURTIS WARNER | who died Oct 11
1818 | A& 52 years.
Erizur WARNER | Died | Nov 12,1877 |
A 70 Yrs 8 Mo | & 6 Ds.

As in Adam all dic even so in
Chirist shall all be made alive.

In | memory of |
CarT ELIZUR WARNER | whodied | May
6, 1842 | aged 72 years.
In | memory of |
Dra Erizur WARNER | who died July
23, 1806 | aged 68 years 6 months | |

‘I'he dull cold marble to the living
Speaks Here read thy fate.

In | memory of |

EuNICE wife of | Asa Warner whodied |
Feb 12, 1818 | aged 69.

EUNICE WARNER | relict of | Reuben
Warner | died | Feb 5, 1839 | aged 76
years.

Tn memory of |

Eunice | wife of John Warner who | de-
parted this life May sth | 1799 in the
62d year | of her age.

In | memory of |

HANNAL wile to John | Warner who de-
parted | this life Jany 10, 1775 | in the
36th year of | her age.

HANNAN EvrizA | Daughterof Wm S &
Rachel E | Warner Died | Feb 3,
1863 | At 5§ Mo's & 12 D's.

Hewten E | daughter of | Wm R &
Laura Warner | died | March 1, 1845
aged 10 yrs.

11eNrYy S WARNER | died | May 6, 1856

/L 59.
In | memory of |
JoHN WARNER | who died | Sept
1850 | A 86.
CAPT JOHRN WARNER
1762 { /E 6oyrs.
In memory of |
Joun WarNER | who departed this | life
March 11, 1800 | in the Gist Year of
hisage.

8,

| died | Dec 9,

In memory.of
LEMUEL WARNER | who died | Feby 19,
1814 | AS 83.
Samuer H |son of Orange
Warner | died Aug 13, 1822
years.

& Lucy
aged 27

t43

SaLLy M | daughter of Orange | & Lucy
*Warner | died Sept 28, 1824 | aged 21

years.
In memory of |
MRS SARAR | wife of | Mr Lemuel War-
ner | who died Dec 23d, 1810 | aged 77
years.
In | memory of |
MiINERVA E | daughter of | Orange & |
Lucy Warner | who died | Nov 20,
1829 | aged 18 years.

WILLIE | Infant son of | Henry O & ]
Sarah W | Warner Died | Jan 16,1860
| A% 16 D's. \
In | memory of |
WiLLIAM R | WARNER | whodied | Nov
3] 1853 | aged 54 years.
WILLIAM S WARNER | Died | Oct 3,
1879 | & 44Yrs 4 Mo | & 15 D’s.
The spirit freed from earthly chains
Enraptured soars awa
To share with ransomed souls -
The joys of endless day.

Widow | ’
RACHEL WATERBURY | died | Jan 27,
1858 | aged 77 yrs.

In memory of |
Lois wife of Oliver | \zarner who Died |
October 14th, 1781 in | the g5th year of
her | Age. )
In | memory of
Lucy wife of | Orange Warner | who
died July 8, 1830 | aged 8 yrs.

In | memory of | :
MARTIN WARNER | who died | July 15,
1807 | in the 62 year | of his age.

~ In | memory of |
MaRry wife of | Deacon Elizur Warner|
who died | Oct 21, 1815 | Aged 75.

In memory of |
MRrs MARy wife | of Capt John Wa | rner
She Died Oc | tober yefirst AD | 1757
in the 53rd | year of her age.

In memory of |
MARY wife of Martin VJamer | whodied |
Dec 16, 1819 | in the 89 year | of her
age.
In | memory of |
OLIVER WARNER | who died | Feb 22,
1814 | in the 83 year | of his age.

ORANGE WARNER | died Jan 11, 1871 |
Al g2,

Death cometh to the aged as the night | comes to
the weary child.

ORANGE WARNER | Died | Mar 1o, 1831
/E 86. .

AB[GAILthis wife | Died | Mar 31,
1830 | /E 86.
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_ In|'memory of | :
REUBEN WARNER Esq | who died | Nev
14, 1825 | Aged 67 years.

NeLson J , son of | John R & Susan A |
Way | died Nov 27, 1857 |aged 2
months.

.

Our baby dear is | sleeping here.
ALvVIRA | wife of | John S Wheeler |
Died | Apr 19, 1803 | /B 53 yrs.
Dearest mother thou hast left us
And thy loss we deeply feel

But tis God that hath bereft us
He can all our sorrows heal. -

Jo:y S WHErLER | died | Mar 3,1862 |
’ SSAXEl;t is from our household gone
A voice we loved is still
Agace is vacant at our hedrth-
hich time can never fill.

P In | memory of |
ALMIRA | wifeof | Canfield S Wildman |
who died | Nov 17,1837 | aged 23 years.
Jay | sanof } Canfield S & | Almira Wild-
man | died | Dec 17, 1837 | aged 9

weeks. ,

HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD,

EDpWINA | son | of CanfieldS& | Harr
Wildman | died | Sep 21, 1844 | ag
9m.

In | memory of .

CrarIssa | wife of | Mr Wildman | w
died | Dec 9, 1850 | aged 73 years.

Laura C | daughter of | Ar& | Clari
Wildman | Died | Aug 15, 18¢8 | aj
43y18.

In | memory of |

HANNAH M Dau of | Mr & Clariss:
Wildman who died | Nov g, 182
Aged 23years Also

JoHN R WILDMAN | their son who die:
August 9, 1826 | aged 17 years.

In | memory of |
PriiLeNA M WiLDMAN ! who died | 1
7, 1850 | aged 39 years.
In | memory of |
MR WiLDMAN | who ~ died | Nov
1838 | aged 62 years.



CHAPTER IX.

{'- (» THE HALF-WAY COVENANT CHURCH.
QfC ' 1744—1752.

sons, not members of the church, acknowledged their

faith in the doctrines of the church and gave their

pledge to train up their children in that faith, and the

. privilege secured by these declarations was the baptism
Kf)\}

<, of the children of such persons. The old Congre-

)8 gational and Presbyterian rule was to baptize no
children except one or both of the parents were members of -the
church.

This' question of ‘the Half-way Covenant was agreed upon at
the meeting of the ministers at Saybrook, Ct., in 1708, and soon
after was sanctioned by the General Assembly, and hence
became a legalized method of church relationship.

This method was in practice in New Milford, during Mr.
Boardman's ministry, in a moderate way, without any trouble or
apprehension of evil results.

In 1740 and ’41, this subject became a topic of general discus
sion, and was objected to by many who became very much en-
gaged at that time in what was denominated “ the great awaken-
ing,” and also the *“New Light"” movement. There was no par-
ticular religious excitement in New Milford during these years,
but the people became acquainted with the discussions and
became divided somewhat in their judgments, and were thus pre-
pared for a conflict whenever an opportunity should occur, which
was reached immediately upon Mr. Boardman’s decease.

The first intimation of Mr. Boardman'’s failing health is found
in the record of a town meeting held on June 6, 1744, to advise
with him about calling in the neighboring ministers to preach
for him, and several names were proposed: *“Voted, that the
Revs. Mr. White of Danbury, Mr. Ingersol of Ridgefield, Mr.

19
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Leavenworth of Waterbury, Mr. Trumbull of Westbury, Mr.
Judson of Newtown, Mr. Lewis of New Fairfield, Mr. Hum-
phrey of Derby, Mr. Woodbridge of Amity, shall be desired to
come to preach here, with the consent of the Rev. Mr. Board-
man.” ' '

Mr. Boardman’s disease was of the lungs, and his health failed
rapidly (as is often the case when active work ceases), and pro-
vision was made for the unusual expenses, with a spe¢ial vote to
excuse the members of the Church of England from a.y part in
these costs, but not from bearing their legal part in the salary of
the minister ; and a Mr. Newton was obtained to preach for a
few Sabbaths. '

As Mr. Boardman’s health continued to fail, the prospect of
calling another pastor awakened the two elements of church
order in the community, and the spirit of the parties took
stronger form on the 20th of August, 1744, when a vote was taken
to submit the nomination of candidates to the New Haven
County Association, which body was strongly pledged against
the New Lights, and in favor of the Saybrook Platform. At this
time, howevet, there was a majority in favor of a nomination by
the town, and to this they held for months, but finally yielded
the point to the association. On the same day it was voted to
give Mr, Newton a call to preach on probation, and if he would

_not accept such a call, to hire him for a time to supply the pul-
pit. This was on the 20th of August, and five days later Mr.
Boardman departed this life to his future reward, leaving the
flock without a shepherd. '

On the 18th of the next September the town voted to send a
committee to the meeting of the association, to make known to
them ‘“the broken state of the church and people in New
Milford, and entreat their advice, direction, and assistance under
their difficult circumstances.” This committee consisted of Mr.
Samuel Canfield, Capt. Nathaniel Bostwick, Lt. James Hine, Lt.
Paul Welch, and Mr. Ebenezer Fisk; and the town made the
nomination at this time, of Mr. Jonathan Lyman, Mr. Dorr, Mr.
Rowland, and Mr. Barker to come and preach, provided, *it be
agreeable to the association.” But that dignified body did not
see fit, under such dictation, to render any assistance, and on the
8th of the next October, the town voted again to hold their right
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to nominate instead of the association ; against which Paul
Welch, Samuel Canfield, Ebenezer Fisk, Joseph Weller, and
Jehiel Hawley protested. They then voted to call Mr. Dibble,
if agreeable to the association, or a Mr. Williams, or Mr. Noah
Wells; but, if neither of these could be obtained, that the com-
mittee should then apply to the association. While in council
in this same meeting, a change of proceedings was determined
upon, whereupon they rescinded all former votes upon this sub-
ject, appointed a fast day, and voted to call in “neighboring
Elders and Messengers,” for “advice under our difficult circum-
stances.”

After this fast day, the town surrendered completely to the
dictation of the Association of New Haven County, which was
an unfortunate decision, for, from that day, the progressive por-
tion of the town seems to have given up all hope of changing
church proceedings from the Saybrook Platform, although they
made one more effort.

At the annual meeting, Dec. 10, 1744, Mr. Stephen Williams
was preaching for them and was desired to continue “upon pro-
bation some time;” but soon after, Mr. Noah Wells was sent
for, and on the 2d day of July, 1745, Mr. Wells was invited by a
majority vote to settle in the work of the ministry, there being
cighty-scven votes in the affirmative, and thirty-five in the nega-
tive. They then voted him a settlement of six hundred pounds
money, and two hundred pounds salary, annually, but passed the
following : * That in case Mr. Noah Wells shall be instrumental
in revaulting or deviating from the established order of the gos-
pel ministry which he shall engage in, according to the Saybrook
Platform, all the land so made over, shall return to said town for
the use of the proprietors.”

Before this meeting adjourned, a written protest against its
proceedings was signed by thirty-five men, who demanded to
know whether the meeting was called for the purpose of calling
Mr. Wells on probation, or to settle him ; but the leading party
would give no explanation, whereupon Mr. Joseph Ruggles and
William Drinkwater bound themselves, under a bond of twenty
pounds money, to prosecute the matter before the County Court..
This proceeding ended all negotiations in regard to the settle-
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ment of Mr. Wells, and, in August, they again invited Mr. New-
ton to preach for them.

The next canditate for settlement was Mr. Stephen Johnson,
the votes standing 77 in his favor, and 40 against him ; and with
this one-third vote against him the meeting proceeded to vote a
settlement and salary, but to state that, if the candidate should
deviate from the Saybrook Platform, the settlement should return
to the town. v o :

In a meeting, nearly two months later, they voted for two can-
didates, Mr. Noah Wells and Mr. Stephen Johnson ; the former
having 52, and the latter 63 votes. Previous to this vote, they
pledged the town to sustain the candidate who should have the
highest number of votes, and hence they proceeded to give direc-
tions to the committee as to the settlement, and, as if appre-
hending a failure to settle either, they directed the committee in
such a case to apply for another candidate. For four months
negotiations were continued in view of settling Mr. Johnson, at
the end of which he reported his acceptance, and the town made
arrangements for his ordination, where the matter stands to this
day; it being rather doubtful if anything further will be done
about it. ' .

. Whatever occurred during the next year may not be known,
since some of ‘the leaves of the book containing the records of
the town-meeting have disappeared by the wear and tear of 130
years. One of them may be seen in a volume of the land records
lately re-bound. On this stray but imprisoned leaf is recorded
that, in October, 1747, they gave Mr. Freegrace ILeavit “a call
upon trial in order for a settlement—75 votes in the affirmative,
and three in the negative.” '

The next vote to be found was'dated Dec. 14, 1747, that the
committee should apply to “Mr. Taylor of Danbury, and hire
him to come and preach the gospel with us. Every voter in the
said meeting voted in the affirmative.” This record is made,
apparently, with surprise and great gladness in regard to the
unanimity of the vote. What were the facts? Simply that all
who were opposed to the Saybrook Platform method of church
government (about fifty) had withdrawn from the contest, and
left the others to do what they pleased. One of Mr. Taylor’s
sermons, still preserved, is dated as preached at New Milford,
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Oct. 11, 1747, and therefore he had been preaching here
probably some two months when the above vote to hire on pro-
bation was passed.

Here, then, was the beginning of the “ Separate Congrega-
tional Church” in New Milford, the calamity of which might have
been saved, with very great ease, by a little more grace and a
little less /aw, just as well as to have had all the trouble which
took place during the next sixty years. Just those principles of
doctrine and church government which the Saybrook Platform
adherents rejected in 1750 became, after forty years, the leading
features in the Congregatlonal churches throughout the State
and country.

The peculiar features of doctrine propagated by the Separates,
especially those relating to a mysterious, and sometimes claimed
to be miraculous, conversion, held a powerful and almost marvel-
ous sway, from 1770 onward, for seventy-five years; but quietly
the reaction “has set in,” as a powerful tide, that threatens ‘to
carry everything before it, and that, too, with very much of solid
reason and substantial character. The question now is becoming
more important as to how a man lives, and what he does, rather
than as to what he professes to have cxperienced.

The situation of the people as to these troubles in New Mil-
ford was not peculiar to this place, and the difficulties were not
imaginative, but real ; for quite many of the leading men were
in the half-covenant relations, and would not vote against them-
selves in adopting the stricter methods of church relations ; and,
if they should refuse to admit any children to baptism, as the
New Lights held to be the only right way, this would fill the
Lpiscopal Church with zealous adherents; a matter which was
regarded then as far from the best way. Also was it true that
many who held to the New Light methods were the most zealous
and active members of the church.

Such were some of the influences which led, finally, to the
organization of the Separate Congregational church, in 1753.

After Rev. Nathaniel Taylor had been settled as pastor, he
made the following record in the church book : * January 3d, 1748,
Nathaniel Taylor was “called to preach the gospel :—ordained
June following, 2gth day, pastor of the Church of Christ in New
. Milford, by the Rev. Mr. Isaack Stiles of North Haven, the Rev.



150 HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

Mr. John Trumble of Westbury, the Rev. Mr. Nathan Birds-
eye of West Haven, the Rev. Mr. Cyrus Marsh of Kent. The
Messengers were Eliphalet Bristow of West Haven, Timothy
Hatch of Kent, Timothy Judd of Westbury. Mr. Stiles gave
the Charge ; Mr. Trumble the right hand of fellowship.”

. The amount of his *settlement” was one thousand pounds to
_ be paid within three years; four hundred pounds the first year,

and three hundred each the second and third years. His salary
was fixed at three hundred pounds a year for the first three
years, or until the settlement was paid ; after that it was to be
four hundred pounds a year.

This, compared with the salary Mr. Boardman received, seems
very large, and almost surprising; but the matter is quite changed
whén the money with which' they proposed to pay him is com-
pared with silver and gold as standards. When this amount of
salary was promised it was coupled with definite explanations :
*Then to give the said Mr. Taylor four hundred pounds old tenor
money per year, computed with wheat at twenty-two shillings
per bushel, rye at sixteen -shillings per bushel, and Indian corn
at thirteen shxllmgs per bushel, to be pald in money or species
[grains] as above.”

The following were the pnces in 1715, by which Mr. Board-
man’s salary of about thirty pounds, or one hundred dollars, was
paid: Wheat, 4s. per bushel; rye, 2s. and 84.; Indian corn, 2s.
Hence, wheat was worth five and one-half times more, in name,
in 1748, than it had been in 1715, which was only the difference
between silver and the paper money then'used.

In December, 1743, when Mr. Boardman’s salary was settled
the last time, it was made £145. Then wheat was 125, rye 8s.,
and corn 6s. -

On December 9, 1751, the town voted that “Mr. Taylor's
. .salary for the present year shall be .£500, old tenor, to be paid

in money, or wheat at 30s. per bushel, or rye at 20s., or Indian
- corn at 155.” And a year later they voted that “David Ferriss
shall be allowed fifty shillings, old tenor, per day, for warning
the non-resident proprietors” to pay their taxes.

“This inflation of currency continued until 1760, when England
stopped the issuing of bills, and everything went down in price
to where it started forty years before.
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“Dec. 10, 1764. Species to defray town charges: wheat three
shillings pr. bushel, Indian corn two shillings, rye two shillings
and four pence, and oats one shilling and threec pence.”

Much, if nat all, of the settlement made to Mr. Taylor was
paid in land, and the land was furnished out of what was de-
nominated “ Parsonage land.”

“ Jan. 22, 1744-5. Voted, that the house-lot, so called, and the ten acre division
laid out in the township of New Milford to the Parsonage or Proprietors’ Right shall
and is hereby given to the first gospel minister that shall be regularly settled in the
work of the ministry in said New Milford, according to the laws and constitution
of the Colony, and according to the Platforin agreed upon at Saybrook, in way of
settlement, except the above said minister shall renounce the laws and rules above
mentioned, and if so, then the above said land to return to the proprietors of said
town.

“ Jan. 22, 1744-5. Voted, that those proprictors who are of the Church of Eng-
land in this present day, and those of the Friends in said New Milford, shall have
their equal proportion of the Proprietors’ Right according to their Proprietie set out
to them which shall be disposed of to encourage or support the gospel in said New
Milford ; that is to say, their equal proportion with those of the Presbyterian order
that is now given or disposed of in quantity and quality.

“Sept. 20, 1748. Voted, that some part of the Proprietors’ Right shall be dis-
posed of for the propagation of the gospel in said New Milford. Voted by a uni-
versal vote.

“Voted, that the whole of the Proprietors’ Right shall be sold at a public vendue,
to the highest bidder, in some proper method, as the Proprictors shall hercafter
direct.”

The Committee for this matter consisted of Capt. Nathaniel
Bostwick, Lieut. Paul Welch, and Joseph Ferriss, and arrange-
ments were made for the sale of the lands and the giving of
deeds for the same.

“Samuel Canfield, Dobson Wheeler, Thomas Noble, Lt. James Hine, and Wil-
liam Drinkwater, shall be a committee to adjust the account with the former com-
mittee in respect to the sale of the Proprictors’ Right, and to make distribution of
the money according to the proprietors’ act; that is to say, the aforesaid money
shall be distributed upon this present list of the Proprictors, Churchmen, and the
Friends ; and when divided as aforesaid, that part which belongs to the Presbyterians
shall be delivered to Mr. Taylor, and take his receipt as it becomes due, and i there
be any overplus, the committee shall use it to the best advantage as aforesaid. Voted
in the affimative.” )

The following description of the location of some of this land
will preserve several local names, if nothing more:-

A parsonage lot, laid in 1714, “a home-lot upon the easterly
side of Aspetuck hill, butting west. upon the highway upon said
hill, south upon a highway running east and west, north upon the
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lot formerly owned by Jonathan Buck, east upon, ten-acre divis-
ion or poplar highway, being sixty rods in length and twenty rods
in breadth.” This land is now owned by Mr. William D. Black.
The ten-acre division was laid directly east of this home-lot,
“allowing eight rods more for that highway that runs across to
Poplar Swamp.”

In 1724, seventy acres of this Right was laid “.in one piece,
lying west of West Aspctuck upon Long brook, a little below
that place called the Middle Wolf Pit.” This was west, across
the valley from Mount Tom.

In 1727, they laid the fifth division of fifty acres “lying on the
‘east side of the brook called Rock llouse brook, or the West
Aspetuck river, bounded south on land formerly laid out to the
Parsonage Right.” .

A Remarkable Pastoral Lelter.

It seems proper to insert here, at the expense of considerable
room, a Circular Letter sent to the churches in 1752, it being so
remarkable a deliverance for such a body. It was entered in
full on the church record in New Milford, by Mr. Taylor, and for
that reason seems to have been highly esteemed by him; but
how any Consociation ever consented to such extravagant state-
ments is the mystery. '

“To y* Churches of Christ within y* county of Litchfield; the Elders and Mes~
sengers in Council at Bethiehem on ye last Tuesday of September, 1752, wish grace,
mercy, and peace from God .y* father and our Lord Jesus Christ. Dr'ly Beloved
having taken into consideration Dispensations of heaven tuwards y* Land, both
formerly and more lately, and viewing y* present deplorable state of Religion in our
Town Societies and Churches, it seems meet to us to put you in mind of y* follow-
ing particulars, and to send you our Christian advice and Counsell,

1 . This Land was by our fore Fathers professedly settleds not upon a worldly, But
a religious desire (viz.) y* they might enjoy y* gospel in its puyity, Sabbaths without
prophanation and y* worship of God without y* mixture of human ceremonies.

3 God has abundantly increased and blessed y™ since y' first settlement.

3 In y* midst of all our prosperity we have greatly forgotten y* Lord God of our
Fathers, and in great measure dropped y* pious design of their forsaking their Na-
tive Country, and coming into a howling wilderness, and deeply back slidden and
degenerated.

4 Therefore a just and holy God who has an infinite abhorrance of sin, has at
diverstimes testified his righteous displeasure, more especially in y* Last 3 or 4 years,
wherein we have been distressed with drought and mortal sickness, and yet for all
y* we have not turned unto y* Lord, therefore neither hath God turned away from
his anger but his hand is stretched out still,

But what is still more awful :—
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5 There seem to be great and sore Spiritual jud'gments upon y* Land, many re-
nouncing y* purity of worship and falling in with those Separations and ceremonies
y* were y* very burden which our Fathers were not able to bear, many renouncing y*
Doctrines of y* first reformation, and y* Standing Creeds of all y* Protestant
Churches, and turning arminians, many from error of judgment, or spirit of Licen-
tiousness, turning antinomians and Separatists, and with, much bitterness crying
down all y* Churches and ministers of Christ in y* Land, and setting up to them-
selves teachers of y* meanest and Lowest of y* people, to which and as a natural
consequence whereof, how awful and great i Spirit of security is sin, want of family
government, great neglect of y* instruction and education of youth, a growing neglect
in many places, of family prayer, great prophanation of God’s Sabbath, a great con-
tempt of Civil and Sacred authority, intemperance, uncleanness, rioting, Chambering,
wantonness, backsliding, and slandering, cheating, extortion, pride, covetousness,
with many other like abominations, Like a Deluge overflowing y* Land, all which
may justly provoke God to punish us yet seven times more for all our iniquities ;—
wherefore we do earnestly advise, intreat and beseech ministers and civil officers,
Chh-members, heads of families and all baptized persons to arise as one man and
return to y* Lord by repenting and reforming every thing that is provoking to a holy
God in themsclves, and endeavoring in their proper places to reform others, y! so
iniquity may not be our ruin; and parlicularly we would recommend it to y* several
Churches and Societies within our Limits by a Circular fast' in y* current year, to
implore a spirit of repentance and reforination, and that God would yet pardon us
and own us for his people and not cast us off.

This Consociation as a good expedient to prevent y® great abominations Commit-
ted on y* solemn public occasions of ordinations, do heartily recommend to all y*
Churches and Societies within y* county y* y® ancient apostolic practice be received
by y* Church and Society where an ordination is to be, as well as y* ordaining Coun-
cil, strictly keeping y* day as a Day of fasting and prayer.

A (rue copy—JOHN SEARL Seribe.”

Query:  Was this the way to help people out of a bad life into
a good one ?

If the statements were literally true of the churches (for to
them the letter is addressed), then they ought to have repented
in the severest way, but never again to have made a public pro- -
fession of the Christian graces; and if the statements were not
literally true, the Council had no right to make them.

So far as the denominations or peoples against whom the shafts
were hurled, we are reminded only of the old fable :—the wolf
up stream, the lamb down strecam, and the wolf complaining that
the lamb roiled the water, and thercfore the wolf had a justifica-
tion for eating the lamb. ’ '

These ministers and their predecessors had been in possession
of the whole country a hundred years,—offices, officers, churches,

! Holding fast days from one church to another throughout the county.
20
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. schools, and all,—and if what they say here was the result, it
was time to “arise’’ in some way “as one man,” or as a million, and
" make a change. But it is difficult to read these charges without
_ feeling that they were a marvelous exaggeration of religious de-
fects that never were intended to be taken as literal truth. It
was a kind of religious, theological mania in those days, to in-
dulge in very severe self-condemnation as the proper method to
attain the better or higher stages of Christian character and
Christian eé(perience; which method had grown up from the
preaching of the New Lights ; and this paper was, probably, the
first manifesto put forth by any council in this part, and per-
haps any part of Connecticut, by which the old churches as-
sumed or assented to the platform of the New Lights, and which
Dr. Bellamy maintained more and more to the end of his life.

o : “ The Great Bridge.”

This was built across the Housatonic river first, in 1737, at
what is now the foot of Bennitt Street, and was, as stated by
Mr. J. W. Barber, in his Connecticut Historical Collections, the
first bridge built over this river. between this place and Long
Island Sound. : : '

The first settlers located on the east side of this river, at New
Milford; which is quite a mystery to this day, since the rich
bottom land all ready for cultivation, called the “Indian Field,”
was on the west side. The crossing of this river so frequently,
in attending farm-work, was a matter of great inconvenience,
and led to the building of the bridge thus early. The place for
_.fording the river which was most convenient, on account of the
- depth of the water, was near the mouth of Rocky River, a
mile above the settlement, and in quite low water there was a
place for fording below Wannuppee island.

On.December 7, 1720, the town voted to build a boat for the
purpose of crossing the river, the expense to be borne “ by the
polls.” The boat was probably built, and served its purpose
about sixteen years, or to the time the bridge was erected. It
has been supposed that this boat was the one sunk in the mud
below the present bridge; but this is probably an error, since

- another boat was built in 1802, when the bridge was carried
away by a flood in September, which is undoubtedly the one re-
ferred to as still preserved in the bottom of the river.
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“May 4, 1736. Dea. John Bostwick, Capt. Stephen Noble, and Samuel Canfield
were chosen a committee to order all the prudentials in building a Bridge over the
Great River at New Milford in the place that Mr. Edmond Lewis hath pitched upon,
that is to agree with workmen to build the bridge, to receive the money that shall be
gathered for that use, and to pay out to the workmen.

“ At the same meeting Thomas Pickett, William Drinkwater, David Noble and
-Joseph Collins were chosen to carry a brief [a subscription] under the direction of
the committee to try what they can get for the building of the Bridge.

“May 15,1736. Voted that there shall be a memorial sent to the General
Assembly now sitting at Hartford for liberty to gather money by a brief for the
building of a bridge over the Great Rivet at New Milford.” In answer to which
the Legislature granted liberty to raise contributions to the amount of £200.

“Oct. 11, 1736. Capt. Stephen Noble, Dea. John Bostwick, Samuel Canfield,
Sergt. Nathaniel Bostwick and Joseph Ferriss were chosen a committee to ordér all
the prudentials in building a bridge over the Great River in said New Milford at the
place the town hath agreed upon and the aforesald committee are hereby impowered
to receive all the money that is contributed by any person or persons by consign-
ment or any other way and to lay it out for the building of said bridge, and the afore-
said committee are hereby obliged to render a true account of all their proceedings
to a committee that the town shall appoint; and Roger Brownson, sen., and Nathan
Talcott were chosen that committee.

* William Drinkwater and Thomas Pickett were chosen collectors to gather what
money they can in Fairfield county by contribution for the building of this bridge.

* Sergt. David Noble and Nathan Collins were chosen collectors to gather what
money they can in New Haven county by contribution for the bridge.

“ Nathan Gaylord was chosen collector to gather what money he can by contribu-
tion in New Milford for the building of the bridge.”

Dec. 13, 1736. Committees were continued for building the
bridge and for collecting money.

“Dec. 12, 1737. Nathan Gaylord, Daniel Bostwick and Azariah _Canfield were
chosen a committee to take care of the bridge and they shall have power to employ
men on the town’s cost to secure the bridge.”

This was not a toll-bridge, but free, and resisted the floods
about three years, when a part of it was carried away by a flood,
and the town voted to repair the breach, but to petition the
General Assembly to grant the liberty of a toll-bridge, and if
this should be secured the toll should be distributed among those
who paid tax to repair the bridge. The privilege for taking toll
was granted, but it was so little that they petitioned the next
spring for an increase of toll.

At the same time, they granted Rev, Daniel Boardman the
privileges of the bridge free of cost; and to several families the
same privileges, on paying ten shillings the first year; after that
they were taxed as all others. By this arrangement it has been
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ascertained when quite a number of families first came into the
town.

At the same time, after appointing Mr. Samuel Canfield, Mr.
Nathaniel Bostwick, and Mr. James Hine a committee to take
care of and order the affairs of the bridge for a year, they ordered
. that “Gideon Benedict and Robert Bostwick shall pass and
repass over the said bridge toll-free, they paying to the said
‘committee, each of them, ten shillings old tenour currency, and
also pay their part in repairing the said bridge according to their
said list of estate; also Charles Duncombe shall pass toll-free
over said bridge, he paying ten shillings; and also John Nearing
on the same conditions.” And, being in a bridge-building mood
as well as in need of bridges, they ordered at this time that there
should be a bridge built over the Aspetuck near its mouth, and
that the surveyors should have “liberty of calling out the in-
habitants from Mr. Stephens’ house, taking the east lane so far
northward as including Giles Oviatt’s house and extending south-
ward as far as the Great Brook, including Mr. Nathaniel Bost-
wick and Mr. Fisk and their families for one day, and all within
said limits shall be allowed one day for the said work, and also
Nathan Gaylord, Capt. Stephen Noble, and Joseph Welch are
chosen a committee for ordering the affair of building said
bridge.”

Another vote for the freedom of the toll-bridge is found in
March, 1743, in favor of Mr. George Mecune, Mr. Partridge
Thatcher, Mr. Justus Miles, and John Comstock, provided they
should pay ten shillings; receive no benefit from the toll-money,
and afterward sustain their proportion of the cost of repairs on
the bridge. »

In December, 1743, a dividend was made of the receipts from
the toll-bridge to the proprietors upon the list of 1740.

“Dec. 1743. All persons that shall pass or repass on the Sabbath or Lord’s
Day, between sun-rising and sun-set, in order to attend the public worship of God
in a lawful congregation in New Milford, shall pass free from paymg toll over the
great bridge in said town for the ensuing year.

“Feb. 6, 1743-4. Voted that Mr. Roger Sherman shall pass and repass over the
bridge and his family; he paying ten shillings.

“ Dec. 1743. Voted that all Indian natives shail pass and repass over the bridge
toll-free.”

In 1750, the Assembly fixed. the toll of the bridge in “Pro-
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clamation money " (quite different from old tenor) at “two pence
farthing for each man, horse, and load, one penny for each single
person, and one penny per head for each horse and neat kme,
and an half for each sheep or swine, for five years.”

In 1755, this bridge was carried away, most of it, and a new
bridge built by the tax-payers of the town; and the Assembly
granted, in February, 1756, the privilege of taking toll of all
persons cxcept the tax-payers of the town; but this bridge stood
a little over one year when “a great part” of it went away in a

"flood. The town became discouraged at this calamity, and made
a public offer, on certain conditions, to any company that would
build a bridge and sustain it as a toll-bridge ; and “Paul Welch,
James Hine, Roger Sherman and others,” are named as proprie-
tors of the bridge. It is thought that it was at this time that
the location of the bridge was changed from the foot of Bennitt
strect to where it is now standing.

In 1766, the bridge, or a considerable part of it, was carried
away, and rebuilt; and, three years after, a part of it went off
again ; when, being repaired, it remained not a year, and was
nearly all of it carried away, and they voted, in January, 1770,
“that the town will relinquish all their right to any of their part
in or to the remaining part of the Great Bridge, to the proprie-
tors who shall rebuild the same in any place between the Little
Falls and Wannupe Island.”

It was after this manner that the people spent' their money
and labor to secure a good crossing to this river.

In 1802, after stages began to run for carrying the mail, the
bridge was carried away, and the stage-coach company sued the
town for damages in failing to make a crossing, and the town
employed Homer Boardman to build a boat to be run across
by a long rope, to meet the emergency, and the next spring they -
applied to the Assembly for the privilege of a toll-bridge.



 CHAPTER X.
THE EPISCOPAL CHURCH.
1743—1827.

N 1708, the General Assembly of Connecticut passed
what was called the Act of Toleration, by which all
persons who soberly dissented from the worship and

. ministry by law established,—that is, the Congrega-

tional order,—were permitted to enjoy the same lib-

2_.» erty of conscience with the Dissenters in England,
under the act of William and Mary. That act exempted Dis-
senters from punishment for non-conformity to the established
church, but did not exempt them from taxation for its mainte-
nance. And therefore, by appearing before the County Court,

"and in legal forms declaring their sober dissent, any persons in
the Colony of Connecticut could obtain permission to have pub-
lic worship in their own way ; but they were still obliged to pay.
for the support of the Congregational churches in the place of
their respective residences, in which the law followed the exam-
ple of the mother cquntry.

The Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign
Parts was chartered in England, June 16, 1701, and among its
first acts was that of sending to this and other British colonies
on the American continent, a missionary to itinerate and make
personal observations. The individual selected for this purpose
was George Keith, a Scotchman by birth, who, in connection
with the Rev. John Talbot, a chaplain of a ship, visited New
London, where they passed a Sunday ; and both of them preached,
being invited to do so, by Mr. Gurdon Saltonstall, then the Con-
gregational minister in that place, and afterwards the governor
of the colony. He “civilly entreated them at his house, and ex-
pressed his good affection to the Church of England.” In gen-
eral they reported of Connecticut that it contained “thirty thous-
and souls [in] about thirty-three towns, all Dissenters, supplied
with ministers and schools of their own persuasion.”
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The Rev. George Muirson was ordained by the Bishop of
London in 1705, and sent as a missionary to the church of Rye,
N. Y., and in the summer of 1706 he, with the Hon. Caleb
Heathcote of New York, set out upon a journey to explore the
shore towns from Greenwich to Stratford, at which latter place
Mr. Muirson preached to a very numerous congregallon. "and
baptized about twenty-four, mostly grown people.”

The Churchmen of Stratford were organized into a parish,
with wardens and vestrymen, at the visit of Mr. Muirson in
April, 1707.

Episcopal services were held in Newtown, as early as 1724,
by the Rev. Dr. Samuel Johnson, then pastor at Stratford, and
in 1732, the Rev. John Beach was established as pastor in New-
town in that denomination.

As to the introduction of Episcopal service into New Milford,
the Rev. Stanley Griswold, in his centennial sermon, says:
* Some individuals of this persuasion cane into town at an early
period; but no stated worship was held here till somewhere -
between the years 1740 and 1745. Worship was then carried
on here first by the Rev. Mr. Beach of Newtown. One Mr.
Barzillai Dean read service here for some years, then went to
England for orders with a view to settle here on his return, but
died in his passage

Episcopal service was most probably held in this place as
early as 1742, and perhaps several years earlier, for the Rev.
Mr. Beach of Newtown attended a wedding service here in 1739.
This seems quite probable, also, since early in 1743 there were
a considerable number of Churchmen in the place, and a
movement was made towards building a house of worship; and
in view, probably, of supporting the preaching of the gospel
after the manner of their own church, they objected to paying
for the support of the Congregational minister, and hence the
subject came up in a special town meeting, February 6, 1743-4:
“Voted that the Churchmen shall be brought into the list to
make up the minister’s rate, according to the directions of the
law.” This “Rate” was for the regular salary of Mr. Daniel
Boardman ; but his health soon failed, so that additional moneys

* Beardsley's History of the Church in Conn.
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were to be raised for the maintaining of preaching, by calling in
other ministers, when the following order was established.
“June 6, 1744. Voted, that those of us that are of the Church
of England shall be freed from paying any charge that shall
* arise by hiring any minister to come into the town to preach
here, for the space of onc year, provided that our circumstances
remain as they now are; but if, by the providence of God, our
reverend pastor should be taken away, so that we are obliged to
call another minister for settlement within one year, then this
vote to cease and be void, and the said Churchmen to be under
the same regulations as the other inhabitants.”

More than a year previous to this last vote, the interests of
the Churchmen had been put into a definite form, according to
the ' following record: “March 17, 1743. Voted, upon the
desire of, : '

1. HENRY GARLICK, 7 THOMAS NOBLE,
2.0BADIAH WELLER, 8. GEORGE MECUEN,
3. JOHN WELLER, 9. CHARLES DUNCOMB,
4. JOHN PRINDLE, 10. DANIEL PICKETT,
5. SAMUEL PRINDLE, 11. WILLIAM HUTCHINGS,
6. DANIEL PRINDLE, 12. PARTRIDGE THATCHER,

to grant them a piece of land in the street east of Mr. Samuel
Prindle’s house, upon the hill near where the old pound used to
stand, sixty feet in length and forty feet in breadth, in order to
build a Church of England upon, and for no other purpose.

“Voted, that the above named petitioners shall have liberty to
- use a piece of land eastward of Samuel Prindle’s house of sixty
feet in length and forty feet in breadth, the length to be east
and west, to build a house for the worship of God during the
time the house shall be kept on the land ; also that Mr. Nathan-
iel Bostwick, David Noble, and Daniel Bostwick shall be a com-
mittee to set out the bounds of the said land.” - -

The names of these twelve petitioners call to remembrance
the twelve names of the first petitioners to the General Assem-
" bly for “ Society privileges ” in October, 1711, a little more than
thirty-one years before, when there were, probably, only twelve
families in the plantation ; now there were in the neighborhood
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of one hundred and twenty-five families in the town, for, in a
town-meeting three years later, in a time of much interest in re-
gard to the settling of a new minister, there were one hundred
and fifteen legal voters present, who voted,—sixty-three for one
candidate and fifty-two for the other. Here then is the SeconD
TweLVE, long to be rememtered, because they were the movers
in the first public act which was to establish the sacred forms of
worship in this denomination, in which the generations of this com- .
munity for many ages should be blessed ;—a tree planted by the
river of waters, growing strong and grand in centennial epochs,

until its shadowing branches should invite thousands to its .

secure repose and safety. Feeble and faint, possibly, were these
hands first lifted to plant this tree, but, after one hundred and
thirty-eight years, a strong church bears testimony to the noble-
ness of the work begun so long ago. Could those plain but ear-
nest twelve men have seen the foundations laid of the new edifice
of granite, now rising in its symmetrical and beautiful propor-
tions on the cast side of the village-green, instead of the middle
of the street, they would have felt stronger in their efforts in the
days of seed-planting, and been able to say, with joyful hope
of abundant golden harvests, Now lettest thou thy servants
depart in peace, for we have seen a little of 7/Zy glory. But
little do the seed-sowers know what the harvest shall be. Since
memory might fail of her duty to the departed great, it is well
to pause here to make some little record as to wl)o those twelve
. men of 1743 were.

1. Henry Garlick was in Milford, where his eldest child
was born, in December, 1718, and he was in New Milford in
March, 1721, when his name occurs in connection with the Com-
mon Field. He bought several small pieces of land between
1724 and 1730; had a large family, seven of which were sons.
Rev. Stanley Griswold’s sermon says he came from England.
His eldest daughter was married to William, son of Dea. James
Prime, by the Rev. John Beach of Newtown, in 1739, and the
family had an honorable standing in the community. Henry Gar-
lick did not join the Congregational Church, being, probably, an
adherent to the Episcopal Church from the first, and was glad,
doubtless, when he saw a probability that a house of worship

according to his own faith was hkely to be erected. The land
21 ,
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he purchased was on or near the Aspetuck, a little northeast of
the old Nathan Gaylord place.

2. Obadiah Weller was the son of John, one of the first

twelve settlers in New Milford. He was born in 1699 ; came
with his father's family to this place, probably, in or before 1710,
and at the time of the above petition he was forty-five years of
age, and had a family of three children. He united with the
Congregational Church in 1726, and seems to have been in good
standing in 1731, when he was one of the nineteen who with-
drew from that church, and united with the Quakers; and in
. 1743 he joined the Church of England.
B 5 '.Joh'n Weller, eldest son of John, Sen., born in 1694,
came with his father to New Milford, as early as 1710, and mar-
ried Lydia Waller of Woodbury, in 1723, and had a family of
five sons. He united with the First Church in 1727.

4. John Prindle, born about 1705, was the son of Samuel

Prindle, one of the first twelve settlers in this town. John's
dwelling-house, at this time, was on * the west side of the Great
River, on the west side of the Great Plain,” near his brother
Samuel's home, at the “ Goose Pond.” So said his father in a
‘deed to his daughter. He united with the First Church in 1726,
and in 1729 was suspended from communion for abusive language
in regard to Rev. Daniel Boardman. In 1731 he united with the

. Quakers, and, after twelve years, gave his adherence to the

Episcopal Church.

5. Samuel Prindle, son of Samuel, Sen.,, was residing .
at the time near his brother John Prindle’s dwelling-house, on
the west side of the plain. He united with the First Church in
1720; in 1731 he was one of the nineteen who left that Church
and united with the Quakers, and, in 1743, he became an Epis-
copalian,.according to this list, with his two brothers.

6. Daniel PPrindle, brother of John and Samuel, had a
family of four children, and resided, probably, with his father on
the west side, south end of what is now the public green in New
Milford village. He united with the First Church in 1727 ; with
the Quakers in 1731, and with the Church of England in 1743.

%*. Thomas Noble, born in 1712, the eldest son of John
Noble, 24, married Mary Curtis, in 1737. He erected the first
house north of Gallows Hill, where he resided until his decease,
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in 1783, aged 71 years. He united with the First Church in 1727,
was an active man in the town, and for many years one of the
owners of the Iron Works, and was one of the principal sup-
porters of -the Episcopal Church. But few deserve more praise
than he as a steady, true, and faithful Christian.

8. George McEuen came from Scotland, and had been
in the town but a short time when he signed this petition. The
first land he purchased was in 1745, near Plank Swamp, and he
continued to purchase small pieces until he had secured a com-
fortable farm on the road to Merryall, where his descendants
still reside. He was a very strong Churchman, so much so, it is
related, that he objected to the Congregational people having a
steeple on their meeting-house, saying that in England the law
forbid dissenting churches to have stecples to their houses of
worship. He is also reported to have said that he did not know,
but by hearsay, ‘that the Congregational meeting-house had a
steeple, for he had never condescended to look at it, although
often passing within a few rods of the building. Such energy
of sentiment indicates the possession of great joy and delight
in his own Church, against which no one at the present day ob-
jects. Mr. McEuen (now spelled Ewen), was a very upright,
valuable citizen.

“Dec. 9, 1745. Voted, that a committee shall lease to Mr. George Mecuen one
acre of land in the highway in New Milford at the south end of Plank Swamp, so
called, for the term of two hundred years, for a sum that the said committee shall
appraise the said Jand at, and measure and lay out said land; Mr. Samuel Canfield,
Capt. Na*haniel Bostwick, and Mr. Ebenezer Fisk, were chosen the committee
for the above said work.” - : .

9. Charles Duncomb resided in the town but a few
years.

10. Daniel Pickett, son of Doct. Thomas Pickett, born
in 1719, was twenty-four years of age. He married Margaret
Beardsley, in Stratfield, September 16, 1741, and died in 1794,
having many years to work for the enterprise he so early
espoused. He left a son Daniel, who had a family, and his
déscendants remained in the town until within a few years.

11. William Iutchings, married Elizabeth, daughter
of Samuel Prindle. No family record of his has been seen.
He purchased several pieces of land in 1742 and 3, and appears
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to have'resided on the west side of the plain south of the Indian
burying-place, but afterwards resided below the Great Falls, on
the east side of the river.

12. Partridge Thatcher,a la'wyer. was a somewhat cele- -
* brated character in Litchfield county. He came from Lebanon,
Windham county, and bought of Joc! Hervey, of New Mil-
ford, a tract of land lying at or near the mouth of Rocky
River, with a dwelling-house and barn, and three-fourths of a saw-
mill standing on it, with all Mr. Hervey’s “ Right” in the town-
ship, for £8t5, January 4, 1742-3, and the other one-fourth of.
the saw-mill he bought nine days after, of Joseph Seelye, for
4£40.. He purchased two other pieces of land soon after. for
4165, and established himself very fairly as a farmer and busi-
ness man, and as such was successful for many years. In 1774
he liberated one of his slaves, in 1780, two others, and in 1781,
two more; an account of which may be seen elsewhere in this
book. He possessed great energy of character, with decided re-
ligious and moral conyictions, and, being such, and united to the
Episcopal Church, he was just qualified to be, in the Revolution-
ary War, as he was, a full-blooded Tory ; nevertheless, he pos-
sessed some very admirable qualities, and coming at the time he
did into the town, he gave a decidedly favorable impulse and in-
fluence to the Church of England, as the Episcopal Church was
then called, and - the result was the erection of a house of wor-
ship in a few years. ‘As to the liberation of his slaves, a pleas-
ant story is still rehearsed as coming from one of those slaves,
who, ever after the act of freedom, took great delight in repeat-
ing the story to her children and friends, as an act of great re-
nown to Partridge Thatcher. She is said to have closed the
rehearsal of the story always with this remark: * You see, chil-
dren, it was this way ; you would all have been slaves to this
day if it had not been for Partridge Thatcher and God Almighty.”
He died January 9, 1786, in the seventy-second year of his age.
The inscription on his tombstone was composed by himself.

Through Mr. Thatcher's efforts particularly, a lot of land was
purchased in the Indian Field, in 1751, to the amount of £2co,
‘and deeded to the Wardens of this Church as a fund “for the
use and benefit of the Church forever.” In 1772 the Church-
men voted to sell this land, called a “ Glebe lot,” and purchase



THE EPISCOPAL CHURCH. : 165

a house and' lot of Mr. Imus, “for the Rev. Mr. Clark to live
in,” and to pay 46o for the property.

He was the architect and builder of the second house of wor-
ship for the Episcopal Church, and probably for the first one
also.

“December 13, 1756. Voted [in town meeting], that eight
pounds old tenor money shall be and is given to Mr. Partridge
Thatcher out of the town which he borrowed of the town a little
before his mill was burnt. Voted in the affirmative by a great
majority.” '

He is said to have been uncle to Jared Lane, who married in
this town the same year Mr. Thatcher did.

The location of the first house of worship for the Eplscopal
people was at the extreme south end of the Green in New Mil-
ford village, and was erected probably in 1744, the next year
after the vote: to give them the privilege of locating it on the
town street. '

After Mr. Boardman’s decease, and soon after the town vote
to bestow a part of the Parsonage land upon the next Congre-
gational minister who should be settled in the town, the follow-
ing was passed in the Proprietors’ meeting : _

“ Proprietors’ Mecting. March 4, 1744-5. Voted, that those
proprietors who are of the Church of England in this present
day, and those of the Friends, in said New Milford, shall have
their equal proportion of the Proprietors’ Right, according to their
Proprietee, set out to them, which shall be disposéd of to en-
courage or support the Gospel in said New Milford ; that is to
say, their equal proportion with those of the Presbyterian order
that is now given or disposed of in quantity and quality.

“Voted, that a committee shall be chosen to set out the land
that is granted for the Churchmen, and those called Friends, for
quantity and, quality, according to their grant aforesaid ; and at
the same meeting Capt. Nathanicl Bostwick, Joseph Ferriss, and
Ebenezer IFisk were chosen a commitiee for the above work.”

Rev. Mr. Griswold says, in his centennial sermon (and he had
the best opportunity for knowing), that services were first *car-
ried on here by the Rev. Mr. Beach of Newtown, between 1740
and 1745,” and that *‘one Mr. Barzillai Dean read services here
for some years, then went to England for orders with a view to



166 ' HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

settle here on his return, but died on his passage.” - The follow-
ing is a sample of the accessions this church received from time
- to time up to the Revolution: “ Dec., 1748. In yc same meet-
ing, Jonah Dayton declared himself to be of y+ Episcopal order.”
_ .Bev. Solomon Palmer was the first Episcopal minister
residing here.  He was a Congregational minister in Cornwall ;
changed his views, and united with the Episcopal Church; went to
England, where he received ordination in that denomination, and
returned as a Missionary, stationed at New Milford, with a num-
ber of other towns as his parish. He purchased on May 27, 1755,
the house and lot of Samuel Adkins, at the northern end of
Aspetuck Hill, for £1,250, and also purchased land a little cast
of the old: Pickett place,—where Mr. Henry Booth now resides,—
on the hill, but where he resided is not known. He settled here

- in 1754, and removed to Litchfield about the year 1760.

Rev. Thomas Davies was the second settled minister
in this church. He was sent here as a missionary in 1761, and,
- by the arrangement of the society under whose directions he
labored, he was pastor of the churches of New Milford, Rox-
bury, Sharon, New Preston, and New Fairfield. Litchfield
was added to his circuit as early as 1763, with occasional ser-
vices at Washington, Kent, Woodbury, Cornwall, Salisbury, and
Great Barrington, Mass.

He wrote on June 25, 1764: “In New Milford our church
edifice is too small, and we have gathered most of the material
for a new one, which we shall begin to build early next spring.”
In June, 1765, he wrote: “Our church in New Milford was
raised this spring, which, if we can possibly finish, will be a very
commodious building, having a steeple and chancel. To put
-forward this church, I have taken unwearied pains and expended
all the money, not only that I could spare, but all I could get ;
and 1 am fearful, considering my farther capacity to help, and
the present distressing circumstances of our country, that after
all it will not be fit for service in some years” It was not
- wholly finished until 1793, when it was consecrated by the Rt.
. Rev. Samuel Seabury, D.D. This building stood on the green,
about thirty rods north of the first one, and near the locality of
the present band-stand on the green. The architect and builder
was Partridge Thatcher, Esqr. “The number of families under
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Mr. Davies’s care was 72, and the number of communicants 43.
Through his efforts the gift of a library was obtained from the
Missionary Society. Mr. Davies overworked himself, took a
severe cold, which produced a lung disease, from which he died
May 12, 1766, a complete sacrifice to his energy and the difficul-
ties around him. In his brief career as a minister he had
become well-known ; had been invitéd to settle at Hempstead,.
L. I, in 1764, and was mentioned quite extensively as the prob-
able candidate for the office of bishop, when the Church in
America should be allowed to clect one. :

At his death Mr. Davies was the father of two children. The
elder, William, resided with his grandfather Joel Hervey, of
Sharon (formerly of New Milford), until he was thirteen years of
age; then engaged in business, and, in 1799, went to Pough-
keepsie, N. Y., where he became the wealthiest man in Dutchess
County. He died there about 1857, aged 94 years, leaving two
sons, Thomas L. Davies, Esqr., and William Davies, both of
Poughkeepsie.

On December 14, 1767, the town’ voted to “pay out of its
treasury £14 t1os. lawful money, to the Church of England, for
their old church for a Town House, and that the town will this
present year repair the Town House.” This house was used for
a town-house twenty years, until the old town and school-house
that stood at the north end of the green was built. ,

Rev. Richard Cbark, from Milford, was settled here as
missionary pastor of this church in 1767, and remained twenty
years, until 1787. In 1772, the *“Glebe lot,” in the Indian field,
was sold by vote of the Churchmen, and a house and lot pur-
chased of Mr. Innes for £60, for Mr. Clark to reside in, which
house and lot may have been in the southeast part of the village,
east of the old Pickett place.

The records of the doings of the Church of England were made
in part by the clerk of the First Ecclesiastical Society for many-
yecars, in’the same book with the doings of the Ifirst Society.
The officers for the Church Society were appointed by the First
Society, such as committee-men and collector of the minister’s sal-
ary, and also meetings were called by the First Society,—as a mat-

! Rev. Mr. Acly’s Historical Sermon.
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ter of legality,—for the church to transact its own business, and
the following is a record of such a meeting:

_ “November 26, 1773, the society meeting then opened accord-
ing to adjournment. Voted, that the Church-wardens shall hire
a house for Rev. Mr. Clark for the year ensuing, and shall let
out the present Glebe house and lot, and what the hire of a
house shall cost more than the Glebe lot will let for shall be
made up in the minister’s rate.

“Voted, that the Donation notes they called in and laid out in
the Glebe house and lot, if any overplus, be laid out in land for.
the church, .

-“Voted, that Daniel Pickett shall be a committee-man to
assist the Church-wardens in laying and selling and calling in
the Donation notes for the benefit of the church.

“Voted, that Abel Gillett shall be a committee for the same
purpose. '

“Voted, that the Church-wardens and the above committee,
or the major part of them, shall have liberty to sell the present
Glebe house and lot, and purchase some other house and land
that they shall think convenient and proper, and lay out the
money that the Glebe lot sells for, and to pay the same as far
as it will go, and to pay the remainder out of the Donation
money.” )

According to the above instructions, Daniel Pickett and Abel
Gillett, as church-wardens of St. John’s Church, purchased, on
February 7, 1775, of Smith Clark and Jane Clark, of Litchfield,
the house and lot known for many years as the Glebe, now occu-
pied by Mrs. Eli Mygatt,—the present house having been built
since that time. :

Mr. Clark was here during the Revolutionary War, and did
well, so far as known, under the very great difficulties which sur-
rounded him. The church fell behind in paying him, as appears
by the following record, made in the First Society’s records :

‘* Dec. 27, 1784. Jesse Noble and John McEwen, Jr., chosen to collect the rate
payable from the professors of the Church of England to the Rev. Richard Clark,
made upon the lists of 1778 and 1779, and William Gillett, Jr., and the said John
McEwen, Jr, to cdllect the rate on list 1780, and John McEwen and Elnathan

Noble to collect the rate on the list 1781, and also Ephraim Richmond and Williain
McEwen to collect the rate upon the list 1782 ; all the above-named collectors to

'
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collect the several sums legally made upon e;ch of said lists respectively, and
pay the same to the society treasurer by the day of May, 1785.”

But Mr. Clark, after long years of patient work amidst great
darkness of circumstances, became disheartened just at the dawn’
of day, and removed to Nova Scotia, taking with him all the
books of the library Rev. Mr. Davies had secured. This con-
duct has seemed strange to many, but it will not, if it is remem-
bered that at that time it was quite generally supposed that the
Episcopal Church would be speedily banished from the United
States. Mr. Clark, most probably, supposed that unless he took
the library with him, it would soon fall into the hands of the
Congregationalists, and that therefore, he, as a faithful Church-
man, should secure it for the church to whom it belonged, to be
used elsewhere. .

Rev. Tillotson Bronson officiated about one year follow-
ing, some little time after Mr. Clark.

Rev. Truman Marsh was settled in this parish in 1790,
and remained nine years, when he returned to Litchfield, where he
died March 28, 1851. In the autumn of 17go, he married, in
Litchfield, Clarissa, daughter of Moses Seymour of that place.
She was aunt to Chief Justice S. O. Seymour, and Gov. Horatio
Seymour of New York. The wedding party left Litchfield in
the morning after the wedding services, and proceeding toward
New Milford, were met by a number of carriages as an escort to
the parsonage (where the Treadwell house now. stands) in the
village, where the ladies had provided an introductory dinner
and greeting. After dinner, Mr. Marsh and Mr. Griswold, being
college classmates, devoted the passing hours .to a review of
earlier years, and the company adjourned to the rooms of the
old Town House, which stood at the head of Main street, where,
with appropriate music, the party enjoyed the afternoon in danc-
ing,—the two ministers’ wives having the honor of leading the
company at the first dance.

When Mr. Marsh was scttled here, the Episcopal house of
worship was in an unfinished state; it being the second one
built for this church, and was erected in 1765, under Mr. Davies's
pastorate. In September, 1790, just at the time Mr. Marsh
commenced his labors here, the town entered upon the work of
selling the superabundance of land in the wide highways in the

22
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town, for the benefit of all the ecclesiastical societies in the
town. The Proprietors of these lands and the town meeting
passed votes to this effect, and these lands thus donated were
called Donation Lands. The whole amount of money realized
from these sales, effected during several years, was a little over
4295, which, being divided according to the tax-list of each
society, gave to the Episcopal society £46. A part of this
money had been obtained, and was divided to the societies in
June, 1793, the Episcopal body receiving then £27, and with
that and other contributions their house of worship was finished,
and was the same year consecrated by Bishop Samuel Seabury.
Rev. Mr. Davies, in a report, said of this edifice, in 1765: “ Our
" church was raised this spring, which, if we can possibly finish,
will be a very commodious building, having a steeple and
chancel.” This house, when finished, had a front gallery, a high
pulpit with winding stairs, slips for the body-seats, and pews on
the sides of the house, and in this house the congregation wor-
shipped until 1837 or '38.

The Episcopal Church was prosperous durmg Mr. Marsh’s
pastorate, but the few years immediately following, under the
remarkable popular labors of Mr. Griswold, the Congregational

. Church was very successful, and the Episcopal, being without a
pastor, lost ground so much that the next minister in the parish
could be supported by it only in part. At the time,—1799,—
that Mr. Marsh returned to Litchfield, the fever-and-ague pre-
vailed in New Milford severely, and Mr. Marsh and his wife,
being ill with it on alternate days, went each on the well day,
one going one day and the other on the following day. .

Rev. Benjamin Benham was installed in St.John’s parish
in March, 1807, after preaching here several months. His en-
gagement was for one-third of his time in this parish at a salary
from it of $500, and New Preston and Roxbury were annexed
to St. John's, and afterwards he took the additional work of the
Episcopal Church in Brookfield; but, during his labors of twenty
years, the parish so increased that for several of his last years
here St. John’s parish supported him, and hé gave all of his
time to it. When under Mr. Elliott’s labors in the Congrega-
tional Church here, all the old Half-way Covenant members were
dropped, about 1810, it wag the day of strength and prosperity
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to the Iipiscopal Church. There can be but little doubt, also,
that many of -these Half-way Covenant members who were
thrown out, were just as good and true Christians as any who
-had ever joined the Church before or since that day. - Having
served here just twenty years, Mr. Benham resigned his place
in March, 1827, and removed to Brookfield, where he died Oct.
3, 1854. ,During his pastorate, a fund was established, the
intcrest of which was to be applicd for the support of public
worship, and in 1815 the first bell was procured for this Church.

Public Schools.

If a consecutive history of the public schools of the town
could be given, it would be a most interesting chaptgr, and would
develop the characteristics of the citizens in a very correct
degree in the general; but the records are so meager, and the
men and women who might have given a fair report on this sub-
ject being all gone, the best that can be done will be only frag-
mentary, and will give but little real account’of what has been
accomplished. It is interesting to know, however, that when
there were but about twenty-five families residing in the town a
public school was ordered in the following action in town meet-
ing: * Sept. 21, 1721. It was by vote agreed that there should
be a school maintained for four months this winter following,
the town to bear half the charge of said school.” The following
statements are taken from the records of town meetings: i

“Dec. 11, 1721. It was agreed that a committee be chosen to hire a school:
master, and the committee are John Bostwick, Sen., William Gaylord, and Stephen
Noble, and they are empowered to do their work. '

*“Dec. 10, 1722, Zechariah Ferrigs, lenjamin Bunnell, and Stephen Noble were
chosen a committee for a school and empowered to raise so much nioney as they
shall find necessary in sending out and hiring a schoolmoster for threc months in the
winter, and a schoolmistress or master for three months in the summer.

“Sep. 28, 1723. 'Wm. Gaylord, John Weller, and Roger Brownson were chosen a
committee for a school, and they shall raise money for the school as the law directs.
It w.s agreed that the scholars shall find themselves wood by an equal proportion.

“Dec. 11, 1724. Voted, that children from the age of scven years to twelve shall
pay to the school hire in New Milford. i

“ Dec. 22, 1724. Voted, that children that are above twelve years of age or under
seven, shall pay to the school according to the time they go in equal proportion with
other scholars for the tiine they go, and Sergt. James Prime, Ens. William Gaylord,
and John Weller, Sen., were chosen to order the prudentials of the school, to hire a
schoolmaster, and to hire a house and other necessary things; and that the school
shall be kept three months in the winter, and three months in the summer.
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“Jan. 14, 1725-6. Voted, that there shall be a school-house built this next
spring.

“ Voted, that the house shall be twenty fect long and sixteen feet wide and seven
feet between joints: and Sargt. Benjamin Bunnell, James Prime, and Jonathan
Buck were chosen to order the building of said house ; and they arc empowered to,
raise a ratc to defray the charge of this house.

“Mar. 3, 1728-9. At a meeting of the proprietors of thc Common Ficld, it was
voted that the meetings should be holden at the school-house until it was finished.”

The location of this house has not been ascertained. In
1729, the regulations fixed by the town allowed children from
seven to twelve years of age to pay in proportion to the time
they attended, but older ones probably paid an equal share.

About 1732 a school was established at the ‘¢ South Farms,”
- an account of which may be seen in the chapter on Brookfield.
The first school-house at that place was near Capt. John War-
ner’'s house, but soon after another was built at the Iron Works.

In 1748, a school-house was established “ in the highway east-
ward from David Camp's house-lot, at the north end of Plank
Swamp, about six rods northward from said swamp,” and on the
same site has been a school-house ever since, a new one having
been built in 1881. This locality was first called Poplar Swamp,
next, Plank Swamp, then for many years Pug Lane, but now
Park Lane.

Besides all that was done by public moneys for the schools of
the town, a legacy in land was' left by Benoni Stebbins, who
died in 1758, to the First Socnety, which land, or a part of it,
was.sold to Mrs. Stebbins and Zachariah Sanford in 1759, for
two hundred pounds, money. Then the society voted to estab-
lish a new school district, which included what is now the north-
ern part of the village of New Milford, with considerable terri-
tory extending southward nearly to the Falls. At that time
what is now Park Lane was as much of 'a village, if not more,
than where the village now stands, and in obedience to the dircc-
tions of the Stebbins Legacy, a school-house was erected in
harmony with the following:

“Voted, that there may be a school-house built between Doct.
John Carrington’s dwelling-house [which was a little way west
from Mr. William Bostwick's present dwelling] and Daniel
Burritt’s ‘shop, to keep a school in for improvement of Mr.
Benoni Stebbins' donation, given to this society, for that
purpose.”
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In 1760, the town on the west side of the Housatonic was
divided into only two school districts, and the distance for some
of the children to walk must have been nearly three miles.

The school kept at the Stebbins school-house was a kind of
free academy some years, as indicated by the following :

“Voted, that the school-house built by Messrs."”Amos North-
rop, Samuel Canfield, and their associates, near the widow Susan-
nah Carrington’s dwelling-house, which said school-house is
known by the name of Stebbins’ School-house, that the sole
property of the same does rest in the proprietors that built the
house ; and that the proprietors of said house shall have the use
and improvement of Mr. Stebbins’ donation given to this society,
provided said proprietors shall use and improve said money be-
tween the first day of April and the last day of October annu-
ally, and that the school shall be free for any of the inhabitants

~of this society to send to said school.” '

By certain acts of the General Assembly, several townships of
“ Western Lands” in Connecticut were sold, and the proceeds. .
devoted to aid the public schools of the State. The last of these
lands, the town of Norfolk, was sold the second time in 1754,
soon after which (in 1762) New Milford drew her proportion, and
from that time the schools of the town were conducted with
more energy and liberality. The large territory of the town
was divided again and again until the Revolution, and in several
instances three or four families, at a distance from any school- -
house, were allowed to unite together in holding a school among
themselves, and to draw their proportion of public funds for the
support of schools. '

Ecclesiastical Sociely mecting, Fan. 3, 1782,

“ Voted, that the several school districts in said society be.
each one numbered and named, by which they shall hereafter be
called and known.”

1. Centre District. 7. Dunning's District.

2. Northrup’s District. 8. Noble’s District.

3. Pinchgut District. 9. Chestnutland District.
4. Second Hill District. 10. Down Town District.
5. Neck District. 11.  Buck’s District.

6.

Bennitt’s District. 12. Boardman’s District.
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13. Cranbury District, 18. Long Mountain District.
14. Woodcreek District. 19. - Gaylord's District.

15. Townhill Brook District. 20. Mount Tom District.

16. Paine’s District. 21. Zachariah Ferris’s District.

17. Stilson’s District,

*“In town meeting, Dec. 24, 1787, Voted, that the town will give £6o, L. M'y
[lawtul money] out of the Town Treasury to the three centre districts and also the
old town house as it now stands, for the purpose of building a new town house, as
some of the members of said districts propose to build a school and town-house both
under the same roof,—in consideration of the town giving them £60 and the old
town house as aforesaid. [The old tcwn house was that which had been the first
Episcopal Church.] . :
. “ Also voted, that Messrs. Stephen Chittenden, Jahez Worster, Martin Warner,

. Elizur Warner, Reuben Bostwick, Dea. Hlenj. Gaylord, and Benj. Buckingham

be and are a committee to agree upon and affix the place where said house shall be

built, and also to determine the dimentions and construction of said house, and that
‘they meet on next Monday for said purpose.

“Also voted, that one person from each of said districts viz.: Mess. Reuben
Booth, Josiah Starr and David Northrop, meet with the abovesaid comnmittee to
agree upon the dimentions and manner in which said house shall be built.

* At the desire of the town of New Milford and according to the within votes of
said town, we the subscribers met on Monday the 3ist day of December instant, at
the house of Col. Josiah Starr, and having heard the arguments for and against the
several places which are proposed to have a town and school-house set upon: having
viewed all the different proposed places proper for said building and havipg weighed
the arguments, do adjudge that it will be the most convenient place to have the town
and school-house built at the north end of the town street, north of. the cross high-
way, south of Dart’s shop, a little easterly of a large rock in the street at a heap of

~stones made by us; and that the said house be built thirty-six feet long and twenty-
two feet wide with eighteen feet posts, with a chimney at each end; the first story to
be eight feet high, the second story to be ten feet high and arched, the roof to be
straight. -

Benjamin Gaylord, Jabez Worster, .
* Stephen Chittenden, , Benjamin Buckingham,

Reuben Bostwick, Martin Warner,

Elizur Warner, David Northrop,

Josiah Starr, Reuben Booth.”

After this report a subscription -was arranged and circulated
" to secure the necessary additional funds to complete the building.
The heading of the subscription is a recapitulation of the town
vote, and the above report of the committee; the following are
the names attached to it:



Daniel and E. Boardman,
Thomas Hayes,
Samuel Bostwick,
Oliver Bostwick,
Lemuel Thomas,
Ebenezer Baldwin,
Benj. and Bradley Seelye,
‘William Clark,
Nathaniel Taylor, 3d,
Thomas Wells,
David Northrop,
Josiah Starr,
John Comstock,
Angus Nicholson, three
thousand feet of oak
boards at mill,
Elisha Noble,
Sherman Boardman,
Abel Weller,
Abel Gunn,
Edward Howel Prime,
Noah Bunnel,
Jonathan Baldwin,
Abel Buckingham,
Nehemiah Platt,
N. Beecher Fisher,
Nathan Stilson,
Andrew Hendrick,
David Fairchild,
Eleazer Fairchild, Jr.,
John Baldwin,
Abiel Baldwin,
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Lemuel, Jr,and *
Solomon Bostwick,
Samuel Garlick,
Richard Bristol,
John Bailey,

P. — Garlick,
Abijah Bennett,
Nathaniel Taylor, Rev.,
Abraham Williams,
Daniel Noble,
John Welch, three
days work,

John Cole,

- David Camp, Jr.,

Jonathan Mygatt,
Enoch Buck,

" Eli Todd,

Daniel Hines,

Stephen Miles,

Daniel Everitt,

Nathan Daton,
Nicholas Masters,

Wm. Taylor,

Noah Mygatt,

Isaac Beach,

Stephen Chittenden, Jr.,
Samuel Couch, '

Amos Collins, .

Ben. Starr Mygatt,
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41 108
16s.

1 10$.

1 10s.

£128-14-3

The building was erected, and, in December, 1787, the town
voted that the upper and lower parts should be finished ; and in_
1794 seats were put into the Town-House part, and a desk for

the moderator.



CITAPTER XI:
THE LEGAL CHURCH IN TROUBLE.
1748—1790.

OYOUS are the ways, often, which cost the greatest
sacrifice of personal preferences, and the richer the
rewards obtained, but the making of sacrifices very

. costly, difficult or hard, by error or otherwise, for the

' purpose of enhancing the reward, brings no profit

here or hereafter. Religion is a costly enterprise,

but it brings its legitimate reward in every land and under every
form, just like all other enterprises. It is only when absolute
truth is received and obeyed, that true profit unto life eternal is
obtained. The struggle for truth is the great conflict in this
world, whether the fact is recognized or not by the actors.

" Truth,—the same truth, may take on many forms, and the reality

. be unchanged; for if it were not so, then one church must be
right and all the others wrong; and one shower of rain would be
-right, and all the others wrong; and one day’s sunshine right,
and all the others wrong. '

As we are to learn from the experiences of men, we may profit
by the study of their errors as well as their ways of wisdom. In
view of this, the records of the Half-way Covenant Church
method are given a larger place in this history than otherwise
would have been conceded.

As soon as the Rev. Nathaniel Taylor was ordained, he found
himself in the midst of several fires, which seemed ready to try
his doctrine, courage, and intellectual strength to the utmost.
The Episcopalians stood ready to baptize all the children of the
community, if only granted the privilege, and the division of sen-
timent in the First Church gave them larger opportunity than
they had previously possessed, and the disaffected Congrega-

_tionalists were talking of separation. 17e had received the set-
tlement of one thousand pounds upon the explicit information
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and agreement that, if he deviated in his faith and practice from
the Saybrook Platform, he would lose the one thousand pounds
and be dismissed. It was rather a close place. So long as he had
no scruples as to that platform, backed up by the political: power
of the General Court, there was no trouble; but if, while prepar-
ing his sermons, he should discover that the General Court
might not be good authority in church government, down would
come the whip in the thought of losing the one thousand pounds,
and the logic of that argument had a strong influence to keep
him sound in the topics of the day, if he was like other men.

Then he prepared his church record. A place was ‘arranged
for the Half-way Covenanters, and another for the full -sheep of
the flock ; but soon it was found that the Half-way sheep col-
umn was filling up fast, while only now and then a stray full
sheep came in, except those who came from a neighboring flock ;
but no matter—the one thousand pounds logic stood, as ever, -
square in the way.

Among his sermons, still preserved, is one from Dr. Increase
Mather’s book, on the right of baptizing infants of believers who
had not joined the church; and it must be confessed that Mr.
Mather's logic and the one thousand pounds had great affinity
for each other. Then, in 1768, we find him paying some atten-
tion to the Separates, from the text: “These be they who sepa-
rate themselves, sensual, having not the spirit.”

The Quakers had built their first meeting-house about or in
1741, and their society or membershlp was mcreasmg in ‘num-
bers and influence.

The Episcopalians had built their first house of worship in
1746, two years before the settlement of Mr. Taylor, and the
divided state of the Congregational people made the situation
for Mr. Taylor very difficult,—severely so to the courage even
of a young man.

The records of the church show that he was a skillful man-
ager, for, after the difficulties began to accumulate, he, instead -
of taking an arbitrary course of dictation, called together his
church and secured action by them and their committees, in. the
true Congregational way ; which had the effect to relieve him-
self of responsibility, and to bind the church in stronger bonds
of unity.

23
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Hence the following records, made by himself:

“ Sept. 12,-1760. At a Church meeting legally wammed to consider of several

things:
+ “ It was proposed whether the Church don’t look upon it, that every one who has
acknowledged the covenant and been received under the watch and care of the
church are as liable to be dealt with for any misdemeanor as those who have been
partakers at the Lord’s Table? Voted in affirmative, no one contradicting. [It was
simply arbitrary assumption to make persons subject to discipline who had never
consented to anything of the kind ; but something must be done.]

“ Also, proposed what methods we should take with those persons who were in
full communion with us and also with those who had withdrawn from us upon the
Sabbath? Voted, that an enquiring committee should be appointed to go and enquire
into the particular reasons of each one, and make their report to the church.
Accordingly, Dea. Samuel Canfield, Dea. Eleazer Beecher, and Leut. James Hine
were appointed. NATHANIEL TAYLOR, moderator.

“Some time after, Eleazer Beecher absented himself from us, and Dea. Canfield
and Leut. Hine enquired into things, and made report to the Church, and a Church-
meeting was warned February following. Eleazer Beecher and his wife, Jonathan
Buck and his wife, Ann the wife of Joseph Buck, David Beardsley and his wife,
Jonathan Botsford, Lemuel Bostwick and his wife, Ebenezer Hotchkiss and Ellen
Mackeny [twelve] were all cited to appear and give in their reasons for their sepa-
rations. Accordingly, they appeared and mentioned some things why, and among
the rest they fully denied the Say-Brook Platform.

-* But they urged that they had not had sufficient time for consideration and desired
further opportunity. Accordingly, it was granted them; the meeting adjourned till
the 26th of March ; these our brethren promising that ‘they would appear without
putting us to any further trouble, and give in the reasons for their condact in writing,
and their articles. Accordingly the Church met upon the 26th of March, 1751, but
those people brought nothing in writing, neither would they give their reasons, and
cast very hard reflections upon the Civil and Ecclesiastical authority; but at length
agreed ta meet a committee at my house upon the last Tuesday in April ; Dea. Can-
field, Capt. Bostwick, Leut. Hine, Dea. Bostwick and Roger Sherman were appointed
the committee. It was adjourned till the first Taesday in May, and then appeared
Jonathan Buck, Jonathan Botsford, Eleazer Beecher, Ebenezer Hotchkiss and Anna
‘Bostwick, and afterwards Elleanor Mackeny and Frances Beecher, and signed some
reasons offergd in writing which the Church judged to be no reasons at all, and
returned them an answer in writing together with an admonition to retarn to us.

“June sth, at a Church meeting, voted that Lemuel Bostwick, David Beardsley
and his wife, Jonathan Buck's wife, and Joseph Buck’s wife should be admonished
to return to us as those who refused to give any reasons; accordingly it was done.

“Joseph Ruggles also having offended in the same form as the aforementioned
persons, but he ‘removing to New Haven, could not with conveniency be attended
upon with the same steps as the others could, therefore was neglected some time
longer, till at length, some time in the winter, in the year 1752, he sought to be
recommended to the church at New Haven, under the pastoral charge of Mr. Sam-
uel Bird ; but it was not granted by the Church, and some time in February, he, the
said Ruggles, appeared personally and desired a dismission, and gave in these fol-
lowing reasons, viz.: ‘Inasmuch as I have absented myself from your communion,
supposing you to be upon an anti-Christian power with respect to government and
discipline, and further I apprehend that the doctrines of grace which I hold to, viz. :
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. the Calvinist Doctrines, you are not strict enough in, and therefore I desire you
would dismiss me from your watch and care, as witness my hand, JosePH RuGGLES.’
But before he personally appeared, there was a Church meeting warned, when it
was concluded to send Mr. Ruggles a letter informing him that the Church could
not recommend him, giving these reasons: because they judged his conduct had not
been according to the gospel: he had absented himself from the Communion of the
Church and neglected the public worship of God upon the Lord’s Day, attending
upon lay preaching, countenancing an unlawful and unchristian separation and casting
hard reflections upon the Church of Christ and the standing minister; and also he
was desired in the letter at the same time to come and make suitable satisfaction.
Accordingly, he came as above mentioned, and refused to make any satisfaction at
all, but insisted to be either recommended or dimissed, leaving the above-mentioned
reasons ; upon which another Church meeting was warned, and what he offered
were esteemed to be no sufficient reasons, because he never tried to get any of the
difficulties removed before he drew off in the manner above related. Besides, the
platform which he urged he was upon was right in the face of the reasons which he
offered with respect to discipline, viz.: that the difference of government in the
Cambridge and Saybrook Platforms should not break Communion : therefore it was
concluded to give him another opportunity to return and make satisfaction ; upon
which a letter was sent to the said Ruggles informing him that his reasons were not
eésteemed sufficient, admonishing and desiring him in a Christian, brotherly manner
to return and make satisfaction, otherwise the Church must proceed to deal with
him ac.ording to the nature of the crime, according to the direction of our Platform,
page 105. Upon which Mr. Ruggles sent us a letter and denies doing anything to
make up the difficulty, and has declared publicly to the members of the Church that
he will not. Upon which another Church meeting was warned for April 2oth, 1752;
at which time it was voted that we had taken due pains with Mr. Ruggies to retain
him. Also voted that we should proceed -according to the afore-mentioned page of
the Platform as soon as should be convenient ; which was done the 6th day of May
following. ’ NATHANIEL TAYLOR, Pastor.”

“ Some time after, Ann, the wife of Joseph Buck, and David Beardsiey returned
and made satisfaction and were accepted by the Church. Some time after, David
Beardsley's wife returned and was accepted. N. TAYLOR, Pastor.”

Notwithstanding all these efforts, the Separate Congregational
Church was organized in May, 1753, and the spirit of rivalry took
full possession of the Congregational people,.as to themselves,
as well as in regard to the other two churches in the community.
The forlorn consolation drawn from these facts is that some-
times rivalry saves a community from stagnation. Whatis more
pitiable, this church was now acting against doctrines and prin-
ciples under which, twenty years later, they were most anxious
to place themselves, as will be seen hereafter. ‘ :

A New Meeting-house.

Mr. Taylor was ordained in the old meeting-house, which .
stood above Elm street on Aspetuck hill, just in the rear of the
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present barn of Mr. Levi S. Knapp, and ‘which house began to
need repairing. Consequently in December, 1748, the town
voted “ to raise the sum of twelve pound money to repair the
meeting-house, upon the Presbyterian order.” With the repairs,
whatever they were, the old meeting-house continued to be used
six or seven years longer.

In a town meeting in January, 1751, an adjournment was
made to the meeting-house, where they voted that “all those
persons of said Church of England and the Friends shall be
freed from paying any dues towards the building of or repair-

- ing any meeting-house.” ,

“ At the same meeting, voted that they would build a new
,meeting-house in said New Milford.”

In the next February another town meeting was held, and a

" very considerate and sensible vote was passed, that: *“ Whereas
there was a vote by said society taken on y* 14th of January last,
for erecting a new meeting-house for the public worship of God,
and there are some branches of said town may be likely to be
set off into societies by themselves so as not to be benefited by
the meeting-house now to be erected for said town; it is voted by
said town that the inhabitants of such part or parts of said town
as shall obtain liberty of y¢ Hon®' General Assembly of this
Colony to be a society or societies by themselves, or to gather
with any of y* inhabitants of other towns at or before the expira-
tion of four years next ensuing, that then they shall have paid to
them by said town towards the building of a mecting-house or
meeting-houses within their society or societies, so much money
as was paid on their list towards the meeting house now to
be built for said town. Voted in the affirmative by a clear

' majority.” ' '

Upon this another vote was taken whether the meeting-house
should be built, the result being fifty-two in the affirmative, and
‘twenty-four in the negative, and the following building commit-
tee was appointed: Capt. Joseph Bostwick, Azariah Canfield,
Joseph Canfield, Lieut. John Warner, and Ens. John Hitchcock.

. “Voted, thfat said meeting-house shall be built in New Milford,
fifty-six feet in length, and forty-four feet in width. Thirty
votes in the affirmative, and two in the negative.

“Voted that there shall be a rate raised of twelve pence on
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the pound upon the present list, to be laid out in preparation to
build the aforesaid meeting-house.

“ Voted that there shall be 2 memorial preferred to the Gen-
eral Assembly to pray for a land tax upon the non-resident pro-.
prietors of New Milford, of two pence per acre proclamation
money, to continue four years.” '

The vote to return money upon the formation of other socie-
ties was occasioned by a petition from the South Farms (now in
Brookfield), in 1743, for society privileges, to which New Milford
had consented, and although it had not been granted was likely
to be, in a few years ; and another movement of the kind which
had already been started at what is now New Preston.

But it required much more than votes to build a meeting-house
in a town so sadly divided in religious sentiments and principles
of church government, and therefore the matter passed until
April 27, 1752, when anofher vote was taken to build the house:
fifty-eight votes in the affirmative, and eighteen in the nega-
tive; and a committee was appointed to call on the County
Court for a committee “to affix a place to build a meeting-house
upon.” Thus the question rested until the 21st of November,
1752, when they put the matter in a shape to have somethmg
done.

“It was voted in said meeting that there shall be a meeting-
house for the public worship of God built in and for said town,
sixty feet long, and forty-four feet wide, and twenty-seven feet
the height of the posts.”

“Voted, that Nathaniel Bostwick, Esq., Capt. John Warner,
Paul Welch, Esqr., Sergt. Daniel Bostwick, Ens. Joseph Canfield,
Licut. James Hine, and Mr. Amos Northrop shall be a commit-
tee to go forward with the building of said meeting-house.”
These men were not to be stopped by trifles, being the gener-
ally-admitted leaders in the town, and all having wealth of their
own.

Roger Sherman was appointed treasurer to raise the money, by
a tax of two shillings, old tenor, on the pound, and pay out the
same upon the order of the committee. Also, at the same time,
they “Voted, that the shingles for covering the roof of said
meeting-house, shall be eighteen inches long, five inches wide
one with another, and three-quarters of an inch thick.
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“Voted, that the clapboards shall be white oak, and be four
feet and two inches long, and lie out four inches wide, being
sufficiently lapt, and also be half an inch thick on the back, lap
being taken out.

¢Voted, that there shall be part of the money to be raised by
the aforesaid rate, used for repairing the old meeting-house in

said town.”

At the next session of thc Assembly, (May, 1753,) a petition
was presented, to obtain help in building this house, and in it
the difficulties and situation is cleary stated ; and the petition
bears the evidences of the work of Mr. Nathaniel Taylor. Dan-
iel Bostwick, and Bushnell Bostwick were appointed to present
. this petitjon to the Assembly.

’

To the Honorable General Assembly of his majesties English Colony of Connec-
ticut, in New England, to be holden at Hartford, in the County of Hartford, on the
Second Thursday of May, A. D, 1753. !

The memorial of Stephen Noble, Samuel Canﬁeld & Paul Weich, Inhabitants
of the town of New Milford in the County of Litchfield, and the rest of the Inhabi-
tants of said New Milford—Humbly sheweth :

“That there is need of Building a New Meeting-House for the Publick Worshnp
of God in said New Milford for the Professors of the Presbyterian-Congregational
order, as established by the Laws of this Colony; And your Memorialists, having
taken such measures as the Law directs for affixing and ascertaining the Place
whereon to Build said Meeting-House, have proceeded to Raise a Taxon the In-
habitants, of said town, of two shillings on the pound in the common List toward
Defraying the charges of Building the same; And your Memorialists would humbly
beg leave to inform your Hon"™ that there is about one-third part of all the Lands
within the Bounds of said Township which belong to Non-resident Proprietors and
lye unimproved : so that the Burthen of Supporting the Ministry & Defraying other-
Publick charges is much greater on the present Inhabitants of said Town, than it
would be if those Lands were Inhabited and improved and the owners of such Lands
have had their Estates greatly advanced by means of said Towns being settled and
Inhabited without their bearing any part of the Burthen and Cost of settling the
same (except a small Rate when the former Meeting House, and ye Minister's
House were Built about thirty Years ago,) and a Right of Land in said Township,
which, at the time when said Town first began to be settled, was valued at but about
five pounds, would now, without any Labour done on it, sell for Three thousand
pounds or more: and your Memorialists would farther beg leave to Inform this
Hon"* Assembly that there are many. of the Inhabitants of said New Milford who
dissent from the way of Worship Established by the Laws of this Colony & are by
"Law exempted from paying Rates for the Building of Meeting-Houses and maintain-
ing of Ministers. So that the Burthen will be very great on ye Memorialists if
they must be at the whole cost of Building said Meeting-House ; And ye Memorial-

. ists humbly conceive that it is highly Just and reasonable that the Non-resident Pro-
prietors aforesaid should bear some of the Cost & Charge of Building said House,
because of the advantage that will accrue to them thereby in Enhancing the value of
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their Lands, and when those Launds shall be rettled and Inhabited, it is likely that
the persons that shall settle thereon will be benefited by said Meeting-House as well
as the present Inhabitants of said Town. Wherefore your Memorialists humbly
Pray that this Hon"'* Assembly will be pleased to Enact & Decree that all the Un.
improved Lands within the s? Town of New Milford, which belong to Persons not
Residing in said Town,—excepting such Farms as have on them Buildings and
improvements voted in ye list,—shall be taxed at one penny Lawfull money on the
acre annually for four years next ensueing, to be paid by the owners of s? Lands (in
Lawfull money or Bills of Publick Credit Equivalent thereto), toward Defraying the
charges of Building said Meeting-House, or that said Lands may be taxed at such
other Rate, and for such other term of time as your Hon™ in your Great Wisdom
shall think fit, for the use aforesaid, or some other way Grant Relief to your Memo-
rialists who as in Duty Bound shall Ever Pray,

New Milford, May the 14%, A. D. 1753

, _ STEPHEN NOBLE,
SAMUEL CANFIELD,
PauL WchH.'

The tax was allowed for two years.

The record of the town meetings gives no certainty as to
when the meeting-house was completed, but a vote, passed in De-
cember, 1754, returning the money collected from Newberry
and New Preston societies, which societies had been formed
according to anticipation, indicates the certainty of the house
having been built in 1754. And the town also voted liberty
for the ** Sabbada house” to be built near the meeting-house,
and that the old meeting-house should be sold for the benefit of
the town, .

In the. historical sermon of Rev. Mr. Griswold, delivered in
1801, are found the following corroborating statements :

“The house in which we are now assembled, being the second
meeting-house, was built in the year 1754, about forty-seven
years ago. The first Episcopal church was built in the year
1746; the second, which is the one now standing, began to be
built in the year 1765, was raised in 1766, about thirty-five years
ago. It was finished and consecrated A.D. 1793. The Strict
Congregationalists, usually called Separates, erected their house
of worship in the year 1761, forty years ago, which is now stand-
ing. The Friends, commonly called Quakers, built their meet-
ing-house not far from the year 174z, now standing, though’
in another place than where it was first set. Another commun-
ion of Friends, followers of Jemima Wilkinson, built a house’
of worship in the north end of the town about fifteen or twenty
years ago [ 1784], but it is now owned and occupied by the Epis-
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copalians of New Preston. The Baptists erected a house of
worship in the south end of the town called the Neck, eleven or
twelve years ago, but it is sold and now used for another pur-
pose.” ' '

From the records of the First Ecclesiastical Society, which
begin in 1753, we learn something further about the second
meeting-house.

“ Feb. 7, 1754. Voted, that the meeting-house . . . shall
be erected in the town street, east from Joseph Northrop’s dwell-
ing-house and west from Samuel Comstock’s well, where there is
a heap of stones erected.”

The well spoken of isstill in existence, although covered ; it
being under the sidewalk, directly in front of the new Episcopal
Church, at the corner of Main street and Whittelsey avenue.

“May 24, 1754. Voted, that the inhabitants of this society
will raise the meeting-house (which they are about to build) .by
free-will offering. _

“ Voted, that the committee shall provide what liquors they
shall think necessary to be used at the raising of the meeting-
house, at the cost of the society.”

A vote was passed Sep. 17, 1754, that the society would * take
the steeple of the new meeting-house into their care, and carry
. iton, and finish the same, with the rest of said house,” indicat-
ing that the house was raised, and that the ecclesiastical society,
which had been organized but a few months, accepted the work,
and would finish the house which had been commenced by the
town,

The accompanying plan represents the arrangement of seats
in this the Second Congregational meeting-house. The num-
bers show the “dignity” or classification of the people as they
sat in church. No complete list of the names of classified per-
sons of this date can be found. The gallery of the house was
not finished until the summer of 1763, just ten years from the
time they began to build the house.

“Dec. 24, 1756." Voted, that the old meeting-house which
belongs to this society shall be disposed of as follows, viz. : Three-
quarters of the body seats and two pews shall be given to the
Church of England, and the remainder of the body seats to the
Quakers in this society, and the pulpit to those of Newbury, and
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the gallery seats to those of New Preston society. which belong
to New Milford, and the remainder to be disposed of and the
avails of it improved toward the new meeting-house in this
society.”

The second Congregational meeting-house having been erected
in 1754, and completed in 1763, Mr. Taylor had occasion to be
encouraged, although still in the midst of conflicting denomina-
tional interests. In 1761 the Separates built their house of
worship, and began to make greater inroads into the old society
and church.

Seven years later (in 1769) the effects of the Half-way Cove-
nant had become so visible that the pastor and his church seem
to have become really alarmed on that account, and assembled
in a church meeting for some action as a matter of relief. We
are told that, * after long conference,” the church came to several
resolves, the first of which, viz. : “that there is no half-way cov-
enant,” appears to be in reality a denial of the principles on
which the church had practiced for more than forty years, and a
claim that all half-way covenant members should be admitted to
the communion.

Then, in 1772, the church voted *“ that all who are in covenant
have a right to vote in the church nieetings,” which was virtually
the making them members without having ever admitted them
as such, and without any profession of experience in grace ; and
on this platform the church continued to practice, apparently,
the membership growing less and less in number until the set-
tlement of Mr. Stanley Griswold.

The church decisions and enactments are:

“ Mar. 8, 1769. At a church meeting legally warned to enquire of those who had
owned ye covenant, the reasons why they did not come to ye Lord’s Supper, and to
attempt to remove their scruples and to know our sentiments with regard to admis-
sion: after long conference upon these subjects, the Church came to the following
resolves:

“1. Voted, that this church looks upon it that thereis no haif-way covenant, but
those who renew the covenant have a right to privileges in full.

2, Voted, we look upon it the duty of thc Church to use their influence and en-
deavors to convinee persons of their duty and obligations to attend the ordinances
of the Gospel understandingly.

“3. Voted, if any in covenant remain unconvinced of their duty to come to the

Table, we out of tenderness to their tender consciences will allow them baptism for

their chiidren.
*“ NATHANIRL TAYLOR, Moderator,”

24
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Not only did this subject assume a more and more difficult
and unsatisfactory form in regard to those who owned the cove-
nant for the sake of securing baptism for their children, but the
relation of such baptized children to the Church was a question
of increasing importance and difficulty. The Episcopal church,
with its well-founded claims of acknowledged care over and for
baptized children, was being introduced with considerable suc-
cess into different communities in the Colony, and unless some-
thing should be done, appearances indicated much calamity to
this Congregational church in New Milford, and therefore an-
other church meeting was held.

“Dec. 9, 1772. At a church meeting properly notified to be at the close of a lec-
ture to converse upon, and attempt to settle some differences with regard to admis-
sion of members; and also to come into some friendly measures with regard to
admonishing baptized persons after they are of age, guilty of misconduct and some
other things proper to be considered.

“ After some conversation, the meeting was adjourned till Thursday, the t7th
of the present month. Meeting according to adjournment, the meeting opened by
prayer.

“1. Voted, that all who arc in covenant have a right to vote in the church
meetings.

“2. Voted, that this Chutch look upon it a duty to take notice of, and in a
friendly manner, to admonish baptized persons guilty of misconduct, with u view to
bring them to make Christian satisfaction.

“The meeting adjourned to Wednesday, the 3oth of the present month. Met
according to adjournment, and the meeting opened by prayer. Nothing concluded
with regard to admission of members different from former votes.

“ With regard to presons withdrawing from our communion, without giving the
church any information of their uneasiness, it was:

“1. Voted, that this Church looks upon it, that such conduct is wrong.”

*2, Voted, that an enquiring committce should be appointed to converse in a
friendly manner with those persons who have withdrawn from us, and report their
reasons to the church. The committee appointed for the purpose were Dea. Bush.
nell Bostwick, Dea. Benjamin Gaylord, Capt. Sherman Boardman, Mr. Abel lline,
and Lieut. Elizur Warner, with the pastor of the church.

“ NATUANIEL TAVLOR, moderator.”

In regard to the above remark that “ nothing concluded with
regard to admission of members different from former votes,” it
is proper to observe that since the Half-way Covenant had been
fully adopted, in 1749, over 24 years, 153 persons, according to
the Church Record, had been admitted to church *fellowship,”
(not communion) by the Half-way Covenant, and were now
declared to have the right to vote in church meetings, and how
‘could anything be done contrary to former votes? Would a
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hundred persons condemn themselves by voting against them-
selves as to improving privileges in the church which they gen-
erally believed they ought not to enjoy? . So far as the record
shows, only a very few of these 153 persons had joined the
church in full communion by “ renewing their covenant.” It is
not surprising, then, that as the church began to make efforts to
recover control of itself, matters grew worse instead of better.

“Jan. 20, 1773. At a church mecting properly notified, when thc committee
before appointed reporled to the church the reasons of the following persons who
had withdrawn (rom our communion; viz.: Samuel Comslock, Joseph Hartwell,
Stephen Chitienden, John Wilkinson, Moses Johnson, Caleb Terrill, Jr., Capt.
Isaac Bostwick and his wife, and Anna, the wife of Israel Camp. When, after much
conversation, the matter was referred for further consideration.

NATHANIEL TAYLOR, moderator.

“March 17, 1773. At a church meeting properly notified to be at the close of a
lecture, it was proposed whether the church would reconsider the votes passed,
Mar. 8, 1769, with regard to admissions? Voted very full that they would not.

“2. Voted, that the desires of persons to renew the covenant should be
mentioned two Sabbaths successively, before their admission; and as this church
don't think the reasons given by those who have withdrawn from us sufficient, are of
the opinion it is most expedient for every private member, as he has occasion, to
use all mild measures to reclaim them, as the reasons they offered were very gen-
eral; such as: the civil authority is too much blended with our ccclesiastical con-
stitution and the lax method of receiving members, and that none but gracious. per-
sons should be admitted. NATHANIEL TAYLOR, moderator.

“April 1, 1779. At a church mecting duly notificd, it was agreed that a commit-
tee should be chosen to assist the pastor in examining persons who are inclined to
renew the covenant before their desirc is proposed, when the Deacons, Capt.
Nathaniel Batchford, Capt. Sherman Boardman, Mr. Reuben Booth, Capt. Elizur
Warner, Mr. Caleb Bennett, and Mr. David Hitchcock were chosen for the above
purpose. At the same time it was agreed that public notice be given that at the
close of each lecture, before the sacrament, the above committee should attend for
the above purpose, and if anything special, would attend at other times, and that
two at least of the committee might act if no more could conveniently attend, all
which was voted. . NATHANIEL TAvLOR.”

Mr. Taylor made the records in the church book as follows.
In a certain part he entered the names of those who owned the
covenant for the purpose of having their children baptized thus:

“An account of somc who owned the covenant after June 29, 1748. Gilead
Sperry and his wife owned the covenant, and Zadock Noble and his wife, Asahel
Noble and his wife, Gideon Noble and his wife, Ebcnezer Picket and his wife, and
Samuel Brownson.

“Nov. 29, 1750. Benjamin Ruggles and his wife owned the covenant.

“June 2, 1751. Abigail, the wife of Nathaniel Seely, owned the covenant.
Israel Camp and his wife owned the covenant.” ’
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In this way he continued, the last entry of the kind being
July 28 [1790, probably], the last previous to this date being
September 20, 1789.

The membership of the church he recorded on pages in alpha-
betic order,—half a page to aletter; and in these records there
are two forins of words used; the one is “admitted to church
fellowship,” the other is “admitted to church communion,” or
“admitted to full communion,” or ¢ joined in full communion.”

Persons were received *“ to full communion by letter,” and “by
acknowledging the covenant,” but never is it said,” by profession
of faith”; that is a phrase adopted since his day, so far as this
record shows. , The last record of the reception of members was :_
“ Sep. 20, 1789, Kason Knapp and his wife admitted to church
fellowship.” The last before this, was: “ April 28, 1782. John
Clark-and Elizabeth his wife admitted to church fellowship by
letter from Milford. Samuel Wales, pastor.”

From the year 1770 to 1790, only thirty-four persons are re-
corded as having united with the church in *fellowship” and
“full communion”; that is, besides those who owned the cove-
nant in order to have their children baptized. The whole num-
ber who united as members in communion with the church
during Mr. Taylor's ministry of forty-two years was 130. The
number who owned the covenant, and thereby were half-way
members, was 228.

He recorded the baptisms with much care, the last he made
being in 1766; and by comparison of the lists it is seen that
whenever parents owned the covenant, their child or children
were baptized. Having owned the covenant once, their chil-
dren were baptized from time to time without re-owning the
covenant. ’

Such were some of the consequences of having a church cstab-
lished and governed by the enactments of the state, for in the
settlement of Mr. Taylor it was distinctly specified that he was
to conduct the church according to the law of the state, or lose
his settlement of £1,000; but, before twenty years had passed,
the calamity of the Half-way Covenant was so great, that he
and his church were almost desperate in their efforts to save
themselves from threatening ruin, and therefore voted that the
Half-way Covenant members should come to the communijon
and vote in church meetings.



THE LEGAL CHURCH. 189

.

There is a curious conjunction of two votes upon record, passed
in town meeting in the midst of the controversy in New Milford
upon the questionable propriety of the Half-way Covenant, which
seems almost to have been designed as an amusing illustration
of the calamitous effects of obedience to erroneous principles.
The votes stand thus: “ Dec. 14, 1761. Voted that there shall
be a committee to divide the books called Saybrook Platform
according to the sundry sects and parties in said town. Capt.
Hitchcock, Mr. George McEwen, Amos Northrop, Gaius Tal-
cott, Nathan Gaylord, James Terrill, and Capt. Ruggles are cho-
sen a committee to divide said books as their sundry lists arise
in the list.

‘“ At the same time, Voted, that every person that shall kill a
wild-cat any time in the year ensuing and within the bounds of
New Milford, and produce the skin of the head and ears on it
before any of the authority of said town, they shall have six shil-
lings lawful money out of the town treasury.”

The most worthy Legislature had, doubtless, sent these books,
printed by benefit of the public taxes, to be distributed gratui-
tously (in proportion to the tax-list), to instruct the people, who .
apparently were in nced of something of the kind different from
what they had learned as to the beneficence of the Half-way
Covenant ; but the inquiry arises with some force, how should
the subject of “wild-cats” be associated so closely with those
books? Had the principles of these books, which "had been
dealt out by the appointed teachers, been like wild-cats among
the people? While offering a premium for the animal wild-cat,
were they sending forth moral and religious wild-cats a thousand
times worse than the former? Certainly, if the conclusions, or
votes of the church meetings under the direction of Mr. Tay-
lor mean anything, they reveal an unsettled state of religious
opinions on this subject, well illustrated by the thought of wild-
cats upon the mountains.

It may further be stated that from 1770 to 1790, Mr. Tay-
lor received into the church 34 persons only; 9 of these were
received (as he wrote) “to communion” and 25 were reccived
“to church fellowship.” If these terms meant the same thing
then the church membership was increased in twenty years by
34 persons only.
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Of the 130 who had united during 42 years (from 1748 to
1790), how many had died or removed there is no means of know -
ing (except by gravestone dates), for no revision of the church
record took place until after Mr. Griswold removed, but we know
that according to the measure of human life a large proportion
must have departed.

It should be remembered that during and immediately after
the Revolutionary War the Connecticut Congregational churches
gave up the Half-way Covenant to a large extent ; some of them
as early as 1776, dropping all the names of Half-way Covenant-
ers, and adopting the method of the Strict Congregationalists—
to admit none except upon a profession of “change of heart.”
Mr. Griswold in his writings disapproved of the Half-way Cove-
nant (at one time, at least), but made no issue with the aged sen-
ior pastor, and therefore the matter was neglected or allowed to
pass without attention until Mr. Taylor's decease, in 1800, and
Mr. Griswold’s removal in 1802.

A very natural inquiry arises, whether, when Mr. Griswold was
scttled here, this church then had one hundred members who
had formally united in full fellowship with the church.



CHAPTER XII.
CHURCH OF THE SEPARATES.
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INDNESS, used as an element of power, instead of
o law, would have saved the Church and the world mil-
lions of men, treasure, and great honor,and would have
elevated the human race far beyond anything as yet
" attained. While law is not to be.discarded, yet it is
/, proper to recognize the fact that it has been used, in
~" a vast majority of cases, in the Church and out of it,
as a matter of will, to gratify the anger and dictatorial feelings
of men.

The beginning of the influences which were largely the cause
of the formation and existence of the Separatists’ Church, in
New Milford, were started and propagated by the idea of com-
pelling people to obey the regulations of a legal church, while
still pretending that the gospel taught the spirit of freedom and
kindness. This occurred in a town vote in 1745, upon the ques-
tion of settling a minister, the Rev. Noah Wells. The proceed-
ings were such on that occasion as to lead thirty-five influential
men to pledge themselves against that action, and to induce two
of the leaders to pledge themselves to prosecute the matterin the
county court if the decision of the meeting should be carried
out in the settlement of Mr. Wells. These leaders, Joseph
Ruggles and William Drinkwater, afterwards became strong
men in starting, sustaining, and upholding the Separate Church.
They were men of decided ability, means, and public influence,
although they did not long remain in the town. The First Church
paid most dearly for the exercise of the power placed in its hands
by the Civil authority or State law, for by it they gave opportu-
nity for all the objections which were urged by the “ New Lights”
against the “ Standing Order ” (1. e., the legally established church)
as not strict enough, and as uniting the power of the state with




192 HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

the Church, as the Catholic and English churches had done
through hundreds of years.

The Separatists’ Church of New Milford was organized on the
1st day of May, 1753, when there was “a meeting held at the
house of Nathan Gaylord, when John Palmer, pastor of the
Church of Christ at Scotland, and Jonathan Story, pastor of the
Church of Christ at Norog, Long Society, being present, witness-
eth the Church’s coming together and making their confession of
faith, which is as follows, and signing the Covenant, as may
appear hereafter by their names being subscribed.”

The Confession and Covenant, covering four sides of a fools-
cap sheet, are preserved, but, most nnfortunately, the sheet with
the names on it is lost, and hence no catalogue of the members
is to be found. Some of the names, however, have been obtained
through the records of the First Church and Mr. Griswold's his-
torical sermon. The Confession of Faith as here adopted is
very much the same as has been generally used in the Congre-
gational churches in Connecticut for fifty years previous to 1840 ;
possibly a little more definite in extreme Calvinistic phrase-
ology.

After the organization of this church, they were visited by
lay-preachers as well as by pastors of churches, and meetings
were held by lay-preachers, at which times they attended, and
this fact was one of the charges brought against them, as recorded
by Mr. Taylor, in the church book. * He had absented himselt
from the communion of the Church and neglected the public
worship of God on the Lord’s day, attending upon lay-preaching,
countenancing an unlawful and unchristian separation.”

This church continued to increase in numbers and influence,
so that in 1759 they made application, and obtained liberty of
thetown, to erect a meeting-house, the town voting, December 10,
1759, ‘“ that the Separates (so called) shall have liberty to erect
a convenient house for their public worship in some proper place
in the highway as shall be thought proper in said New Milford,
for that and no other use, and Capt. Botsford, and Mr. Thatcher
and Mr. Job Gould are choseh a committee to view the circum-
stances of the place, and to establish and stake it out.”

The following is the report of the committee:

“ January 7, 1760. Then laid out a piece of land in New Milford, in the highway
by the burying-place that runs northward up the town street easterly from Doct.
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John Carrington’s home-lot, which land is to build a meeting-house upon for the
worship of God for those persons that are called Separates, bounded as follows:
beginning at the northeast corner at a heap of stones joining to the burying-place,
then ronning southwardly Go feet, then westerly 40 feet, then northerly Go feet,
then easterly to the first place; bounded east by the burying place.”

The place was established in the eight-rod highway, then ad-
joining the burying-place in the village, but a part of that high-
way has since been added to the burying-place (now the ceme-
tery), and hence the site is within the enclosure, at the left hand,
immcdiately on entering the cemetery, by the carriage-way.
Their meeting-house on this site was built in 1761, as stated in
Mr. Griswold’s sermon, which is undoubtedly correct, and re-
mained there until about 1817. -

In 1754, this church, or its members, petitioned the First
Society as follows: “Upon the memorial of Thomas Weller,
Lemuel Bostwick, lleazer Beecher, Ebenezer Hotchkiss, Na-
than Gaylord, Jonathan Botsford, David Camp, Israel Baldwin,
Michael Brownson, and Benjamin Phillips, inhabitants of. this
society, showing that the said memorialists soberly dissent from
the way of worship and method of supporting the ministry es-
tablished by the laws of this Colony, and that they do maintain
and attend the public worship of God among themselves, in a
way agreeable to their consciences ; praying this society to show
their minds, whether they are willing that the memorialists should
be exempted from paying taxes for the support of the ministry and
building meeting-houses for the established constitution, etc. :
Voted, that this society are willing that the persons named in
the memorial shall be exempted from paying taxes for the future
as they request, so long as they shall continue soberly to dissent
from the established constitution as aforesaid, provided the Hon.
General Assembly (upon application to them made) shail approve
. the same.”

In the record of the First Church, in 1750, citing persons be-
fore that body as having separated thcmselves, the following are
named :

Joseph Ruggles, : Jonathan Botsford and his wife,
Eleazer Beecher and his wife, Lemuel Bostwick and his wife,
Jonathan Buck and his wife, Ebenezer Hotchkiss,

Ann, the wife of Joseph Buck, Ellen Mackeney.

David Beardsley and his wife,

25
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This was three years before the Separate Church was organ-
ized, and, after two years, Ann Buck, David Beardsley, and his
wife returned, made satisfaction, and the church accepted them.
In 1773 the following were called to account by the First
Church as having separated from it:

Samuel Comstock, Caleb Terrill, Jr.,

Joseph Hartwell, Capt. Isaac Bostwick and his
Stephen Chittenden, wife,

John Wilkinson, Anna, wife of Israel Camp.

Moses Johnson,

The following persons are named by Mr. Griswold as Deacons
of this church:

Nathan Gaylord, Israel Baldwin, Jr.,
Israel Baldwin, John Beecher,
Ebenezer Hotchkiss, Riverius Stilson.

Mr. Griswold also says (in 1801) of this church : “ Their first
Elder who preached statedly here, though he was not ordained
over them, was Mr. Elihu Marsh. The second was Mr. Robert
Campbell, who was the first that was ordained over them. He
was ordained here twenty-nine years ago, continued about twelve
years, and was then dismissed and left the town. Their third
Elder was Mr. Barnabas Lathrop, who was not ordained over
them, but came here about ten years ago, and preached with
them about two years. He afterward joined the Presbyterian
society, and died in this town April 10, 1796, aged 57 years.
Their fourth and now officiating Elder is Mr. Daniel Hine.
He has been ordained over them four years.”

Rev. Daniel Hine continued to preach to this church until
about 1812, when he resigned, and recommended his church to
disband and unite with the First Church; but, after giving up
their church organization, they united with different churches.
Several of them, residing in the north part of the town, united
with the Baptist church at Northville. ~Mr. Hine, their last
Elder, a good man, and faithful, resided in the town until his
decease in 1835, in his eighty-sixth year, and here his descend-
ants still remain.

Some further account of the persons connected with this
church will be of interest.
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Capt. Joseph Ruggles, then of New Haven, boughta Right
of land in Néw Milford for £200,in November, 1733, which he sold
the next spring for £300, and bought another right for £325
(January 19, 1734). Upon this Right he had land laid out to him
on the 18th of the next March: “Twenty acres, in several pieces,
in Still River Neck.” “May 27, 1735. Laid to Joseph Ruggles
forty acres, in the Still River Neck, near to Newtown line,
across Hop Brook ; also three acres in Still River Swamp, near
the mouth of Four Mile Brook.”

Mr. Ruggles settled in New Milford at the Half-way Falls on
Still River, in 1733 or 4, and was a partner in the enterprise at
that place called the Iron Works, where he resided until about
1750, when he returned, with some of his family, to New Haven
to reside, but leaving several of his sons and daughters and their
families here. The Ruggles family was an influential one in the
town for more than one hundred years, and are said to have
been peculiar in this respect, that, if any one family was un-
fortunate, the other families and individuals of the name would
join in supplying the loss, and enable the family to go on in
the ways of prosperity, as if no calamity had happened. That
is, instead of struggling to be independent of each other, they
always clung together, each to help the others. It is impossible
for a pen to pass on without commending this spirit, which is so
great a contrast to what is often exhibited in the world. Capt.
Joseph Ruggles was a stirring, intelligent business man,—above
the average, as indicated in several ways, especially in the mat-
ter of establishing schools at the South Farms, as the region
where he resided was then called, and the matter of sustaining
the Separate Church in its beginning at New Milford against
the disciplining effort of the legal First Church ; for, in about
1810, the old First Church became established on the founda-
tions, almost precisely, in real fact, that Mr. Ruggles sustained
in 1750, . '

Capt. Lazairus Ruggles, son of Capt. Joseph, Sen., re-
maincd in New Milford when his father returned to New Haven,
and soon after married Hannah Bostwick, and became an influen-
tial and estimable citizen, and departed this life in 1797: Philo
Ruggles, his son, became a lawyer of note in New Milford, re-
moved to Poughkeepsie, N. Y., where the family becime very
influential, and was much esteemed.
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Benjamin Ruggles, eldest son of Captain Joseph, was a
good citizen, remained in Brookfield, and died early.

‘Capt. Joseph Ruggles, Jr., son of Captain Joseph, died
in 1802, aged 71 years. He was appointed by the Assembly, in
1761, captain of the first military company organized in the
socicty of Newbury, now Brookfield, and was for many years an
influential business man. )
~ Samuel Ruggles, another son of Captain Joseph, Sen., re-
sided on his father’s homestead, and his son Samuel and his
daughter Lucia constituted an important part of the first com-
pany of missionaries that went to the Sandwich Islands. (See Biog.)

Dea. Illeazer Beecher came from Milford a single man, and
settled in New Milford before 1726, when he united with the
First Church, and in October of 1729 married Frances Oviatt.
He possessed great energy of character, was prominent in the
transactions of the town, and was a successful farmer. He voted
against what were said to be illegal proceedings in the effort of
1745 to settle Mr. Noah Wells, and was among the first, with his
wife, who were cited before the First Church to make satisfaction
for separating from that church, but as he lived until 1797, to
the good age of go years, the censures of the church did not
harm him seriously. If he could have lived about thirteen years
longer he would have seen the old church fully established on
the platform he adopted fifty years before. Mr. Griswold placed
him as one of the deacons of the TFirst Church, but Rev.
Mr. Taylor made the following record in the church book,

" Mr. Beecher having officiated on trial as a deacon over two yecars
in that church:—“February, 1750-51. At a church meeting
regularly warned, it was fully voted in yc negative y* Eleazer
Beecher should not be established in y¢ office of a deacon ; he
fell off to a party called Separates and could not be reclaimed.”
He was a deacon many years in the church of the Scparates.

Jonathan Buclk came with his father Jonathan, Sen., from
Wethersfield to New Milford, in 1716, and married Betsey Bost-
wick in 1733, and had seven children. He and his wife were
cited before the First Church to answer for separation from it,
but did not return.

Amnae, the wife of Joseph Buck, returned to the First Church in
1752. She was the daughter of William Gould, the millwright,
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and her husband Joseph was brother to Jonathan, Jr., as above
deseribed.

David Beardsley and his wife, formerly of Stratford, came
from Newtown and joined the First Church by letterin 1748. He
and his wife returned to the First Church in 1752.

Jonathan Botsford, with his wife Betsey, came from Mil-
ford and united with the First Church in 1737, but voted against
the so-called illegal proceedings in 1745, and afterwards drew off
to the Separates. They were cited to make satisfaction and
return, but they continued in the Separate Church.

Lemuel Bostwick, son of John 1st., came to New Milford
and united with the First Church in 1727,and in 1729 married
Anna Jackson of Stratford. He resided at first near the Great
Falls, cast side of the river, where he lived until after 1769, but
later he removed to I.ower Merryall, where he died, and where
some of his descendants still reside. He was one of the choris-
ters in the First Church some years, from 1741. He possessed
a noble personal appearance, for which he was quite noted, and
is reported as being a remarkably good man ; one of those whom
everybody delighted to meet. He sang his way on, until 87
years of age, then “departed this lifc.” Anna, his widow, died
at Hinesburg, Vt, in 1800, aged 92 years. A beautiful lifc;
happy home ; length of days;—what record more complete ?

Dea. Ebenezer Hotchliss came, Mr. Griswold’s sermon
says, from Long Island, and married, in New Milford, Hannah
Terrill, January 10, 1742. The records do not show when he joined
the First Church, but he was cited to appear before it, with his
wife and others, in 1750. He was afterwards deacon in the Sepa-
ratc Church, probably, many ycars.

Joseph Hartwell came from Stoughton, Mass., married in
New Milford, Rebecca, sister to Roger Sherman, in 1752. He was
cited to appear before the First Church in 1773, to make satis-
faction for separation and union with the Separate Church, but
he continucd with the latter.

A question may arise as to why these persons who desired to
join the Separate Chureh did not take a certificate from the First
Church in the beginning, and thereby have no further trouble. The
answer is that one lawful church, in those times, would not re-
cognize another church within its parish by giving such a certifi-
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cate or permit. None of these persons, however upright their
 character, could obtain, or ever did obtain, such a certificate. The
only effort to obtain one, was made by Captain Joseph Ruggles,
Sen., after he removed from the parish, and he did not succeed.
The only way persons could be free from membership in a lawful
church, and repain in the parish of said church, was by being
expelled, with all the dishonor that such expulsion could bring to
bear upon them. No relief could be found then as now by
civil law to protect character, for the civil law was the church in
real fact. It is historically true that a fair proportion of the men
and women who went from the First to the Separate Church,
were among the very best, most faithful, true Christians, in the
town, and that they made the change in the only Christian way
possible for them ; and hence the whole question of the doings
of the old church in Connecticut in this matter is one of noth-
ing but mortification and chagrin to a true Congregationalist.

Benajah Stone, of Branford, purchased, in February, 1742,
‘about seventy acres of land in the North Purchase, for £100,
and in 1749, when residing in Woodbury, bought of Job Gould,
of New Milford, 130 acres of land, with a dwelling-house on
it, lying to the northeast of the Phrk, Lane school-house, on the
west side of the north and south road, the place being still
known as the Old Stone Farm. He soon after bought more
land in that vicinity, and in 1752 he purchased another seventy
_acres in the North Purchase for £200. His descendants still
remain in the vicinity of the old farm, on the road direct from
Park Lane to New Preston. )

Elihw Marsh settled in New Milford, at the place now called
Jerusalem, on Rocky River, where he resided until his decease.
He officiated as the minister of the Separate Church in New
Milford, and as such was of very great importance to that
church, for they were not able to pay the salary of a regularly-
installed minister, and Mr. Marsh had an independent property
of his own. Whether he ever received any salary is unknown,
but he probably served them as their minister several years
while living in New Fairfield, and three'years after settling in
New Milford. '

Stephen Chittenden came from Guilford into the town
about 1765, and married here, probably, as a second wife, Mary



T/IE SEPARATE CHURCH. 199

“ Bardsley” in that year, and was summoned before the First
Church in 1773. Whether he removed or died here is not known.
His .son Stephen, Jr., married here, but seems to have removed
soon after 1804.

John Wilkinson from England, settled in the town about
1743, and united with the First Church in 1770, and went to the
Separates in 1773. He married here and had a large family.

MosesJohnson came from Newtown, and married Eunice
Brownson; had a family of seven children. DPeter Johnson,
perhaps a brother, was here and married, about the same time,
but both families seem to have left the town about 1780.

Culeb Terrill, Jr., son of Caleb, born in New Milford, mar-
ried Eunice Coggswell, of New Preston Society, in 1768, and
resided, probably, in that part of the town, and had one son and
two daughters,

Cupt. 1saac Bostwick, son of Lemuel, led the first company
that went out of New Milford in the Revolution, to Boston,
where they remained some months. After, if not before, the
Revolution he became owner in a mill property at Lanesville, or
the Great Falls, and was for a number of years a very influen-
tial man in the town, While town treasurer for a number of
years, he became involved in money matters, and surrendered a
large proportion of his property to the town to meet his defi-
ciencies, in all which he was treated with great consideration
and respect by the town authorities. The date of his death is
not known. The family, some of them, and the widow, removed
to Hinesburg, Vt. But few if any men were more activé and
influential in the town than he during Revolutionary times.

Dea. Nathan Gaylord, son of William the first, joined the
First Church in 1727 ; went to the Quakers in 1731, but united
early with the Separatist movement, became a deacon in that
chuirch, and was well known and respected in the town. The Sepa-
rate Church was organized at his house, a little way up the Aspe-
tuck River, in 1753, and it is probable that the meetings of that
church were held at his house much of the time until their
meeting-house was built, in 1761. He died suddenly in 176q,
in the sixtieth year of his age, and the inscription on his tomb-
stone in the New Milford cemetery is not without both beauty
and sadness.
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Dea. Israel Baldwin, Sen., came from Milford ; was the
son of Samuel, and one of four brothers who settled in New
Milford. Israel settled on the Litchfield road half a mile south of
Theophilus Baldwin’s, where he resided until his death.

Samuel Baldwin was one of the four brothers; all of
whom were like the Baldwins everywhere—good, reliable, honor-
able citizens.

Gamualiel Baldwin, another brother, settled in Park Lane,
where he established a fine home, which he sold, with his farm,
in 1748, to Roger Sherman for £1,500, and he removed to the
north part of Sherman.

Dea. Israel Baldwin, Jr., brother to Gamaliel, was a
deacon in the Separate Congregational Church, and resided on
the homestead of his father.

Abiel Baldaein, the fourth brother, settled on land laid to
the father or brothers, in the northeast part of the town, where
his descendants still remain.

Dea. John Beecher, son of Eleazer, 2d, and twin brother of
Eleazer, 3d, born in 1773, is said by Mr. Griswold to have
been deacon of the Separate Church, resided about a mile east of
the old Beecher home, on what was then called the Bound Hill
road. He and his twin brother were twins in all their business
transactions as well as blood, eacli always referring to what his
brother might think in regard to all bargains and work.

Dea. Riverius Stilson married Anne, dau. of Dea. Israel
Baldwin, in 1767; his residence was on Stilson Hill. He is highly
spoken of. He died in 1802, in his fifty-eighth year. This fam-
ily, which occupied a prominent place in the town for many
years, is now without a representative in it, many of them hav-
ing removed to other parts of the country.

David Camnp, son of Samuel, one of the carly settlers in the
town, came with his father, and married Sarah Terrill of Wood-
bury, and settled on the west side of Poplar Swamp, near the
present Park Lane school-house. He died in 1782.

Fines Remitted,

“December 10, 1787. Voted, that the fine which Joseph
Squire is subjected to pay the town on trial for bringing in and
entertaining unwholesome inhabitants, etc., be remitted, and he
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is by this votc released from paying said fine—he paying all
costs of prosecution.” This referred, probably, to Tories, whom
the town had voted could not be acceptable citizens in the town ;
that is, those who had gone away, as quite a number had, during
the war.

“ December 27, 179o. Voted, that the town treasurer give up
the note he holds against Liffe Sanford for ten shillings, which
was given by said Sanford for a fine.”

“ December 10, 1792. Voted, that the town treasurer be and
he is hereby directed to give up to Doct. Benjamin Warner and
Reuben Warner, their two several notes of hand which heholds *
against them, which was given by them as fines for their two
sons’ breach of the Sabbath.” _ "

“December 17, 1810. Voted, that sundry notes of hand for-
merly given to the town treasurer for fines be relinquished, and
the notes given up, viz.: one of Thomas Davis, one of Jacob
Reed, one of Robert and Gaius Norton, one of Eli Todd, one of
Silas Lamson, one of William Conn, one of Paul Welch, Jr,,
and one of Harry Negro ; all dated 8th December, 1797.” ‘

“ June, 1821. Voted, that a fine of $1.67 laid upon Hawley v/
Morehouse as a fine for breach of the Sabbath, be remitted.”

In the list of assessments for the year 17go, we find the fol-
lowing record of occupations :

Attorneys. Sherman Boardman, Esqr.,
Daniel Everitt, Esqr., Benjamin Stone, .
Samuel Bostwick, Esqr., John Morehouse,
Nicholas S. Masters, Esqr. Jonathan Downs.
Merchants. Phlysicians. :
Daniel and Elijah Boardman, ~Chauncey Lowrey,
Ithamar Canfield, Lemuel Thomas.
Mead and Lockwood, Blacksmiths.
Camp and Warner, George Welton, .
Eli Todd. Asa Prime, '
Tavern-kecpers. Abijah Bennett,
William Clark, Samuel Couch.
Col. Samuel Canfield, ) Shoemakers.
Riverius (Camp, Abner Gunn,  °
John Hull, . Epinetus Gunn,

26
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Thomas Weils,
Wakefield Noble.

Saddler.
Noadiah Mygatt.

‘ Stlversmitls.
- Isaac Beach,
William Clark.
. Hatter,
~ Josiah Lockwood.

Foiners.
Jonathan Mygatt,
John Couch,
Daniel Lines,
Richard Bristol.

Millers,
Stephen Miles,

- John Murry, etc., N G.

- Wheehwright.
John Sturdevant, Jr.

In 1787 the number of sheep reported on the list as owned in

the town was 4,375.

In the Assessors’ List for 1793 there are the following names
additional to the above in the list of occupations:

Attorneys.
Philo Ruggles.

Merchants.
William Taylor, -
Peter Fairchild,
Riverius Camp,
Clark and Baldwin,
Samuel Lockwood.

Tavern-kecpers.

Eli Todd,
Benajah Stone,
Amasa Ferriss,

Blacksmith,
Elihu Ruggles.

Saddler.
Abijah Beach.

Shoemakers,

Stephen Chittenden, Jr,,
William Doan,

Joseph Peck,

Nathaniel Lockwood,

Abel Fost (perhaps IFrost),
Jared Terrill (New Preston),
Philander Beers.

Foiners.
Nathaniel Ruggles,
Ephraim Lyon,
John Roburds,
Hinman Hurd.

Grist-mills,
Justus Miles, ¥ mill with Ste-
phen Miles,
Philip Wells, ‘
Nathaniel Taylor.

Masons.
Daniel Sherwood,
Reuben Sherwood,
George Milligan,
Iili Dayton,
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Coopers. Tailors.
Ezra Marchant, Clark Blackney,
Jedediah Marchant, Samuel Garlick,
Asa Baldwin, Edmund Garlick,

.. Daniel Comstock. Stiles Goodsell (New Preston).



CHAPTER XIIIL
NEW PRESTON.
1722-1760.

OVE for the woods and the wilderness must have been
an almost innate quality of mind in the first settlers
of the western part of Connecticut. When Massa-
chusetts had been settled but about one hundred
years, one of its strong families emigrated to the
town of Preston, New l.ondon County, in Connecti-

. cut, which was a country more recently settled than

the former, supposing that here they should find a home for life;

but scarcely a dozen years had passed before the father hears of
the western lands in the forests of Connecticut, and removes
with a part of his family now grown up, and again plants the
standard of civilization in the picturesque, but then wild wilder-
ness country, known now for many years by the name of New

Preston, Litchfield County, Ct.

The tract of land called * New Milford North Purchase” was
bought in 1722, of the agents for western lands, for Windsor and
Hartford, and the whole of it was taken from Waraumaug's
Reserve; for that Reserve was bounded, originally, on the south
by the old township of New Milford. But the North Purchase
was bounded, when laid out, east on the Reserve, so that this
““ Purchase ” did not extend as far east as the Reserve, The
“ Purchase” was six and a half miles in length, and one and a
half in width, and the eastern boundary may have been half or
three-fourths of a mile east of the present meeting-house at New

Preston village. The northern boundary of that *“Purchase”
passed east and west near or a little north of the outlet of Wa-
raumaug Lake, so that the present village of New Preston lies in
what was the northeast corner of the New Milford North Pur-

chase.
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PLAN OF THE NORTH PURCHASE.
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In dividing this tract among sixty-four owners, it was at-
tempted to complete the work in one survey, making two tiers
of lots the whole length, and thirty-two lots in each tier; but
when they were through with the first survey, there was so
much land left that two other surveys were made, giving each of
the sixty-four owners an equal amount each time. The thirty-
second and thirty-third lots in the first survey are said to have
been at the east end of the purchase, and hence bounded east by
the Reserve.

Considerable attention has been given to learn who first set-
tled within the bounds of this North Purchase, without obtaining
satisfactory knowledge on the question. For nine years after
the deed was secured, no attempt, apparently, was made to settle
any one on this land. Then the first division was made and a
petition presented to the Assembly to have the tract annexed to
New Milford and become a part of that township; but this
failed, and all that was done during the next ten years was the
buying and selling of some of the shares of the Purchase. In
1741, by an act of the Assembly, this tract of land was made a
part of New Milford township, and immediately land specula-
tions became a specialty, and the transactions increased until
1747, when the settlement began at what is now New Preston
village. Two or three years hefore this last date, a few settlers
had located on the western part of this North Purchase, the
locality being called Merryall, and it is possible that some had
settled in the southwest corner of this tract at or near what is
. now Merwinsville.

First Settiers at New Preston.

“ Mr. Edward Cogswell of Preston, New London county,
Conn.,” bought of John Baker of Woodbury, and Caleb Mal-
lery of New Milford, Sep. 10, 1745, a tract of land in the North
Purchase, the ““thirty-third lot in the south tier of lots,” which
must have been near the southeast corner of the purchase ex-
tending northward from the southeast corner, three-fourths of a
mile, or to where the New Preston Cemetery now is. In the next
three years he purchased other picces of land in the vicinity,
amounting in value-to several hundred pounds money. He at
once erected what was called then the Iron Works, one-half of
which he sold in 1747 to Matthew Whipple ; these works stand-
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ing on the river just above the road that goes to New Preston
Hill '

Samauel Cogsivell of Preston, New London county, bought of
Caleb Mallery, June g, 1746, *“two shares ;—lots 30 and 31, for
4300 old tenor.” The next day Edward Cogswell received a
deed of land in the same vicinity, and the next spring both of
these families were residing here, and therefore they probably
scttled here in the spring or summer of 1746.

Jaecob Kennie of Preston, New London county, bought of
Jerusha Boardman (widow of Rev. Danicl), “lot 32in N. M. N..
Purchase, Jan. 20, 1746-7, for £200 old tenor,” and the next
April purchased of Samuel Cogswell 187 acres, for £150. He
settled here that spring (1747), and made several other pur-
chascs of lands within two or three ycars. He had a family,
and they remained in the vicinity many years. Jacob Kennie
was an influential, benevolent citizen.

Zephaniah Branch purchased for £139, land of Samuel
Cogswell and Edward Cogswell, and made his home here about
1749, and was in the place somc ycars; but all the family seem
to have disappeared long ago.

Matthew Whipple, of “ Ipswich in the county of Essex, in
the province of the Massachusetts Bay, yeoman,” purchased of
Edward Cogswell, October 24, 1747, * one-half of the Iron Works
in New Milford North Purchase, standing on a stream called
Aspetuck, that comes out of a large pond, commonly called the
West Pond; also one-half of the stream from the dain south-
wardly ten rods, with all the appurtenances, privileges, and accom-
modations belonging thercunto, with the privilege of the iron ore,
as | the said Edward Cogswell have of lilisha Williams and
Martin Kellogg; likewise, . . . . full liberty to use any spot of
ground that is near said Iron Works that may be convenient to
build a house or houses upon, necessary to the carrying on the
half of said Iron Works ; also, land for a garden and orchard or
pasturc ncar the Works, on the west side of the river, not to
exceed ten acres.” *

Whatever there were of these Iron Works at this time, they
had been erected within two years previous, probably within
one, and the two partners, Edward Cogswell, and Matthew
Whipple, composed the first manufacturing enterprise within the
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North Purchase, and the second one within the bounds of New
Milford, except that of leather.

Nathaniel Bozworth of Rehoboth, county of Bristol, prov-
ince of the Massachusetts Bay, bought of Jonathan Noble about
ninety acres of land, the thirty-fourth lot, for £130, old tenor,
November 7, 1743. He did not settle on this land, but on the
23d of May, 1749, he deeded one-half of it, “for love and good-
will and divers other good causes,” to his son Nathaniel Boz-
worth, Jr., blacksmith, then already settled in New Milford.
The boundaries of this thirty-fourth lot, in part, are: “ Begin-
ning at the southeast corner, . . . and running westerly by the
highway till it comes to Steep Brook, and then bounded by said
brook. Then beginning again at the said southeast corner and
running northeasterly by the highway till it comes to a brook
that runs across said highway into said Right of land, then by
said brook westwardly until it comes within ten rods of East
Aspetuck, then southwesterly ten rods for a corner, then north-
westerly twenty rods, if it doth reach East Aspetuck River;
then northeasterly till it comes to said river, then down stream
by said river southeasterly from said river to Steep Brook, in-
cluding forty-five acres; and I also convey to him fully one
quarter part of the stream and land left and reserved, for build-
ing and improving water-mills and works, reserving a sufficient
cart-way to and from the place proposed for said mills or works
to the highway at the east side of said lot.” The southeast cor-
ner of this ot must have been near,—perhaps a little northwest
of—the Episcopal Church in Marbledale.

Henry Dean of Preston, in the county of New London
tanner, came to New Milford and purchased at this place, May 1,
.1749, of Edward Cogswell, land *“on the east side of the stream
called Aspetuck, near the new Iron Works,” and in the descrip-
tion of boundaries is mentioned “a black oak tree, standing by
the pond made to soak hydes in,” showing that already the Tan

" Works were commenced.

When the settlement had attained to these proportions a
movement was successfully made for religious privileges in the
community.

Winter Previleges.

“Qct., 1748. Upon the memorial of Samuel Averil and others,

living in the southeast part of Kent, and lidward Cogswell and
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others, living in the northcast part of the town of New Milford,
shewing this Assembly that thcy are situatc at a great distance
from the public worship in the towns to which they respectively .
belong, and praying liberty of this Assembly to hire an orthodox
minister to preach among themselves six months in the ycar for
such term of years as this Assembly shall think fit, with exemp-
tion from taxes, &c.: Resolved by this Assembly, that the said
memorialists have liberty to hire an orthodox minister amongst
themselves six months in a ycar for the space of four years next
coming, with exemption from any ministerial charges in the
towns to which they respectively belong for such of time only as
they shall hire among themselves.”

In the spring of 1753, a petition was sent to the Assembly,—
as hereafter follows,—which resulted in the establishment of an
ccclesiastical socicty, according to the boundari‘es of the petition,
by the name of New Preston, which name was in honor of the
fact that a number of the leading men had come from Preston
in this state, and therefore it was agreeable and appropriate to
call it Vew Preston.

Letition for an Ecclesiastical Society.

“To the Honorable y® Generall Assembly to be Ilolden at Newhaven in y*
Colony of Connecticut on The Second thursday of October Next A. D. 1753—

The memorial of us the Subscribers Being Inhabitants of y* Northern Part of
New milford and y* South and Southeast Part of Kent and a Place Called Meriall
in y* County of Litchfield Humbly Begg Leave to observe—

That your Honr*. Memorialists Live a Great Distance from y* Publick Worship of
God by Reason Whereof we Labour Under Great Difficulty to attend Publick
Worship With our families many of us having Considerable families of Small
Children Which many of them by Reason of y* Difficulty wee Labour under are
Destitute of the Benefit of Attending the Worship of God in any Place by Reason
Whereof this Llonorable Asscinbly hath in times P’ast Been Pleased to Grant to us
the Liberty of winter Preaching Whereby we and our families have had the oppor-
tunity of Enjoying the Benefit of a Preached Gospel Amongst our Selves to Great
Sattisfaction and that time being Limited and now Ended—thereupon your Honours
memorialist humbly Pray that this Honora** asscmbly would be Pleased in your
Wonted Goodness to Grant us Release from our Difficulty and Grant to us the
Privilidge of Being an Ecclesinstical Socicty with the Powers and Privilidges that
other Lcclesiastical Societys in this Colony here With the Limits and Boundarys as
hereafter Discribed (viz)

Beginning at the Southeast Corner of the new milford North Purchis then Run.
ing Southerly Joyning upon Woodbury Linc one mile, from thence runing a
West Line to the foot of the Long Mountain Southwest of Capt. Joseph Bostwicks,
from thence a North Line toa Place Called the Rockhouse Cobble and so that Course
to Meriall Line and then a Cross Mecriall to Kent Line and then runing East to
the Southwest Corner of James Lakes farme then Northerly to the Northwest Cor-

27
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ner of John Henderson’s farme that he now lives upon then Runing East to East
Greenwich Line then Runing South to the Southwest Comer of East Greenwich
then Runing East upon East Greenwich Line to Shipauge River thence Runing
Southardly on s¢ River to Woodbury Line Then Runing westerly on woodbury
line to the first mentioned Bounds or such other Lines and Boundaries as your
Honours shall think most Convenient, or to appoint a Com'* to Now Settle and
asartain the Same or in some other way Grant Rclieve to your memorialist as you in
your Grate Wisdom think fit and your emorialists as in Duty Bound shall Fver
Pray. .o

Dated September y* rath A. D. 1753

Jacodb Kinne, his
Josiah Churchill, enoch X —
Samuel Cogswell, mark,
David Mackwethy, Jeremy Dawes?

Benjamin Darling,

Mica Pal
lca 7 a me, Joseph Corey,

Samuel Cogswell,

John Cobb ' Josiah Caswell,

Caleb Rude, Ichabod Palmer,

Joseph Mile,s thomas hotchkiss,
’ [}

Nathan Hawley, Gl:‘ead Sperry |

David Averill, John hawniss

Reuben Mackwethy,
Thomas Bemon,
John Benedict,
Daniel Farrill,
Jehiel Murry,

_ John Bostwick,
Stephen Noble, Benajah Bostwick,

Samuel Averill
h 2 '
John Keeny Samuel Lake.”

Moses Averill,
Thomas Morris,
Samuel Waller,
John Bemen,

nathnel case,

‘Of these names, Joseph Miles, Nathan Hawley, Stephen
Noble, John Bostwick, and Benajah Bostwick, were from New
Milford. Capt. Joseph Bostwick was within the boundaries of
the society, and his name may be one of the two which could
not be copied from the original petition at Hartford, they being
covered by repairs on the manuscript. Two or three others may
have been originally from New Milford, and living in the west-
ern part of the new society.

The names of all the men within the limits of the society are
not on this petition; the reason is not apparent. Nathaniel Boz-
worth was one; his brother William received land here in 1751,
from his father ; and Edward Cogswell and Zephaniah Branch do
not appear. William Cogswell came a few years later, but was
here in 1757.

Since writing the above, it has been ascertained that Nathan-
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ic] Bozworth, Zephaniah Branch, and several others, resident in
New Preston at that time, were adherents to the Episcopal
Church ; -and hence as early as 1766 or 7, an Episcopal house of
worship was erected in that place—a further account of which
may be seen in connection with the sketch of St. Andrew’s
Church, of Marbledale.

Site for a Mecting-house.

“Dec. 21, 1754. I, Jacob Kene, . . . in consideration of love
and good will towards the society of New Preston, and-in view
of setting up or accommodating the public worship of God in
said society, . . . do freely give . . . one acre of land to erect a
meeting-house upon for the public worship of God, . . . part of
the farm I now live upon, . . . that part on which the County
Court’s committee have affixed a stake for the meeting-house of
said society, together with a two-rod highway from said stake
southeast, unto a ten-rod highway that is between the 1st and
2d tier of lots in the New Milford North Purchase.”

This was the site of the first meeting-house on New Preston
Hill, it being but a little distance from the present church edifice
at that place. In Deccmber, 1753, the society voted to lay a tax
of twelve pence on the pound to hire a minister for the season ;
and to build two school-houses by subscription, for the use of
the society. In November, 1754, it was voted to build a meet-
ing-house 36 by 26 feet, with five windows, of twelve lights each.
In December, 1766, it was voted to build another meeting-house
forty by fifty feet, which was inclosed three years later, but was
not entircly finished until 1798.

The Rev. Noah Wadham was the first scttled minister in the
society, beginning in 1757. He was induced to resign his place
and accept the position of pastor in the settlement of the first
colony in the Wyoming Valley, Pa.,, in 1768. The Rev. Jere-
miah Day was the next pastor in New Preston, beginning in
January, 1770, and continuing until 1806. This family have
hecome very widely known through their professional positions
for many years in Yale College.

During the labors of the Rev. Charles A. Boardman, from
New Milford, for twelve years, from 1818, the New Preston
Society was known as one of the most efficient and successful
of Western Connecticut. :
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New Preston Burying-Place.

On February 1, 1757, Benjamin Mallery, of Kent, and James
Terrill, of New Milford, as a committee of the New Preston
Society, purchased of Samuel Cogswell, for twenty shillings,
lawful money, a certain piece of land, “ bounded west by Joseph
Wheaton’s, south and east by said Cogswell’s land, and north on
highway ;" said land is purchased and devoted for a burying-
place for the east end of New Preston.! For this land a warran-
tee deed was given, without reservation or consideration except as
above stated. The ten rod highway running through the north
purchase east and west, passed this burying-place on the north
side.

The following secured the site of the first school-house, which
doubtless was near the present one, near the dwelling of Mr.
Gould C. Whittlesey ;:—

“December 13, 1762. Voted that the inhabitants of New
Preston Society may have liberty to build a school-house on the
highway near Captain Nathaniel Bozworth's shop, in the most
convenient place as they shall judge, so as not to incommode the
" public road.”

Captain Bozworth’s blacksmith’s shop stood, probably, north
side of the highway, a little way west from the present school-
house, in New Preston Village.

In that part of the New Preston Society which lay within the
bounds of New Milford township, the following names are found
on the assessment list for 1800:

Ichabod, Bostwick, Justus Dimon,
Oliver Bostwick, Eli Daton,
Zachariah Bostwick, Ebenezer Edwards,
Richard Barnum, ’ David Hill,

David Bostwick, Jonathan Hill,
Thomas Buckley, John Hatch,
Joseph Bostwick, Samuel Hill, Jr,
Andrew Bostwick, Ephraim Lyon,
Joseph E. Bostwick, Read Marsh,

John Cogswell, - Wanzer Marsh,
Edmund Clark, Stephen Morchouse, Jr.,

' New Milford land records, B. ix., 320.
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Stephen Morchouse, Henry Straight,
John Morehouse, Jr., Benajah Stone,
John Morehouse, Gideon Starr,
Benjamin Northrop, Jared Sperry,
William Nickerson, Canfield Stone,
Epenetus Platt, Jr., Daniel Stone,
Elnathan Peet, 3d, Ithiel Stone,
Daniel Peet, ' James Terrill, Jr,,
LElnathan Peet, 2d, Leman Terrill,
Joseph Peet, Jared Terrill,
Samuel W. Peet, Job Terrill, Jr.,
Julius Stone, , Joseph Waller,
Benjamin Stone, Jr, | Winthrop Woodin,
Ebenezer Smith, Eseck Wheaton.

The total assessment on the New Preston list in New Milford
town for 1800 was $10,129.71.

The total assessments of the New Milford township for 1800,
including Bridgewater, and excluding New Preston, was $75,-
982.04.

The total assessment within the Bridgewater Society in 1804,
the first year of their organization, was $15,158.43.

The total assessment of that part of Newbury (now Brook-
field) Society, lying within New Milford township, in 1787, the
last assessment before the organization of the town of Brook-
field was 42,371 22s. 6d. ) :

The valuation of church property and the Town House in 1822,

" was recorded on the Assessor’s list as follows: .
Congregational, Old Society, $1,500.
Congregational, Bridgewater, 1,000.
Episcopal, First Society, ‘ 1,000.
Baptist, First Society, 500.
Friends, First Society, 300.
Town llouse, . 200,
14 School-houses, 700.

$5,200.

For many years the assessment list contained the valuation of
the property in the town, and also a percentage of the same as
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the list upon which taxes were collected. These two lists stood,
in 1822, as follows : ’
“ Total amount of the whole town for 1822.

Valuation. Taxable.
First Society, £1,055,765.00 £44,971.56
New Preston, 133,604.00 5,874.48
Bridgewater, 233,844.00 9,976.67

'$1,423,303.00 $60,822.71



CHAPTER XIV.
THE REVOLUTION.
1774—1781,

ONG was the struggle for American liberty, but glori-
S’ ous was the victory. The beginning of the conflict
in New Milford witnessed the most perfect loyalty to
the king, as was the fact everywhere in the colonies;
but by the arbitrary course of the British ministry,
) the tide soon turned in favor of entire independence,
“At a town meeting legally warned and holden at New Mil-
ford, in Connecticut, on the 20th day of September, A. D. 1774:

“1st. -Samuel Canfield, Esqr., was chosen moderator for said
meeting.

“2d. Preamble, &c. This meeting with hearts full of loyalty
and duty to our rightful sovereign, King George the III, and
with the warmest desires to hold, enjoy, and transmit inviolable
to the latest posterity our sacred and inestimable charter rights
and privileges, and moved with the most poignant grief at the
present truly alarming and dangerous situation of the American
colonies in consequence of the unconstitutional measures lately
adopted by the British Parliament, and now actually carrying on
against our brethren at Boston, in the province of Massachusetts
Bay, whereby duties and taxes are imposed on the Americans
without their consent: Do think it our duty to make public our
sentiment in those matters, to the intent that a firm union may
be preserved through the American colonies, which union we
apprehend necessary to our common safety; ‘wherefore we do
unanimously and firmly resolve and declare: ‘

“]. That we look upon the cause of Boston, in its conse-
quences and essential connections with, to be the common cause
of all North America. ,

II. That the measures now pursuing against Boston and the
Massachusetts Bay are manifest infractions of their rights as
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English subjects, and in their consequence and nature oppress-
ive, and totally subversive of American Liberty.

III. That all legal and constitutional means ought to be
used by all Americans to remove those unconstitutional measures
now carrying on against the American Colonies.

IV. Therefore we will join with the Towns in this and the
sister Colonies in all reasonable and lawful measures that shall
be thought best by the !Hon. General Congress now sitting, to
assert, maintain, and defend our common rights and privileges.

V. That we fully acquiesce in the Resolutions come into by
the Hon, House of Representatives at their session at Hartford,
in May last, and order the same to be entered at large in the
records of this town as being fully expressive of the sense of
this meeting on the important subject to which they refer, that
future generations may have access to them on every proper
occasion.

VI. That we think it friendly and humane to contribute for
the relief of the poor of Boston in their present distress.

VII. That Samuel Canfield, William Cogswell, and Daniel
Everitt, Esqrs., Dea. Abraham Camp, Capt. Sherman Boardman,
and Messrs. Abel Hine and Josiah Starr be a committee to
receive and answer all letters, and to collect and communicate
all necessary intelligence, and to receive and forward such con-
tributions that may be made in this town for the abovementioned
purposes, and order these resolves to be printed in the Hartford
paper, or Connecticut Courant, and that any four of the members
have power to act. '

VIII. That we disapprove of all riots, tumultuous and un-
warrantable meetings, mobs and combinations among ourselves,
under color of defending our privileges.”

On the 12th of thc next Dccember (1774), a committce of
Inspection was appointed “according to the General Congress
advice, and also according to the concurrence thereto by the
Hon. General Assembly holden at New Haven in October last

past:”’
Amos Northrop, - Samuel Canfield,
Isaac Hitchcock, Reuben Booth,
Bushnell Bostwick, Sherman Boardman,
Nathaniel Bozworth, Eleazer Warner,
Epenctus Platt, George Smith,

Isaac Bostwick, Gilead Sperry.
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The committee of Inspection and Correspondence appomted
in December, 1776, werc:

Mr. Samue! Comstock, . William Cogswell, Esqr.,
Mr. Isracl Baldwin, Abel Hline, Esqr.,

Capt. Abram Camp, Mr. Amos Northrop,
Daniel Everitt, Esqr., Capt. Sherman Boardman,
Capt. James Terrill, Mr. Reuben Booth,

Mr. John Comstock, Mr. Asahel Noble,

Mr. George Smiith, Dea. Benjamin Gaylord,
Doct. Jonah Tuld, Mr. Oliver Warner,
Joseph Ruggles, Esqr.,, Mr. Caleb Bennett,

Col. Bushnell Bostwick, Mr. Samuel Warner,
Samuel Bostwick, Esqr., Dea. Ebenezer Hotchkiss.

Col. Samuel Canfield,

All the above titles are given the same as in the records of
the town, and reveal the standing of these men, and hence the
dignity and commanding influence of the cause they were to
represent, in the estimation of the people of this town. .

The battle at Concord, Mass., on the 1gth of April, 1775, was
the opening of the war, and troops were called from all parts of
the country, but hostilities were not pressed by the British dur-
ing that summer.

Capt. Tsaae DBostivick was sent with a company of sol- -
dicrs from New Milford to Boston in the autumn or winter of
1775, and rcmained there during January and Februsiry. A
book containing the weekly report of his company for six or
eight weeks is still preserved in the possession of Mr. John R.
Bostwick, which informs that the company belonged to .Col.
Webb's Regiment, and were at “Winter Hill,” near Boston,
during January (17706), and in Roxbury during the next Feb-
ruary.  The names of the men are not on this book, very much
to our regret, but the number of officers and men was sixty-five,
several of them being without arms. Isaac Bostwick was Cap-
tain of the militia company of the * South End;” that is, south
of an east and west line crossing the town at the Congregational
meeting-housc.

Captain Bostwick’s Company had not returned home when
another company was ordercd to New York; this is called
« Captain Couch’s Company, in Col. Andrew Ward's Regiment ;"
most of the officers and men being of New Milford. The book
of accounts kept by Benjamin Bostwick, Jr., as Clerk in this

28
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company, is still preserved, and is in the keeping of Col. Wm. ]J.
Starr. The company was in the service two months and twenty-

three days,—from Feb. 1, 1776.

.
Names of officers and privates.

Lt Ebeneser Couch,
Lt. Elisur Warner,
Ens. Noble Hine,

Benjamin Bostwick, Fr., Clerk,

Sergt. David Whittlesey,
Sergt. Benjamin Weller,
Sergt. Matthew Brownson,
Sergt. Oliver Dostwick,
Corpl. Gideon Morgan,
Corpl. Uri Fackson,
Corpl. Nathaniel Cole,
Corpl. William Nichols,
Corpl. Lemuel Thayer,
Drusmr., Eleaser Hendriv,
Fifer, David Ruggles,

v Fifer, Fohn Couch,
Nathaniel Averill,
Benjamin Adams,
Salmon Bostwick,
Fohn Baldwin,

. Sohn Beach,
Israel Bostwick,
David Buel,
Fared Baldwin,
David Bosworth,
Caleb Darns,
Matthias Decinan,
Stiles Bardsicy,
Focl Bostwick,
Fohn Canfield,
Fesse Camp, .
Fonathan Critenden,
Elijak Cary,
Fonah Todd,

Isracl Camp,
Samuel Copley,
Iizra Dunning,
Fedediakh Durkec,
Caswell Dcan,
Thomas Drinkwater,
Stephen Lvitts,
Asa Farrand,
William IFoot,
Fonathan Gray,
Lpenetus Gunn,
Elnathan Gregory,
Liverius Hawley,
Asahel Hotchkiss,
Richard Fohnson,
Fohn Kecler,
David Kceler,
Nathan Keeler,
Fonathan ILum,
Foseplh Mygatt,
Lyman Noble,
Lphraim Minor,
David Porter,
Samucl Pringe,
Amos Prime,
Reuben Phillips,
William Pect,
Sohn Rood,

Isaac M. Ruggles,
Aziah Robards,
Nathan Rowley,
Liffe Sanford,
Asa Starkweather,
Fohn Turrill,
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libeneser Trowbridge, Nathan Wildman,
Stephen Turrell, Cooley Weller,
Isbeneser Williams, Abel Wilkinson,
Wiellian: Whitely, Lewis Hunt.

The campaign opened the next year in New Milford, by the
following proceedings in town meeting:

Mar. 31, 1777. “Voted, that a committee be appomted ac-
cording to the advice of His Honr. the Governor, &c., for the
purpose of furnishing the quota of soldiers in the Continental
scrvice for said New Milford.

. “Lt. Zadoc Noble, Capt. Joseph Ruggles, Jr., Ens. Jeremiah
Canfield, Mr. Ithiel Stone, Dea. Israel Baldwin, Mr. Thomas
Brownson, and Mr. Zachariah Sanford, were chosen the com-
mittce.

“Voted, that the town of New Milford will give twelve pounds
lawful money, bounty, for the first year's service in addition to all
encouragement already given to such inhabitants of this town as
shall enlist into the Continental service for three years, or during
the present war, within ten days from this time, including those
who belong to this town who have alrcady enlisted, subducting
only their wages from the time they cnlisted to this day, and
such private donations as they have received.

“That for thc second and third years, said soldiers who shall
so cnlist shall have six pounds lawful money pr. year to be pald
out of the town treasury.”

After making provisions by which to supply the money to pay
these engagements, the committee entered upon their work ; and
the tax collectors, Joseph Mygatt and Daniel IHine, upon theirs;
but these were only the beginning of troubles, expenses, and
privations.

* Sep. 30, 1777. That the town will proceed to transport some
salt which belongs to said town.

“William Cogswell, Esqr., and Capt. Ebenezer Couch to be a
committee to procurc said salt and fetch to New Milford, and
that the said committee shall apply to the Selectmen for money
to bear the cxpense of transporting said salt from Boston to said
town.”

The only safe way of conveying salt or mercantile articles
from Boston to this place at that time was by carts drawn by
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oxen or horses, by which means it is probable it was secured in
this case. It is said in the record, “ to transport some salt which
belongs to this town,” that is, salt which had been apportioned
to this town by the Colonial government, since it was so scarce
that the government took charge of the distribution to keep it
out of the hands of rapacious speculators. Such was only one
of the straits into which the Colonies were thrown in the early
part of the great struggle for liberty.

Another department of work is revealed in the following
record, and which was onc of great importance through the
continuance of the war.

“ Capt. Sherman Boardman, Mr. Samuel Warner, Mr. Simcon
Baldwin, Capt. Benjamin Brownson, Capt. Ebenezer Couch, Mr.
Ithiel Stone, and Dea. Ebenezer Hotchkiss shall be a committec
to procure clothing for the soldiers in the Continental service.”

The committee of inspection and correspondence, which was
a kind of home police of patriotism, in 1778, were:

Capt. Elizur Warner, Capt. James Terrill,
Lt. Isaac D¢ Forest, Mr. Amos Nurthrop,
- Lt. Benjamin Seelye, Mr. John Purter,
Capt. Reuben Bostwick, Mr. Nathan Gaylord,
Capt. Paul Yates, Mr. Samuel Merwin, Jr.

Mr. Daniel Everett,

The committee to procure supplies for the soldiers in the
Continental army were :
Capt. James Terrill, . Mr. Simeon Baldwin,

Mr. Reuben Booth, Capt. Benjamin Brownson.
Lt. David Smith,

To provide clothing for the soldiers in the Continental army:

Ens. Jeremiah Cantield, Mr. Simeon Baldwin,
Mr. Ebenezer Ilotchkiss, Mr. Asahel Noble.

At the annual town mecting in December, 1779, a new
method was adopted for furnishing clothing:

“Voted, that the inhabitants of New Milford shall be divided
into twelve districts . . . and that the said districts shall furnish
their respective quotas as shall be assigned to them as aforesaid ;
and, on the failure of each or either of said districts in furnishing
the clothing allotted to them as aforesaid, then in case a warrant
for impressing clothing be granted it shall be divided to the dis-
‘tricts that are deficient in proportion to the deficiencies.”
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The extreme measures which seemed necessary at the time
are revealed in two votes, one being for three shillings tax on the
pound of money, and the other “ that the selectmen shall be and
are impowered to deliver back those guns to such disaffected
persons of this town as have been disarmed, according to their
discretion.” ’

Several persons went. from this town and joined the British
army to fight against their own kindred and country; and worse,
sonie joined in bands or companies as Tory “roughs,” and passed
from place to place as bandits, having secret hiding-places ; and
hence, out of self-preservation of lifc and goods, the precaution
was wise and 'right to take the arms of certain persons from
them. For holding sentiments of loyalty to the King no one
was ever disturbed, so far as yet learned ; but when they threat-
cned the burning of dwellings, and the destruction of property
and lifc, it was proper to defeat their intentions in such designs.
Two brothers by the name of Fairchild joined the British army,
and after some months returned to their sister’s house in New
Milford, on furlough. While visiting, the sister called their
attention to some new window-curtains as very nice. They
remarked, ‘ Only so much more finery to be burned.” Thc sister
asked, “ Are you going back to the British army?” They said,
“ Certainly ; we are only off on a furlough.” “Well,” said she,
“such being your sentiments, I do not wish ever to see you
again. Do not ever come back to this town.”

March 13, 1780. A committee of inspection on provisions,
agreeablc to a late act of Assembly, was chosen as follows:

Mr. Simcon Baldwin, Benjamin Gaylord,
Capt. Noble iline, Lbenezer Gaylord,
Mr. Daniel Everitt, Asahel Noble,

Capt. Paul Yates, Capt. Elizur Warner,
Mr. Ebenezer Hotchkiss, Israel Camp,

Mr. George Smith, Lemuel Warner,
Capt. Sherman Boardman, Capt. Joseph Ruggles,
Mr. Ithiel Stone, ‘ ’ Dea. Abram Camyp,
Mr. Thomas Lewis, lphraim Buck,
Capt. Benjamin Brownson, Samuel Merwin,
Capt. Reuben Bostwick, Martin Warner,

Mr. Israel Baldwin, Uri Jackson,

Juseph Hartwell, Robert Bostwick,

Doct. Reuben Warner, Nehemiah Hawley.
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In June, 1780, upon the call from Congress for more soldiers,
the town voted that *“ every soldier who shall voluntarily enlist to
serve in the Continental Battalions for the space of six months,
or until the first day of January next (unless sooner discharged)
shall be paid out of the town treasury of said New Milford by
the first day of January for every month they are in said service,
four bushels of wheat, or an equivalent thereto in money in
addition to the bounty and encouragement already given by the
State.”

In addition to this they voted to give three bushels of wheat
or an equivalent in money to all militia-men who might be called
to serve onc month, in addition to all other pay, and when they
should serve more than a month, then three bushels of wheat for
every month. The same was also granted to the detachment
which was then under marching orders from New Milford to
West Point for an unlimited time. Two months later the town
offered ten bushels of wheat per month for every soldier who
should enlist for four months, and in the next November a com-
mittee was appointed to classify the inhabitants of the town “in
order to raise recruits for three years or during the war.” In
December of the same year (1780) the town placed the whole
matter of raising recruits in the hands of a committee to do the
best they could, and the town would pay the bills and carry out
the engagements they should make. Under this arrangement
the work was performed so well that in January, 1781, they
voted “that this town entertain the highest sense of gratitude
‘to the officers and soldiers who have served in the Continental
army, for their patriotic. spirit in entering the service, for their
soldier-like behavior, for their patience and fortitude in suffering
many hardships and discouragements which nothing but an ardent
love of liberty and their country could inspire, and that this
vote of thanks be recorded as a testimony of our gratitude.”

Having passed this most just and proper expression of
appreciation, they proceeded to make further arrangements for
filling the ranks for the next summer’s campaign, which proved
to be their last act of the kind, since the war ended, with the
surrender of Cornwallis, in October, 1781 ; and we have seen
the day of the celebration of the centennial anniversary of that
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surrender, but can scarcely realize how vast the changes in that
on¢ hundred years.

But the conflicts and consequences of the war were not past,
if the fighting by the armies was, for the town found reason, in
the irresistible remembrance of the past, to record the following
action :

“It is supposed that many of the people of this town who
have left their country’s cause and joined the enemies of these
states, are now desirous of rcturning to their usual homes :—this
meeting, after fully debating upon the subject, and considering
those men who have thus in a critical season voluntarily left
their own country’s cause and themeby deprived it of their help
and assistance which might be expected from them, are of the
mind that all those persons under the above description, cannot,
agreeable to the feelings and opinions of the people of this town,
be accepted and received again as inhabitants of this town.
Unanimously voted.

“Voted, that none of those persons who have voluntarily gone
over and joined the enemy, shall be suffered to abide and con-
tinue in the town during the present situation of our puBlic
affairs.” To carry out these resolutions, a committee was ap-
pointed of thosc men who knew what the terrible struggle had
been, and the conscquence was that several never came back,
and never obtained any benefit of the possessions they once
owned in the town. In February, 1782, fiftcen acres of land
belonging to Samuel Miles, having been confiscated by the state,
was sold at auction for seventy pounds money.

A Neighborly Contribution,

The following receipt is on the town records:

“Received, Litchfield, 28th Sept., 1779, of the First Socnety
in New Milford, by the hand of Col. Samuel Canfield, ninety-
four pounds, sixteen shillings money, which was contributed by
said socicty for the relief of the suffering and distressed inhabi-
tants of the towns of New llaven, Fairficld, and Norwalk.

£94-16.
Per REUBEN SmiTH, County Treasurer.”
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Value of Continental Money.

“March, 1780. Voted, that the society’s committee receive
either the principal or interest of the donation notes at the rate
of twenty-five shillings in continental money, for one shilling
lawful money, or old way, as is due upon said notes, until the
time of the next adjournment of this meeting.”

Revolutionary Soldiers.

LElijah Boardman enlisted when 16 years of age, in
1776, and served some months.

Capt. Reuben Bostiwvick:, born in 1758, son of Capt. Isaac,
served in the Revolution. He removed to Hinesburg, Vt,
about 1790.

ILt. Oliver Bostwicl: was in the Revolutionary War; re-
turned home and lived years after.

Ibenezer Bostwick was Orderly Sergeant during the
Revolution, and in 1788 removed to Hinesburg, Vt.; from there
afterwards to Elizabethtown, N. Y., and thence to Rootstown,
Ohio, in 1803, where he died.

Stephen Crane, Sen., was commissary of an artillery com-
pany in the Revolution.

Orange Ferriss, son of David, died in the army at Crown
Point, Sept. 13, 1775.

Isaae Baldwin, son of Theophilus 1st, was in the battle
of Danbury, in the Revolution. ,

Lt. Israel Baldwin was lieutenant in the Revolution in
Col. Silliman’s regiment,—appointed June 14, 1776, to be
marched directly to New York.

“ Ichabod Wilkinson, a soldier of the 7th Connecticut
regiment, having served with reputation three years, the full term
for which he enlisted, is discharged the service of the United
States.

Camp, 12th Feb., 1780. :
PuiL. B. BrabLEy, Col. Com’d.”

Col. Josial Starr served in the Revolution, and for a time
was keeper of the military stores in Danbury. In May, 1776,
he was appointed captain in one of the regiments, being raised
for the defence of thisand other united colonies. In June, 1776,
he was appointed Lieut.-Col. of 2d Battalion then to be raised,
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—his commission, dated Jan. g, 1777, signed by John Hancock,
being now in possession of his grandson, Col. Wm. ]J. Starr.
He went north, was at the siege of St. John's, and on his return
received a commission as colonel, Aug. 10, 1780; was at Mon-
mouth, Germantown, and with the army during that terrible
winter of suffering when it was short of supplies. He died Oct.
15, 1813.

Joseplh Wheaton, Jr., was a soldier, and was taken pris-
oner and suffered all the horrors of imprisonment in New York,
where he died.

Benjamin Wheaton was taken prisoner with his brother
Joseph,—suffered with him, and died from the effects of the im-
prisonment. His brother Sylvester went to bring them home;
finding them, he carried one out of the city in his arms, then
went back for the other, and on his return, found the first one
dead, and the other did not live to reach home.

The above is not a complete list of the Revolutionary soldiers,
but only such as have been obtained from reliable record.

Soldiers in the French War.

Robert Bostwick, J1., returned home sick with the small-
pox, and died Nov. 11, 1759.

Daniel Dayton, son of Josiah, died in camp at Oswego,
Oct. 5, 1760, :
Thomas Drirnkwater, son of William, died Nov. 3, 1755,
at the camp at Fort Edward, being under the command of Capt.

Samuel Dimmick. _

Johan Drinkiwater, son of William, died Sep. 8, 1755, at
the camp at Lake George, being a soldier under Capt Benjamin -
Hinman [of Woodbury].

Joel Hamlin, son of Nathaniel, died Sep. 21, 1755, at
Albany, being a soldier under Capt. Benjamin Hinman.

Silas Il enlisted in 1756 ; served one year, and afterwards
settled in New Milford.

Abraham Taylor, son of Thomas, died Sep. 8, 1755, at
camp at Lake George, being one of Capt. Benjamin Hinman's
company. v

Stephien Turrill, at the age of 15, joined the army under

29
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Gen. Abercrombie, in the campaign of 1758, against the French
and Indians.

At the commencement of the Revolution, he again became a
soldier, and continued through the war. He died at Charlotte in
Vermont, Feb. 28, 1848, aged 101 years and 4 months. One
record says, he died in 1844, aged 97 years.

Solomon Warner died at Montreal, in the English camp,
Sept. 20, 1760.

Hezeliah Baldwin was lieutenant in the French War,
and went to Crown Point and Ticonderoga. He shot an Indian
and obtained his powder-horn, a large one, which was treasured
carefully many years by his nephew Noble. He removed from
New Milford, but to what place it is not known.

Capt. Foseph Canficla’s Company.

The following papers were sent to the Gasette of New Milford
for publication in June, 1882. In sending them, Mr. Isaac
Huntting of Pine Plains, Dutchess Co,, N. Y., says: “Some old
papers in the possession of the descendants of James W. Smith,
who fifty years ago was a resident of this town, have a musty
tint, and yet in many respects are interesting for what is written
and printed thereon. Among these are some military papers,
having an especial local interest in New Milford and Western
. Connecticut, and also to some extent a general national interest,
They date back to the French and English war in this country
in 1758, and were accumulated and used by Capt. Joseph Can-
field, the paternal grandfather of Sarah Canfield, the wife of
James W. Smith, heretofore mentioned. He appears to have
been a man of thorough method and system in his business, and
died possessed of a large landed estate in New Milford.”

All of the above that refers to Capt. Canfield as a citizen of
New Milford was most fully true.

The earliest date of these papers is from Governor Fitch:

“ Whereas it is proposed to raise some independent companies
at their own charge and expense to assist the army in the expe-
dition to Crown Point, this may certify then that if such com-
panies appear and desire commissions for proper officers, I shall
be ready to give them. This I thought proper to signifie for
encouragement of such as are inclined to serve as aforesaid.

Norwalk y¢ 12 September 1755. Tno®. Frrcn.”
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This letter was found among Capt. Canfield’s papers, but
whether he engaged in the war at that time is not known.
Sevcral young men went in that year (1755) as soldiers as far as
Fort Edward, where they died, and it is probable that there were
more than those who died.

In the spring of 1758, Capt. Joseph Canfield raised a company
which scrved in the campaign under Col. David Wooster (after-
wards General), and many of the original enlistment papers have
been preserved. ‘T'he form of cnlistment was thus: “LEphraim
Guthrie, of New Milford, in Litchfield county: I do acknowledge
to have voluntarily inlisted myself a soldier to serve his Majesty

King George the Second in a Regiment of Foot raised by the =~

Colony -of Connecticut to be commanded by Col. David Wooster
of New Haven, for invading Canada, and carrying War into the
Heart of the Enemy’s Possessions. As Witness my Hand in
Kent the 2d day of April in the year of our Lord 1758.
EpnrAIM GUTHRIE.”

Accompanying this enlistment is a certificate of a justice of
the peace as follows:

*“These certify that Ephraim Guthrie, y° above signer, came
before me, one of his Majesty’s Justices of the Peace for the
County of Litchfield, and acknowledged to have voluntarily
cnlisted to serve his Majcesty King George the Second in the
above Regiment. He also acknowledged he had heard the
Second and Sixth Sections of the Articles of War against
Mutiny and Desertion read unto him, and taken the Oath of
Fidelity mentioned in the Articles of War.

INCkiASE MOSELEY, Fustice of the peace.”

In the enlistments preserved, in some cases the blanks for the
Colonels commanding are not filled,—those filled have * John
Read, Esq.,” “David Wooster,” and “Colonel of the fourth
regiment.” '

The following is a list of the names of these soldiers, their ’
residence, date of enlistment, the regiment and the Justice cer-
tifying, as they appear upon the papers: .

Canaan, in Litchfield County, regiment of Colonel John Read,
Esq., certified by John Beebe, Justice of the Peace.
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Augustine Brian, Fr., April 10. Fesse Sawyer, April 10
Thomas Latimer, “ 7. Roger Clark, “ s
Fokn Bunce, “ 10. Fohn Dean, “ 10
Elijak Kellogg, “ 10, Fonathan Devercux,

Thomas North, “ 10, from Goshen, “ 10.
Robert Vine, “« 18

New Milford Fourth Regiment, Bushnell Bostwick, Justice.

Benjamin Hinman, April 8. Daniel Buck, April 2s.
Benjamin Stone, “ 5. Benjamin Brownson, * 25.
Zadok Hawkins, “ 5. Elnathan Botchford, “« 8
Israel Baldwin, “ 5. David Downs, “ 2y,
Robert Bell, “ 5. Fokn Murrey, “« 2
Stlas Hill, no date. Amos Daton, « 8
Feptha Hawley, April 25.

The following from New Milford, Col. David Wooster's Regi-
ment—Increase Moseley, Justice.

Iphraim Guthric, April 2. Facob Parish, April 7.

From Woodbury, Col. David Wooster's Regiment—DBushnell
Bostwick, Justice.

Aaron Hurlburt, April 21. Solomon Squier,
Fehiel Bradley, “ 10 Fourth Regiment, April 11.
Fosepk Burch, “ 1,

The following are certified to by Daniel Sherman, Justice of
the Peace, but the residence and Regiment are left blank:

Fehiel Peet, April 3. Gideon Munn, April 13.
David Foot, “ 19, Benjamin Warner, certi- .
Fohn Watson, “ 19. fied from Woodbury, “ 17.
David Colhoon, “ 19. David Durkec, “ 10,
Gershom Lake, “ 13, Gideon Walker, “ 3
Zechariak Walker, “ 13. Lowell Hurd, “ a3,
Thomas Barker, “ 17, Fohn Brownson, “ 10
Daniel Manvell, “ 3. Sokn Burvall, _ :
- Elijah Hurlburt, “ 19, from Woodbury, April 10.
Nathaniel Sanford, “ 6.

From Farmington, for Col. David Wooster’s regiment, certi-
fied by David Whitney, Justice:

Fustus Askman, (Canaan), April 10.
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Daniel Pike, April 25, Dover, Dutchess Co., 4th regiment.
Certified to by Paul Welch, [New Milford] Justice of the Peace
in Litchfield county. '

From Kent, for Col.. Wooster's regiment, certified by Justice
Moseley :

Asnos Palmer, April 3. Henry Fisher, certified
Timothy Divine, o7 by Timo. Collins, April 24.

In addition to the above, the following have not a certificate of
a Justice:

Edward Cogswell of Kent, March 3I1.
Caleb Hurlbut of Litchfield, May 8.
Moses Fisher of New Milford, April 2.

Thesc arc all the enlistments on these papers, but may not
comprise all of Captain Joseph Canfield’s company, neither is it
certain that all these were in his company. A much mutilated
fragment of his muster-roll for 1758 contains the officers of his
company.

Capt. Fosepl Canfield, Clerk. Abel Hine.

Lieuts. Phincas Castle, Corporals, Zadok Hawkius,
Lluathan Ashmun, David Calkoon,

Iinstgn,  Nathan Tibbals, Solomon Wright,

Sergeants, Israel Baldwin, Lleser Curtiss.
Abrakam Brownson, Drummers. Feremiak Canfield,
Fosepk Prindle, : Edward Cogswell.
Folin Murry. :

The enlistments wcre made in April, and the next month
Capt. Canfield received the following orders:

“New Haven, 22d May, 1758.

Sir: Pursuant to the orders I have received from Governor
Fitch, I do hereby order and direct you to march with the com-
pany under your command to Albany, after you are furnished
with arms and other necessaries for the march, in order to
be there ready for scrvice of the campaign. You will take
care to provide one team for the baggage of your company.
You will also direct that one officer of your company remain
behind to fill up the number of your company, and to do that as



230 HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

'soon as possible ; and then direct him to march and join you at
Albany, Upon your arrival at Albany you will wait on the
Commander-in-chief, and attend his orders, &c.

' I am your humble servant,

Davip WoosTER.”
To Captain Canfield.

Not "the least entertaining among these scraps of paper are
those pertaining to the impressment of guns for this company.
To this end the Justice issued a warrant, and the gun was taken
and appraised and paid for, or returned. Capt. Canfield’s mem-

orandum of these reads:
“WoobpnuRry, June 10, 1758,

An account of guns, &c., impressed and delivered to the sol-
diers going into ye expedition under Capt. Joseph Canfield.

One gun and bayonet impressed from Garwood Cunningham,
appraised at 42 5s.; also belt and cartridge, 5s. 6d.; also one
cutlass, 12s. marked G. C,, delivered unto John Brownson.

A gun and cutlass, impressed from Elisha Stoddard, was de-
livered unto Abraham Brownson. One impressed from Abijah
Mitchell was delivered to Daniel Read. One from Eldad Spen-
. cer was delivered to John Wolton, Jr. One impressed from
Peter Walker was delivered to Daniel Manville.”

These were all from Woodbury, and “all appraised by ap- "
praisers under oath. Thus certified Daniel Shcrman, Justice of
the peace.” »

The bill of the Justice for this service is recorded - by himself :

“ A writ of impressing, 4o 1 o For the appraisers, 040
Officers’ fees thereon, 0 4 ¢ For my own trouble, 030
o120

Taxed by me, Daniel Sherman, Justice of the peace ”
For these impressments Licut. Castle gave a receipt, of which this is a copy:
“ WOODBURY, June 10, 1758.
I, the subscriber, Licut. Phineas Castle, have received of Daniel Sherman, Esqr.,
all the within arms, &c., by whose warrant the same were impressed for the soldiers
in the company under ye command of Capt. Joseph Canfield, at the prizes within
set to each.
I say received by me, PHINEAS CASTLE, Lieut.”
On January 3d, the next year, the guns thus impressed were
receipted for as returned, by the respective owners, which was
done at Woodbury.
The bayonet and belt accompanying the gun, impressed from
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Peter Walker, marked . W,, and dclivered unto Daniel Man-
vell, has this significant noticc:

“N.B. That night the fight was at Ticonderoga, the above-
mentioned belt and bayonet was left, and never been found
since, which was appraised 6s. by the appraisers aforesaid.

DANIEL MANVELL.”

This careful preservation of all his papers by Capt. Joseph
Canfield, indicates his correct business habits, and the preserva-
tion of these papers 120 years by his descendants, signifies the
perpetuation of the same:

The Militia of the Town.

The historical sermon of the Rev. Stanley Griswold, delivered
in 1800, gives the following account of military matters:

“ There have been eight military field officers in this town as follows, viz.:

Major John Bostwick, Col. Elisha Bostwick, .
Col. Bushneil Bostwick, Maj. Daniel Boardman,

Col. Samuel Canfield, Maj. Reuben Warner, 4
Col. Josiah Starr (in ye army), Maj. William Taylor.

*“ For several years, viz.: till the year 1744, there was but one military company in
the town,—which was formed and organized somewhere between the years 1715 and
1720. The officers were as follows :

Capt. Stephen Noblc (served 20 years),  Capt. Theophilus Baldwin,
Lieut. John Bostwick, Lieut. Joseph Bostwick,
Ens. Williain Gaylord, Ens. Sainucel Canfield,

[The second set above were appointed in October, 1738, and hence if Stephen
Noble served twenty years, as is probable, then the company was first organized in
1718.}

“The aforesaid company was divided, and two companies were established and
organized in the year 1744 ; since which there have been thirteen captains in each of
the companies as follows, viz.:!

First Company. Second Company.
Joseph Bostwick, Nathaniel Bostwick,
Nathan Botsford, John Warner,
Theophilus Baldwin, John Hitchcock,
Sherman Boardman, Jehicl Hawley,
Epenctus Platt, Samuel Canfield,
Benjamin Stone, ' Isaac Bostwick,
William Gaylord, Elizur Waruer,
Daniel Camp, Noble Hine,
Abel Gunn, Elisha Bostwick,
Abner Gunn, John Merwin,
Eli Todd, Amasa Ferris,
Benjamin R. Bostwick, Reaben Warner,
Beebe Hine. Elizur Warner, Jr.

! This list is a little erroncous compared with the Colonial Records,
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“ A troop of horse was formed of New Milford, Woodbury, and Litchfield, so long
ago as the year 1744, which continued about 10 or 12 years, but there was not any
captain in this town.

Another troop of horse belonging to New Milford, Washington, and Warren,
was formed in the year 1790, of which the captains belonging to this town have
been as follows, viz.:

William Taylor, Stephen Chittenden, Jr., Herman Canfield.

“ A company of Light Infantry was formed in this town in 1792, of which the cap-
tains have been as follows, viz.:

Daniel Boardman, ' Briggs Ingersoll,
Nicholas S. Masters, Abraham Hayes.

“ Another company of militia was formed out of those already mentioned, in the
year 1703, belonging to that part of the town called the Neck [now Bridgewater],
‘of which the captains have been as follows, viz.:

Joseph Squire, Ebenezer Trowbridge, Abijah Treat.”

The dividing line between the two military companies running east and west, was
one passing at the first meeting-house, and this was what gave the names “North
End” and “ South End.”

. Indenture of Negro York,

“Whereas Mr. Noah Smith of New Fairfield hath a Negro named York, who is
~ aslave for his lifetime, who has for his lawful wife an Indian woman, who was free-

born, named Lavlna; which Indian woman being extremely uneasy, almost to a
degree of desperation with her situation, being wife to a slave, hath practiced of
late to rove about from place to place, away from her husband’s master's, thereby
making her husband uneasy and less serviceable to his master,” therefore the said
Noah Smith agreed Jay. 19, 1769, to liberate said York, upon the condition that the
wife of York, Lavina, should work for John Cannon, “late of New Milford,” for
five years from date, to ecarn fifteen pounds money, and she pay for her own cloth-
ing, sickness, and medicine if any, until the five years should be fully completed,
during all which time the slave York was to work for his master Noah Smith. The
fifteen pounds money was to pay Mr. Smith for his property, York. Some of the
stipulations were: *The goods of her said master she shall not embezzle, waste,
nor them lend without his consent. She shall not frequent, nor play at games at
taverns or ale-houses. From the service of her master she shall not at any time
depart, nor absent herself without her said master’s leave, but in all things as a

good and faithful servant shall demean herself.” N
er

“Lavina + Indian woman,
mark
his
York + Negro man,
mark
Noah Smith,”

The Liberation of Slaves.
So far as the records which have been seen show, it was
a woman who first liberated a slave in New Milford. The

record is:
“Mary Roburds, Sen. . .. in consideration of the goodwill
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and respect I have for my Negro servant named Dan . . . . do
grant unto the said Dan Negro his time and freedom after my
decease, upon his procuring a sufficient bondsman for his
security, if need be; and I also give him one bed and covering
known by the name of Dan’s bed, and one certain horse colt
coming two years old of a bright bay .

her

May 10, 1756. ) MARY 4+ ROBBURDS.”

mark.

In 1757, Mary Robburds gave Dan his frecedom upon his
paying her £3.2s. 54. “annually, on the first of December
during my natural life,” and added to the- horse a saddle and
bridle. The next year Dan bought of James Bradshaw a tract
of land, twenty-five acres, adjoining the southwest corner of
Wood Creek meadow lots, and so soon began to show himself a
mau and an industrious citizen. All honor to Mary Robburds,
Sen. '

Fartridge Thalcher's Liberation of hkis Slaves.
“New MiLrorp, May 28, 1774.

This is to certify all persons whom it may concern or that
have the curiosity to enquire, that I Partridge Thatcher, upon
the special request of Amos Lewis, a negro man and my then
negro girl, did, on the 23d day of August, 1773, desire the Rev.
Mr. Richard Clarke, minister of the Church of England at
New Milford, to marry them, and on the same 23d day of
August, 1773, he, the said Mr. Richard Clarke, at my house in
said New Milford, did, according to the form of solemnization
of matrimony appointed by the Church of England, marry
the said Sibyl, and the said Partridge Thatcher did, in said
marriage then and there, give the said Sibyl (who was then my
negro-girl) to be married to said Amos, designing thereby to
give her her freedom from that day forward, and accordingly
they were then married; and I do further by these presents,
bona-fide declare that the said Sibyl, ever since the time of said
marriage, hath been wholly free according to the common free-
dom of English women, and is so now and shall forever here-
after enjoy the same freedom that free-born women, natives of

30



234 HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

this country, commonly do, both by law and custom, without any
let, hmdrance, or molestation, either from or by me or my heirs.
Certified by me, PARTRIDGE THATCHER.
Recorded Feb. 27, 1784, by Elisha Bostwick, Reg'r.”

Heber and Peleg Gratis.

Two other persons were made free by him, both papers bear-
ing the same date,—Dec. 30, 1780; in one of which he says: “I,
Partridge Thatcher, of New Milford, in favor of freedom, do
declare that from the day of the date hereof my negro man
Heber, Jacob’s son, shall be forever free;” and in the other he
says: “I Partridge Thatcher, of New Milford, in favor of free-
dom, do declare that my negro man Peleg, Jacob's son, when he
shall arrive at the full age of twenty-five years, which will be on
the 4th day of December, in the year of our Lord 1782, shall be
forever free, and shall enjoy the same freedom that other men of
this country commonly enjoy.”

These papers were evidently drawn by Mr. Thatcher himself,
and were held by the parties two years before they were recorded.
The first of the three was retained ten years before being re-
corded ; and these facts show the individuality of these acts; that
Mr. Thatcher being “in _favour of freedom” as the sole reason
why he made these persons free, was moved by his personal sense
of right, justice, righteousness and Christianity, to execute these
papers and secure freedom to these persons. Let it then be
remembered that Connecticut men did not free their slaves for
the sole reason that it did not “pay to keep them,” as has been so
many thousands of times alleged. All these slaves were young,
and in market in that day would have brought from three to five
hundred dollars each; and to retain on a farm, such as Mr.
Thatcher had, were worth in clear gain annually, at a small esti-
mate, each of them from fifty to one hundred dollars. But
besides the above three Mr. Thatcher liberated two others.

Jacob and Dinah Gratis.

“These may certify all that it may concern, that I, Partridge
Thatcher, of New Milford, in favour of Freedom, do declare that
from the day of the date hereof my negro man Jacob Gratis
and my negro woman Dinah, Jacob’s wife, shall both of them
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forever be free and shall both of them enjoy the same freedom
that other men and their wives, that were free-born of this
country, commonly enjoy, so that neither I nor my heirs nor
assigns shall ever have any demands for the future on them or
cither of them but shall esteem the said Jacob and Dinah free
as abovesaid : Provided, that the abovesaid Jacob and Dinah take
my youngest negro boy Cyrus to live with them, and take a
fatherly and motherly care of him from the day of the date
hereof until he shall arrive at the full age of five years, which
will be in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and
eighty-three, on the 28th day of April in said year, and at their
own expense and cost during said term, provide for him, the said
Cyrus, in sickness and health with sufficient meats, drinks, wash-
ing and lodging, and also complete clothing suitable to his age
and condition, and when he shall arrive at the full age of five
years, said Jacob and Dinah shall return said Cyrus to me suffi-
ciently clothed as abovesaid, all at their own expense and cost,
as witness my hand and dated this 3oth day of March A.D. 1781.
PARTRIDGE THATCHER.
Witnesses: L. M. Hitchcock,

Abigail Thomas.”

Sherman Boardman’s Negro Nehemiak.

“These Certify; That Capt. Sherman Boardman, of New
Milford, in the county of Litchfield and state of Connecticut,
having applied to us the subscribers, being a major part of the
selectmen in and for said town of New Milford for this present
year, for liberty and license to emancipate and make free his
Negro Slave named Nehemiah, and we having enquired into the
age, ability and circumstances and character of said Negro Slave,
are of opinion that it is likely to be- consistent with the real
advantage of said Negro Slave to be set free, and that it is prob-
able that said Nehemiah will be able to support his own person,
and that he is of good and peaceable life and conversation, and
the said Sherman Boardman hath liberty to emancipate and set
at liberty his said Negro Slave Nehemiah as above requested,
according to a certain state law of this state entitled An Act in
addition to and alteration of an Act entitled An Act concerning
Indian, Mulattoes and Negro servants and slaves :—and if the
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said Sherman shall on receiving this certificate emancipate and
set free said Negro Slave, Nehemiah, he the said Sherman Board-
man, his heirs; executors and administrators shall be and hereby
" are forever discharged from any and all charges or cost which
may be occasioned by maintaining and supporting the ‘said
Negro Slave Nehemiah, after his being so made free as above-
said. In testimony whereof we have hereunto set our hand this
19th day of September, A. D. 1780, and in the fifth year of the
Independence of the United States of America.
TrHOMAS THAYRE, } Majority of the

ETHIEL STONE, Selectinen of the town
MARTIN WARNER, f

of
New Milford,
Jor the year 1780."

ErLisuA BosTwiIck,
NosLE HIing,

“New Milford, Sept. 19, 1780. These may certify all con-
cerned that I have and do hereby emancipate and set free my
Negro servant Nehemiah, agreeable to the liberty granted by the
Selectmen of the town of New Milford as above written, as
witness my hand in presence of

Thomas Hayes,

Noble Hine. SHERMAN BOARDMAN.”

John Treat of New Milford, liberated his “ Negroman named
Mingo by virtue of the laws of this State,” July 3, 1781, and

the act was duly accepted by the Selectmen, on the 23d of July,
1781, and recorded.

A Narrative Written by Davis Baldwin.

Davis Baldwin was born in New Milford Aug. 8, 1777, where
he resided until a short time beforc his marriage, the home of
his father, Isaac Baldwin, being in the vicinity of Northville.
His father was in the battle of Danbury in the Revolution ; was
a carpenter and farmer. .

Davis Baldwin married Ann Richards, of- Tynngham Mass.,
Dec. 3, 1809, where he resided until May, 1831, when he re-
moved to Great Barrington, Mass., where he died Mar. 7, 1842,
in the village of Van Dusenville. He educated one of his sonsat
Williams College, which shows his value of education.

The narration is remarkable for the exhibition of memory and
the faculty of observation, since there is but little doubt of the
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faithfulness and accuracy of the dates and statements. The
record is here made because of the many facts it reveals of the
actual lifc in those times. All that he wrote is not given ; but
thuse things which are given—being all that would be of interest
—are presented with only slight variations from his manuscript.
- He was accustomed to write as a town clerk in Tyringham, and
hence this production is remarkably correct in a literary sense.

The Narrative.

“TYRINGHAM, August 8, 1811.

As I have been told, I was born in New Milford, in the county
of Litchfield, and State of Connecticut, Aug. 8th, in the year
A.D. 1777; I being the third son and eighth child in the family,
all living except the first.

This year will be remembered by all those who took an active
part in the Revolutionary War so long as they shall live, better
than can be described on paper; several battles were fought in
the United States. The battle of Bennington took place when
I was about eight days old. Gen. Burgoyne was taken when I
was about ten weeks old.

The year 1778 was a year of trouble and affliction, partlcularly
to many of the inhabitants of New Milford. Mr. Sherwood's
house was burnt, with himself, and mother, and Mr. Moses Camp,
his son-in-law, who had been married about six months. This
family consisted of thirteen persons ; but three escaped without
injury—one a son about.14, his mother, and an infant daughter
born Dec. 7th, before. . Mrs. Sherwood sat up late in the night
the housc took fire, to prepare her family to attend a lecture that
had been appointed to be held at their housc. The Rev. Mr.
Taylor was to preach, and baptize their children. Mr. Sherwood
and one daughter lived a short time after the fire. Mrs! Sher-
wood, her son Wells, and infant, Sarah, were all that were saved.
Those who had intended to be at the lecture attended at the
same time, but their meeting was of a different one—a melan-
choly sight. The remains of those who lived a few hours were
buried in separate coffins. The parts of those that could be
found that the fire could not consume were all put into a large
box made for that purpose, and buried in New Milford town.
The place where the box was laid is known at this day by a -
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round hollow, the same bigness of the grave. This unhappy
event took place Feb. 24, 1778.

In March the small-pox raged in New Milford, and several
died ; among the number was my uncle, Israel Baldwin, in the
41st year of his age. He died March, 16th day.

In the year 1779 the war continued, and this winter was called
the Hard Winter.

In the year 1780 many remarkable events might be mentioned ;
a few only will be noticed. The winter of 1779-80 is the first
of my remembrance. On the night of the 2d-3d of February
a murder was committed in or near New Milford, by Barnard -
Davenport. He killed Mr. Mallery and Mrs. Mallery with a
swingle, plundered and burnt the house, with several children in
it. A few days after, he was taken and committed to gaol for
trial in the town and county of Litchfield. About the 2gth of
April his trial came on before the Superior Court; he plead
guilty, and was condemned to be executed on'the 8th day of
May following ; and the execution took place on that day at
Litchfield. He had not arrived at the age of twenty years when
he was hung.' After he left the house on fire, he went home
to his father’s, and acquainted one of his brothers, Nicholas, by
name, with so much of this deed, and he taking a share of the

" plunder, that he was punished by being compelled to sit on the
gallows while his brother was hanging, and then taken down and
whipped thirty-nine lashes, and sentenced to prison during life.
After this, he behaving so well, and being young (about 17), the
latter part of his punishment was set aside by his being bound
to his good behavior, and keeping in the bounds of New Milford
for ten years. This he complied with, and the term ended in
1790. In this time I became acquainted with him, and have
never heard anything against his morals ; he has since deceased.

The 19th of May was a dark day in New England. I remem-
ber that our people were something terrified at the scene, and
the appearance of the sky and the grass.*

In the year 1782, in the spring, uncle S. Comstock moved out

' 1 This account is undoubtedly true, and that given in the Conn llxsloncal Collec
tions is very erroneous as to the young man’s early education and his father's family. .

$ This was called “ The Dark Day ” for many years, it being caused by an eclipse
of the sun.
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of our house to Chestnut Land, and I went with father and
mother 1o see them raise a shoe-shop. This summer I went to
school to Miss Mercy Baldwin, to learn my letters. The school
was kept in Capt. Gunn’s, in the chamber. I believe I made
but little progress in learning.

The Friend, Jemima Wilkinson, preached at New Milford, and
gained some proselytes.

In the year 1783 I was sent to school to Mr. Israel Baldwin,
Jr., which school was kept at the new school-house, and was the
first school I ever attended under the care of a master. The
kind attention which I here received from my teacher made such
an impression on my mind that my attachment to him was much
stronger thdn to any one else out of my family, and which con-
tinued during life.

In the year 1784 I attended school in the winter most of the
time, and.learned to read in spellings. Doct. Samuel Farrand
was the teacher. I also went to school a few days this summer
to Miss Anne Todd Noble.

The year 1785 I attended school in the winter; Mr. Elias
Kinne was our teacher. In the spring Mr. Edmund Clark’s
house was raised ; I. went to the raising. Father was the master
workman.

As Col. Hymes was assisting in taking shad in the river at
New Milford, he was entangled in the seine and was drowned,
aged 21.

This year my father built a forge for Mr. Davenport. I and
a number of boys and girls went and paid them a visit (about
two miles), and we paid close attention to our employment ; per-
haps on account of the unfortunate affair of his son, as men-
tioned heretofore. : '

In the year 1787, I attended school in the winter. Timothy
Farrand kept the school two months.

In the year 1788, Mr. Kinne was employed the third time to
teach our school, and I attended most part of the time. On the
2oth of March, Mr. Israel Baldwin, Jr., died, aged 2.

A terrible wind happened in August, the corn was much bro-
ken, and many ‘trees were blown down.

A meteor was seen in the air October 17th, and a report fol-
lowed with a great rumbling noise, between the hours of six and
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seven in the evening. I saw the light at the window, and heard
the report. Two other reports were heard in the day-time the
same fall, similar to the others.

In 1789, the school was kept by Mr. Kinne for the fourth and
last time. I attended steady. On the 6th of April, Nathan
[Baldwin] set off for the Westward, and went as far as Freehold,
. on the west side of Hudson river, and on the 2oth of May, Han-
nah set off with A. Dayton’s family for the Genesee, and on the
3oth Nathan returned.

On the 12th of November, father hired a wagon of Mr. Bris-
tol, and took our grandmother Nobles from uncle A, Baldwin's
to live with us during the winter. On the next day, I went with
father as far as the top of the hill by Mr. Garlick’s, and rode in
the wagon, and there I left him, and went to Mr. Josiah Lock-
wood’s and got me a hat, and stayed awhile to see him bow.
This was the first time I ever rode in a wagon, and the first time
that I ever was in a hatter’s shop.

In December our school was set up Mr. Swift Chamberlin
was employed as our teacher. .

In 1790, I attended in the school as long as it contmued and
the school underwent quite a revolution in regard to the pronun-
ciation of words; a number of scholars learned pieces, and dia-
logues, and on Wednesday, March 15th, the school assembled at
the school-house, and walked in procession to Mr. E. Clark’s, (a
place prepared for our reception); a sermon was delivered on the
occasion. by Elder Roots. The day was pleasant, the perform-
ance good, and the assembly large and respectable. The day
* will not be soon forgotten by many of the scholars who took an
active part on the occasion.

On the 27th and 28th of April, a temble cold storm, and
snow two or three inches deep. The moon rose the 28thin total
eclipse, but cloudy. On the 2gth, uncle A. Baldwin raised his
barn, father being the master workman, On the first Monday
of May I'attended training in town.

Mr. Barnabas Lathrop was moved from Nine Partners this
fall, to New Milford, and preached among the Separates.

In the month of January or February, 1791, an attempt was
made by the Separate Church to ordain Mr. B. Lathrop. The
people assembled at the Presbyterian meeting-house, and Mr. J.
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Marshall precached two sermons; but, for want of ministers or
some other cause, the contemplated ordination failed, and per-
haps it was best it did, considering the difficulty between him
and the said church that soon after happened.

On Thursday, Mar. 24th, Mr. S. Chamberlin and Sarah Sher-
wood were married by the Rev. Joel Bordwell of Kent; he being
26 years of age,and she 13. I was at this wedding, it being the
first I ever attended. Mr. Bordwell preached a sermon, Sarah
Sherwood was the infant mentioned as saved at the burning of
Mr. Sherwood's house.

Sunday, April 3d, being of clear air and without a cloud, a
very remarkable eclipse of the sun occurred, which began about
sun half an hour high in the morning. The moon came on the
sun’s centre, but being less than the sun, he appeared like a
great ring; the air was darkened, and a gloom spread for a time
over this holy morning. Nehemiah Strong, Esq.,® wrote more
than two pages in his almanac calculated at Hartford, and then
printed by Hudson and Goodwin. In this calculation he found
that the centre of the eclipse passed through Connecticut,
through the towns of New Fairfield, New Milford, Woodbury,
Wallingford, &c., to the Atlantic Occan. Such an eclipse had
not happened at the same place since August the 14th, 1757.

Our people and Mr. E. Clark fitted a new limekiln, from 8th
of November to December.

In 1792, on Monday the 7th of May, the First Company 2g9th
Regiment, Light Infantry, met in New Milford in their uniforms
for the first time, under thc command of Capt. Daniel Board-
man. The company made a good appcarance and were much
admired.

On the 13th of July, Mr. Amos Collins, with two children,
James F. Griswold, son of Rev. Stanley Griswold, and a daugh-
ter of widow Trowbridge, ascended the steeple in New Milford,
(he being rendered blind by the small-pox). All fell. Mr., Col-.
lins was [ound dead on the tower floor; the children were not
killed, but much injured. They fell about fifty-four feet.

On Thursday, Nov. 1st, Mr. Cyrene Stilson began his singing
at our house.

8 A professor in Yale Coliege, but residing here.

31
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Paticnce had the small-pox by inoculation, under the care of
Doctor Lemuel Thomas, of New Milford.

1793, on the 13th of June, the Rev. Gideon Bostwnck of Gt.
Barrington, died at Sherman Boardman, Esqr's., Mrs. Board-
man being his sister. His funeral was attended on Saturday,
June 15, in New Milford ; a scrmon was preached by the Rev.
Truman Marsh, of said New Milford.

-On the 16th of September, Mrs. Sarah, wife of Swift Cham-
berlin, died at Kent. She left a babe about a week old which
soon followed her, both being buried in one coffin. Mrs. Cham-
berlin was saved from fire in 1778, was married, lived to sec
two of her own children, and died in the sixteenth ycar of
her age. "

- On the 2gth of November this year, died at the Friends’ set-
. tlement, in the Genesee country, Sarah Richards, steward or

overseer of the Friend Jemima Wilkinson, a person well known

to many of the pcople of New Milford.

~ On the 8th of February, in passing the Separate mecting-
house with a load of wood, Doct. L.. Thomas called to me and
wished to have the wood. I asked what was the occasion of so
many people being present, and he informed me that they had
been digging up the Rev. Gideon Bostwick, and were about to
set out for Great Barrmgton thh his remains to be there re-
interred.

On Thursday, june 19, 1794, a destructive tornado crossed
New Milford; blew over houses, barns, apple-trees, destroyed
timber, killed a child of Mr. Cole; some others were wounded,
and much grain was destroyed. [This tornado is still talked
about in that vicinity.]

The 19th day of February, 1795, was appointed by the Presi-
dent of the United States, a day of thanksgiving throughout said
United States.

On Monday, June 1s5th, I went to J. Lockwood’s, and began
-to work at the hatting business, and continued as we agreed till
September 15th, and then my indenture was made.
~ The regiment met in New Milford this fall. I was in town
and took my station on the walk above the bell, and saw them
march under me by platoons, and had a fair prospect in viewing
the regiment as they passed the steeple.
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On the 2d of January, 1796, I took, with the help of one other
person, a canoe up the Housatonic river three miles; the water
not being cold, and no ice in the river, but remarkably warm,
and many places did not freeze over all winter.- February 11th,
Nathan moved to Monkton, Vt. About the 8th of March Mr.
Asahel Noble died. I attended the funeral the next day. The
Rev. N. Taylor made a prayer at the house, but preached .no
sermon.

In September, Mr. Lockwood moved to White Hall, and dis-
charged me from my indenture.



CHAPTER XV,

NEWBURY SOCIETY (BROOKFIELD).

EW MILFORD contributed nearly one-half of the

territory which was organized into the town of
Brookfield in 1788, and some account of the first
settlement of this part of New Milford is here given.
Some of these settlers resided in territory still in
New Milford, but was included then in what was
called “ South Farms.”

John Noble, 2d, one of the first twelve settlers in New

Milford, sold his house and lot in the village Nov. 6, 1730, to
William Gillett of Milford, and soon after settled at Gallows
Hill, on the plains,—the first permanent settler below Gallows
Hill,—and resided there, an influential citizen, to the end of his
life.
. Thomas Noble, his son, after about ten years, settled on a
farm next north of Gallows Hill, where he resided to the end of
his life, a prominent farmer of the town, and member of the
Episcopal Church. '

Capt. John Waruer was the first settler at the “ South
Farms.” He came from Hadley, Mass., and bought of David
Noble a half Right of land Jan. 20, 1724~5, twenty-three acres
of which had been laid out between Three-Mile and Four-Mile
Brooks, on the plain; and the same day of the purchase were
laid to him twenty acres “upon a hill called Woodcreek 11ill,
northward of land laid out for the maintenance of a mill,” and
another piece at the same place. The next March one piece
was laid to him on Woodcreek Hill, and one on the east side of
Woodcreek Mountain, and another on the plain, “below the
Common-field fence,” a little north of Four-Mile Brook, and an-
other on the east- side of Danbury road. The next September
more land was surveyed to him, “lying on the north end of
Woodcreek Hill.”



THE SOUTH FARMS. 245

After establishing himself on a farm of one hundred or more
acres, he married Mercy, or Mary, daughter of Thomas Curtis,
of Farmington, Conn., July 3, 1727, and made his home on this
farm, which was a mile or more north of where John Noble, Jr.,
settled, or nearly a mile north of Gallows Hill. He was the first
settler as far south as that, his farm being always in New Mil-
ford. He became very prominent in town, ecclesiastical, and
military matters. He was made Captain of the second company
of the train band in New Milford October, 1751 ; and Lieuten-

“ant of the fifth company in the Sixth regiment of the Colony in
May, 1754, and Captain of the same in 1756. He died in De-
cember, 1762, aged 60 years.

Judge David S. Boardman says of him: * John Warner re-
moved to New Milford from Massachusetts, and was a large
landholder in the town. He would often contrast his first com-
ing (with nothing but his axe and gun), and his easy competence,
the fruit of persevering industry. He had a large family.”

Joseph Warner came to the town with a family, and set-
tled near his brother Johm, probably about 1728. He died in
1743, leaving quite a family.

Joseph Waller was the third settler in- South Farms,
While of Woodbury, in 1717, he bought of Samuel Clark, of
Milford, half a Right of land in New Milford, and settled here
in 1728. He was a blacksmith, and held some prominence in
the town, but was not so much so as his neighbor, Capt. John
Warner. Hedied in 1788, in his eighty-eighth. year.

Cupt. Joseph Ruggles was the third or fourth settler at
the Iron Works (so stated by his grandson Samuel), being lo-
cated at the Halfway Falls, afterwards called the Iron Works, in
1733. He purchased considerable land, besides being a partner
in the Iron Works ; joined the Congregational Church by letter
from New Haven, in which he was prominent about twelve years,
when he began to take sides with the Separates, and with whom
he finally joined. He removed to New Haven, where he became
Deacon of the Separate Congregational Church, remaining there
a number of years, then returning to Brookfield, where he was a
deacon in the Congregational Church many years. He possessed
decided intellectual ability, earnest Christian character, and
faithfulness to it. His descendants were known as honest, good
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citizens, peculiarly attached and faithful to each other. If at
any time one family became unfortunate, the others contributed
their proportion to place it in the way of success and prosperity.
The Ruggles families “always hung together, and helped each
other.” There was a large vein of wit, and humor, and good
nature, as well as energy of character, in the whole family. The
descendants of Joseph Ruggles, Sen., became noted in manufac-
turing and mercantile pursuits ; as lawyers and judges in courts ;
as officers in the army and navy, and as politicians and scholars.
- These things will appear in the account of Lanesville and the
Biographical Sketches. The sphere of action of the prominent
members of this family was largely outside of New Milford.

The Iron Works.

“Aug. 12, 1732, John Noble sold to Samuel Hathaway, of
Southfield, Mass., a certain piece of land and river at a place
called the Halfway Falls, in the Still River, being half an acre,
taking the river in and some land, so that there may be a way
suitable to come at the Iron Works already set up, and also at
the dam that is made across the river.”

Dec. 7, 1732, Peter Hubbell, of Newtown, sold to John Fair-
weather “ one-third part of the Iron Works, dam, houses, and in-
struments in making iron, on the Halfway Falls, on Still River.”
. On the 30th of June, 1733, John Noble bought. this same in-
terest in the Iron Works that he had sold to Mr. Hathaway about
one year before., ‘

On the 29th of November, 1733, Eleazer Hathaway, then of
New Milford, borrowed £100 current money of ‘Elisha Williams
of New Haven, Peter Hubbell of Newtown, Robert Walker, Jr.,
of Stratford, Jared Ellot of Killingsworth, Martin Kellogg of
Wethersfield, David Noble and Joseph Ruggles of New Milford,
giving a mortgage on twenty acres of land * just above the Iron
Works ;” but provided Eleazer Hathaway should furnish a certain
amount of jron from the Iron Works for the grantees at certain
prices for a certain number of years, then the mortgage to be of
no effect. Mr. Hathaway was to “ perform the work and busi-
ness of a skillful Bloomer in the Iron Works built on the Still
River Falls, in New Milford, belonging to the grantees above
named, for the benefit and advantage of said grantees;” particu-
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Jarly that he should make twenty-four tons of iron from two
forges yearly, or twelve tons if only one forge should be . fur-
nished to him. lHe was to make “shire moulds, cranks, gud-
geons, the like such as are wont to be made in Iron Works.”

In October, 1734, the proprietors voted to sequester land fora
burying-place at Gallows Hill, as may be seen on page 137, and
soon after the following :

“Dec. 9, 1734. Voted, that our Southward farms on the west
side of the great river arc to keep a school for six months be-
ginning on the first day of April next, and to be freed from pay-
ing to the town school for said six months, or so long as they
shall keep a schqol in said six months.” '

“Dec. 9, 1734. Voted, that there shall be a pound erected
at our South I7arms on the town charge, and set on the highway
west of Joseph Waller’s house, and Joseph Waller, Ezekiel Buck
and John Warner are chosen to see that the said pound at said
farms is completed.”

The school at the South Farms was continued in a private
house, probably, during the summer, the older children coming
to the village or center in the winter,—until the following order
was made:

“Dec. 13, 1742. Voted, that there shall be a school set up at
the South Farms in said town under the direction of the civil
authority and the selectmen, and also that the said South Farms
shall have their equal proportion of the money that is given to
the schools according to their list of estate, so long as they shall
keep the school.”

“Mar. 17, 1743. Voted, that there shall be a school-house
built at the South Farms on the west side of the Great River
twelve fcet wide, and fourteen feet long, upon the town’s cost,
and that Mr. Nathaniel Bostwick, Mr. Paul Welch, and Mr.
Thomas Pickett shall be a committee to appoint the place where
the said school-house shall be erected.”

Before this school-house, which was crected near Capt. John
Warner's housc, was finished, trouble arosc about its location, it
being too far away to accommodate the familics at the Iron .
Works and some who dwelt east of that place, and hence the
following : '

“Dec., 1743. Voted, that the school-house that is already built



248 HISTORY OF NEW MILFORD.

at the South Farms in New Milford shall stand where it is now
built and shall be deemed a school-house for said Farms.

“Voted, that the South Farms shall be paid out of the town
treasury the sum of twenty-six pounds and nine shillings, old
' tenor, for the building a school-house at the South Farms.”

At the same time, John Warner, Ezekiel Buck, Joseph Wal-
ler, Daniel Waller, ahd Thomas Noble did promise to pay to
Mr. Joseph Ruggles and his neighbors near the Iron Works, the
sum of eight pounds and sixteen shillings, old tenor value, pro-
vided the said Ruggles and the neighbors shall build a school-
house within the space of two years next coming.

This offer of Mr. Warner and his ncighbors was a very con-
siderate and neighborly act, and shows the equitable disposition
of those times. The distance from Gallows Hill to the Iron
Works was about two miles. In the summer of 1745, a com-
mittee was appointed to select a site for such a school-house,
but they do not seem to have acted, and hence the following :

“Nov. 12, 1745. Mr. Ebenezer Fisk and Mr. Samuel Canfield
were chosen a committee to appoint a place to set up a school-
house at the south farms, called the Iron Works.”

“Nov. 12, 1745. Upon the request of Joseph Ruggles and
the rest of his neighbourhood, made unto us the subscribers,
praying for the liberty to set up a regular school at our farms,
and upon good reason, assigned, we allow and order a lawful and
regular school shall be erected at a place appointed by said town.
lisENEZER TISK,
James HIng,
Danier BosTwick,
SAMUEL BALDWIN,

Fustices
s of the DPcace.

Selectinen.”

RoGer Brownson, I
SAMUEL CANFIELD,
NATHANIEL BosTwick,

This act established the school as one of the legal school
districts of the town, and hence the school could be kept winter
and summer, according te the law, without any further permit
_ from the town. '

In the annual town ‘meeting December g, 1745, they voted to
remove the school-house from near Gallows Hill further, south,
and on the next day the committee to fix the location reported :
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“ We do affix the place to erect said school-house on the high-
way upon the top of the first rise of the hill, against Samuel
Canfield’s house-lot, where we have affixed a stake with stones
about it, which is to be enclosed within said house.” But this
did not settle the matter, and two days later another committee
fixed the place “ near to Mr. Joseph Ruggles’s house, northward
of his house, near about the middle of the highway,” and this was
probably the site of the first school-house at the Iron Works.”

The first bridge at that place was ordered to be built at the

expense of the town by the following action:
- “Aug. 20, 1745. Voted, that there shall be a rate ralsed to
build the bridge at the Iron Works to be paid in money or in
labor to the acceptance of the committee that shall be appointed
to do the work; also voted, the abovesaid rate shall be one
penny half-penny on the pound,” and the committee were Ens.
John Warner, Mr, Joseph Ruggles, Capt. Nathaniel Bostwick,
and Lt. James Hine.

In 1748, Abel Barnum had a grist-mill a little way north of
the Iron Works, for at that time a highway was laid out to the
southeast corner of the mill, and hence, probably, it was then
just erected.

In 1742, John Bradshaw had settled on Punkin Hill, or what
was afterwards for many years called Bradshaw's Hill, on the
east road to Newtown, from New Milford.

Newbury Society.

The enterprise which finally resulted in the organization of the
town of Brookfield, began by a petition to the General Assembly:

“To the llonorable Gencral Assembly to be Holden at Hart-
ford May, second Thursday A. D. 1743:

The memorial of us the subscribers, Inhabitants belonging—
some to y°® town of Danbury, viz.: being at the North End of
the Township of s¢ Danbury, and others living in the township
of Newtown att the North part of sd township and others living
att the south part of the township of New Milford, Humbly
sheweth the providence of God hath so ordeved that your memo-
rilers Habitation being thus att ye extream parts of Each town-
ship your memorilers are put to Great Difficulties for to attend
the publick worship In the respective towns to which we belong

32
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the travil being so Long the least of us have about four miles
travil and most of us five six seven eight and [word torn out by
seal of letter perhaps] miles from the place of publick worship
which Renders it [the same rent leaves out a word here] Diffi-
cult for us to attend with our famyleys many of us having large
famyleys of small Children; and that more Especially in the
winter season is our Difficulty Great yet are our situation such
that we live tollerable well to be a Comidated by being made a
Society—and the land where we live is Good and as we Con-
cluded a Soficiancy that migh be taken of Each town in the
whole to make a Larg Society without much prediges to Either
town—to which we Do belong whereupon we your Honours
memorilers Humbly pray this Honourable assembly to appoint
us a wise Juditious Comtee att our Cost and Charge to come
and view our Surcomstances and like wise that if after they
have viewed our Surcomstances as. they shall think proper to
Draw the Line in Each town in order for your Honours’ appro-
bation and to make Report to your Honours att your session in
October next—whether it be convenient for us to be made a
Distinct Society for the Carrying on the publick worship among
ourselves or—whether at least we mant be admited the benefits
of hyring preaching among us for the Extream Season in the
year—as your Honours in your Great wisdom shall think fitt and
att the same time be freed from paying anything to y¢ ministrey
where we Respectively Do belong and we your Honours memo-
rilers as in Duty bound shall Ever pray.

Robert Bostwick, . Benjamin Lyon,
Beniamin Stevens, iun'r, Benjamin Duning,
Richard Waring, David Duning,
Jeremiah Northrup, Caleb baldwin, Junr.,
Henry Botsford, Jerem northrup,
John Nearing, Daniel Barnum,
John Noble, Isaac Barnum,
Stephen Stockwell, Joseph Murry,
John Noble, Josiah Bollit,
Beniamin Stevens, Ebenezer bostwick,
Joseph Ruggles, Abel Barnum,
Joseph Smith, thomas pickit."”

Stephen lawley,

' Ecclesiastical Book, State Library, vol. X,, 21-22,
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The committee was granted, and they were instructed by the
following act :

“May, 1743. Resolved by this Assembly, that Col. William
Preston, Mr. Noah Hinman, and Capt. Thomas Knowles, all of
Woodbury, be a committee to repair to the memorialists’ abode,
at their cost, and after notifying all parties, and having heard
their pleas and views, their circumstances in respect to their
being a distinct ecclesiastical society, or having liberty to hire
preaching in the cxtreme season in the ycar,-and if said commit-
tee think proper, to draw the line in each town for the bounds
of said society ; and make report of their opinion and doings
thereon to this Assembly in October next.”

Before this committee reported, the town of New Milford
passed the following: “ Sep. 20, 1743. Voted, that the town
consent that the inhabitants of the South Farms in New Mil-
ford shall be set off for a Religious Society, according as the
committee which the General Assembly appointed and hath
sent to view the circumstances, according to the lines which said -
committee hath set.”

As indicated, the committee designated the boundaries and
reported favorably, but the report was rejected, there being op-
position from the town of Newtown.

New Milford seems to have favored the establishment of the
society all the way, but the territory furnished the disagreeing
elements. In April, 1751, the petition was renewed, urging par-
ticularly that they lived remote from any place of worship, and
many had large families, and hence there were great difficulties in
attending meeting. Upon this Newtown voted to inform the
Assembly that they had had no notice of the proceedings, yet a
committee was appointed who reported the boundaries for a soci-
ety in October, and the following December (1751) New Milford
“ voted that the Inhabitants below Thomas Noble's house, on
both sides of Still River, shall be freed from paying to the minis-
ter in the town or to Mr. Taylor for the space of three mo